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INTRODUCTION TO THE INTERNATIONAL PUBLIC
SECTOR ACCOUNTING STANDARDS BOARD

The International Public Sector Accounting Standards Board® (IPSASB®) develops
accounting standards for public sector entities referred to as International Public Sector
Accounting Standards™ (IPSAS™). The IPSASB recognizes the significant benefits
of achieving consistent and comparable financial information across jurisdictions
and it believes that the IPSASs will play a key role in enabling these benefits to be
realized. The IPSASB strongly encourages governments and national standard-setters
to engage in the development of its standards by commenting on the proposals set out
in its Exposure Drafts and Consultation Papers.

The IPSASB issues IPSASs dealing with financial reporting under the cash basis of
accounting and the accrual basis of accounting. The accrual IPSASs are based on
the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs), issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board (IASB) where the requirements of those Standards are
applicable to the public sector. They also deal with public sector specific financial
reporting issues that are not dealt with in IFRSs.

The adoption of IPSASs by governments will improve both the quality and
comparability of financial information reported by public sector entities around the
world. The IPSASB recognizes the right of governments and national standard-
setters to establish accounting standards and guidelines for financial reporting in their
jurisdictions. The IPSASB encourages the adoption of IPSASs and the harmonization
of national requirements with IPSASs. Financial statements should be described
as complying with IPSASs only if they comply with all the requirements of each
applicable IPSAS.

1 INTRODUCTION
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THE INTERNATIONAL FEDERATION OF
ACCOUNTANTS’ ROLE

The International Federation of Accountants® (IFAC®) serves the public interest by
contributing to the development of strong and sustainable organizations, markets,
and economies. It advocates for transparency, accountability, and comparability of
financial reporting; helps develop the accountancy profession; and communicates the
importance and value of accountants to the global financial infrastructure. Founded in
1977, IFAC is currently comprised of over 175 members and associates in more than
130 countries and jurisdictions, representing almost 3 million accountants in public
practice, education, government service, industry, and commerce.

As part of its public interest mandate, IFAC contributes to the development,
adoption, and implementation of high-quality international public sector accounting
standards, primarily through its support of the International Public Sector Accounting
Standards Board (IPSASB). IFAC provides human resources, facilities management,
communications support, and funding to this independent standard-setting board, and
facilitates the nominations and selection process for board members.

The IPSASB sets its own agendas and approves its publications in accordance with
its due process and without IFAC’s involvement. IFAC has no ability to influence
the agendas or publications. IFAC publishes the handbooks, standards, and other
publications and owns the copyrights.

The IPSASB’s independence is safeguarded in a number of ways:

° Full transparency, both in terms of due process for standard-setting, as well
as public access to agenda materials, meetings, and a published basis for
conclusions with each final standard;

° The involvement of observers in the standard-setting process; and

° The requirement that IPSASB members, as well as nominating/employing
organizations, commit to the board’s independence, integrity, and public
interest mission.

3 IFAC'S ROLE IN STANDARD SETTING



THE INTERNATIONAL FEDERATION OF ACCOUNTANTS’ ROLE

The IPSASB Consultative Advisory Group (CAG) is an integral and important part
of the IPSASB’s formal process of consultation. Representatives of CAG member
organizations provide advice on numerous areas, including:

° The IPSASB’s strategy, work program and agenda, including project priorities;

° IPSASB’s projects, including views on key technical issues or matters that may
impede the adoption or effective implementation of IPSAS; and

° Other matters of relevance to the standard-setting activities of the IPSASB.

The governance and standard-setting activities of the IPSASB are overseen by the
Public Interest Committee (PIC), to ensure that they follow due process and reflect the
public interest.

The PIC is comprised of individuals with expertise in public sector or financial
reporting, and professional engagement in organizations that have an interest in
promoting high-quality and internationally comparable financial information.

Visit the IFAC website at www.ifac.org for further information.

IFAC'S ROLE IN STANDARD SETTING 4



SCOPE OF THIS HANDBOOK
2019 EDITION

This Handbook brings together for continuing reference background information
about the International Federation of Accountants (IFAC) and the official text of the
International Public Sector Accounting Standards (IPSASs) and other publications
issued by the IPSASB as of January 31, 2019.

5 SCOPE
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CHANGES OF SUBSTANCE FROM THE 2018 EDITION OF
THE HANDBOOK

Pronouncements Issued by the International Public Sector
Accounting Standards Board

This Handbook contains the complete set of the International Public Sector Accounting
Standards Board’s (IPSASB’s) pronouncements on public sector financial reporting.

References

This Handbook contains references to International Accounting Standards (IASs)
and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board (IASB). The approved text of the IASs and the IFRSs
is that published by the IASB in the English language, and copies may be obtained
directly from IFRS Foundation, Costumer Service, Columbus Building, 7 Westferry
Circus, Canary Wharf, London E14 4HD, United Kingdom.

E-mail: publications@ifrs.org
Internet: www.ifrs.org

New Standards

The IPSASB approved the following Standards which are included in this Handbook:
° IPSAS 41, Financial Instruments

° Improvements to IPSAS, 2018

° Amendments to IPSAS 36, Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures, and
IPSAS 41, Financial Instruments

° IPSAS 42, Social Benefits
These are effective from the dates noted in the Standards.

These Standards resulted in a number of consequential amendments to other [PSAS.
These amendments are effective from the dates noted in the Standards.

Amendments

A number of IPSAS were amended as a result of the [IPSASB’s Improvement to IPSAS,
2018 project. This project involves making non-urgent but necessary changes to
IPSAS. The following documents have been amended:

° IPSAS 10, Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies;

° IPSAS 22, Disclosure of Financial Information about the General Government
Sector;

° IPSAS 24, Presentation of Budget Information in Financial Statements;

7 CHANGES



IPSAS 16, Investment Property,
IPSAS 17, Property, Plant, and Equipment;
IPSAS 31, Intangible Assets;

IPSAS 33, First-time Adoption of Accrual Basis International Public Sector
Accounting Standards (IPSASs); and

IPSAS 34, Separate Financial Statements.

The IPSASB’s narrow scope project Amendments to IPSAS 36, Investments in
Associates and Joint Ventures, and IPSAS 41, Financial Instruments amended
those IPSAS to align with the narrow-scope amendments to IAS 28, Investments in
Associates and Joint Ventures, made by the IASB in Long-term Interests in Associates
and Joint Ventures (Amendments to IAS 28) (issued October 2017).

Withdrawal of Cash Basis IPSAS—Financial Reporting Under the
Cash Basis of Accounting (revised 2007)

Cash Basis IPSAS—Financial Reporting Under the Cash Basis of Accounting revised
in 2007 has been superseded by Cash Basis IPSAS—Financial Reporting Under the
Cash Basis of Accounting revised in 2017. As a result, Cash Basis IPSAS (revised
2007) is no longer applicable and has been withdrawn.

CHANGES 8
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PREFACE TO INTERNATIONAL PUBLIC
SECTOR ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

History of the Preface
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In November 2004 the IPSASB issued a revised Preface.
In December 2006 the IPSASB amended the Preface.
In March 2012 the IPSASB issued a revised Preface.
In April 2016 the IPSASB issued a revised Preface.
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PREFACE TO INTERNATIONAL PUBLIC SECTOR
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

Introduction

1.

This Prefaceto the International Public Sector Accounting Standards (IPSASs)
sets out the objectives of the International Public Sector Accounting Standards
Board (IPSASB) and explains the scope and authority of the IPSASs. The
Preface should be used as a reference for interpreting Consultation Papers,
other discussion documents, Exposure Drafts, Recommended Practice
Guidelines and Standards developed and issued by the IPSASB.

The mission of the International Federation of Accountants (IFAC), as set
out in its constitution, is “to serve the public interest by contributing to the
development, adoption and implementation of high-quality international
standards and guidance; contributing to the development of strong professional
accountancy organizations and accounting firms, and to high quality practices
by professional accountants; promoting the value of professional accountants
worldwide; and speaking out on public interest issues where the accountancy
profession’s expertise is most relevant.” In pursuing this mission, the IFAC
Board has established the IPSASB to function as an independent standard-
setting body under the auspices of IFAC.

The IPSASB serves the public interest by developing and issuing, under its
own authority, accounting standards and other publications for use by public
sector entities as described in paragraph 10 below.

Information on the IPSASB’s membership, terms of office, meeting
procedures and due process is set out in the IPSASB’s Terms of Reference,
which are approved by the IFAC Board.

Objective of the IPSASB

5.

The objective of the IPSASB is to serve the public interest by developing
high-quality accounting standards and other publications for use by public
sector entities around the world in the preparation of general purpose financial
reports.

This is intended to enhance the quality and transparency of public sector
financial reporting by providing better information for public sector financial
management and decision making. In pursuit of this objective, the IPSASB
supports the convergence of international and national public sector
accounting standards and the convergence of accounting and statistical bases
of financial reporting where appropriate; and also promotes the acceptance of
its standards and other publications.

13 PREFACE



PREFACE TO INTERNATIONAL PUBLIC SECTOR ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

7. In fulfilling its objective, the IPSASB develops and issues the following
publications:

e [PSASs as the standards to be applied in the preparation of general
purpose financial reports of public sector entities.

e Recommended Practice Guidelines (RPGs) to provide guidance on
good practice that public sector entities are encouraged to follow.

e  Studies to provide advice on financial reporting issues in the public
sector. They are based on study of the good practices and most effective
methods for dealing with the issues being addressed.

e  Other papers and research reports to provide information that contributes
to the body of knowledge about public sector financial reporting issues
and developments. They are aimed at providing new information or
fresh insights and generally result from research activities such as:
literature searches, questionnaire surveys, interviews, experiments, case
studies and analysis.

Scope and Authority of International Public Sector Accounting
Standards

Scope of the Standards

8. The IPSASB develops IPSASs which apply to the accrual basis of accounting
and IPSASs which apply to the cash basis of accounting.

9. IPSASs set out requirements dealing with transactions and other events
in general purpose financial reports. General purpose financial reports are
financial reports intended to meet the information needs of users who are
unable to require the preparation of financial reports tailored to meet their
specific information needs.

10. The IPSASs are designed to apply to public sector entities' that meet all the
following criteria:

(a)  Are responsible for the delivery of services® to benefit the public and/
or to redistribute income and wealth;

(b)  Mainly finance their activities, directly or indirectly, by means of taxes
and/or transfers from other levels of government, social contributions,
debt or fees; and

(¢) Do not have a primary objective to make profits.

1

Paragraph 1.8 of The Conceptual Framework for General Purpose Financial Reporting by Public Sector
Entities identifies a wide range of public sector entities for which IPSASs are designed.
? Services encompasses goods, services and policy advice, including to other public sector entities.

PREFACE 14



PREFACE TO INTERNATIONAL PUBLIC SECTOR ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

11. Any limitation of the applicability of specific IPSASs is made clear in those
standards. IPSASs are not meant to apply to immaterial items.

12. The IPSASB has adopted the policy that all paragraphs in IPSASs shall
have equal authority, and that the authority of a particular provision shall
be determined by the language used. Consequently, IPSASs approved by
the IPSASB after January 1, 2006 include paragraphs in bold and plain
type, which have equal authority. Paragraphs in bold type indicate the main
principles. An individual IPSAS should be read in the context of the objective
and Basis for Conclusions (if any) stated in that IPSAS and this Preface.

IPSASs for the Accrual and Cash Bases
13. The IPSASB develops accrual IPSASs that:

e Arc converged with International Financial Reporting Standards
(IFRSs) issued by the IASB by adapting them to a public sector context
where appropriate. In undertaking that process, the IPSASB attempts,
wherever possible, to maintain the accounting treatment and original
text of the IFRSs unless there is a significant public sector issue which
warrants a departure; and

e Deals with public sector financial reporting issues that are either
not addressed by adapting IFRSs or for which IFRSs have not been

developed by the IASB.
14. [Deleted]
15. The IPSASB has also issued a comprehensive Cash Basis IPSAS that includes

mandatory and encouraged disclosures sections.

Moving from the Cash Basis to the Accrual Basis

16. The Cash Basis IPSAS encourages an entity to voluntarily disclose accrual
based information, although its core financial statements will nonetheless be
prepared under the cash basis of accounting. An entity in the process of moving
from cash accounting to accrual accounting may wish to include particular
accrual based disclosures during this process. The status (for example,
audited or unaudited) and location of additional information (for example, in
the notes to the financial statements or in a separate supplementary section
of the financial report) will depend on the characteristics of the information
(for example, reliability and completeness) and any legislation or regulations
governing financial reporting within a jurisdiction.

17. The IPSASB also attempts to facilitate compliance with accrual based
IPSASSs through the use of transitional provisions in certain standards. Where
transitional provisions exist, they may allow an entity additional time to meet
the full requirements of a specific accrual based IPSAS or provide relief from
certain requirements when initially applying an IPSAS. An entity may at

15 PREFACE



PREFACE TO INTERNATIONAL PUBLIC SECTOR ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

18.

19.

any time elect to adopt the accrual basis of accounting in accordance with
IPSASs. Having decided to adopt accrual accounting in accordance with
IPSASSs, the transitional provisions would govern the length of time available
to make the transition. On the expiry of the transitional provisions, the entity
reports in full accordance with all accrual based IPSASs.

Paragraph 28 of IPSAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements includes the
following requirement:

An entity whose financial statements comply with IPSASs shall make an
explicit and unreserved statement of such compliance in the notes. Financial
statements shall not be described as complying with IPSASs unless they
comply with all the requirements of IPSASs.

IPSAS 1 also requires disclosure of the extent to which the entity has applied
any transitional provisions.

Authority of the International Public Sector Accounting Standards

20.

21.

22.

23.

PREFACE

Within each jurisdiction, regulations may govern the issue of general purpose
financial reports by public sector entities. These regulations may be in the
form of statutory reporting requirements, financial reporting directives and
instructions, and/or accounting standards promulgated by governments,
regulatory bodies and/or professional accounting bodies in the jurisdiction
concerned.

The IPSASB believes that the adoption of IPSASs, together with disclosure
of compliance with them, will lead to a significant improvement in the quality
of general purpose financial reporting by public sector entities. This, in turn,
is likely to strengthen public finance management leading to better informed
assessments of the resource allocation decisions made by governments,
thereby increasing transparency and accountability.

The IPSASB strongly encourages the adoption of IPSASs and the
harmonization of national requirements with IPSASs. The IPSASB
acknowledges the right of governments and national standard-setters to
establish accounting standards and guidelines for financial reporting in their
jurisdictions. Some sovereign governments and national standard-setters
have already developed accounting standards that apply to governments
and public sector entities within their jurisdiction. IPSASs may assist such
standard-setters in the development of new standards or in the revision of
existing standards in order to contribute to greater comparability. IPSASs are
likely to be of considerable use to jurisdictions that have not yet developed
accounting standards for governments and public sector entities.

Standing alone, neither the IPSASB nor the accounting profession has the
power to require compliance with IPSASs. The success of the IPSASB’s
efforts is dependent upon the recognition and support for its work from many
different interested groups acting within the limits of their own jurisdiction.

16



PREFACE TO INTERNATIONAL PUBLIC SECTOR ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

Language

24. The official text of the IPSASs and other publications is that approved by the
IPSASB in the English language. Member bodies of IFAC are authorized to
prepare, after obtaining IFAC approval, translations of such pronouncements
at their own cost, to be issued in the language of their own jurisdictions as
appropriate.
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THE CONCEPTUAL FRAMEWORK FOR
GENERAL PURPOSE FINANCIAL REPORTING
BY PUBLIC SECTOR ENTITIES
History of the Conceptual Framework
Chapters 1-4 of the Conceptual Framework were issued in January 2013.

The preface and Chapters 5-8 of the Conceptual Framework were issued in
October 2014.
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THE CONCEPTUAL FRAMEWORK FOR GENERAL PURPOSE
FINANCIAL REPORTING BY PUBLIC SECTOR ENTITIES

The Preface to the Conceptual Framework for General Purpose
Financial Reporting by Public Sector Entities

Introduction

1.

The Conceptual Framework for General Purpose Financial Reporting by
Public Sector Entities (the Conceptual Framework) establishes the concepts
that are to be applied in developing International Public Sector Accounting
Standards (IPSASs) and Recommended Practice Guidelines (RPGs)
applicable to the preparation and presentation of general purpose financial
reports (GPFRs) of public sector entities’.

The primary objective of most public sector entities is to deliver services
to the public, rather than to make profits and generate a return on equity to
investors. Consequently the performance of such entities can be only partially
evaluated by examination of financial position, financial performance and
cash flows. GPFRs provide information to users for accountability and
decision-making purposes. Therefore, users of the GPFRs of public sector
entities need information to support assessments of such matters as:

e  Whether the entity provided its services to constituents in an efficient
and effective manner;

e  The resources currently available for future expenditures, and to what
extent there are restrictions or conditions attached to their use;

e  To what extent the burden on future-year taxpayers of paying for current
services has changed; and

e  Whether the entity’s ability to provide services has improved or
deteriorated compared with the previous year.

Governments generally have broad powers, including the ability to establish
and enforce legal requirements, and to change those requirements. Globally
the public sector varies considerably in both its constitutional arrangements
and its methods of operation. However, governance in the public sector
generally involves the holding to account of the executive by a legislative
body (or equivalent).

The following sections highlight characteristics of the public sector that the
IPSASB has considered in the development of the Conceptual Framework.

The Volume and Financial Significance of Non-Exchange Transactions

5.

In a non-exchange transaction, an entity receives value from another party
without directly giving approximately equal value in exchange. Such

1

The public sector includes national and sub-national (regional, state/provincial, and local), governments
and related governmental entities. It also includes international public sector organizations.

CONCEPTUAL FRAMEWORK 20



THE CONCEPTUAL FRAMEWORK FOR GENERAL PURPOSE
FINANCIAL REPORTING BY PUBLIC SECTOR ENTITIES

transactions are common in the public sector. The level and quality of services
received by an individual, or group of individuals, is not normally directly
related to the level of taxes assessed. An individual or group may have to pay
a charge or fee and/or may have had to make specified contributions to access
certain services. However, such transactions are, generally, of a non-exchange
nature, because the amount that an individual or group of individuals obtains
in benefits will not be approximately equal to the amount of any fees paid or
contributions made by the individual or group. The nature of non-exchange
transactions may have an impact on how they are recognized, measured, and
presented to best support assessments of the entity by service recipients and
resource providers.

Taxation is a legally mandated, compulsory non-exchange transaction
between individuals or entities and the government. Tax-raising powers can
vary considerably, dependent upon the relationship between the powers of
the national government and those of sub-national governments and other
public sector entities. International public sector entities are largely funded
by transfers from national, regional and state governments. Such funding
may be governed by treaties and conventions or may be on a voluntary basis.

Governments and other public sector entities are accountable to resource
providers, particularly to those that provide resources through taxes and
other compulsory transactions. Chapter 2, Objectives and Users of General
Purpose Financial Reporting, discusses the accountability objective of
financial reporting.

The Importance of the Approved Budget

8.

Most governments and other public sector entities prepare budgets. In many
jurisdictions there is a constitutional requirement to prepare and make
publicly available a budget approved by the legislature (or equivalent).
Legislation often defines the contents of that documentation. The legislature
(or equivalent) exercises oversight, and constituents and their elected
representatives hold the entity’s management financially accountable through
the budget and other mechanisms. The approved budget is often the basis
for setting taxation levels, and is part of the process for obtaining legislative
approval for spending.

Because of the approved budget’s significance, information that enables
users to compare financial results with the budget facilitates an assessment
of the extent to which a public sector entity has met its financial objectives.
Such information promotes accountability and informs decision making in
subsequent budgets. Reporting against budget is commonly the mechanism
for demonstrating compliance with legal requirements relating to the public
finances. The needs of users for budget information is discussed in Chapter 2.

21 CONCEPTUAL FRAMEWORK



THE CONCEPTUAL FRAMEWORK FOR GENERAL PURPOSE
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The Nature of Public Sector Programs and the Longevity of the Public Sector

10.

11.

12.

13.

Many public sector programs are long term and the ability to meet commit-
ments depends upon future taxation and contributions. Many commitments
arising from public sector programs and powers to levy future taxation do
not meet the definitions of a liability and an asset in Chapter 5, Elements
in Financial Statements. Therefore, such commitments and powers are not
recognized in the financial statements.

Consequently, the statement of financial position and statement of financial
performance cannot provide all the information that users need on long-
term programs, particularly those delivering social benefits. The financial
consequences of many decisions will have an impact many years or
even decades into the future, so GPFRs containing prospective financial
information on the long-term sustainability of an entity’s finances and key
programs are necessary for accountability and decision-making purposes as
discussed in Chapter 2.

Although political control may change regularly, nation states generally have
very long existences. While they may encounter severe financial difficulties
and may default on sovereign debt obligations, nation states continue to exist.
If sub-national entities get into financial difficulties, national governments
might act as lenders of last resort or provide large scale guarantees. The main
service delivery commitments of sub-national entities may continue to be
funded by a higher level of government. In other cases public sector entities
that are unable to meet their liabilities as they fall due may continue to exist
by restructuring their operations.

The going concern principle underpins the preparation of the financial
statements. Interpretation of the principle needs to reflect the issues discussed
in paragraphs 11 and 12.

The Nature and Purpose of Assets and Liabilities in the Public Sector

14.

15.

In the public sector, the primary reason for holding property, plant, and
equipment and other assets is for their service potential rather than their
ability to generate cash flows?. Because of the types of services provided, a
significant proportion of assets used by public sector entities is specialized—
for example, roads and military assets. There may be a limited market for such
assets and, even then, they may need considerable adaptation in order to be
used by other operators. These factors have implications for the measurement
of such assets. Chapter 7, Measurement of Assets and Liabilities in Financial
Statements, discusses measurement bases for assets.

Governments and other public sector entities may hold items that contribute
to the historical and cultural character of a nation or region—for example,

2

Many public sector assets will generate cash flows, but this is often not the main reason for holding
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art treasures, historical buildings, and other artifacts. They may also be
responsible for national parks and other areas of natural significance with
native flora and fauna. Such items and areas are not generally held for
sale, even if markets exist. Rather, governments and public sector entities
have a responsibility to preserve and maintain them for current and future
generations.

Governments often have powers over natural and other resources such as
mineral reserves, water, fishing grounds, forests and the electromagnetic
spectrum. These powers allow governments to grant licenses for the use of
such resources or to obtain royalties and taxes from their use. The definition
of an asset and recognition criteria are discussed in Chapters 5 and 6,
Recognition in Financial Statements.

Governments and other public sector entities incur liabilities related to
their service delivery objectives. Many liabilities arise from non-exchange
transactions and include those related to programs that operate to deliver
social benefits. Liabilities may also arise from governments’ role as a lender
of last resort and from any obligations to transfer resources to those affected
by disasters. In addition many governments have obligations that arise from
monetary activities such as currency in circulation. The definition of a
liability and recognition criteria are discussed in Chapters 5 and 6.

The Regulatory Role of Public Sector Entities

18.

19.

Many governments and other public sector entities have powers to regulate
entities operating in certain sectors of the economy, either directly or through
specifically created agencies. The underlying public policy rationale for
regulation is to safeguard the public interest in accordance with specified
public policy objectives. Regulatory intervention can also occur where
there are market imperfections or market failure for particular services,
or to mitigate against factors such as pollution, the impact of which is not
transmitted through pricing. Such regulatory activities are carried out in
accordance with legal processes.

Governments may also regulate themselves and other public sector entities.
Judgment may be necessary to determine whether such regulations create
rights of, and obligations on, public sector entities that require recognition
as assets and liabilities, or whether the public sector entity’s ability to amend
such regulations has an impact on how such rights and obligations are
accounted for. Chapter 5 considers rights and obligations.

Relationship to Statistical Reporting

20.

Many governments produce two types of ex-post financial information: (a)
government finance statistics (GFS) on the general government sector (GGS)
for the purpose of macroeconomic analysis and decision making, and (b)
general purpose financial statements (financial statements) for accountability
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and decision making at an entity level, including financial statements for the
whole of government reporting entity.

The overarching standards for macro-economic statistics are set out in the
System of National Accounts (SNA). The SNA is a framework for a systematic
and detailed description of the national economy and its components,
including the GGS. These standards are then implemented at national or
regional level, for example in the European Union through the European
System of Accounts. GFS reporting guidelines include the International
Monetary Fund’s Government Finance Statistics Manual.

IPSAS financial statements and GFS reports have much in common. Both
reporting frameworks are concerned with (a) financial, accrual-based
information, (b) a government’s assets, liabilities, revenue, and expenses and
(c) comprehensive information on cash flows. There is considerable overlap
between the two reporting frameworks that underpin this information.

However, IPSASs and GFS reporting guidelines have different objectives.
The objectives of financial reporting by public sector entities are to provide
information about the reporting entity that is useful to users of GPFRs for
accountability purposes and decision-making purposes. GFS reports are used
to (a) analyze fiscal policy options, make policy and evaluate the impact of
fiscal policies, (b) determine the impact on the economy, and (c) compare
fiscal outcomes nationally and internationally. The focus is on evaluating the
impact of the GGS and broader public sector on the economy, within the
complete macroeconomic statistics framework.

The different objectives and focus on different reporting entities lead to
the different treatment of some transactions and events. The removal of
differences between the two accounting frameworks that are not fundamental
to their different objectives and reporting entities, and use of a single
integrated financial information system to generate both IPSAS-compliant
financial statements and GFS reports can provide benefits to users in terms
of report quality, timeliness and understandability. These matters and their
implications were considered in the development of Chapters 2, 4, Reporting
Entity, and 7, which discuss the objectives of financial reporting, the reporting
entity and measurement.
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Role of the Conceptual Framework

1.1

The Conceptual Framework for General Purpose Financial Reporting by
Public Sector Entities (the Conceptual Framework) establishes the concepts
that underpin general purpose financial reporting (financial reporting)
by public sector entities that adopt the accrual basis of accounting. The
International Public Sector Accounting Standards Board (IPSASB) will
apply these concepts in developing International Public Sector Accounting
Standards (IPSASs) and Recommended Practice Guidelines (RPGs)
applicable to the preparation and presentation of general purpose financial
reports (GPFRs) of public sector entities.

Authority of the Conceptual Framework

1.2

1.3

The Conceptual Framework does not establish authoritative requirements for
financial reporting by public sector entities that adopt IPSASs, nor does it
override the requirements of IPSASs or RPGs. Authoritative requirements
relating to the recognition, measurement and presentation of transactions and
other events and activities that are reported in GPFRs are specified in IPSASs.

The Conceptual Framework can provide guidance in dealing with financial
reporting issues not dealt with by IPSASs or RPGs. In these circumstances,
preparers and others can refer to and consider the applicability of the
definitions, recognition criteria, measurement principles, and other concepts
identified in the Conceptual Framework.

General Purpose Financial Reports

1.4

1.5

1.6

GPFRs are a central component of, and support and enhance, transparent
financial reporting by governments and other public sector entities. GPFRs
are financial reports intended to meet the information needs of users who are
unable to require the preparation of financial reports tailored to meet their
specific information needs.

Some users of financial information may have the authority to require the
preparation of reports tailored to meet their specific information needs. While
such parties may find the information provided by GPFRs useful for their
purposes, GPFRs are not developed to specifically respond to their particular
information needs.

GPFRs are likely to comprise multiple reports, each responding more
directly to certain aspects of the objectives of financial reporting and matters
included within the scope of financial reporting. GPFRs encompass financial
statements including their notes (hereafter referred to as financial statements,
unless specified otherwise), and the presentation of information that enhances,
complements and supplements the financial statements.
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The scope of financial reporting establishes the boundary around the
transactions, other events and activities that may be reported in GPFRs. The
scope of financial reporting is determined by the information needs of the
primary users of GPFRs and the objectives of financial reporting. The factors
that determine what may be encompassed within the scope of financial
reporting are outlined in the next chapter.

Applicability of the Conceptual Framework

1.8

The Conceptual Framework applies to financial reporting by public sector
entities that apply IPSASs. Therefore, it applies to GPFRs of national,
regional, state/provincial and local governments. It also applies to a wide
range of other public sector entities including:

e  Government ministries, departments, programs, boards, commissions,
agencies;

e  Public sector social security funds, trusts, and statutory authorities; and

e International governmental organizations.
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Basis for Conclusions

This Basis for Conclusions accompanies, but is not part of, the Conceptual
Framework.

Role and Authority of the Conceptual Framework

BCl1.1

BC1.2

The Conceptual Framework identifies the concepts that the IPSASB will
apply in developing IPSASs and RPGs intended to assist preparers and
others in dealing with financial reporting issues. IPSASs specify authoritative
requirements. IPSASs and RPGs are developed after application of a due
process which provides the opportunity for interested parties to provide input
on the specific requirements proposed, including their compatibility with
current practices in different jurisdictions.

The Conceptual Framework underpins the development of IPSASs. Therefore,
it has relevance for all entities that apply IPSASs. GPFRs prepared at the
whole-of-government level in accordance with IPSASs may also consolidate
all governmental entities whether or not those entities have complied with
IPSASSs in their GPFRs.

Special Purpose Financial Reports

BC1.3

Standard setters often describe as “special purpose financial reports” those
financial reports prepared to respond to the requirements of users that have
the authority to require the preparation of financial reports that disclose the
information they need for their particular purposes. The IPSASB is aware
that the requirements of IPSASs have been (and may continue to be) applied
effectively and usefully in the preparation of some special purpose financial
reports.

General Purpose Financial Reports

BC1.4

The Conceptual Framework acknowledges that, to respond to users’
information needs, GPFRs may include information that enhances,
complements, and supplements the financial statements. Therefore, the
Conceptual Framework reflects a scope for financial reporting that is more
comprehensive than that encompassed by financial statements. The following
Chapter of this Framework Chapter 2, Objectives and Users of General
Purpose Financial Reporting, identifies the objectives of financial reporting
and the primary users of GPFRs. It also outlines the consequences of the
primary users’ likely information needs for what may be encompassed within
the scope of financial reporting.
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Objectives of Financial Reporting

2.1

2.2

The objectives of financial reporting by public sector entities are to provide
information about the entity that is useful to users of GPFRs for accountability
purposes and for decision-making purposes (hereafter referred to as “useful
for accountability and decision-making purposes”).

Financial reporting is not an end in itself. Its purpose is to provide information
useful to users of GPFRs. The objectives of financial reporting are therefore
determined by reference to the users of GPFRs, and their information needs.

Users of General Purpose Financial Reports

23

24

2.5

Governments and other public sector entities raise resources from taxpayers,
donors, lenders and other resource providers for use in the provision of
services to citizens and other service recipients. These entities are accountable
for their management and use of resources to those that provide them with
resources, and to those that depend on them to use those resources to deliver
necessary services. Those that provide the resources and receive, or expect
to receive, the services also require information as input for decision-making
purposes.

Consequently, GPFRs of public sector entities are developed primarily to
respond to the information needs of service recipients and resource providers
who do not possess the authority to require a public sector entity to disclose
the information they need for accountability and decision-making purposes.
The legislature (or similar body) and members of parliament (or a similar
representative body) are also primary users of GPFRs, and make extensive
and ongoing use of GPFRs when acting in their capacity as representatives
of the interests of service recipients and resource providers. Therefore, for
the purposes of the Conceptual Framework, the primary users of GPFRs
are service recipients and their representatives and resource providers and
their representatives (hereafter referred to as “service recipients and resource
providers,” unless identified otherwise).

Citizens receive services from, and provide resources to, the government and
other public sector entities. Therefore, citizens are primary users of GPFRs.
Some service recipients and some resource providers that rely on GPFRs for
the information they need for accountability and decision-making purposes
may not be citizens—for example, residents who pay taxes and/or receive
benefits but are not citizens; multilateral or bilateral donor agencies and
many lenders and corporations that provide resources to, and transact with, a
government; and those that fund, and/or benefit from, the services provided
by international governmental organizations. In most cases, governments that
provide resources to international governmental organizations are dependent
on GPFRs of those organizations for information for accountability and
decision-making purposes.
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GPFRs prepared to respond to the information needs of service recipients
and resource providers for accountability and decision-making purposes may
also provide information useful to other parties and for other purposes. For
example, government statisticians, analysts, the media, financial advisors,
public interest and lobby groups and others may find the information
provided by GPFRs useful for their own purposes. Organizations that
have the authority to require the preparation of financial reports tailored
to meet their own specific information needs may also use the information
provided by GPFRs for their own purposes—for example, regulatory and
oversight bodies, audit institutions, subcommittees of the legislature or other
governing body, central agencies and budget controllers, entity management,
rating agencies and, in some cases, lending institutions and providers of
development and other assistance. While these other parties may find the
information provided by GPFRs useful, they are not the primary users of
GPFRs. Therefore, GPFRs are not developed to specifically respond to their
particular information needs.

Accountability and Decision Making

2.7

2.8

The primary function of governments and other public sector entities is to
provide services that enhance or maintain the well-being of citizens and other
eligible residents. Those services include, for example, welfare programs and
policing, public education, national security and defense services. In most
cases, these services are provided as a result of a non-exchange transaction?
and in a non-competitive environment.

Governments and other public sector entities are accountable to those that
provide them with resources, and to those that depend on them to use those
resources to deliver services during the reporting period and over the longer
term. The discharge of accountability obligations requires the provision of
information about the entity’s management of the resources entrusted to it
for the delivery of services to constituents and others, and its compliance
with legislation, regulation, or other authority that governs its service
delivery and other operations. Given the way in which the services provided
by public sector entities are funded (primarily by taxation revenues or other
non-exchange transactions) and the dependency of service recipients on the
provision of those services over the long term, the discharge of accountability
obligations will also require the provision of information about such matters
as the entity’s service delivery achievements during the reporting period, and
its capacity to continue to provide services in future periods.

Exchange transactions are transactions in which one entity receives assets or services, or has liabilities
extinguished, and directly gives approximately equally value to another entity in exchange. Non-
exchange transactions are transactions in which an entity receives value from another entity without
directly giving approximately equal value in exchange.
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Service recipients and resource providers will also require information as
input for making decisions. For example:

e Lenders, creditors, donors and others that provide resources on a
voluntary basis, including in an exchange transaction, make decisions
about whether to provide resources to support the current and future
activities of the government or other public sector entity. In some
circumstances, members of the legislature or similar representative
body who depend on GPFRs for the information they need, can make or
influence decisions about the service delivery objectives of government
departments, agencies or programs and the resources allocated to
support their achievement; and

e  Taxpayers do not usually provide funds to the government or other
public sector entity on a voluntary basis or as a result of an exchange
transaction. In addition, in many cases, they do not have the discretion
to choose whether or not to accept the services provided by a public
sector entity or to choose an alternative service provider. Consequently,
they have little direct or immediate capacity to make decisions about
whether to provide resources to the government, the resources to be
allocated for the provision of services by a particular public sector entity
or whether to purchase or consume the services provided. However,
service recipients and resource providers can make decisions about their
voting preferences, and representations they make to elected officials
or other representative bodies—these decisions may have resource
allocation consequences for certain public sector entities.

Information provided in GPFRs for accountability purposes will contribute
to, and inform, decision making. For example, information about the
costs, efficiency and effectiveness of past service delivery activities, the
amount and sources of cost recovery, and the resources available to support
future activities will be necessary for the discharge of accountability. This
information will also be useful for decision making by users of GPFRs,
including decisions that donors and other financial supporters make about
providing resources to the entity.

Information Needs of Service Recipients and Resource Providers

2.11

For accountability and decision-making purposes, service recipients and
resource providers will need information that supports the assessments of
such matters as:

e The performance of the entity during the reporting period in, for

example:
) Meeting its service delivery and other operating and financial
objectives;
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) Managing the resources it is responsible for;

) Complying with relevant budgetary, legislative, and other
authority regulating the raising and use of resources;

e  The liquidity (for example, ability to meet current obligations) and
solvency (for example, ability to meet obligations over the long term)
of the entity;

e  The sustainability of the entity’s service delivery and other operations
over the long term, and changes therein as a result of the activities of the
entity during the reporting period including, for example:

) The capacity of the entity to continue to fund its activities and
to meet its operational objectives in the future (its financial
capacity), including the likely sources of funding and the extent
to which the entity is dependent on, and therefore vulnerable to,
funding or demand pressures outside its control; and

) The physical and other resources currently available to support the
provision of services in future periods (its operational capacity);
and

e  The capacity of the entity to adapt to changing circumstances, whether
changes in demographics or changes in domestic or global economic
conditions which are likely to impact the nature or composition of the
activities it undertakes and the services it provides.

The information service recipients and resource providers need for these
purposes is likely to overlap in many respects. For example, service recipients
will require information as input to assessments of such matters as whether:

e  The entity is using resources economically, efficiently, effectively and
as intended, and whether such use is in their interest;

e  The range, volume and cost of services provided during the reporting
period are appropriate, and the amounts and sources of their cost
recoveries; and

e  Current levels of taxes or other resources raised are sufficient to maintain
the volume and quality of services currently provided.

Service recipients will also require information about the consequences of
decisions made, and activities undertaken, by the entity during the reporting
period on the resources available to support the provision of services in
future periods, the entity’s anticipated future service delivery activities and
objectives, and the amounts and sources of cost recoveries necessary to
support those activities.

Resource providers will require information as input to assessments of such
matters as whether the entity:
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e [s achieving the objectives established as the justification for the
resources raised during the reporting period;

e  Funded current operations from funds raised in the current period from
taxpayers or from borrowings or other sources; and

e [s likely to need additional (or less) resources in the future, and the
likely sources of those resources.

Lenders and creditors will require information as input to assessments of
the liquidity of the entity and, therefore, whether the amount and timing of
repayment will be as agreed. Donors will require information to support
assessments of whether the entity is using resources economically, efficiently,
effectively and as intended. They will also require information about the
entity’s anticipated future service delivery activities and resource needs.

Information Provided by General Purpose Financial Reports
Financial Position, Financial Performance and Cash Flows

2.14 Information about the financial position of a government or other public
sector entity will enable users to identify the resources of the entity and
claims to those resources at the reporting date. This will provide information
useful as input to assessments of such matters as:

e  The extent to which management has discharged its responsibilities for
safekeeping and managing the resources of the entity;

e  The extent to which resources are available to support future service
delivery activities, and changes during the reporting period in the
amount and composition of those resources and claims to those
resources; and

e  The amounts and timing of future cash flows necessary to service and
repay existing claims to the entity’s resources.

2.15 Information about the financial performance of a government or other public
sector entity will inform assessments of matters such as whether the entity has
acquired resources economically, and used them efficiently and effectively to
achieve its service delivery objectives. Information about the costs of service
delivery and the amounts and sources of cost recovery during the reporting
period will assist users to determine whether operating costs were recovered
from, for example, taxes, user charges, contributions and transfers, or were
financed by increasing the level of indebtedness of the entity.

2.16 Information about the cash flows of a government or other public sector
entity contributes to assessments of financial performance and the entity’s
liquidity and solvency. It indicates how the entity raised and used cash during
the period, including its borrowing and repayment of borrowing and its
acquisition and sale of, for example, property, plant, and equipment. It also
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identifies the cash received from, for example, taxes and investments and the
cash transfers made to, and received from, other governments, government
agencies or international organizations. Information about cash flows can
also support assessments of the entity’s compliance with spending mandates
expressed in cash flow terms, and inform assessments of the likely amounts
and sources of cash inflows needed in future periods to support service
delivery objectives.

Information about financial position, financial performance and cash flows
are typically presented in financial statements. To assist users to better
understand, interpret and place in context the information presented in the
financial statements, GPFRs may also provide financial and non-financial
information that enhances, complements and supplements the financial
statements, including information about such matters as the government’s or
other public sector entity’s:

e  Compliance with approved budgets and other authority governing its
operations;

e  Service delivery activities and achievements during the reporting
period; and

e  Expectations regarding service delivery and other activities in future
periods, and the long term consequences of decisions made and activities
undertaken during the reporting period, including those that may impact
expectations about the future.

This information may be presented in the notes to the financial statements or
in separate reports included in GPFRs.

Budget Information and Compliance with Legislation or Other Authority
Governing the Raising and Use of Resources

2.18

2.19

2.20

Typically, a government or other public sector entity prepares, approves and
makes publicly available an annual budget. The approved budget provides
interested parties with financial information about the entity’s operational
plans for the forthcoming period, its capital needs and, often, its service
delivery objectives and expectations. It is used to justify the raising of
resources from taxpayers and other resource providers, and establishes the
authority for expenditure of resources.

Some resources to support the activities of public sector entities may be
received from donors, lenders or as aresult of exchange transactions. However,
resources to support the activities of public sector entities are predominantly
provided in non-exchange transactions by taxpayers and others, consistent
with the expectations reflected in an approved budget.

GPFRs provide information about the financial results (whether described
as “surplus or deficit,” “profit or loss,” or by other terms), performance and
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cash flows of the entity during the reporting period, its assets and liabilities at
the reporting date and the change therein during the reporting period, and its
service delivery achievements.

The inclusion within GPFRs of information that assists users in assessing
the extent to which revenues, expenses, cash flows and financial results of
the entity comply with the estimates reflected in approved budgets, and the
entity’s adherence to relevant legislation or other authority governing the
raising and use of resources, is important in determining how well a public
sector entity has met its financial objectives. Such information is necessary for
the discharge of a government’s or other public sector entity’s accountability
to its constituents, enhances the assessment of the financial performance of
the entity and will inform decision making.

Service Delivery Achievements

2.22

2.23

2.24

The primary objective of governments and most public sector entities is
to provide needed services to constituents. Consequently, the financial
performance of governments and most public sector entities will not be fully
or adequately reflected in any measure of financial results. Therefore, their
financial results will need to be assessed in the context of the achievement of
service delivery objectives.

In some cases, quantitative measures of the outputs and outcomes of the
entity’s service delivery activities during the reporting period will provide
relevant information about the achievement of service delivery objectives—
for example, information about the cost, volume, and frequency of service
delivery, and the relationship of services provided to the resource base of
the entity. In other cases, the achievement of service delivery objectives
may need to be communicated by an explanation of the quality of particular
services provided or the outcome of certain programs.

Reporting non-financial as well as financial information about service delivery
activities, achievements and/or outcomes during the reporting period will
provide input to assessments of the economy, efficiency, and effectiveness
of the entity’s operations. Reporting such information is necessary for a
government or other public sector entity to discharge its obligation to be
accountable—that is, to account for, and justify the use of, the resources
raised from, or on behalf of, constituents. Decisions that donors make about
the allocation of resources to particular entities and programs are also made, at
least in part, in response to information about service delivery achievements
during the reporting period, and future service delivery objectives.

Prospective Financial and Non-financial Information

2.25

Given the longevity of governments and many government programs, the
financial consequences of many decisions made in the reporting period may
only become clear many years into the future. Financial statements which
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present information about financial position at a point in time and financial
performance and cash flows over the reporting period will then need to be
assessed in the context of the long term.

Decisions made by a government or other public sector entity in a particular
period about programs for delivering and funding services in the future can
have significant consequences for:

e  Constituents who will be dependent on those services in the future;
and

e Current and future generations of taxpayers and other involuntary
resource providers who will provide the taxes and levies to fund the
planned service delivery activities and related financial commitments.

Information about the entity’s anticipated future service delivery activities
and objectives, their likely impact on the future resource needs of the entity
and the likely sources of funding for such resources, will be necessary as
input to any assessment of the ability of the government or other public sector
entity to meet its service delivery and financial commitments in the future.
The disclosure of such information in GPFRs will support assessments of the
sustainability of service delivery by a government or other public sector entity,
enhance the accountability of the entity and provide additional information
useful for decision-making purposes.

Explanatory Information

2.28

Information about the major factors underlying the financial and service
delivery performance of the entity during the reporting period and the
assumptions that underpin expectations about, and factors that are likely to
influence, the entity’s future performance may be presented in GPFRs in notes
to the financial statements or in separate reports. Such information will assist
users to better understand and place in context the financial and non-financial
information included in GPFRs, and enhance the role of GPFRs in providing
information useful for accountability and decision-making purposes.

Financial Statements and Information that Enhances,
Complements and Supplements the Financial Statements

2.29

2.30

The scope of financial reporting establishes the boundary around the
transactions, other events and activities that may be reported in GPFRs.
To respond to the information needs of users, the Conceptual Framework
reflects a scope for financial reporting that is more comprehensive than
that encompassed by financial statements. It provides for the presentation
within GPFRs of additional information that enhances, complements, and
supplements those statements.

While the Conceptual Framework reflects a scope of financial reporting
that is more comprehensive than that encompassed by financial statements,
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information presented in financial statements remains at the core of financial
reporting. How the elements of financial statements are defined, recognized
and measured, and forms of presentation and communication that might
be adopted for information included within GPFRs, is considered in other
chapters of the Conceptual Framework and in the development of individual
IPSASs or RPGs, as appropriate.

Other Sources of Information

231

GPFRs play a significant role in communicating information necessary
to support the discharge of a government’s or other public sector entity’s
obligation to be accountable, as well as providing information useful as
input for decision-making purposes. However, it is unlikely that GPFRs
will provide all the information users need for accountability and decision-
making purposes. For example, while comparison of actual with budget
information for the reporting period may be included in GPFRs, the budgets
and financial forecasts issued by governments provide more detailed financial
and non-financial information about the financial characteristics of the plans
of governments and other public sector entities over the short and medium
terms. Governments and independent agencies also issue reports on the need
for, and sustainability of, existing service delivery initiatives and anticipated
economic conditions and changes in the jurisdiction’s demographics over
the medium and longer term that will influence budgets and service delivery
needs in the future. Consequently, service recipients and resource providers
may also need to consider information from other sources, including reports
on current and anticipated economic conditions, government budgets and
forecasts, and information about government policy initiatives not reported
in GPFRs.
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Basis for Conclusions

This Basis for Conclusions accompanies, but is not part of, the Conceptual
Framework.

Primary User Groups

BC2.1

In developing the Conceptual Framework, the IPSASB sought views on
whether the Conceptual Framework should identify the primary users of
GPFRs. Many respondents to the initial Consultation Paper* expressed the
view that the Framework should identify the primary users of GPFRs, and
the IPSASB should focus on the information needs of those primary users in
developing IPSASs. The IPSASB was persuaded by these views.

Identifying the Primary User Groups

BC2.2 Conceptual Framework Exposure Draft 1, Conceptual Framework for

BC2.3

General Purpose Financial Reporting by Public Sector Entities: Role,
Authority and Scope; Objectives and Users; Qualitative Characteristics;
and Reporting Entity (the Exposure Draft) identified service recipients and
their representatives, and resource providers and their representatives as the
primary users of GPFRs. It explained that, while the IPSASB will develop
IPSASs and RPGs on the contents of GPFRs to respond to the information
needs of these primary users, GPFRs may still be used by others with an
interest in financial reporting, and may provide information of use to those
other users.

Many respondents to the Exposure Draftexpressed support for the identification
of service recipients and their representatives and resource providers and
their representatives as the primary users of GPFRs. However, others were
of the view that the public, citizens or legislature should be identified as the
primary or most important users of GPFRs of public sector entities. They
explained that this is because governments are primarily accountable to the
citizens or their representatives and, in many jurisdictions, the legislature
and individual members of parliament (or similar representative body) acting
on behalf of citizens are the main users of GPFRs. Some respondents also
expressed the view that only resource providers and their representatives
should be identified as the primary users of GPFRs of public sector entities.
They explained that it is unlikely that GPFRs would be able to respond to
the information needs of all users, and resource providers are likely to have
the greatest interest in GPFRs. Therefore, identifying resource providers
as the primary user group will allow the IPSASB to focus more sharply on
the information needs of a single user group. They also noted that GPFRs

4

Consultation Paper, Conceptual Framework for General Purpose Financial Reporting by Public Sector

Entities: The Objectives of Financial Reporting; The Scope of Financial Reporting; The Qualitative
Characteristics of Information Included in General Purpose Financial Reports; The Reporting Entity.
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prepared to respond to the information needs of resource providers are likely
to also provide information useful to other potential users.

The IPSASB acknowledges that there is merit in many of the proposals
made by respondents regarding the identity of the primary users of GPFRs
of public sector entities, particularly as they apply to governments in many
jurisdictions. However, given the objectives of financial reporting by public
sector entities, the IPSASB remains of the view that the primary users of
GPFRs of public sector entities should be identified as service recipients and
their representatives and resource providers and their representatives. This is
because:

e  Governments and other public sector entities are accountable to those
that depend on them to use resources to deliver necessary services, as
well as to those that provide them with the resources that enable the
delivery of those services; and

e  GPFRs have a significant role in the discharge of that accountability and
the provision of information useful to those users for decision-making
purposes.

As such, GPFRs should be developed to respond to the information needs of
service recipients and their representatives and resource providers and their
representatives as the primary users. In addition, the Conceptual Framework
will apply to governments and a potentially wide range of other public sector
entities in many different jurisdictions, and to international governmental
organizations. Consequently, it is not clear that identification of other user
groups as the primary users of GPFRs will be relevant, and operate effectively,
for all public sector entities across all jurisdictions.

The IPSASB accepts that some information in GPFRs may be of more
interest and greater use to some users than others. The IPSASB also accepts
that, in developing IPSASs and RPGs, it will need to consider and, in some
cases, balance the needs of different groups of primary users. However, the
IPSASB does not believe that such matters invalidate the identification of
both service recipients and their representatives and resource providers and
their representatives as the primary users of GPFRs.

The IPSASB’s views on the relationship between the primary user groups
identified by respondents, and service recipients and resource providers are
further elaborated below.

The IPSASB acknowledges the importance of citizens, the public and their
representatives as users of GPFRs, but is of the view that classifying citizens
as service recipients and resource providers provides a basis for assessing
their potential information needs. This is because citizens encompass many
individuals with a potentially wide range of diverse information needs—
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focusing on the information needs of citizens as service recipients and resource
providers enables the IPSASB to draw together those diverse interests and
explore what information needs GPFRs should attempt to respond to. The
IPSASB is also of the view that, in developing IPSASs, it is appropriate that
it has the capacity to consider the information needs of a range of service
recipients and resource providers who may not be citizens (including donors
and lenders) and do not possess the authority to require a public sector entity
to disclose the information they need for accountability and decision-making
purposes.

Resource Providers

BC2.8

BC2.9

The IPSASB agrees that GPFRs directed at the provision of information
to satisfy the information needs of resource providers will also provide
information useful to other potential users of GPFRs. However, the IPSASB is
of the view that the Conceptual Framework should make clear its expectation
that governments and other public sector entities should be accountable to
both those that provide them with resources and those that depend on them to
use those resources to deliver necessary and/or promised services. In addition,
it has been noted that in some jurisdictions resource providers are primarily
donors or lenders that may have the authority to require the preparation of
special purpose financial reports to provide the information they need.

As noted at paragraph BC2.4, the IPSASB has formed a view that both service
recipients and resource providers and their representatives are primary users
of GPFRs. The IPSASB is of the view that the Conceptual Framework
should not exclude citizens who may be interested in GPFRs in their capacity
as service recipients from the potential users of GPFRs, or identify their
information needs as less important than those of resource providers. The
IPSASB is also of the view that it is not appropriate that donors, lenders,
and others that provide resources on a voluntary or involuntary basis to
governments and other public sector entities be excluded as potential users
of GPFRs, or that their information needs be identified as less important than
those of service recipients.

The Legislature

BC2.10 The IPSASB is of the view that the legislature or similar governing body is a

primary user of GPFRs in its capacity as a representative of service recipients
and resource providers. The legislature, parliaments, councils and similar
bodies will also require information for their own specific accountability
and decision-making purposes, and usually have the authority to require the
preparation of detailed special purpose financial and other reports to provide
that information. However, they may also use the information provided by
GPFRs as well as information provided by special purpose financial reports
for input to assessments of whether resources were used efficiently and as
intended and in making decisions about allocating resources to particular
government entities, programs or activities.
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Individual members of the legislature or other governing body, whether
members of the government or opposition, can usually require the disclosure
of the information they need for the discharge of their official duties as
directed by the legislature or governing body. However, they may not have
the authority to require the preparation of financial reports that provide
the information they require for other purposes, or in other circumstances.
Consequently, they are users of GPFRs, whether in their capacity as
representatives of service recipients and resource providers in their electorate
or constituency, or in their personal capacity as citizens and members of the
community.

Other User Groups

BC2.12 In developing the Conceptual Framework, the IPSASB considered a wide

BC2.13

range of other potential users of GPFRs, including whether special interest
groups and their representatives, or those transacting with public sector entities
on a commercial or non-commercial basis or on a voluntary or involuntary
basis (such as public sector and private sector resource providers) should be
identified as separate user groups. The IPSASB is of the view that identifying
service recipients and their representatives and resource providers and their
representatives as the primary users of GPFRs will respond appropriately
to the information needs of subgroups of service recipients and resource
providers.

The information provided by GPFRs may be useful for compiling national
accounts, as input to statistical financial reporting models, for assessments
of the impact of government policies on economic activity and for other
economic analytical purposes. However, GPFRs are not developed specifically
to respond to the needs of those who require information for these purposes.
Similarly, while those that act as advisors to service recipients or to resource
providers (such as citizen advocacy groups, bond rating agencies, credit
analysts and public interest groups) are likely to find the information reported
in GPFRs useful for their purposes, GPFRs are not prepared specifically to
respond to their particular information needs.

The Objectives of Financial Reporting

BC2.14 Many respondents to the Exposure Draft agreed that the provision of

information useful for both accountability and decision-making purposes
should be identified as the objectives of financial reporting by public sector
entities. Some respondents advocated that only accountability be identified
as the single or dominant objective of financial reporting by public sector
entities; other respondents advocated that decision making should be
identified as the single objective. However, the IPSASB remains of the view
that users of GPFRs of public sector entities will require information for both
accountability and decision-making purposes.
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Some respondents to the Exposure Draft advocated that the link between
accountability and decision making be more clearly articulated and the
public sector characteristics that underpinned the IPSASB’s views on the
objectives of financial reporting by public sector entities be identified. The
IPSASB has responded positively to these proposals. The Framework has
been restructured and clarifications added.

The explanation of accountability and its relationship to decision-making and
GPFRs has also been strengthened. In this context, the IPSASB acknowledges
that the notion of accountability reflected in this Framework is broad. It
encompasses the provision of information about the entity’s management of
the resources entrusted to it, and information useful to users in assessing the
sustainability of the activities of the entity and the continuity of the provision
of services over the long term. The IPSASB is of the view that this broad
notion of accountability is appropriate because citizens and other constituents
provide resources to governments and other public sector entities on an
involuntary basis and, for the most part, depend on governments and other
public sector entities to provide needed services over the long term. However,
the IPSASB also recognizes that it is unlikely that GPFRs will provide all
the information that service recipients and resource providers need for
accountability and decision-making purposes.

The Scope of Financial Reporting—Financial Statements and Information that
Enhances, Complements and Supplements the Financial Statements

BC2.17

BC2.18

Many respondents to the Exposure Draft expressed support for the scope of
financial reporting and its explanation as proposed by the IPSASB, with some
identifying matters for clarification and others noting that projects dealing
with the broader scope issues would need to provide guidance on application
of the qualitative characteristics such as verifiability and comparability. Other
respondents did not support the scope of financial reporting being broader
than financial statements, expressing concern that:

e  The proposed broad scope dealt with matters which were outside the
Terms of Reference of the IPSASB that were in effect at that time; and

e  Guidance on matters outside the financial statements, such as non-
financial and prospective information, is appropriately a matter for
individual governments, or governing bodies or other authority.

e  Some respondents to the Exposure Draft also expressed concern that
the scope was too sharply focused on the financial statements, and that
additional guidance on non-financial information and sustainability
reporting be included in the Conceptual Framework.

The IPSASB remains of the view that it is necessary that the Conceptual
Framework reflect a scope for financial reporting that is more comprehensive
than that encompassed by financial statements. This is because:
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e  The primary objective of governments and other public sector entities is
to deliver services to constituents rather than to generate profits;

e  C(Citizens and other eligible residents are dependent on governments and
other public sector entities to provide a wide range of services on an
on-going basis over the long term. The activities of, and decisions made
by, governments and other public sector entities in a particular reporting
period can have significant consequences for future generations
of service recipients and future generations of taxpayers and other
involuntary resource providers; and

e Most governments and other public sector entities operate within
spending mandates and financial constraints established through the
budgetary process. Monitoring implementation of the approved budget
is the primary method by which the legislature exercises oversight,
and citizens and their elected representatives hold the government’s
management financially accountable.

Consequently, the performance of public sector entities in achieving their
financial and service delivery objectives can be only partially evaluated by
examination of their financial position at the reporting date, and financial
performance and cash flows during the reporting period. The IPSASB is of
the view that, to respond to users’ need for information for accountability
and decision-making purposes, the Conceptual Framework should enable
GPFRs to encompass the provision of information that allows users to better
assess and place in context the financial statements. Such information may
be communicated by separate reports that present financial and non-financial
information about the achievement of the entity’s service delivery objectives
during the reporting period; its compliance with approved budgets and
legislation or other authority governing the raising and use of resources; and
prospective financial and non-financial information about its future service
delivery activities, objectives, and resource needs. In some cases, information
about these matters may also be presented in notes to the financial statements.

In making decisions about financial reporting requirements or guidance that
extend the information presented in GPFRs beyond financial statements, the
IPSASB will consider the benefits of the information to users and the costs of
compiling and reporting such information.

Limiting the Scope of Financial Reporting

BC2.21

Some respondents who agreed that the scope of financial reporting should
extend beyond the financial statements expressed concern that the scope as
proposed in the Exposure Draft was too open ended and/or not adequately
explained or justified—in some cases proposing that the scope be limited to
enhancement of matters recognized in the financial statements.

CONCEPTUAL FRAMEWORK 44



BC2.22

THE CONCEPTUAL FRAMEWORK FOR GENERAL PURPOSE
FINANCIAL REPORTING BY PUBLIC SECTOR ENTITIES

The IPSASB has responded to these concerns by clarifying the linkages
between the scope of financial reporting and users’ information needs,
and including additional explanation of the relationship between users’
information needs and the information that GPFRs may provide in response. In
addition, the IPSASB has clarified that the scope of general purpose financial
reporting is limited to the financial statements and information that enhances,
complements and supplements the financial statements. Consequently, what
is included in the more comprehensive scope of financial reporting will be
derived from financial statements, and limited to matters that assist users
to better understand and put in context the information included in those
statements.

Resource Considerations, Authoritative Requirements and Audit Status

BC2.23

BC2.24

BC2.25

Many respondents, whether supportive or opposed to the proposals in the
Exposure Draft, expressed concern that dealing with “broad scope” issues
would absorb too much of the IPSASB’s resources and limit its ability to deal
with financial statement issues. Some respondents to the Exposure Draft also:

e  Advocated that the Conceptual Framework clarify that authoritative
requirements would only be developed for financial statement matters,
broader scope issues being the subject of guidelines; and

e  Expressed concern about the audit implications of including non-
financial information and prospective information in GPFRs.

While the IPSASB can develop IPSASs which include authoritative
requirements, it is not inevitable that it will do so. For example, the IPSASB’s
publications also include RPGs and other documents intended to assist the
financial reporting community to respond to particular financial reporting
issues. All IPSASB documents which include authoritative requirements or
guidance on the presentation of information in GPFRs, whether as part of the
financial statements or enhancements to those statements, will be subject to
full due process. Therefore, in developing authoritative or other guidance on
the presentation of information that broadens the scope of financial reporting,
the IPSASB will need to respond to constituent concerns about the proposed
technical content and authority of the guidance.

The IPSASB acknowledges the concern of respondents regarding the
deployment of the IPSASB’s resources to broad scope issues. However,
information presented in financial statements remains at the core of financial
reporting and, therefore, will remain the primary focus of the IPSASs and
RPGs developed by the IPSASB. Consequently, the standards development
work program of the IPSASB will continue to respond to users’ need for
better financial reporting of transactions and other events that are reported in
the financial statements.
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BC2.26 The IPSASB is of the view that it is not the role of the Conceptual
Framework, or the IPSASs and RPGs that may be developed consistent with
the concepts reflected in the Framework, to attempt to establish the level of
audit assurance that should be provided to particular aspects of GPFRs. The
qualitative characteristics provide some assurance to users about the quality
of information included in GPFRs. However, responsibilities for the audit of
financial statements and other components of GPFRs will be established by
such matters as the regulatory framework in place in particular jurisdictions
and the audit mandate agreed with and/or applying to the entity.
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Introduction

3.1

32

33

34

3.5

GPFRs present financial and non-financial information about economic and
other phenomena. The qualitative characteristics of information included in
GPFRs are the attributes that make that information useful to users and support
the achievement of the objectives of financial reporting. The objectives of
financial reporting are to provide information useful for accountability and
decision-making purposes.

The qualitative characteristics of information included in GPFRs of public
sector entities are relevance, faithful representation, understandability,
timeliness, comparability, and verifiability.

Pervasive constraints on information included in GPFRs are materiality,
cost-benefit, and achieving an appropriate balance between the qualitative
characteristics.

Each of the qualitative characteristics is integral to, and works with, the
other characteristics to provide in GPFRs information useful for achieving
the objectives of financial reporting. However, in practice, all qualitative
characteristics may not be fully achieved, and a balance or trade-off between
certain of them may be necessary.

The qualitative characteristics apply to all financial and non-financial
information reported in GPFRs, including historic and prospective
information, and explanatory information. However, the extent to which the
qualitative characteristics can be achieved may differ depending on the degree
of uncertainty and subjective assessment or opinion involved in compiling
the financial and non-financial information. The need for additional guidance
on interpreting and applying the qualitative characteristics to information that
extends the scope of financial reporting beyond financial statements will be
considered in the development of any IPSASs and RPGs that deal with such
matters.

Relevance

3.6

3.7

Financial and non-financial information is relevant if it is capable of making
a difference in achieving the objectives of financial reporting. Financial and
non-financial information is capable of making a difference when it has
confirmatory value, predictive value, or both. It may be capable of making
a difference, and thus be relevant, even if some users choose not to take
advantage of it or are already aware of it.

Financial and non-financial information has confirmatory value if it confirms
or changes past (or present) expectations. For example, information will
be relevant for accountability and decision-making purposes if it confirms
expectations about such matters as the extent to which managers have
discharged their responsibilities for the efficient and effective use of resources,
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the achievement of specified service delivery objectives, and compliance
with relevant budgetary, legislative and other requirements.

GPFRs may present information about an entity’s anticipated future service
delivery activities, objectives and costs, and the amount and sources of
the resources that are intended to be allocated to providing services in the
future. Such future oriented information will have predictive value and be
relevant for accountability and decision-making purposes. Information
about economic and other phenomena that exist or have already occurred
can also have predictive value in helping form expectations about the future.
For example, information that confirms or disproves past expectations can
reinforce or change expectations about financial results and service delivery
outcomes that may occur in the future.

The confirmatory and predictive roles of information are interrelated—for
example, information about the current level and structure of an entity’s
resources and claims to those resources helps users to confirm the outcome of
resource management strategies during the period, and to predict an entity’s
ability to respond to changing circumstances and anticipated future service
delivery needs. The same information helps to confirm or correct users’ past
expectations and predictions about the entity’s ability to respond to such
changes. It also helps to confirm or correct prospective financial information
included in previous GPFRs.

Faithful Representation

3.10

3.11

3.12

Tobeuseful in financial reporting, information must be a faithful representation
of the economic and other phenomena that it purports to represent. Faithful
representation is attained when the depiction of the phenomenon is complete,
neutral, and free from material error. Information that faithfully represents
an economic or other phenomenon depicts the substance of the underlying
transaction, other event, activity or circumstance—which is not necessarily
always the same as its legal form.

In practice, it may not be possible to know or confirm whether information
presented in GPFRs is complete, neutral, and free from material error.
However, information should be as complete, neutral, and free from error as
is possible.

An omission of some information can cause the representation of an
economic or other phenomenon to be false or misleading, and thus not useful
to users of GPFRs. For example, a complete depiction of the item “plant and
equipment” in GPFRs will include a numeric representation of the aggregate
amount of plant and equipment together with other quantitative, descriptive
and explanatory information necessary to faithfully represent that class of
assets. In some cases, this may include the disclosure of information about
such matters as the major classes of plant and equipment, factors that have
affected their use in the past or might impact on their use in the future, and
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the basis and process for determining their numeric representation. Similarly,
prospective financial and non-financial information and information about
the achievement of service delivery objectives and outcomes included in
GPFRs will need to be presented with the key assumptions that underlie
that information and any explanations that are necessary to ensure that its
depiction is complete and useful to users.

Neutrality in financial reporting is the absence of bias. It means that the
selection and presentation of financial and non-financial information is not
made with the intention of attaining a particular predetermined result—for
example, to influence in a particular way users’ assessment of the discharge
of accountability by the entity or a decision or judgment that is to be made, or
to induce particular behavior.

Neutral information faithfully represents the economic and other phenomena
that it purports to represent. However, to require information included in
GPFRs to be neutral does not mean that it is not without purpose or that it
will not influence behavior. Relevance is a qualitative characteristic and, by
definition, relevant information is capable of influencing users’ assessments
and decisions.

The economic and other phenomena represented in GPFRs generally
occur under conditions of uncertainty. Information included in GPFRs will
therefore often include estimates that incorporate management’s judgment.
To faithfully represent an economic or other phenomenon, an estimate must
be based on appropriate inputs, and each input must reflect the best available
information. Caution will need to be exercised when dealing with uncertainty.
It may sometimes be necessary to explicitly disclose the degree of uncertainty
in financial and non-financial information to faithfully represent economic
and other phenomena.

Free from material error does not mean complete accuracy in all respects.
Free from material error means there are no errors or omissions that are
individually or collectively material in the description of the phenomenon,
and the process used to produce the reported information has been applied
as described. In some cases, it may be possible to determine the accuracy of
some information included in GPFRs—for example, the amount of a cash
transfer to another level of government, the volume of services delivered
or the price paid for the acquisition of plant and equipment. However, in
other cases it may not—for example, the accuracy of an estimate of the value
or cost of an item or the effectiveness of a service delivery program may
not be able to be determined. In these cases, the estimate will be free from
material error if the amount is clearly described as an estimate, the nature and
limitations of the estimation process are explained, and no material errors
have been identified in selecting and applying an appropriate process for
developing the estimate.
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Understandability

3.17

3.18

Understandability is the quality of information thatenablesusers tocomprehend
its meaning. GPFRs of public sector entities should present information in a
manner that responds to the needs and knowledge base of users, and to the
nature of the information presented. For example, explanations of financial
and non-financial information and commentary on service delivery and other
achievements during the reporting period and expectations for future periods
should be written in plain language, and presented in a manner that is readily
understandable by users. Understandability is enhanced when information is
classified, characterized, and presented clearly and concisely. Comparability
also can enhance understandability.

Users of GPFRs are assumed to have a reasonable knowledge of the entity’s
activities and the environment in which it operates, to be able and prepared
to read GPFRs, and to review and analyze the information presented with
reasonable diligence. Some economic and other phenomena are particularly
complex and difficult to represent in GPFRs, and some users may need to
seek the aid of an advisor to assist in their understanding of them. All efforts
should be undertaken to represent economic and other phenomena included in
GPFRs in a manner that is understandable to a wide range of users. However,
information should not be excluded from GPFRs solely because it may be too
complex or difficult for some users to understand without assistance.

Timeliness

3.19

3.20

Timeliness means having information available for users before it loses
its capacity to be useful for accountability and decision-making purposes.
Having relevant information available sooner can enhance its usefulness as
input to assessments of accountability and its capacity to inform and influence
decisions that need to be made. A lack of timeliness can render information
less useful.

Some items of information may continue to be useful long after the reporting
period or reporting date. For example, for accountability and decision-
making purposes, users of GPFRs may need to assess trends in the financial
and service delivery performance of the entity and its compliance with
budgets over a number of reporting periods. In addition, the outcome and
effects of some service delivery programs may not be determinable until
future periods—for example, this may occur in respect of programs intended
to enhance the economic well-being of constituents, reduce the incidence of
a particular disease, or increase literacy levels of certain age groups.

Comparability

3.21

Comparability is the quality of information that enables users to identify
similarities in, and differences between, two sets of phenomena. Comparability
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is not a quality of an individual item of information, but rather a quality of the
relationship between two or more items of information.

Comparability differs from consistency. Consistency refers to the use of the
same accounting principles or policies and basis of preparation, either from
period to period within an entity or in a single period across more than one
entity. Comparability is the goal, and consistency helps in achieving that
goal. In some cases, the accounting principles or policies adopted by an entity
may be revised to better represent a particular transaction or event in GPFRs.
In these cases, the inclusion of additional disclosures or explanation may be
necessary to satisfy the characteristics of comparability.

Comparability also differs from uniformity. For information to be comparable,
like things must look alike and different things must look different. An over-
emphasis on uniformity may reduce comparability by making unlike things
look alike. Comparability of information in GPFRs is not enhanced by
making unlike things look alike, any more than it is by making like things
look different.

Information about the entity’s financial position, financial performance,
cash flows, compliance with approved budgets and relevant legislation or
other authority governing the raising and use of resources, service delivery
achievements, and its future plans is necessary for accountability purposes
and useful as input for decision-making purposes. The usefulness of such
information is enhanced if it can be compared with, for example:

e  Prospective financial and non-financial information previously
presented for that reporting period or reporting date;

e  Similar information about the same entity for some other period or some
other point in time; and

e  Similar information about other entities (for example, public sector
entities providing similar services in different jurisdictions) for the same
reporting period.

Consistent application of accounting principles, policies and basis of
preparation to prospective financial and non-financial information and actual
outcomes will enhance the usefulness of any comparison of projected and
actual results. Comparability with other entities may be less significant for
explanations of management’s perception or opinion of the factors underlying
the entity’s current performance.

Verifiability

3.26

Verifiability is the quality of information that helps assure users that
information in GPFRs faithfully represents the economic and other phenomena
that it purports to represent. Supportability is sometimes used to describe this
quality when applied in respect of explanatory information and prospective
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financial and non-financial quantitative information disclosed in GPFRs—
that is, the quality of information that helps assure users that explanatory
or prospective financial and non-financial quantitative information faithfully
represents the economic and other phenomena that it purports to represent.
Whether referred to as verifiability or supportability, the characteristic implies
that different knowledgeable and independent observers could reach general
consensus, although not necessarily complete agreement, that either:

e  The information represents the economic and other phenomena that it
purports to represent without material error or bias; or

e  An appropriate recognition, measurement, or representation method has
been applied without material error or bias.

To be verifiable, information need not be a single point estimate. A range of
possible amounts and the related probabilities also can be verified.

Verification may be direct or indirect. With direct verification, an amount
or other representation is itself verified, such as by (a) counting cash, (b)
observing marketable securities and their quoted prices, or (c) confirming
that the factors identified as influencing past service delivery performance
were present and operated with the effect identified. With indirect
verification, the amount or other representation is verified by checking the
inputs and recalculating the outputs using the same accounting convention
or methodology. An example is verifying the carrying amount of inventory
by checking the inputs (quantities and costs) and recalculating the ending
inventory using the same cost flow assumption (for example, average cost or
first-in-first-out).

The quality of verifiability (or supportability if such term is used to describe
this characteristic) is not an absolute—some information may be more or less
capable of verification than other information. However, the more verifiable
is the information included in GPFRs, the more it will assure users that the
information faithfully represents the economic and other phenomena that it
purports to represent.

GPFRs of public sector entities may include financial and other quantitative
information and explanations about (a) key influences on the entity’s
performance during the period, (b) the anticipated future effects or outcomes
of service delivery programs undertaken during the reporting period, and (c)
prospective financial and non-financial information. It may not be possible
to verify the accuracy of all quantitative representations and explanations of
such information until a future period, if at all.

To help assure users that prospective financial and non-financial quantitative
information and explanations included in GPFRs faithfully represents
the economic and other phenomena that they purport to represent, the
assumptions that underlie the information disclosed, the methodologies
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adopted in compiling that information, and the factors and circumstances that
support any opinions expressed or disclosures made should be transparent.
This will enable users to form judgments about the appropriateness of those
assumptions and the method of compilation, measurement, representation
and interpretation of the information.

Constraints on Information Included in General Purpose
Financial Reports

Materiality

3.32

3.33

3.34

Information is material if its omission or misstatement could influence the
discharge of accountability by the entity, or the decisions that users make
on the basis of the entity’s GPFRs prepared for that reporting period.
Materiality depends on both the nature and amount of the item judged in the
particular circumstances of each entity. GPFRs may encompass qualitative
and quantitative information about service delivery achievements during
the reporting period, and expectations about service delivery and financial
outcomes in the future. Consequently, it is not possible to specify a uniform
quantitative threshold at which a particular type of information becomes
material.

Assessments of materiality will be made in the context of the legislative,
institutional and operating environment within which the entity operates
and, in respect of prospective financial and non-financial information, the
preparer’s knowledge and expectations about the future. Disclosure of
information about compliance or non-compliance with legislation, regulation
or other authority may be material because of its nature—irrespective of
the magnitude of any amounts involved. In determining whether an item is
material in these circumstances, consideration will be given to such matters
as the nature, legality, sensitivity and consequences of past or anticipated
transactions and events, the parties involved in any such transactions and the
circumstances giving rise to them.

Materiality is classified as a constraint on information included in GPFRs in
the Conceptual Framework. In developing IPSASs and RPGs, the IPSASB
will consider the materiality of the consequences of application of a particular
accounting policy, basis of preparation or disclosure of a particular item
or type of information. Subject to the requirements of any IPSAS, entities
preparing GPFRs will also consider the materiality of, for example, the
application of a particular accounting policy and the separate disclosure of
particular items of information.

Cost-Benefit

3.35

Financial reporting imposes costs. The benefits of financial reporting should
justify those costs. Assessing whether the benefits of providing information
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justify the related costs is often a matter of judgment, because it is often
not possible to identify and/or quantify all the costs and all the benefits of
information included in GPFRs.

The costs of providing information include the costs of collecting and
processing the information, the costs of verifying it and/or presenting the
assumptions and methodologies that support it, and the costs of disseminating
it. Users incur the costs of analysis and interpretation. Omission of useful
information also imposes costs, including the costs that users incur to obtain
needed information from other sources and the costs that result from making
decisions using incomplete data provided by GPFRs.

Preparers expend the majority of the effort to provide information in GPFRs.
However, service recipients and resource providers ultimately bear the cost
of those efforts—because resources are redirected from service delivery
activities to preparation of information for inclusion in GPFRs.

Users reap the majority of benefits from the information provided by GPFRs.
However, information prepared for GPFRs may also be used internally by
management and result in better decision making by management. The
disclosure of information in GPFRs consistent with the concepts identified
in the Conceptual Framework and IPSASs and RPGs derived from them will
enhance and reinforce perceptions of the transparency of financial reporting
by governments and other public sector entities and contribute to the more
accurate pricing of public sector debt. Therefore, public sector entities may
also benefit in a number of ways from the information provided by GPFRs.

Application of the cost-benefit constraint involves assessing whether the
benefits of reporting information are likely to justify the costs incurred to
provide and use the information. When making this assessment, it is necessary
to consider whether one or more qualitative characteristic might be sacrificed
to some degree to reduce cost.

In developing IPSASs, the IPSASB considers information from preparers,
users, academics, and others about the expected nature and quantity of
the benefits and costs of the proposed requirements. Disclosure and other
requirements which result in the presentation of information useful to users
of GPFRs for accountability and decision-making purposes and satisfy the
qualitative characteristics are prescribed by IPSASs when the benefits of
compliance with those disclosures and other requirements are assessed by
the IPSASB to justify their costs.

Balance Between the Qualitative Characteristics

3.41

The qualitative characteristics work together to contribute to the usefulness
of information. For example, neither a depiction that faithfully represents
an irrelevant phenomenon, nor a depiction that unfaithfully represents a
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relevant phenomenon, results in useful information. Similarly, to be relevant,
information must be timely and understandable.

3.42 In some cases, a balancing or trade-off between qualitative characteristics
may be necessary to achieve the objectives of financial reporting. The relative
importance of the qualitative characteristics in each situation is a matter of
professional judgment. The aim is to achieve an appropriate balance among
the characteristics in order to meet the objectives of financial reporting.
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Basis for Conclusions

This Basis for Conclusions accompanies, but is not part of, the Conceptual
Framework.

Qualitative Characteristics of Information Included in General Purpose
Financial Reports

BC3.1

BC3.2

BC3.3

BC3.4

In developing IPSASs, the IPSASB receives input from constituents on,
and makes judgments about, information that best satisfies the objectives
of financial reporting and should be included in GPFRs. In making those
judgments, the IPSASB considers the extent to which each of the qualitative
characteristics can be achieved. Disclosure and other requirements are
included in IPSASs only when the information that results from their
application is considered to satisfy the qualitative characteristics and the
cost-benefit constraint identified in the Conceptual Framework.

Some respondents to the Exposure Draft expressed concern about the
application of the qualitative characteristics to all matters that may be
presented in GPFRs, particularly those matters that may be presented in
reports outside the financial statements. The IPSASB understands this
concern. The IPSASB acknowledges that IPSASs and RPGs that deal with
the presentation in GPFRs of information outside the financial statements
may need to include additional guidance on the application of the qualitative
characteristics to the matters dealt with.

IPSASs and RPGs issued by the IPSASB will not deal with all financial and
non-financial information that may be included in GPFRs. In the absence of
an IPSAS or RPG that deals with particular economic or other phenomena,
assessments of whether an item of information satisfies the qualitative
characteristics and constraints identified in the Conceptual Framework,
and therefore qualifies for inclusion in GPFRs, will be made by preparers
compiling the GPFRs. Those assessments will be made in the context of
achieving the objectives of financial reporting, which in turn have been
developed to respond to users’ information needs.

Having in place accounting systems and processes that are appropriately
designed and are operated effectively will enable management to gather and
process evidence to support financial reporting. The quality of these systems
and processes is a key factor in ensuring the quality of financial information
that the entity includes in GPFRs.

Other Qualitative Characteristics Considered

BC3.5

Some respondents to the Exposure Draft expressed the view that
additional qualitative characteristics should be identified. Those qualitative
characteristics included “sincerity,” “true and fair view,” “credibility,”
“transparency,” and “regularity”.

EEINNT3
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The IPSASB notes that “sincerity” as used in financial reporting has a
similar meaning to “true and fair”. The IPSASB is of the view that sincerity,
true and fair view, credibility, and transparency are important expressions
of the overarching qualities that financial reporting is to achieve or aspire
to. However, they do not exist as single qualitative characteristics on their
own—rather, achieving these qualities is the product of application of the
full set of qualitative characteristics identified in the Conceptual Framework,
and the IPSASs that deal with specific reporting issues. Consequently,
while important characteristics of GPFRs, they are not identified as separate
individual qualitative characteristics in their own right. The IPSASB is also
of the view that the notion of “regularity” as noted by some respondents is
related to the notion of “compliance” as used in the Conceptual Framework—
therefore, regularity is not identified as an additional qualitative characteristic.

Relevance

BC3.7

The Conceptual Framework explains that financial and non-financial
information is relevant if it is capable of making a difference in achieving
the objectives of financial reporting. As part of its due process the IPSASB
seeks input on whether the requirements of a proposed IPSAS or any
proposed RPGs are relevant to the achievement of the objectives of financial
reporting—that is, are relevant to the discharge of the entity’s obligation to be
accountable and to decisions that users may make.

Faithful Representation

BC3.8

BC3.9

The Conceptual Framework explains that to be useful information must be a
faithful representation of the economic and other phenomena that it purports
to represent. A single economic or other phenomenon may be faithfully
represented in many ways. For example, the achievement of particular
service delivery objectives may be depicted (a) qualitatively through an
explanation of the immediate and anticipated longer term outcomes and
effects of the service delivery program, (b) quantitatively as a measure of
the volume and cost of services provided by the service delivery program,
or (c) by a combination of both qualitative and quantitative information.
Additionally, a single depiction in GPFRs may represent several economic
phenomena. For example, the presentation of the item “plant and equipment”
in a financial statement may represent an aggregate of all of an entity’s plant
and equipment, including items that have different functions, that are subject
to different risks and opportunities and that are carried at amounts based on
estimates that may be more or less complex and reliable.

Completeness and neutrality of estimates (and inputs to those estimates)
and freedom from material error are desirable, and some minimum level of
accuracy is necessary for an estimate to faithfully represent an economic or
other phenomenon. However, faithful representation does not imply absolute
completeness or neutrality in the estimate, nor does it imply total freedom
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from error in the outcome. For a representation of an economic or other
phenomenon to imply a degree of completeness, neutrality, or freedom from
error that is impracticable for it to achieve would diminish the extent to which
the information faithfully represents the economic or other phenomenon that
it purports to represent.

Faithful Representation or Reliability

BC3.10

BC3.11

BC3.12

BC3.13

At the time of issue of the Exposure Draft, Appendix A of IPSAS 1,
Presentation of Financial Statements identified “reliability” as a qualitative
characteristic. It described reliable information as information that is “free
from material error and bias, and can be depended on by users to represent
faithfully that which it purports to represent or could reasonably be expected
to represent.” Faithful representation, substance over form, neutrality,
prudence and completeness were identified as components of reliability. The
Conceptual Framework uses the term “faithful representation” rather than
“reliability” to describe what is substantially the same concept. In addition, it
does not explicitly identify substance over form and prudence as components
of faithful representation.

Many respondents to the Exposure Draft supported the use of faithful
representation and its explanation in the Exposure Draft, in some cases
explaining that faithful representation is a better expression of the nature of
the concept intended. Some respondents did not support the replacement of
reliability with the term faithful representation, expressing concerns including
that faithful representation implies the adoption of fair value or market value
accounting, and reliability and faithful representation are not interchangeable
terms.

The use of the term “faithful representation”, or “reliability” for that matter, to
describe this qualitative characteristic in the Conceptual Framework will not
determine the measurement basis to be adopted in GPFRs, whether historical
cost, market value, fair value or another measurement basis. The IPSASB
does not intend that use of faithful representation be interpreted as such.
The measurement basis or measurement bases that may be adopted for the
elements of financial statements are considered in Chapter 7, Measurement of
Assets and Liabilities in Financial Statements. The qualitative characteristics
will then operate to ensure that the financial statements faithfully represent
the measurement basis or bases reflected in GPFRs.

The IPSASB appreciates the concern of some respondents that the use of a
different term may be interpreted to reflect different, and even lesser, qualities
to those communicated by the term reliability. However, the IPSASB is of
the view that explanation in the Framework that “Faithful representation is
attained when the depiction of the phenomenon is complete, neutral, and free
from material error”, and the claboration of these key features will protect
against the loss of any of the qualities that were formerly reflected in the use
of the term reliability.
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In addition, the IPSASB has been advised that the term “reliability” is itself
open to different interpretations and subjective judgments, with consequences
for the quality of information included in GPFRs. The IPSASB is of the view
that use of the term “faithful representation” will overcome problems in
the interpretation and application of reliability that have been experienced
in some jurisdictions without a lessening of the qualities intended by the
term, and is more readily translated into, and understood in, a wide range of
languages.

Substance over Form and Prudence

BC3.15

BC3.16

BC3.17

Some respondents to the Exposure Draft expressed concern that substance
over form and prudence are not identified as qualitative characteristics or that
their importance is not sufficiently recognized or explained. Some also noted
that prudence need not be incompatible with the achievement of neutrality
and faithful representation.

The Conceptual Framework explains that “Information that faithfully
represents an economic or other phenomenon depicts the substance of the
underlying transaction, other event, activity or circumstance—which is not
necessarily always the same as its legal form.” Therefore substance over form
remains a key quality that information included in GPFRs must possess. It is
not identified as a separate or additional qualitative characteristic because it
is already embedded in the notion of faithful representation.

The IPSASB is of the view that the notion of prudence is also reflected in the
explanation of neutrality as a component of faithful representation, and the
acknowledgement of the need to exercise caution in dealing with uncertainty.
Therefore, like substance over form, prudence is not identified as a separate
qualitative characteristic because its intent and influence in identifying
information that is included in GPFRs is already embedded in the notion of
faithful representation.

Understandability

BC3.18

BC3.19

Although presenting information clearly and concisely helps users to
comprehend it, the actual comprehension or understanding of information
depends largely on the users of the GPFRs.

Some economic and other phenomena are particularly complex and difficult
to represent in GPFRs. However, the IPSASB is of the view that information
that is, for example, relevant, a faithful representation of what it purports to
represent, timely and verifiable should not be excluded from GPFRs solely
because it may be too complex or difficult for some users to understand
without assistance. Acknowledging that it may be necessary for some users
to seek assistance to understand the information presented in GPFRs does
not mean that information included in GPFRs need not be understandable or
that all efforts should not be undertaken to present information in GPFRs in
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a manner that is understandable to a wide range of users. However, it does
reflect that, in practice, the nature of the information included in GPFRs is
such that all the qualitative characteristics may not be fully achievable at all
times for all users.

Timeliness

BC3.20

The IPSASB recognizes the potential for timely reporting to increase the
usefulness of GPFRs for both accountability and decision-making purposes,
and that undue delay in the provision of information may reduce its usefulness
for these purposes. Consequently, timeliness is identified as a qualitative
characteristic in the Conceptual Framework.

Comparability

BC3.21

BC3.22

BC3.23

Some degree of comparability may be attained by maximizing the qualitative
characteristics of relevance and faithful representation. For example, faithful
representation of a relevant economic or other phenomenon by one public
sector entity is likely to be comparable to a faithful representation of a similar
relevant economic or other phenomenon by another public sector entity.
However, a single economic or other phenomenon can often be faithfully
represented in several ways, and permitting alternative accounting methods
for the same phenomenon diminishes comparability and, therefore, may be
undesirable.

Some respondents to the Exposure Draft expressed concern that the
explanation of the relationship between comparability and consistency may
be read as presenting an obstacle to the on-going development of financial
reporting. This is because enhancements in financial reporting often involve a
revision or change to the accounting principles, policies or basis of preparation
currently adopted by the entity.

Consistent application of the same accounting principles, policies and basis
of preparation from one period to the next will assist users in assessing the
financial position, financial performance and service delivery achievements
of the entity compared with previous periods. However, where accounting
principles or policies dealing with particular transactions or other events
are not prescribed by IPSASs, achievement of the qualitative characteristic
of comparability should not be interpreted as prohibiting the entity from
changing its accounting principles or policies to better represent those
transactions and events. In these cases, the inclusion in GPFRs of additional
disclosures or explanation of the impact of the changed policy can still satisfy
the characteristics of comparability.

Verifiability

BC3.24

Verifiability is the quality of information that helps assure users that
information in GPFRs faithfully represents the economic and other phenomena
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that it purports to represent. While closely linked to faithful representation,
verifiability is identified as a separate qualitative characteristic because
information may faithfully represent economic and other phenomena even
though it cannot be verified with absolute certainty. In addition, verifiability
may work in different ways with faithful representation and other of the
qualitative characteristics to contribute to the usefulness of information
presented in GPFRs—for example, there may need to be an appropriate
balance between the degree of verifiability an item of information may
possess and other qualitative characteristics to ensure it is presented in a
timely fashion and is relevant.

In developing the qualitative characteristics identified in the Framework,
the IPSASB considered whether “supportability” should be identified as a
separate characteristic for application to information presented in GPFRs
outside the financial statements. The IPSASB is of the view that identifying
both verifiability and supportability as separate qualitative characteristics
with essentially the same features may be confusing to preparers and users of
GPFRs and others. However, the Conceptual Framework does acknowledge
that supportability is sometimes used to refer to the quality of information
that helps assure users that explanatory information and prospective financial
and non-financial information included in GPFRs faithfully represent the
economic and other phenomena that they purport to represent.

Some respondents to the Exposure Draft expressed concern about the
application of verifiability to the broad range of matters that may be
presented in GPFRs outside the financial statements, particularly explanatory
information about service delivery achievements during the reporting period
and qualitative and quantitative prospective financial and non-financial
information. The IPSASB is of the view that the Conceptual Framework
provides appropriate guidance on the application of verifiability in respect of
these matters—for example it explains that verifiability is not an absolute and
it may not be possible to verify the accuracy of all quantitative representations
and explanations until a future period. The Framework also acknowledges
that disclosure of the underlying assumptions and methodologies adopted for
the compilation of explanatory and prospective financial and non-financial
information is central to the achievement of faithful representation.

Classification of the Qualitative Characteristics and Order of their Application

BC3.27

Some respondents to the Exposure Draft expressed the view that the
Conceptual Framework should identify:

e Relevance and faithful representation as fundamental qualitative
characteristics, and explain the order of their application; and

e  Comparability, verifiability, timeliness, and understandability as
enhancing qualitative characteristics.
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They noted that this would provide useful guidance on the sequence of
application of the qualitative characteristics and reflect the approach adopted
by the International Accounting Standards Board.

BC3.28 In developing the qualitative characteristics, the IPSASB considered whether
some characteristics should be identified as fundamental and others identified
as enhancing. The IPSASB also considered whether the order of application
of the characteristics should be identified and/or explained. The IPSASB is of
the view that such an approach should not be adopted because, for example:

e  Matters identified as “fundamental” may be perceived to be more
important than those identified as “enhancing”, even if this distinction
is not intended in the case of the qualitative characteristics. As a result,
there may be unintended consequences of identifying some qualitative
characteristics as fundamental and others as enhancing;

e  All the qualitative characteristics are important and work together to
contribute to the usefulness of information. The relative importance
of a particular qualitative characteristic in different circumstances
is a matter of professional judgment. As such, it is not appropriate to
identify certain qualitative characteristics as always being fundamental
and others as having only an enhancing or supporting role, or to specify
the sequence of their application, no matter what information is being
considered for inclusion in GPFRs, and irrespective of the circumstances
of the entity and its environment. In addition, it is questionable whether
information that is not understandable or is provided so long after the
event as not to be useful to users for accountability and decision-making
purposes could be considered as relevant information—therefore, these
characteristics are themselves fundamental to the achievement of the
objectives of financial reporting; and

e  GPFRsofpublicsectorentities may encompass historical and prospective
information about financial performance and the achievement of service
delivery objectives over a number of reporting periods. This provides
necessary input to assessments of trends in service delivery activities
and resources committed thereto—for such trend data, reporting on a
comparable basis may be as important as, and cannot be separated from,
faithful representation of the information.

Constraints on Information Included in General Purpose Financial Reports

Materiality

BC3.29 At the time of issue of the Exposure Draft, Appendix A of IPSAS 1 described
materiality with similar characteristics to that described in the Conceptual
Framework, but identified materiality as a factor to be considered in
determining only the relevance of information. Some respondents to the
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Exposure Draft noted that materiality may be identified as an aspect of
relevance.

The IPSASB has considered whether materiality should be identified as an
entity-specific aspect of relevance rather than a constraint on information
included in GPFRs. As explained in the Conceptual Framework, and subject
to requirements in an IPSAS, materiality will be considered by preparers
in determining whether, for example, a particular accounting policy should
be adopted or an item of information should be separately disclosed in the
financial statements of the entity.

However, the IPSASB is of the view that materiality has a more pervasive role
than would be reflected by its classification as only an entity specific aspect
of relevance. For example, materiality relates to, and can impact, a number of
the qualitative characteristics of information included in GPFRs. Therefore,
the materiality of an item should be considered when determining whether
the omission or misstatement of an item of information could undermine not
only the relevance, but also the faithful representation, understandability or
verifiability of financial and non-financial information presented in GPFRs.
The IPSASB is also of the view that whether the effects of the application of a
particular accounting policy or basis of preparation or the information content
of separate disclosure of certain items of information are likely to be material
should be considered in establishing IPSASs and RPGs. Consequently, the
IPSASB is of the view that materiality is better reflected as a broad constraint
on information to be included in GPFRs.

The IPSASB considered whether the Conceptual Framework should reflect
that legislation, regulation or other authority may impose financial reporting
requirements on public sector entities in addition to those imposed by IPSASs.
The IPSASB is of the view that, while a feature of the operating environment
of many public sector (and many private sector) entities, the impact that
legislation or other authority may have on the information included in GPFRs
is not itself a financial reporting concept. Consequently, it has not identified
it as such in the Conceptual Framework. Preparers will, of course, need to
consider such requirements as they prepare GPFRs. In particular, legislation
may prescribe that particular items of information are to be disclosed in GPFRs
even though they may not be judged to satisfy a materiality threshold (or
cost-benefit constraint) as identified in the Conceptual Framework. Similarly,
the disclosure of some matters may be prohibited by legislation because, for
example, they relate to matters of national security, notwithstanding that they
are material and would otherwise satisfy the cost-benefit constraint.

Cost-Benefit

BC3.33

Some respondents to the Exposure Draft expressed concern that the text of
the proposed Conceptual Framework does not specify that entities cannot
decide to depart from IPSASs on the basis of their own assessments of the
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costs and benefits of particular requirements of an IPSAS. The IPSASB is of
the view that such specification is not necessary. This is because, as noted
in paragraph 1.2 of the Conceptual Framework, authoritative requirements
relating to recognition, measurement, and presentation in GPFRs are
specified in IPSASs. GPFRs are developed to provide information useful to
users and requirements are prescribed by IPSASs only when the benefits to
users of compliance with those requirements are assessed by the IPSASB to
justify their costs. However, preparers may consider costs and benefits in, for
example, determining whether to include in GPFRs disclosure of information
in addition to that required by IPSASs.

Some respondents to the Exposure Draft also expressed concern that the
proposed Conceptual Framework did not recognize that cost-benefit trade-
offs may differ for different public sector entities. They are of the view
that acknowledgement of this may provide a useful principle to be applied
when considering differential reporting issues. The IPSASB has considered
these matters and determined that the Conceptual Framework will not deal
with issues related to differential reporting, including whether the costs and
benefits of particular requirements might differ for different entities.

In the process of developing an IPSAS or RPG, the IPSASB considers
and seeks input on the likely costs and benefits of providing information
in GPFRs of public sector entities. However, in some cases, it may not be
possible for the IPSASB to identify and/or quantify all benefits that are likely
to flow from, for example, the inclusion of a particular disclosure, including
those that may be required because they are in the public interest, or other
requirement in an IPSAS. In other cases, the IPSASB may be of the view that
the benefits of a particular requirement may be marginal for users of GPFRs
of some public sector entities. In applying the cost-benefit test to determine
whether particular requirements should be included in an IPSAS in these
circumstances, the IPSASB’s deliberations may also include consideration
of whether imposing such requirements on public sector entities is likely to
involve undue cost and effort for the entities applying the requirements.
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Introduction

4.1

4.2

A public sector reporting entity is a government or other public sector
organization, program or identifiable area of activity (hereafter referred to as
an entity or public sector entity) that prepares GPFRs.

A public sector reporting entity may comprise two or more separate entities
that present GPFRs as if they are a single entity—such a reporting entity is
referred to as a group reporting entity.

Key Characteristics of a Reporting Entity

43

44

4.5

4.6

Key characteristics of a public sector reporting entity are that:

e [t is an entity that raises resources from, or on behalf of, constituents
and/or uses resources to undertake activities for the benefit of, or on
behalf of, those constituents; and

e  There are service recipients or resource providers dependent on GPFRs
of the entity for information for accountability or decision-making
purposes.

A government may establish and/or operate through administrative units such
as ministries or departments. It may also operate through trusts, statutory
authorities, government corporations and other entities with a separate
legal identity or operational autonomy to undertake or otherwise support
the provision of services to constituents. Other public sector organizations,
including international public sector organizations and municipal authorities,
may also undertake certain activities through, and may benefit from and be
exposed to a financial burden or loss as a result of, the activities of entities
with a separate legal identity or operational autonomy.

GPFRs are prepared to report information useful to users for accountability
and decision-making purposes. Service recipients and resource providers are
the primary users of GPFRs. Consequently, a key characteristic of a reporting
entity, including a group reporting entity, is the existence of service recipients
or resource providers who are dependent on GPFRs of that entity or group
of entities for information for accountability or decision-making purposes.

GPFRs encompass financial statements and information that enhances,
complements and supplements the financial statements. Financial statements
present information about the resources of the reporting entity or group
reporting entity and claims to those resources at the reporting date, and
changes to those resources and claims and cash flows during the reporting
period. Therefore, to enable the preparation of financial statements, a
reporting entity will raise resources and/or use resources previously raised to
undertake activities for the benefit of, or on behalf of, its constituents.
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The factors that are likely to signal the existence of users of GPFRs of a public
sector entity or group of entities include an entity having the responsibility or
capacity to raise or deploy resources, acquire or manage public assets, incur
liabilities, or undertake activities to achieve service delivery objectives. The
greater the resources that a public sector entity raises, manages and/or has
the capacity to deploy, the greater the liabilities it incurs and the greater the
economic or social impact of its activities, the more likely it is that there will
exist service recipients or resource providers who are dependent on GPFRs
for information about it for accountability and decision-making purposes. In
the absence of these factors, or where they are not significant, it is unlikely
that users of GPFRs of these entities will exist.

The preparation of GPFRs is not a cost-free process. Therefore, if the
imposition of financial reporting requirements is to be efficient and effective,
it is important that only those public sector entities for which such users exist
are required to prepare GPFRs.

In many cases, it will be clear whether or not there exist service recipients or
resource providers that are dependent on GPFRs of a public sector entity for
information for accountability and decision-making purposes. For example,
such users are likely to exist for GPFRs of a government at the national, state
or local government level and for international public sector organizations.
This is because these governments and organizations generally have the
capacity to raise substantial resources from and/or deploy substantial
resources on behalf of their constituents, to incur liabilities, and to impact the
economic and/or social well-being of the communities that depend on them
for the provision of services.

However, it may not always be clear whether there are service recipients or
resource providers that are dependent on GPFRs of, for example, individual
government departments and agencies, particular programs or identifiable
areas of activity for information for accountability and decision-making
purposes. Determining whether these organizations, programs or activities
should be identified as reporting entities and, consequently, be required to
prepare GPFRs will involve the exercise of professional judgment.

The government and some other public sector entities have a separate identity
or standing in law (a legal identity). However, public sector organizations,
programs and activities without a separate legal identity may also raise or
deploy resources, acquire or manage public assets, incur liabilities, undertake
activities to achieve service delivery objectives or otherwise implement
government policy. Service recipients and resource providers may depend
on GPFRs of these organizations, programs and activities for information for
accountability and decision-making purposes. Consequently, a public sector
reporting entity may have a separate legal identity or be, for example, an
organization, administrative arrangement or program without a separate legal
identity.
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Basis for Conclusions

This Basis for Conclusions accompanies, but is not part of, the Conceptual
Framework.

Key Characteristics of a Reporting Entity

BC4.1

BC4.2

The concept of the reporting entity is derived from the objectives of financial
reporting by public sector entities. The objectives of financial reporting by
public sector entities are to provide information about the entity that is useful
to users of GPFRs for accountability and decision-making purposes.

Reporting entities prepare GPFRs. GPFRs include financial statements, which
present information about such matters as the financial position, performance
and cash flows of the entity, and financial and non-financial information that
enhances, complements and supplements the financial statements. Therefore,
a key characteristic of a public sector reporting entity is the existence of
service recipients or resource providers who are dependent on GPFRs of a
government or other public sector entity for information for accountability or
decision-making purposes.

Legislation, Regulation or Other Authority

BC4.3

BC4.4

The Exposure Draft did not specify which public sector entities should be
identified as a reporting entity or group reporting entity and, therefore, be
required to prepare GPFRs. It noted that the public sector organizations and
programs that are to prepare GPFRs will be specified in legislation, regulation
or other authority, or be determined by relevant authoritative bodies in each
jurisdiction.

Some respondents expressed the view that while legislation or other authority
may, in practice, specify which entities are to prepare GPFRs, the Conceptual
Framework should focus on the concept of the reporting entity, identify key
features of that concept and provide guidance on the principles and factors
that should be considered in determining whether a reporting entity exists.
The IPSASB was persuaded by these arguments and has refocused its
discussion on an explanation of the concept of the reporting entity.

Interpretation and Application

BC4.5

Some respondents expressed concern that the characteristics of a reporting
entity as explained in the Exposure Draft may be interpreted to identify
particular activities or segments of an organization as separate reporting
entities. These segments or activities would then be required to prepare
GPFRs in accordance with all IPSASs. Some respondents also noted that it
was not clear how the guidance in the Exposure Draft applied to public sector
organizations other than governments including, for example, international
public sector organizations.
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BC4.6 The IPSASB has responded to these concerns. The Framework explains that
preparation of GPFRs is not a cost-free process. It also:

e  Includes additional guidance on the factors that are likely to signal the
existence of service recipients or resource providers who are dependent
on GPFRs of a government or other public sector entity for information
for accountability or decision-making purposes; and

e Notes the likely implications of these factors for the identification
of a range of public sector organizations, programs and activities as
reporting entities, including government departments and agencies and
international public sector organizations.

BC4.7 The Conceptual Framework acknowledges that in some cases it may
be necessary to exercise professional judgment in determining whether
particular public sector entities should be identified as a reporting entity. In
exercising that judgement, it should be noted that, in certain circumstances,
IPSASs respond to users’ needs for information about particular programs
or activities undertaken by a government or other public sector reporting
entity by providing for separate disclosures within the GPFRs of that
government or other public sector reporting entity’. Jurisdictional factors
such as the legislative and regulatory framework in place and institutional
and administrative arrangements for the raising of resources and the delivery
of services are also likely to inform deliberations on whether it is likely that
service recipients and resource providers dependent on GPFRs of particular
public sector entities exist.

The Group Reporting Entity

BC4.8 The Exposure Draft outlined the circumstances that would justify the
inclusion of an entity or activity within a public sector group reporting entity.
It explained that:

e A government or other public sector entity may (a) have the authority
and capacity to direct the activities of one or more other entities so as
to benefit from the activities of those entities, and (b) be exposed to a
financial burden or loss that may arise as a result of the activities of
those entities; and

e To satisfy the objectives of financial reporting, GPFRs of a group
reporting entity prepared in respect of a government or other public
sector entity should include that government (or other public sector
entity) and the entities whose activities it has the authority and capacity

For example, International Public Sector Accounting Standards (IPSASs) such as IPSAS 18, Segment
Reporting and IPSAS 22, Disclosure of Financial Information about the General Government Sector
provide a mechanism to satisfy users’ need for information about particular segments or sectors of an
entity without their identification as separate reporting entities.
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to direct, when the results of such direction can (a) generate financial or
other benefits for the government (or other public sector entity), or (b)
expose it to a financial burden or loss.

Many respondents to the Exposure Draft noted their agreement with the
IPSASB’s view of the criteria that should be satisfied for inclusion in a
public sector group reporting entity. However, other respondents expressed
their concern about the potential interpretation and application of the criteria
in particular circumstances. In some cases, they noted that the Framework
would need to provide additional application guidance if it was to be
effective in dealing with circumstances not dealt with in IPSASs. A number
of respondents also expressed the view that the criteria to be satisfied for
inclusion in a group reporting entity were more appropriately addressed and
resolved at the standards level, where those criteria and their consequences
could be tested across a range of circumstances, and supported with specific
examples of the circumstances likely to exist in many jurisdictions.

The IPSASB found these concerns persuasive. It has reconstructed and
drawn together its discussion of the reporting entity and group reporting
entity to focus on the principles underlying the identification of a public
sector reporting entity—whether that reporting entity comprises a single
public sector entity or a group of entities. The identification of the criteria
to be satisfied for inclusion in a group reporting entity consistent with these
principles will then be developed and fully explored at the standards level.
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Introduction

Purpose of this Chapter

5.1

This Chapter defines the elements used in financial statements and provides
further explanation about those definitions.

Elements and their Importance

52

53

54

Financial statements portray the financial effects of transactions and other
events by grouping them into broad classes which share common economic
characteristics. These broad classes are termed the elements of financial
statements. Elements are the building blocks from which financial statements
are constructed. These building blocks provide an initial point for recording,
classifying and aggregating economic data and activity in a way that provides
users with information that meets the objectives of financial reporting and
achieves the qualitative characteristics of financial reporting while taking
into account the constraints on information included in GPFRs.

The elements defined in this Chapter do not refer to the individual items
that are recognized as a result of transactions and events. Sub-classifications
of individual items within an element and aggregations of items are used
to enhance the understandability of the financial statements. Presentation is
addressed in Chapter 8, Presentation in General Purpose Financial Reports.

In some circumstances, to ensure that the financial statements provide
information that is useful for a meaningful assessment of the financial
performance and financial position of an entity, recognition of economic
phenomena that are not captured by the elements as defined in this Chapter
may be necessary. Consequently, the identification of the elements in this
Chapter does not preclude IPSASs from requiring or allowing the recognition
of resources or obligations that do not satisfy the definition of an element
identified in this Chapter (hereafter referred to as “other resources” or “other
obligations”) when necessary to better achieve the objectives of financial
reporting.

Elements Defined

5.5

The elements that are defined in this Chapter are:
®  Assets;

e Liabilities;

e Revenue;

e  Expense;

e  Ownership contributions; and

e  Ownership distributions.
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Definition

5.6

An asset is:

A resource presently controlled by the entity as a result of a past event.

A Resource

5.7

5.8

5.9

5.10

Aresource is an item with service potential or the ability to generate economic
benefits. Physical form is not a necessary condition of a resource. The service
potential or ability to generate economic benefits can arise directly from the
resource itself or from the rights to use the resource. Some resources embody
an entity’s rights to a variety of benefits including, for example, the right to:

e  Use the resource to provide services®;

e Use an external party’s resources to provide services, for example,
leases;

e  Convert the resource into cash through its disposal;
e  Benefit from the resource’s appreciation in value; or
e  Receive a stream of cash flows.

Service potential is the capacity to provide services that contribute to
achieving the entity’s objectives. Service potential enables an entity to
achieve its objectives without necessarily generating net cash inflows.

Public sector assets that embody service potential may include recreational,
heritage, community, defense and other assets which are held by governments
and other public sector entities, and which are used to provide services to
third parties. Such services may be for collective or individual consumption.
Many services may be provided in areas where there is no market competition
or limited market competition. The use and disposal of such assets may be
restricted as many assets that embody service potential are specialized in
nature.

Economic benefits are cash inflows or a reduction in cash outflows. Cash
inflows (or reduced cash outflows) may be derived from, for example:

e  An asset’s use in the production and sale of services; or

e  The direct exchange of an asset for cash or other resources;

References to “services” in the Conceptual Framework encompass “goods”.
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Presently Controlled by the Entity

5.11

5.12

An entity must have control of the resource. Control of the resource entails the
ability of the entity to use the resource (or direct other parties on its use) so as
to derive the benefit of the service potential or economic benefits embodied
in the resource in the achievement of its service delivery or other objectives.

In assessing whether it presently controls a resource, an entity assesses
whether the following indicators of control exist:

e  [Legal ownership;

e  Access to the resource, or the ability to deny or restrict access to the
resource;

e  The means to ensure that the resource is used to achieve its objectives;
and

e  The existence of an enforceable right to service potential or the ability
to generate economic benefits arising from a resource.

While these indicators are not conclusive determinants of whether control
exists, identification and analysis of them can inform that decision.

Past Event

5.13

The definition of an asset requires that a resource that an entity presently
controls must have arisen from a past transaction or other past event. The
past transactions or other events that result in an entity gaining control of
a resource and therefore an asset may differ. Entities can obtain assets by
purchasing them in an exchange transaction or developing them. Assets
may also arise through non-exchange transactions, including through the
exercising of sovereign powers. The power to tax or to issue licenses and
to access or restrict or deny access to the benefits embodied in intangible
resources, like the electromagnetic spectrum, are examples of public sector-
specific powers and rights that may give rise to assets. In assessing when
an entity’s control of rights to resources arise the following events may be
considered: (a) a general ability to establish a power, (b) establishment of a
power through a statute, (c) exercising the power to create a right, and (d) the
event which gives rise to the right to receive resources from an external party.
An asset arises when the power is exercised and the rights exist to receive
resources.

Liabilities

Definition

5.14

A liability is:

A present obligation of the entity for an outflow of resources that results from
a past event.
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A Present Obligation

5.15

Public sector entities can have a number of obligations. A present obligation
is a legally binding obligation (legal obligation) or non-legally binding
obligation, which an entity has little or no realistic alternative to avoid.
Obligations are not present obligations unless they are binding and there is
little or no realistic alternative to avoid an outflow of resources.

An Outflow of Resources from the Entity

5.16 A liability must involve an outflow of resources from the entity for it to be
settled. An obligation that can be settled without an outflow of resources from
the entity is not a liability.

Past Event

5.17 To satisfy the definition of a liability, it is necessary that a present obligation

arises as a result of a past transaction or other event and requires an outflow
of resources from the entity. The complexity of public sector programs and
activities means that a number of events in the development, implementation
and operation ofa particular program may give rise to obligations. For financial
reporting purposes it is necessary to determine whether such commitments
and obligations, including binding obligations that the entity has little or
no realistic alternative to avoid but are not legally enforceable (non-legally
binding obligations) are present obligations and satisfy the definition of a
liability. Where an arrangement has a legal form and is binding, such as a
contract, the past event may be straightforward to identify. In other cases, it
may be more difficult to identify the past event and identification involves an
assessment of when an entity has little or no realistic alternative to avoid an
outflow of resources from the entity. In making such an assessment an entity
takes jurisdictional factors into account.

Legal and Non-Legally Binding Obligations

5.18

5.19

Binding obligations can be legal obligations or non-legally binding
obligations. Binding obligations can arise from both exchange and non-
exchange transactions. An obligation must be to an external party in order
to give rise to a liability. An entity cannot be obligated to itself, even
where it has publicly communicated an intention to behave in a particular
way. Identification of an external party is an indication of the existence of
an obligation giving rise to a liability. However, it is not essential to know
the identity of the external party before the time of settlement in order for a
present obligation and a liability to exist.

Many arrangements that give rise to an obligation include settlement dates.
The inclusion of a settlement date may provide an indication that an obligation
involves an outflow of resources and gives rise to a liability. However, there
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are many agreements that do not contain settlement dates. The absence of a
settlement date does not preclude an obligation giving rise to a liability.

Legal Obligations

5.20

5.21

522

A legal obligation is enforceable in law. Such enforceable obligations may
arise from a variety of legal constructs. Exchange transactions are usually
contractual in nature and therefore enforceable through the laws of contract
or equivalent authority or arrangements. There are jurisdictions where
government and public sector entities cannot enter into legal obligations,
because, for example, they are not permitted to contract in their own name,
but where there are alternative processes with equivalent effect. Obligations
that are binding through such alternative processes are considered legal
obligations in the Conceptual Framework. For some types of non-exchange
transactions, judgment will be necessary to determine whether an obligation
is enforceable in law. Where it is determined that an obligation is enforceable
in law there can be no doubt that an entity has no realistic alternative to avoid
the obligation and that a liability exists.

Some obligations related to exchange transactions are not strictly enforceable
by an external party at the reporting date, but will be enforceable with the
passage of time without the external party having to meet further conditions—
or having to take any further action—prior to settlement. Claims that are
unconditionally enforceable subject to the passage of time are enforceable
obligations in the context of the definition of a liability.

Sovereign power is the ultimate authority of a government to make, amend
and repeal legal provisions. Sovereign power is not a rationale for concluding
that an obligation does not meet the definition of a liability in this Framework.
The legal position should be assessed at each reporting date to consider if an
obligation is no longer binding and does not meet the definition of a liability.

Non-Legally Binding Obligations

5.23

Liabilities can arise from non-legally binding obligations. Non-legally
binding obligations differ from legal obligations in that the party to whom
the obligation exists cannot take legal (or equivalent) action to enforce
settlement. Non-legally binding obligations that give rise to liabilities have
the following attributes:

e  The entity has indicated to other parties by an established pattern of past
practice, published policies, or a sufficiently specific current statement
that it will accept certain responsibilities;

e As a result of such an indication, the entity has created a valid
expectation on the part of those other parties that it will discharge those
responsibilities; and
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The entity has little or no realistic alternative to avoid settling the
obligation arising from those responsibilities.

5.24 In the public sector, obligations may arise at a number of points. For example,
in implementing a program or service:

Making a political promise such as an electoral pledge;
Announcement of a policy;

Introduction (and approval) of the budget (which may be two distinct
points); and

The budget becoming effective (in some jurisdictions the budget will
not be effective until an appropriation has been effected).

The early stages of implementation are unlikely to give rise to present
obligations that meet the definition of a liability. Later stages, such as
claimants meeting the eligibility criteria for the service to be provided,
may give rise to obligations that meet the definition of a liability.

5.25 The point at which an obligation gives rise to a liability depends on the nature
of the obligation. Factors that are likely to impact on judgments whether other
parties can validly conclude that the obligation is such that the entity has little
or no realistic alternative to avoid an outflow of resources include:

The nature of the past event or events that give rise to the obligation.
For example, a promise made in an election is unlikely to give rise to
a present obligation because an electoral pledge very rarely creates a
valid expectation on the part of external parties that the entity has an
obligation that it has little or no realistic alternative to avoid settling.
However, an announcement in relation to an event or circumstance
that has occurred may have such political support that the government
has little option to withdraw. Where the government has committed to
introduce and secure passage of the necessary budgetary provision such
an announcement may give rise to a non-legally binding obligation;

The ability of the entity to modify or change the obligation before it
crystallizes. For example, the announcement of policy will generally not
give rise to a non-legally binding obligation, which cannot be modified
before being implemented. Similarly, if an obligation is contingent on
future events occurring, there may be discretion to avoid an outflow of
resources before those events occur; and

There may be a correlation between the availability of funding to
settle a particular obligation and the creation of a present obligation.
For example, where both a budget line item has been approved and
linked funding is assured through an appropriation, the availability of
contingency funding or a transfer from a different level of government,
a non-legally binding obligation may exist. However the absence of a
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budgetary provision does not itself mean that a present obligation has
not arisen.

EEINT3

“Economic coercion,” “political necessity” or other circumstances may give
rise to situations where, although the public sector entity is not legally obliged
to incur an outflow of resources, the economic or political consequences
of refusing to do so are such that the entity may have little or no realistic
alternative to avoid an outflow of resources. Economic coercion, political
necessity or other circumstances may lead to a liability arising from a non-
legally binding obligation.

Net Financial Position, Other Resources, and Other Obligations

5.27

5.28

As explained in paragraph 5.4, in some cases, in developing or revising an
IPSAS, the IPSASB may determine that to achieve the objectives of financial
reporting a resource or obligation that does not satisfy the definition of an
element defined in the Conceptual Framework needs to be recognized in
the financial statements. In these cases, the IPSAS may require or allow
these resources or obligations to be recognized as other resources or other
obligations, which are items additional to the six elements defined in this
Framework.

Net financial position is the difference between assets and liabilities after
adding other resources and deducting other obligations recognized in the
statement of financial position. Net financial position can be a positive or
negative residual amount.

Revenue and Expense

Definitions

5.29

5.30

5.31

Revenue is:

Increases in the net financial position of the entity, other than increases
arising from ownership contributions.

Expense is:

Decreases in the net financial position of the entity, other than decreases
arising from ownership distributions.

Revenue and expense arise from exchange and non-exchange transactions,
other events such as unrealized increases and decreases in the value of assets
and liabilities, and the consumption of assets through depreciation and
erosion of service potential and ability to generate economic benefits through
impairments. Revenue and expense may arise from individual transactions or
groups of transactions.
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Surplus or Deficit for the Period

5.32

The entity’s surplus or deficit for the period is the difference between revenue
and expense reported on the statement of financial performance.

Ownership Contributions and Ownership Distributions

Definitions

533

5.34

5.35

5.36

5.37

Ownership contributions are:

Inflows of resources to an entity, contributed by external parties in their
capacity as owners, which establish or increase an interest in the net financial
position of the entity.

Ownership distributions are:

Outflows of resources from the entity, distributed to external parties in their
capacity as owners, which return or reduce an interest in the net financial
position of the entity.

It is important to distinguish inflows of resources from owners, including
those inflows that initially establish the ownership interest, and outflows of
resources to owners in their capacity as owners from revenue and expense. In
addition to the injections of resources and the payment of dividends that may
occur, in some jurisdictions it is relatively common for assets and liabilities
to be transferred between public sector entities. Where such transfers satisfy
the definitions of ownership contributions or ownership distributions they
will be accounted for as such.

Ownership interests may arise on the creation of an entity when another
entity contributes resources to provide the new entity with the capacity to
commence operational activities. In the public sector, contributions to, and
distributions from, entities are sometimes linked to the restructuring of
government and will take the form of transfers of assets and liabilities rather
than cash transactions. Ownership interests may take different forms, which
may not be evidenced by an equity instrument.

Ownership contributions may take the form of an initial injection of resources
at the creation of an entity or a subsequent injection of resources, including
those where an entity is restructured. Ownership distributions may be: (a) a
return on investment; (b) a full or partial return of investment; or (c) in the
event of the entity being wound up or restructured, a return of any residual
resources.
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Basis for Conclusions

This Basis for Conclusions accompanies, but is not part of, the Conceptual
Framework.

Scope of Chapter

BCs5.1

Respondents to the Consultation Paper, Elements and Recognition in
Financial Statements (the Consultation Paper), questioned why the IPSASB
was only addressing elements for the financial statements in this phase of the
Framework. They suggested that IPSASB should also develop elements for
economic and other phenomena in the more comprehensive areas of financial
reporting outside the financial statements. The IPSASB acknowledges the
merits of these views and the need to develop such elements in the future.
However, the IPSASB decided that in order to put its future standard-setting
activities for the financial statements on a sound and transparent footing it is
important to deal firstly with the development of elements for the financial
statements.

BC5.2 The IPSASB acknowledges a view that cash inflows and cash outflows
should be defined as elements of the cash flow statement. The IPSASB took
the view that cash inflows and cash outflows are components of the elements
identified in this Chapter, and that further guidance should be provided at
standards level.

Assets

A Resource

BCS5.3 A resource provides benefits to an entity in the form of service potential

or the ability to generate economic benefits. In reaching its conclusions on
the nature of a resource the IPSASB considered whether the benefits of the
resource must have already flowed to an entity in order for a resource to
exist. However, the IPSASB concluded that resources themselves embody
benefits—benefits that can be accessed by the entity that controls the rights
to these benefits. The IPSASB also considered the nature of the benefits (see
paragraphs BC5.7 and BC5.8) and control (see paragraphs BC5.9-BC5.14).

Unconditional Rights and Executory Contracts

BC5.4

Unconditional rights to resources typically result from contracts or other
binding arrangements that require provision of resources to the entity in the
future. The IPSASB notes that there can be a large number of such rights and
acknowledged that unconditional rights that represent service potential or the
ability to generate economic benefits that are controlled by the entity as a
result of a past event give rise to assets. Whether such assets are recognized
depends on whether the recognition criteria have been satisfied. The IPSASB
concluded that the consequences of application of the definition of an asset to
unconditional rights should be addressed at standards level.
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Executory contracts are binding arrangements where there is an unconditional
right to receive resources and an equal present obligation to transfer resources
to the counterparty in the future. Public sector entities are likely to engage in
a large number of such arrangements. The IPSASB acknowledges the view
that such arrangements may give rise to both assets and liabilities, as there
is a right to receive resources and a present obligation to sacrifice resources,
which the entity has no realistic alternative to avoid.

The IPSASB also acknowledges the view that recognizing assets and liabilities
from executory contracts would involve the inclusion of potentially very
large amounts of assets and liabilities in the statement of financial position
and the statement of financial performance and that this may conflict with the
qualitative characteristic of understandability. Whether assets and liabilities
arise from rights and obligations in executory contracts will be determined by
an assessment of whether those rights and obligations satisfy the definitions
of elements and recognition criteria identified in the Conceptual Framework.
Such assessments, and the approach to presentation in the financial statements
of any elements arising from executory contracts, are considered at standards
level.

Service Potential and Economic Benefits

BC5.7

BC5.8

Control
BC5.9

The term “service potential” has been used to identify the capacity of an
asset to provide services in accordance with an entity’s objectives. The term
“economic benefits” has been used to reflect the ability of an asset to generate
net cash inflows. Some argue that economic benefits includes service
potential. Others argue that service potential includes economic benefits—a
further view is that the terms can be used interchangeably. The IPSASB
considered whether the explanation of a resource should include a reference
to both service potential and the ability to generate economic benefits.

The IPSASB noted that many respondents to the Consultation Paper
and Exposure Draft supported inclusion of a specific reference to service
potential as a characteristic of an asset, because of the service delivery
objectives of most public sector entities. The IPSASB therefore concluded
that the explanation of a resource should include both the terms “service
potential” and “economic benefits”. This approach acknowledges that the
primary objective of most public sector entities is to deliver services, but also
that public sector entities may carry out activities with the sole objective of
generating net cash inflows.

The IPSASB considered whether control is an essential characteristic
of an asset or whether other indicators should be identified as essential
characteristics of an asset including:

e  Legal ownership;
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e  The right to access, and to restrict or deny the access of external parties
to, the resource;

e  The means to ensure that the resources are used to achieve the entity’s
objectives; and

e The existence of enforceable rights to service potential or economic
benefits arising from a resource.

The IPSASB acknowledges the views of those who argue that control may
be difficult to apply in some cases because it requires judgment to assess
whether control exists. In addition, control can be erroneously applied to a
resource in its entirety and not to the individual benefits that accrue from the
resource. However, notwithstanding such difficulties, the IPSASB concluded
that control is an essential characteristic of an asset because the presence of
control facilitates the association of an asset with a specific entity.

Legal ownership of a resource, such as a property or item of equipment, is
one method of accessing the service potential or economic benefits of an
asset. However, rights to service potential or the ability to generate economic
benefits may exist without legal ownership of the underlying resource. For
example, the rights to service potential or the ability to generate economic
benefits through the holding and use of leased property are accessed without
legal ownership of the leased asset itself. Therefore, legal ownership of the
resource is not an essential characteristic of an asset. Legal ownership is,
however, an indicator of control.

The right to access a resource may give an entity the ability to determine
whether to:

e Directly use the resource’s service potential to provide services to
beneficiaries;

e  Exchange the resource for another asset, such as cash; or

e  Use the asset in any of the other ways that may provide services or
generate economic benefits.

While access to a resource is crucial, there are resources to which an entity
has access which do not give rise to assets, such as air. Therefore, the ability
to access a resource must be supplemented by the ability to deny or restrict
the access of others to that resource—for example, (a) an entity might decide
whether to set an entrance fee to a museum and restrict access to those who
do not pay the fee, and (b) government may control a natural resource under
its land to which it can restrict the access of others. Legally enforceable
claims to specific resources, such as a right of access to a road or a right
to explore land for mineral deposits, could represent an asset to the holder.
However, an entity may be able to access the service potential or ability to
generate economic benefits associated with a resource in ways that do not
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require legal rights. The IPSASB took the view that the factors identified in
paragraph BC5.9 are likely to be indicators of the existence of control rather
than essential characteristics of the definition of an asset.

The IPSASB also considered whether the economic ownership approach is a
viable alternative to the control approach. The economic ownership approach
focuses on an entity’s exposure to the underlying economic attributes that
contribute to an asset’s value to the entity. Some respondents to the Exposure
Draft, Elements and Recognition in Financial Statements, in supporting the
control approach, commented on the complexity of the economic ownership
approach. The IPSASB concluded that the economic ownership approach is
subjective and difficult to operate, and therefore rejected this approach.

The IPSASB considered whether an analysis of exposure to the risks and
rewards of ownership is a useful indicator of control. The control approach
focuses on the power of the entity to direct how the resource is used in order to
benefit from the service potential and/or ability to generate economic benefits
embodied in the resource. The risks and rewards approach focuses on an
entity’s exposure to the underlying economic attributes that contribute to an
asset’s value to the entity and the related risks. Consideration of the risks and
rewards associated with particular transactions and events, and which party
to any transaction or event bears the majority of those risks and rewards, may
be relevant and useful in identifying the nature of the asset controlled by
parties to the transaction or event. It may also be useful in determining how
to quantify and associate the economic rights and obligations with particular
parties. However, it is not of itself an indicator of the party that controls an
asset. The IPSASB therefore decided not to include the risks and rewards of
ownership as an indicator of control.

Past Event

BC5.15

BC5.16

Some respondents to the Consultation Paper and Exposure Draft argued that
identification of a past transaction or other event which gives rise to the asset
should be an essential characteristic of the definition of an asset. Others take
the view that the identification of a past event is not necessary and should not
therefore be an essential characteristic. They consider that such a requirement
places undue emphasis on identifying the past event that gave rise to an asset.
Such emphasis may be a distraction and lead to debates about which event is
the triggering event instead of the more important issue of whether rights to
resources exist at the reporting date. Those who take this view consider that
the essential characteristic of an asset should be the existence of a resource.
Some may accept that a past event provides useful supporting evidence of
the existence of an asset, but not that it should be an essential characteristic.

Many respondents took the view that a past event should be identified as an
essential characteristic of the definition of an asset. The IPSASB agrees with
these respondents—in particular, that the complex nature of many public
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sector programs and activities means that there are a number of points at
which control of a resource might arise. Therefore, the IPSASB concluded
that identification of the appropriate past event is crucial in identifying
whether an asset exists.

The powers and rights of government are particularly significant for the
identification of assets. The power to tax and issue licenses, and other powers
to access or to deny or restrict access to the benefits embodied in intangible
resources like the electromagnetic spectrum, are examples of sovereign
powers. It is often difficult to determine when such powers give rise to a right
that is a resource and asset of the entity.

A government’s power to establish a right to levy a tax or fee, for example,
often begins a sequence of events that ultimately results in the flow of
economic benefits to the government. The IPSASB considered two views
of when an asset arises from the powers and rights of government to levy
a tax or fee. The first view is that the government has an inherent power
to tax at every reporting date and, therefore, that the general ability to levy
taxes or fees is an asset. Proponents of this view accept that such an asset is
unlikely to be capable of faithfully representative measurement, but argue
that this should not deflect from an acknowledgement that government has
a perpetual asset. The contrary view is that the power to levy taxes and fees
must be converted into a right by legal means, and that such a right must be
exercised or exercisable in order for an asset to come into existence. Many
respondents to the Consultation Paper and Exposure Draft supported this
latter view. The IPSASB agrees with these respondents. In particular, the
IPSASB concluded that a government’s inherent powers do not give rise to
assets until these powers are exercised and the rights exist to receive service
potential or economic benefits.

Liabilities

A Present Obligation

BC5.19

In considering when obligations are present obligations, the IPSASB
accepts that a legal obligation gives rise to a present obligation. In some
jurisdictions, public sector entities are not permitted to enter into certain legal
arrangements, but there are equivalent mechanisms that give rise to a present
obligation. Such mechanisms are considered legally binding. The IPSASB
then considered how to classify obligations that are not legal obligations.
The IPSASB noted that “constructive obligation” is a term embedded in
standard-setting literature globally and has been used in IPSASs. However,
it has proved difficult to interpret and apply in a public sector context.
Therefore, the IPSASB considered alternative terminology, for example the
term ““a social or moral duty or requirement.” The IPSASB has concerns that
the term “social” might be confused with political values and that the term
“moral obligations” risks a perception that standard setters and preparers are
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arbiters of morality. Therefore, the IPSASB decided that making a distinction
between “legally binding” and “non-legally binding obligations” is the most
straightforward and understandable approach. The IPSASB considered and
rejected the view that the term “non-legally binding obligations” might be
interpreted as referring to obligations, the legality of which is questionable.
Paragraphs BC5.30-BC5.34 discuss non-legally binding obligations and
explain their meaning for the purposes of the Conceptual Framework.

In the context of a present obligation, the IPSASB considered whether
“conditional” and “unconditional” obligations, “stand-ready obligations” and
“performance obligations” might be present obligations.

Conditional and Unconditional Obligations

BC5.21

BC5.22

An unconditional obligation is one that stands on its own, independent of
future events. Unconditional obligations give rise to liabilities if the definition
of a liability is satisfied. A conditional obligation involves the possible
occurrence of a future event, which may or may not be under the control of
the reporting entity. The IPSASB concluded that it is possible for conditional
obligations to give rise to liabilities as defined in the Conceptual Framework.
Determining whether a conditional obligation satisfies the definition of a
liability will involve consideration of the nature of the obligation and the
circumstances in which it has arisen. Given the complexity of public sector
programs and activities, identifying the past event (or events), which has
(have) resulted in the entity having little or no realistic alternative to avoid an
outflow of resources, often may not be straightforward. Guidance on whether
conditional obligations that exist in particular arrangements or circumstances
may give rise to liabilities consistent with the definitions identified in the
Conceptual Framework is a standards-level issue.

A variety of terms are used to describe present obligations that may arise
from, or exist in conjunction with, conditional obligations in particular
circumstances. Amongst these are stand ready-obligations and performance
obligations. The characteristics of these obligations and the conclusions
reached by the IPSASB in the context of the Conceptual Framework are
outlined below.

Stand-Ready Obligations

BC5.23

Stand-ready obligations are a type of conditional obligation. Stand-ready
obligations require an entity to be prepared to fulfill an obligation if a
specified uncertain future event outside the entity’s control occurs (or fails to
occur). The term stand-ready obligation is used to describe a liability that may
arise in certain contractual circumstances, such as those related to insurance,
certain financial instruments such as a derivative contract in a loss position,
and for warranties where the entity has an obligation to transfer resources if a
specified future event occurs (or does not occur). In such circumstances, there
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may be an identifiable past event and an outflow of resources from the entity,
although the exact identity of the party to whom settlement will be made will
not generally be known.

The Consultation Paper included a discussion of stand-ready obligations.
Many respondents found the distinction between a stand-ready obligation and
other conditional obligations ambiguous. The Exposure Draft explained that
the term stand-ready obligation is not widely used in the public sector, and
does not work well in certain public sector circumstances, and suggested that
whether a stand-ready obligation gave rise to a liability is a standards-level
issue. Some respondents did not agree with the explanation in the Exposure
Draft, and expressed a view that the Conceptual Framework should provide
guidance for use at the standards level on whether stand-ready obligations
can give rise to liabilities in certain circumstances.

A public sector entity’s obligation to transfer resources to another entity in
particular circumstances that may occur in the future includes, for example,
as a potential lender of last resort and in support of programs that provide
a wide range of social benefits. The existence of an obligation to transfer
resources to another party in these circumstances may be dependent on
ongoing satisfaction of a number of conditions of differing significance
and nature that are subject to change by the government or public sector
entity. The IPSASB is of the view that the circumstances in which liabilities
arise as a consequence of the obligation of a public sector entity to transfer
resources to other parties consistent with the terms of programs, and how such
liabilities should be described and accounted for, should be considered at the
standards level consistent with the principles established in the Conceptual
Framework. The IPSASB decided that the Conceptual Framework should not
resolve whether all obligations that might be classified as stand-ready meet
the definition of a liability. The IPSASB also decided not to use the term
“stand-ready obligation” in the Conceptual Framework.

Performance Obligations

BC5.26

BC5.27

A performance obligation is an obligation in a contract or other binding
arrangement between an entity and an external party to transfer a resource
to that other party. Performance obligations are often explicitly stated
in a contract or other arrangement. Not all performance obligations are
explicit. For example, a statutory requirement may give rise to an implicit
performance obligation of a public sector entity that is additional to the terms
of an agreement or contract.

Aperformance obligation also arises when an entity enters into an arrangement
whereby it receives a fee and, in return, provides an external party with access
to an asset of the government. The IPSASB concluded that it is not necessary
to identify a specific external party for a performance obligation to arise, but
it is important to analyze such obligations in order to determine whether they
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include a requirement to provide an outflow of resources. Obligations that
require an entity to provide access to a resource, but do not entail an outflow
of resources do not give rise to liabilities. However, obligations that require
an entity to forgo future resources may be liabilities. Performance obligations
are often conditional obligations. Determining whether such obligations
give rise to liabilities is dependent upon the terms of particular binding
agreements and may vary between jurisdictions. The IPSASB concluded that
the circumstances under which performance obligations give rise to liabilities
should be considered at standards level.

Past Event

BC5.28

BC5.29

The IPSASB considered whether the definition of a liability should require
the existence of a past transaction or other event. Some take the view that
identification of a past event is not an essential characteristic of a liability,
and that, consequently, there is no need for the definition of a liability to
include a reference to a past event. These commentators argue that there
may be many possible past events and that establishing the key past event is
likely to be arbitrary. They suggest that the identification of a past event is
not a primary factor in determining whether a liability exists at the reporting
date. This view mirrors the opposition to the inclusion of a past event in the
definition of an asset, which is discussed in paragraphs BC5.15-BC5.18.

The IPSASB acknowledges this view, but also noted that many respondents
to the Consultation Paper and Exposure Draft consider that a past event
is a characteristic of a liability. The IPSASB agrees with the view that the
complexity of many public sector programs and activities and the number of
potential points at which a present obligation might arise means that, although
challenging, identification of the past event that gives rise to a liability is
critical in determining when public sector liabilities should be recognized.

Little or No Realistic Alternative to Avoid

BC5.30

BC5.31

Some respondents to the Exposure Draft expressed concerns that the phrase
“little or no realistic alternative to avoid” in the description of a present
obligation is open to different interpretations. They proposed removal of
the words “little or” from this phrase in order to reduce the potential for
misinterpretation. The IPSASB considered this proposal. The IPSASB was
concerned that such a change might be interpreted as establishing a threshold
test of virtual certainty in determining whether a present obligation exists.
The IPSASB considers such a threshold too high. Consequently, the IPSASB
confirmed that a present obligation is a legally binding or non-legally binding
requirement that an entity has little or no realistic alternative to avoid.

Determining when a present obligation arises in a public sector context is
complex and, in some cases, might be considered arbitrary. This is particularly
so when considering whether liabilities can arise from obligations that are not
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enforceable by legal or equivalent means. In the context of programs to deliver
social benefits there are a number of stages at which a present obligation
can arise and there can be significant differences between jurisdictions, even
where programs are similar, and also over time within the same jurisdiction—
for example, different age cohorts may have different expectations about the
likelihood of receiving benefits under a social assistance program. Assessing
whether a government cannot ignore such expectations and therefore has
little or no realistic alternative to transfer resources may be subjective. This
gives rise to concerns that such subjectivity undermines consistency in the
reporting of liabilities, and can also impact adversely on understandability.
Some therefore take the view that an essential characteristic of a liability
should be that it is enforceable at the reporting date by legal or equivalent
means.

A converse view is that where a government has a record of honoring
obligations, failing to recognize them as liabilities leads to an overstatement
of that government’s net financial position. According to this view, if a
government has a consistent record of raising citizen expectations through
publicly-announced obligations to provide financial support—for example
to the victims of natural disasters—and has met such obligations in the past,
a failure to treat such obligations as liabilities is not in accordance with the
objectives of financial reporting, and leads to the provision of information
that does not meet the qualitative characteristics of faithful representation
and relevance.

On balance, the IPSASB agrees with those who argue that, in the public
sector, liabilities can arise from binding obligations that the entity has little
or no realistic alternative to avoid, even if they are not enforceable in law.
The IPSASB decided to use the term “non-legally binding obligations”
for such obligations in the Conceptual Framework. However, the IPSASB
acknowledges the views of those who are skeptical that liabilities can arise
from obligations that are not legally enforceable. Consequently, paragraph
5.23 of this Chapter identifies the attributes that a non-legally binding
obligation is to possess for it to give rise to a liability.

The wide variation in the nature of public sector programs and operations,
and the different political and economic circumstances of jurisdictions
globally, means that categorical assertions of the circumstances under which
obligations not enforceable in law become binding and give rise to present
obligations are inappropriate. However, the IPSASB is of the view that
present obligations are extremely unlikely to arise from election pledges. This
is because electoral pledges will very rarely, (a) create a valid expectation
on the part of external parties that the entity will honor the pledge, and (b)
create an obligation which the entity has no realistic alternative but to settle.
Therefore the Framework includes a presumption that liabilities do not arise
from electoral pledges. However, it is accepted that in practice a government
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with a large majority will be better placed to enact intended legislation than a
minority government, and that there may be infrequent circumstances where
a government announcement in such circumstances might give rise to a
liability. In assessing whether, in these circumstances, a non-legally binding
obligation gives rise to a liability the availability of funding to settle the
obligation may be an indicator. This is discussed in paragraph 5.25.

Sovereign Power to Avoid Obligations

BC5.35 The sovereign power to make, amend and repeal legal provisions is a
key characteristic of governments. Sovereign power potentially allows
governments to repudiate obligations arising from both exchange and non-
exchange transactions. Although in a global environment such a power
may be constrained by practical considerations, there are a large number of
examples of governments defaulting on financial obligations over the last
century. The IPSASB considered the impact of sovereign power on the
definition of a liability. The IPSASB concluded that failing to recognize
obligations that otherwise meet the definition of a liability on the grounds
that sovereign power enables a government to walk away from such
obligations would be contrary to the objectives of financial reporting and,
in particular, may conflict with the qualitative characteristics of relevance
and faithful representation. Many respondents to the Consultation Paper and
the Exposure Draft supported this position. The IPSASB therefore concluded
that the determination of the existence of a liability should be by reference to
the legal position at the reporting date.

Commitments

BC5.36 Commitment accounting procedures are a central component of budgetary
control for public sector entities in many jurisdictions. They are intended
to assure that budgetary funds are available to meet the government’s
or other public sector entity’s responsibility for a possible future liability,
including intended or outstanding purchase orders and contracts, or where
the conditions for future transfers of funds have not yet been satisfied.
Commitments which satisfy the definition of a liability and the recognition
criteria are recognized in financial statements, in other cases information
about them may be communicated in notes to the financial statements or
other reports included in GPFRs. The IPSASB concluded that commitment
accounting might be addressed in the future when dealing with elements for
the more comprehensive areas of general purpose financial reporting outside
the financial statements.

Net Financial Position, Other Resources and Other Obligations

BC5.37 This section of the Basis for Conclusions outlines the IPSASB’s approach to
models of financial performance to be reported in the financial statements,
and specifically the treatment of deferred inflows and deferred outflows.
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Consultation Paper, Elements and Recognition in Financial Statements

BC5.38

BC5.39

BC5.40

BC5.41

The Consultation Paper discussed two contrasting approaches to financial
performance:

e  An approach that measures financial performance as the net result of
all changes in the entity’s resources and obligations during the period.
This was described as the asset and liability-led approach; and

e  An approach that measures financial performance as the result of the
revenue inflows and expense outflows more closely associated with the
operations of the current period. This was described as the revenue and
expense-led approach.

The Consultation Paper noted that the two different approaches could lead
to different definitions of the elements related to financial performance and
financial position. The revenue and expense-led approach is strongly linked
to the notion of inter-period equity. Inter-period equity refers to the extent
to which the cost of programs and providing services in the reporting period
is borne by current taxpayers and current resource providers. The asset and
liability-led approach is linked to the notion of changes in resources available
to provide services in the future and claims on these resources as a result of
period activity.

A further section of the Consultation Paper discussed Other Potential
Elements and pointed out that, if IPSASB adopted the revenue and expense-
led approach, IPSASB would need to address deferred flows. Under this
approach, deferred flows are items that do not meet the proposed definitions
of revenue and expense, but which are nevertheless considered to affect the
financial performance of the period. The Consultation Paper identified three
options for dealing with such flows:

e  Defining deferred inflows and deferred outflow as elements on the
statement of financial position;

e  Broadening the asset and liability definitions to include items that are
deferrals; or

e  Describing deferred flows as sub-classifications of net assets/net
liabilities (subsequently referred to as the residual amount).

The Consultation Paper had two specific matters for comment on these
areas. The first asked constituents to indicate whether they preferred the
asset and liability-led approach or revenue and expense-led approach and
to indicate their reasons. The second asked whether deferred inflows and
deferred outflows need to be identified on the statement of financial position.
If respondents supported identification on the statement of financial position
they were asked to indicate which of the three approaches in paragraph
BC5.40 they supported.
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The responses to these specific matters for comment were inconclusive.
A small majority of respondents expressing a view favored the asset and
liability-led approach. However, a number of respondents who supported the
asset and liability-led approach also indicated that they favored identifying
deferrals on the statement of financial position. The IPSASB took these views
into account at Exposure Draft stage.

Exposure Draft, Elements and Recognition in Financial Statements

BC5.43

BC5.44

BC5.45

BC5.46

The Exposure Draft expressed a view that it is important to be able to
distinguish flows that relate to the current reporting period from those that
relate to specified future reporting periods. The Exposure Draft therefore
proposed the following definitions of a deferred inflow and a deferred outflow:

e A deferred inflow is an inflow of service potential or economic benefits
provided to the entity for use in a specified future reporting period that
results from a non-exchange transaction and increases net assets, and

e  Adeferred outflow is an outflow of service potential or economic benefits
provided to another entity or party for use in a specified future reporting
period that results from a non-exchange transaction and decreases net
assets.

The two key features of these definitions were:

e  The proposed elements were restricted to non-exchange transactions;
and

e  The flows had to be related to a specified future period.

The IPSASB’s rationale for including these characteristics were as risk-
avoidance measures to reduce the possibility of deferred inflows and deferred
outflows being used widely as smoothing devices, and to ensure that deferred
inflows and deferred outflows are not presented on the statement of financial
position indefinitely. The Exposure Draft included two Alternative Views.
The first Alternative View considered the meaning of net financial position to
be unclear in light of the combined impact of deferred inflows and deferred
outflows. The second Alternative View disagreed with the view that deferred
inflows and deferred outflows should be identified and recognized as separate
elements and expressed a view that these flows meet the definitions of revenue
and expense.

Many respondents disagreed with defining deferred inflows and deferred
outflows as elements. Some expressed reservations about the implications for
alignment with the International Accounting Standards Board’s Conceptual
Framework, and International Financial Reporting Standards more generally.
A number of respondents considered that the proposed approach did not
reflect economic reality and that it would be more difficult to determine an
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objective basis for deferring revenue and expense under the revenue and
expense-led approach. Nevertheless, a number of respondents also expressed
the view that information on flows relating to particular reporting periods has
information value.

The rationale for restricting the definitions to non-exchange transactions was
challenged as conceptually weak both by respondents who favored defining
deferred inflows and deferred outflows as elements and those opposed to
these proposed elements. Respondents also disagreed with the restriction
to specified time periods, because it would potentially lead to the different
accounting treatment of very similar transactions dependent upon whether
a specific period was identified—a grant without conditions receivable by
an entity to finance its general activities for a five year period would have
met the definition of a deferred inflow, whereas a similar grant for a future
unspecified period would have met the definition of revenue.

Finalizing the Elements Chapter

BC5.48

BC5.49

BC5.50

The IPSASB considered that it needed to balance the limited support for the
proposals on deferred flows in the Exposure Draft, and the perceived needs
of users for information about flows relating to particular reporting periods.

The IPSASB therefore considered five options (A-E below) in responding
to input from the due process and its perception of users’ information needs:

A.  Defining deferred inflows and deferred outflows as elements in a more
principles-based manner and not specifying the financial statements
in which the elements are to be recognized. As such, the Conceptual
Framework would not predetermine the presentation of the elements;

B. Deriving the definitions of revenue and expense from the asset and
liability definitions;

C. Broadening the asset and liability definitions;

D.  Accepting that certain economic phenomena that do not meet the
definition of any element may need to be recognized in financial
statements in order to meet the objectives of financial reporting; and

E. Reporting inflows and outflows that provide service potential or
economic benefits, but do not affect assets and liabilities as defined in
the Framework and reporting inflows and outflows that do not affect
revenue and expense.

The IPSASB does not consider that defining deferred inflows and deferred
outflows as elements in Option A is justified in light of the objections that
respondents had made to the proposals in the Exposure Draft. The IPSASB
therefore rejected Option A.
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The IPSASB considered two variants of Option B. In the first variant deferred
flows would be taken directly to surplus/deficit, while in the second variant
deferred flows would initially be taken to residual amount and then recycled
to surplus/deficit in the period that time stipulations occur.

The IPSASB considers that taking deferred flows directly to surplus/deficit
under the first variant of Option B may not produce information that is
representationally faithful of an entity’s sustainable performance and therefore
does not meet the objectives of financial reporting. The second variant of
Option B relies on recycling and, in the view of some IPSASB members
would have implicitly introduced the notion of “other comprehensive
income” into the Framework. The IPSASB has strong reservations about
such a development. For these reasons the IPSASB rejected Option B.

The IPSASB noted that Option C would require changes to the definitions of
an asset and a liability so that:

e  The definition of an asset would include resources that an entity does
not control; and

e The definition of a liability would include obligations that are not
present obligations.

The IPSASB considers that such changes would distort the essential
characteristic of an asset—that an entity controls rights to resources—and the
essential characteristic of a liability—that an entity has a present obligation
for an outflow of resources. In the view of the IPSASB this would make
assets and liabilities less easily understandable. Adoption of such an option
would also be a departure from globally understood definitions of an asset
and a liability. For these reasons the IPSASB rejected Option C.

Option E was a hybrid approach that involved components of the other
four options. It would allow reporting of inflows and outflows that provide
service potential or economic benefits, but would not affect the definitions
of an asset and liability and the reporting of inflows and outflows that do not
affect revenue and expense as defined in the Framework. The idea of this
approach was to acknowledge that further conceptual thinking on financial
performance is necessary.

Option D is broader than Option E because it is not necessarily restricted
to deferred flows, but could encompass broader economic phenomena—for
example obligations that are not present obligations, because, although they
contain performance obligations, it is not clear that they require an outflow
of resources. Option D acknowledges that there may be circumstances
under which the six elements defined in the Conceptual Framework may not
provide all the information in the financial statements that is necessary to
meet users’ needs. In the view of the IPSASB it is transparent to acknowledge
that other items may be recognized. Unlike Option A, Option D does not
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involve defining additional elements, and, unlike Option C, Option D does
not involve modification of generally understood definitions of an asset and
a liability.

BC5.56 The IPSASB concluded that Option D provides the most transparent
approach. The terms “other obligations” and “other resources” are used to
describe these economic phenomena in the Conceptual Framework. Option
D also enhances the accountability of the IPSASB because the circumstances
under which other obligations and other resources will be recognized will be
determined at standards level and explained in the Bases for Conclusions of
specific standards.

Financial Statements

BC5.57 Net financial position is the aggregate of an entity’s net assets (assets minus
liabilities) and other resources and other obligations recognized in the
statement of financial position at the reporting date. Where resources and
obligations other than those that meet the definition of the elements are
recognized in the financial statements, the amounts reported as net assets and
net financial position will differ. In these circumstances, the interpretation
of net financial position will be determined by reference to the nature of the
other resources and other obligations recognized in the financial statements
under the relevant [IPSAS.

BC5.58 The IPSASB considered whether it should use both the terms “net assets”
and “net financial position” in the Conceptual Framework. The IPSASB
acknowledges a view that net assets is a generally understood term.
However, the IPSASB considered that using both terms could be confusing
and therefore decided to use the term “net financial position” to indicate the
residual amount of an entity.

Revenue and Expense
Gross or Net Increase in “Net Financial Position” in Definition of Revenue

BC5.59 The IPSASB considered whether the definition of revenue should specify
that the increase in net financial position is “gross” or “net”. The IPSASB
acknowledges that a gross approach might not be appropriate in areas such
as the disposal of property, plant, and equipment where such an approach
would require the full disposal proceeds to be recognized as revenue, rather
than the difference between the disposal proceeds and the carrying amount.
Conversely, a net approach might be similarly inappropriate in certain
circumstances—for example, the sale of inventory. The IPSASB concluded
that whether the increase in net financial position represented by revenue is
presented gross or net should be determined at standards level, dependent on
which treatment better meets the objectives of financial reporting.
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Distinguishing Ordinary Activities from Activities outside the Ordinary Course of
Operations

BC5.60 Some standard setters structure their definitions of elements so that, for

BC5.61

example, inflows and outflows arising from transactions and events relating
to activities in the ordinary course of operations are distinguished from
inflows and outflows that relate to activities outside the ordinary course of
operations. An example of this approach is to define revenue and expense
as elements that relate to an entity’s “ongoing major or central operations,”
and to define gains and losses as elements that relate to all other transactions,
events and circumstances giving rise to increases or decreases in net assets.’

The IPSASB acknowledges that distinguishing transactions and events
related to the ordinary course of operations from transactions and events
outside the ordinary course of operations can provide useful information for
users of the financial statements. Therefore, it may be useful to adopt the
terms “gains and losses” to reflect inflows and outflows from transactions and
events outside the ordinary course of operations. However, the IPSASB is of
the view that, conceptually, gains and losses do not differ from other forms
of revenue and expense, because they both involve net increases or decreases
of assets and/or liabilities. The IPSASB also noted that many respondents to
the Consultation Paper and Exposure Draft shared this view. Therefore the
IPSASB decided not to define gains and losses as separate elements.

Ownership Interests in the Public Sector

BC5.62 As discussed in more detail in BC5.66-BC5.70, the IPSASB considered

whether, and, if so, under what circumstances, ownership interests exist in
the public sector and whether transactions related to ownership interests
should be excluded from the definitions of revenue and expense. Because
transactions with owners, in their role as owners, are different in substance
to other inflows and outflows of resources the IPSASB concluded that it is
necessary to distinguish flows relating to owners from revenue and expense.
Therefore ownership contributions and ownership distributions are defined as
elements and excluded from the definitions of revenue and expense.

Surplus or Deficit in the Reporting Period

BC5.63 This chapter states that the difference between revenue and expense is the

entity’s surplus or deficit for the period. The IPSASB considered whether it
should provide explanatory guidance on the interpretation of surplus or deficit.
The IPSASB discussed a view that public sector entities have operating and
funding models. According to this view a surplus provides an indicator of the
ability of the entity to:

7

See, for example, Financial Accounting Standards Board, Statement of Financial Accounting Concepts

No. 6, Elements of Financial Statements.
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e  Reduce demands for resources from resource providers;

e Increase either the volume and/or quality of services to recipients;

e  Reduce debt (where an entity has debt-raising powers); or

e A combination of these factors.

Conversely a deficit provides an indicator of:

e  The need to increase demands on resources from resource providers;
e  Reduce either the volume and/or quality of services to recipients;

e Increase debt (where an entity has debt-raising powers); or

e A combination of these factors.

The IPSASB acknowledges that there is a need for greater clarity on the
meaning of surplus or deficit in the public sector, and therefore that aspects
of the above approach might be developed further in the future. However,
the IPSASB considered the concept of an operating and funding model or
business model is not well developed in the public sector, and that developing
an operating and funding model appropriate for all public sector entities is
problematic. Therefore, the IPSASB decided not to include guidance on the
interpretation of surplus or deficit in the Conceptual Framework.

Ownership Contributions, and Ownership Distributions

BC5.66

BC5.67

The IPSASB considered whether net financial position is a residual amount,
a residual interest or an ownership interest. The IPSASB acknowledges the
view that the interest of resource providers and service recipients in the long-
term efficiency of the entity, its capacity to deliver services in the future
and in the resources that may be available for redirection, restructuring or
alternative disposition is similar to an ownership interest. The IPSASB also
accepts that the terms “residual interest” and “ownership interest” have been
used in some jurisdictions to characterize third parties’ interests in net assets.
The term “residual interest” indicates that service recipients and resource
providers have an interest in the capability of the entity to finance itself and
to resource future operations. The term “ownership interest” is analogous to
the ownership interest in a private sector entity and, for some, indicates that
the citizens own the resources of the public sector entity and that government
is responsible to the citizens for the use of those resources. Some supporters
of this approach argue that it emphasizes the democratic accountability of
governments.

The IPSASB is of the view that the term “residual interest” may also suggest
that service recipients and resource providers have a financial interest in the
public sector entity. Similarly the term “ownership interest” may suggest
that citizens are entitled to distributions from the public sector entity and
to distributions of resources in the event of the entity being wound up.
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The IPSASB therefore concluded that the terms “residual interest” and
“ownership interest” can be misunderstood or misinterpreted, and that net
financial position is a residual amount that should not be defined.

However, the IPSASB acknowledges that part of net financial position can
in certain circumstances be an ownership interest. Such instances may be
evidenced by the entity having a formal equity structure. However, there
may be instances where an entity is established without a formal equity
structure, with a view to sale for operation as a commercial enterprise or
by a private sector not-for-profit entity. An ownership interest can also
arise from the restructuring of government or public sector entities, such
as when a new government department is created. The IPSASB therefore
considered whether ownership interests should be defined as an element. The
IPSASB acknowledges the view that identifying the resources (or claims
on future resources) attributable to owners provides information useful
for accountability and decision-making purposes. The IPSASB concluded
that such interests can be identified through the sub-classification of net
financial position. However, the IPSASB also concluded that it is important
to distinguish inflows of resources from owners and outflows of resources
to owners, in their role as owners, from revenue, expense, other resources
and other obligations. Therefore, ownership contributions and ownership
distributions are defined as elements. Detailed guidance to support the
assessment of whether certain inflows and outflows of resources satisfy the
definitions of ownership contributions and ownership distributions will be
developed at standards level, as appropriate.
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Recognition Criteria and their Relationship to Disclosure

6.1

6.2

6.3

6.4

This chapter identifies the criteria that must be satisfied in order for an
element to be recognized in the financial statements. Recognition is the
process of incorporating and including in amounts displayed on the face of the
appropriate financial statement an item that meets the definition of an element
and can be measured in a way that achieves the qualitative characteristics and
takes account of the constraints on information included in GPFRs.

The recognition criteria are that:
e  An item satisfies the definition of an element; and

e  (Can be measured in a way that achieves the qualitative characteristics
and takes account of constraints on information in GPFRs.

All items that satisfy the recognition criteria are recognized in the financial
statements. In some circumstances, an IPSAS may also specify that, to
achieve the objectives of financial reporting, a resource or obligation that
does not meet the definition of an element is to be recognized in the financial
statements provided it can be measured in a way that meets the qualitative
characteristics and constraints. Other resources and other obligations are
discussed in Chapter 5, Elements in Financial Statements.

Recognition involves an assessment of uncertainty related to the existence
and measurement of the element. The conditions that give rise to uncertainty,
if any, can change. Therefore, it is important that uncertainty is assessed at
each reporting date.

Definition of an Element

6.5

6.6

In order to be recognized as an element an item must meet the definition
of one of the elements in Chapter 5. Uncertainty about the existence of an
element is addressed by considering the available evidence in order to make
a neutral judgment about whether an item satisfies all essential characteristics
of the definition of that element, taking into account all available facts and
circumstances at the reporting date.

If it is determined that an element exists, uncertainty about the amount of
service potential or ability to generate economic benefits represented by
that element is taken into account in the measurement of that element (see
paragraphs 6.7 and 6.8). Preparers review and assess all available evidence
in determining whether an element exists and is recognized, whether that
element continues to qualify for recognition (see paragraph 6.9), or whether
there has been a change to an existing element.
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Measurement Uncertainty

6.7

6.8

In order to recognize an item in the financial statements, it is necessary to
attach a monetary value to the item. This entails choosing an appropriate
measurement basis and determining whether the measurement of the item
achieves the qualitative characteristics, taking into account the constraints on
information in GPFRs, including that the measurement is sufficiently relevant
and faithfully representative for the item to be recognized in the financial
statements. The selection of an appropriate measurement basis is considered
in Chapter 7, Measurement of Assets and Liabilities in Financial Statements.

There may be uncertainty associated with the measurement of many amounts
presented in the financial statements. The use of estimates is an essential
part of the accrual basis of accounting. A decision about the relevance and
faithful representativeness of measurement involves the consideration
of techniques, such as using ranges of outcomes and point estimates, and
whether additional evidence is available about economic circumstances that
existed at the reporting date. Disclosures can provide useful information on
estimation techniques employed. There may be rare instances in which the
level of uncertainty in a single point estimate is so large that the relevance and
faithful representativeness of the measure is questionable even if disclosures
are provided to explain estimation techniques. Under these circumstances the
item is not recognized.

Disclosure and Recognition

6.9

The failure to recognize items that meet the definition of an element and
the recognition criteria is not rectified by the disclosure of accounting
policies, notes or other explanatory detail. However, disclosure can provide
information about items that meet many, but not all the characteristics of the
definition of an element. Disclosure can also provide information on items
that meet the definition of an element but cannot be measured in a manner
that achieves the qualitative characteristics sufficiently to meet the objectives
of financial reporting. Disclosure is appropriate when knowledge of the item
is considered to be relevant to the evaluation of the net financial position of
the entity and therefore meets the objectives of financial reporting.

Derecognition

6.10

Derecognition is the process of evaluating whether changes have occurred
since the previous reporting date that warrant removing an element that has
been previously recognized from the financial statements, and removing
the item if such changes have occurred. In evaluating uncertainty about the
existence of an element the same criteria are used for derecognition as at
initial recognition.

101 CONCEPTUAL FRAMEWORK



THE CONCEPTUAL FRAMEWORK FOR GENERAL PURPOSE
FINANCIAL REPORTING BY PUBLIC SECTOR ENTITIES

Basis for Conclusions

This Basis for Conclusions accompanies, but is not part of, the Conceptual
Framework.

Recognition and its Relationship to the Definition of the Elements

BCé6.1

BC6.2

The IPSASB considered whether recognition criteria should be integrated
in definitions of the elements. The IPSASB acknowledges the view that
the inclusion of recognition criteria in definitions of the elements enables
preparers to consider all the factors that must be taken into account in
evaluating whether an item of information is recognized as an element in
the financial statements. However, the IPSASB is of the view that while
there is overlap in factors to be considered in determining whether an item
satisfies the definition of an element and whether that element qualifies
for recognition, recognition should be considered as a distinct stage in the
financial reporting process. This is because recognition is broader than
whether the definition of an element is satisfied. The IPSASB also noted that
few respondents to the Consultation Paper and Exposure Draft supported the
integration of recognition criteria in element definitions. After considering
the input from the due process, the IPSASB concluded that the definitions of
elements should not include recognition criteria.

In determining whether an element should be recognized there are two types of
uncertainty that need to be considered. The first is uncertainty about whether
the definition of an element has been satisfied. The second is measurement
uncertainty—whether the element can be measured in a manner that achieves
the qualitative characteristics. Measurement uncertainty is considered if it is
determined that the definition of an element has been met. While recognition
is viewed as a distinct stage in the accounting process, matters relevant to an
assessment of uncertainty over the existence of an element will have been
considered in determining whether the item satisfies the definition of an element.

Satisfying the Definition of an Element

BC6.3

BC6.4

The IPSASB considered whether, in dealing with uncertainty over the
existence of an element, standardized probability threshold criteria should
be adopted, or whether all available evidence should be used to make neutral
judgements about an element’s existence.

Standardized evidence thresholds filter out items that have a low probability
of resulting in an inflow or outflow of service potential or the ability to
generate economic benefits. Such items may have high monetary values, even
though the probability of existence may be low. Some consider that it is more
appropriate to disclose such items rather than to recognize them. Threshold
criteria are also justified on cost grounds, because only after a preparer has
formed an initial judgement about whether those threshold criteria have been
met does that preparer consider how that element should be measured.
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The IPSASB formed a view that the adoption of thresholds for recognition
purposesrisksomittinginformationthatisrelevantandfaithfullyrepresentative,
because similar information items may be treated in different ways dependent
upon relatively small differences in the probability of a flow of benefits. The
IPSASB acknowledges that such risks can also exist for approaches which do
not specify thresholds for recognition. This is because preparers will make
their own assessments of the circumstances or “the threshold” that justifies
recognition, and those assessments can change for different items and over
time. However, the IPSASB concluded that, on balance, an approach that is
based on an assessment of all available evidence in determining whether an
element exists and takes account of uncertainty about the flows of service
potential or the ability to generate economic benefits in measurement is a
more appropriate response to the uncertainty faced by preparers of financial
statements. It is more likely to result in the recognition of information that
satisfies the qualitative characteristics than the establishment of an arbitrary
threshold that must be adhered to. Guidance may be provided at standards
level on dealing with circumstances in which there is significant uncertainty
about whether an element exists in particular circumstances, and therefore
whether it would satisfy the criteria for recognition.

The IPSASB explored whether uncertainty about the existence of an element
is specific to certain characteristics of assets and liabilities—in particular
for assets whether an entity controls rights to a resource and for liabilities
whether an entity has little or no realistic alternative to avoid an outflow
of service potential or economic benefits. The rationale for such a view is
that these are the essential characteristics of an asset and a liability where
uncertainty is likely to arise.

The IPSASB is of the view that, uncertainty relates to more than just these
characteristics. There might also be uncertainty about the existence of a
present obligation and a past event for liabilities and, for assets whether a
resource that generates future economic benefits or service potential presently
exists, rather than a future resource or future right to a resource. As noted in
paragraph BC6.2, these matters will also have been considered in determining
whether an item satisfies the definition of an element.

Derecognition

BC6.8

The IPSASB considered whether the same criteria should be used for initial
recognition and derecognition. Many of the respondents to the Consultation
Paper and the Exposure Draft supported the use of the same criteria for
derecognition as for initial recognition. The IPSASB concluded that adopting
different recognition criteria would conflict with the qualitative characteristic
of consistency as it would result in the recognition of items with different
standards of evidence for their existence. Therefore, the same recognition
criteria should be used for initial recognition and derecognition.
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Introduction

7.1

This Chapter identifies the measurement concepts that guide the IPSASB in
the selection of measurement bases for IPSASs and by preparers of financial
statements in selecting measurement bases for assets and liabilities where
there are no requirements in IPSASs.

The Objective of Measurement

7.2

73

7.4

The objective of measurement is:

To select those measurement bases that most fairly reflect the cost of services,
operational capacity and financial capacity of the entity in a manner that is
useful in holding the entity to account, and for decision-making purposes.

The selection of a measurement basis for assets and liabilities contributes to
meeting the objectives of financial reporting in the public sector by providing
information that enables users to assess:

e  The cost of services provided in the period in historical or current terms;

e  Operational capacity—the capacity of the entity to support the provision
of services in future periods through physical and other resources; and

e  Financial capacity—the capacity of the entity to fund its activities.

The selection of a measurement basis also includes an evaluation of the extent
to which the information provided achieves the qualitative characteristics
while taking into account the constraints on information in financial reports.

Measurement Bases and their Selection

7.5

7.6

It is not possible to identify a single measurement basis that best meets the
measurement objective at a Conceptual Framework level. Therefore, the
Conceptual Framework does not propose a single measurement basis (or
combination of bases) for all transactions, events and conditions. It provides
guidance on the selection of a measurement basis for assets and liabilities in
order to meet the measurement objective.

The following measurement bases for assets are identified and discussed in
terms of the information they provide about the cost of services delivered
by an entity, the operating capacity of an entity and the financial capacity
of an entity, and the extent to which they provide information that meets the
qualitative characteristics:

e  Historical cost;
e  Market value;

e  Replacement cost;
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e  Net selling price; and

e  Value in use.

Table 1 summarizes these measurement bases in terms of whether they (a)
provide entry or exit values; (b) are observable in a market; and (c) whether
or not they are entity-specific.®

Table 1: Summary of Measurement Bases for Assets

Observable or
Unobservable Entity or Non-
Measurement Basis Entry or Exit |in a Market entity Specific
Historical cost Entry Generally Entity-specific
observable
Market value in open, Entry and exit Observable Non-entity-
active and orderly market specific
Market value in inactive Exit Dependent Dependent
market on valuation on valuation
technique technique
Replacement cost Entry Observable Entity-specific
Net selling price Exit Observable Entity-specific
Value in use Exit’ Unobservable | Entity-specific

7.7

The following measurement bases for liabilities are identified and discussed in
terms of (a) the information they provide about the cost of services delivered
by an entity, the operating capacity of an entity and the financial capacity of
an entity; and (b) the extent to which they provide information that meets the
qualitative characteristics:

e  Historical cost;

e  Cost of fulfillment;
e  Market value;

e  Cost of release; and
e  Assumption price.

Table 2 summarizes these measurement bases in terms of whether they (a)
provide entry or exit values; (b) are observable in a market; and (¢) whether
or not they are entity-specific.

or unobservable in a market and/or as entity or non-entity specific.
? As pointed out in paragraph 7.66, for non-cash-generating assets the calculation of value in use may
require the use of replacement cost as surrogate.
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Table 2: Summary of Measurement Bases for Liabilities

Observable or
Unobservable Entity or Non-
Measurement Basis Entry or Exit | in a Market entity Specific
Historical cost Entry Generally Entity-specific
observable
Cost of fulfillment Exit Unobservable | Entity-specific
Market value in open, Entry and exit Observable Non-entity
active and orderly market specific
Market value in inactive Exit Dependent Dependent
market on valuation on valuation
technique technique
Cost of release Exit Observable Entity-specific
Assumption price Entry Observable Entity-specific
Entry and Exit Values
7.8 Measurement bases may provide either entry or exit values. For assets, entry

7.9

values reflect the cost of purchase. Historical cost and replacement cost are
entry values. Exit values reflect the economic benefits from sale. An exit
value also reflects the amount that will be derived from use of the asset. In a
diversified economy entry and exit prices differ as entities typically:

e  Acquire assets tailored to the entity’s particular operating requirements
for which other market participants would be unwilling to pay a similar
price; and

e Incur transaction costs on acquisition.

Measurement bases for liabilities may also be classified in terms of whether
they are entry or exit values. Entry values relate to the transaction under which
an obligation is received or the amount that an entity would accept to assume
a liability. Exit values reflect the amount required to fulfill an obligation or
the amount required to release the entity from an obligation.

Observable and Unobservable Measures

7.10

Certain measures may be classified according to whether they are observable
in an open, active and orderly market.!° Measures that are observable in a
market are likely to be more understandable and verifiable than measures that
are not observable. They may also be more faithfully representative of the
phenomena they are measuring.

The term “open, active and orderly markets” was developed by Dr. J. Alex Milburn. For example, see
Toward a Measurement Framework for Profit-oriented Entities, published by the Canadian Institute of
Chartered Accountants in 2012.
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Entity-Specific and Non-Entity Specific Measures

7.11

Measures may also be classified according to whether they are “entity-
specific” or “non-entity- specific”. Measurement bases that are entity-specific
reflect the economic and current policy constraints that affect the possible
uses of an asset and the settlement of a liability by an entity. Entity-specific
measures may reflect economic opportunities that are not available to other
entities and risks that are not experienced by other entities. Non-entity-
specific measures reflect general market opportunities and risks. The decision
on whether to use an entity-specific or non-entity- specific measure is taken
by reference to the measurement objective and the qualitative characteristics.

Level of Aggregation or Disaggregation for Measurement

7.12

In order to present assets and liabilities in the financial statements in a way
that provides information that best meets the measurement objective and
achieves the qualitative characteristics it may be necessary to aggregate or
disaggregate them for measurement purposes. In assessing whether such an
aggregation or disaggregation is appropriate the costs are compared with the
benefits.

Measurement Bases for Assets

Historical Cost

7.13

7.14

7.15

Historical cost for an asset is:

The consideration given to acquire or develop an asset, which is the cash or
cash equivalents or the value of the other consideration given, at the time of
its acquisition or development.

Historical cost is an entry, entity-specific value.!! Under the historical cost
model assets are initially reported at the cost incurred on their acquisition.
Subsequent to initial recognition, this cost may be allocated as an expense
to reporting periods in the form of depreciation or amortization for certain
assets, as the service potential or ability to generate economic benefits
provided by such assets are consumed over their useful lives. Following
initial recognition, the measurement of an asset is not changed to reflect
changes in prices or increases in the value of the asset.

Under the historical cost model the amount of an asset may be reduced by
recognizing impairments. Impairment is the extent to which the service
potential or ability to generate economic benefits provided by an asset have
diminished due to changes in economic or other conditions, as distinct to
their consumption. This involves assessments of recoverability. Conversely,
the amount of an asset may be increased to reflect the cost of additions and

11

The term “historical cost” may also be referred to as the “cost model” or generically as “cost-based
measures.”
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enhancements (excluding price increases for unimproved assets) or other
events, such as the accrual of interest on a financial asset.

Costs of Services

7.16 Where historical cost is used, the cost of services reflects the amount of the
resources expended to acquire or develop assets consumed in the provision
of services. Historical cost generally provides a direct link to the transactions
actually undertaken by the entity. Because the costs used are those carried
forward from an earlier period without adjustment for price changes, they
do not reflect the cost of assets when the assets are consumed. As the cost
of services is reported using past prices, historical cost information will not
facilitate the assessment of the future cost of providing services if cumulative
price changes since acquisition are significant. Where budgets are prepared
on the historical cost basis, historical cost information demonstrates the
extent to which the budget has been executed.

Operational Capacity

7.17 If an asset has been acquired in an exchange transaction, historical cost provides
information on the resources available to provide services in future periods, based
on their acquisition cost. At the time an asset is purchased or developed, it can be
assumed that the value to the entity of its service potential is at least as great as the
cost of purchase.' When depreciation or amortization is recognized it reflects the
extent to which the service potential of an asset has been consumed. Historical
cost information shows that the resources available for future services are at least
as great as the amount at which they are stated. Increases in the value of an asset
are not reflected under the historical cost model. If an asset has been acquired in
a non-exchange transaction the transaction price will not provide information on
operating capacity.

Financial Capacity

7.18 The amount at which assets are stated in financial statements assists in an
assessment of financial capacity. Historical cost can provide information on
the amount of assets that may be used as effective security for borrowings.
An assessment of financial capacity also requires information on the amount
that could be received on sale of an asset, and reinvested in assets to provide
different services. Historical cost does not provide this information when
significantly different from current exit values.

Application of the Qualitative Characteristics

7.19 Paragraphs 7.16—7.18 explain the areas where historical cost provides relevant
information in terms of its confirmatory or predictive value. Application of

12 Where this is not the case the initial historical cost measurement will be reduced by the amount of the

impairment.
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historical cost is often straightforward, because transaction information is
usually readily available. As a result amounts derived from the historical cost
model are generally representationally faithful in that they represent what
they purport to represent—that is, the cost to acquire or develop an asset
based on actual transactions. Estimates of depreciation and impairment used
in the historical cost model, particularly for non-cash-generating assets, can
affect representational faithfulness. Because application of historical cost
generally reflects resources consumed by reference to actual transactions,
historical cost measures are verifiable, understandable and can be prepared
on a timely basis.

Historical cost information is comparable to the extent that assets have the
same or similar acquisition dates. Because historical cost does not reflect the
impact of price changes, it is not possible to compare the amounts of assets
that were acquired at different times when prices differed in a meaningful
way.

In certain circumstances the application of historical cost necessitates the use
of allocations—for example where:

e  Several assets are acquired in a single transaction;

e  Assets are constructed by the entity itself and overheads and other costs
have to be attributed; and

e The use of a flow assumption, such as first-in-first-out, is necessary
when many similar assets are held. To the extent such allocations are
arbitrary they reduce the extent to which the resulting measurement
achieves the qualitative characteristics.

Current Value Measurements

7.22

7.23

Current value measurements reflect the economic environment prevailing at
the reporting date.

There are four current value measurement bases for assets:
e  Market value;

e  Replacement cost;

e  Net selling price; and

e  Value in use.

Market Value

7.24

Market value for assets is:

The amount for which an asset could be exchanged between knowledgeable,
willing parties in an arm's length transaction.
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At acquisition market value and historical cost will be the same, if transaction
costs are ignored and the transaction is an exchange transaction. The extent
to which market value meets the objectives of financial reporting and the
information needs of users partially depends on the quality of the market
evidence. Market evidence, in turn, depends upon the characteristics of the
market in which the asset is traded. Market value is particularly appropriate
where it is judged that the difference between entry and exit values is unlikely
to be significant or the asset is being held with a view to sale.

In principle, market values provide useful information because they fairly
reflect the value of the asset to the entity. In an open, active and orderly
market (see paragraph 7.28), the asset cannot be worth less than market value
as the entity can obtain that amount by selling the asset, and cannot be worth
more than market value, as the entity can obtain equivalent service potential
or the ability to generate economic benefits by purchasing the same asset.

The usefulness of market values is more questionable when the assumption
that markets are open, active and orderly does not hold. In such circumstances
it cannot be assumed that the asset may be sold for the same price as that at
which it can be acquired and it is necessary to determine whether an exit price
or an entry price is the more useful measure. Exit-based market values are
useful for assets that are held for trading, such as certain financial instruments,
but may not be useful for specialized operational assets. Furthermore, while
the purchase of an asset provides evidence that the value of the asset to the
entity is at least as great as its purchase price, operational factors may mean
that the value to the entity may be greater. Hence market values may not
reflect the value to the entity of the asset, represented by its operational
capacity.

Market Values in Open, Active and Orderly Markets

7.28

Open, active and orderly markets have the following characteristics:

e  There are no barriers that prevent the entity from transacting in the
market;

e They are active so there is sufficient frequency and volume of
transactions to provide price information; and

e  They are orderly, with many well-informed buyers and sellers acting
without compulsion, so there is assurance of “fairness” in determining
current prices—including that prices do not represent distress sales.

An orderly market is one that is run in a reliable, secure, accurate and efficient
manner. Such markets deal in assets that are identical and therefore mutually
interchangeable, such as commodities, currencies and securities where prices
are publicly available. In practice few, if any, markets fully exhibit all of these
characteristics, but some may approach an orderly market as described.
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Market Values where it cannot be assumed that Markets are Open, Active and
Orderly

7.29 Markets for assets that are unique and rarely traded are not open, active and
orderly: any purchases and sales are individually negotiated, and there may
be a large range of prices at which a transaction might be agreed. Therefore,
participants will incur significant costs to purchase or to sell an asset. In
such circumstances it is necessary to use an estimation technique to estimate
the price at which an orderly transaction to sell the asset would take place
between market participants at the measurement date under current market

conditions.

Costs of Services

7.30 Revenue from services reported in financial statements is measured on the
basis of prices current in the reporting period. If assets used to provide
services are measured at market value, the allocation of the cost of assets
to reflect their consumption in the current reporting period is based on the

current market value of the asset.

7.31 The use of market values permits a return on assets to be determined. However,
public sector entities do not generally carry out activities with the primary
objective of generating profits, and services are often provided in non-exchange
transactions or on subsidized terms. Consequently there may be limited relevance

in a reported return derived from exit-based market prices.

7.32 As noted above, revenue from providing services reported in financial
statements is measured on the basis of prices current in the reporting period.
Thus the surplus or deficit for a period includes price movements that take
place over the period during which assets and liabilities are held, and no profit
or loss is reported on the sale of an asset. Where the asset is traded on an open,
active and orderly market, the existence of the market provides assurance that
the entity would be able to realize the market value (and no more) at the
reporting date: it is therefore unnecessary to postpone recognition of changes
in value until a surplus is realized on sale. However, where assets used to
provide services are not traded on open, active and orderly markets, or a close
approximation to such markets, the relevance of revenue and expense related

to changes in market value is more questionable.

Operational Capacity

7.33 Information on the market value of assets held to provide services in future
periods is useful if it reflects the value that the entity is capable of deriving
from assets by using them in providing or delivering services. However, if
an exit-based market value is significantly lower than historical cost, market
value is likely to be less relevant than the historical cost of such assets in
providing information on operational capacity—such a market value is also

likely to be less relevant than entry value-based current measures.
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Financial Capacity

7.34

An assessment of financial capacity requires information on the amount that
would be received on sale of an asset. This information is provided by market
value.

Application of the Qualitative Characteristics

7.35

7.36

Values determined in open, active and orderly markets can be readily used
for financial reporting purposes. The information will meet the qualitative
characteristics—that is it will be relevant, representationally faithful,
understandable, comparable, and verifiable. Under such market conditions
entry and exit values can be assumed to be the same or very similar. Because
it can be prepared quickly, such information is also likely to be timely.

The extent to which market values meet the qualitative characteristics will
decrease as the quality of market evidence diminishes and the determination
of such values relies on estimation techniques. As indicated above, exit-
based market values are only likely to be relevant to assessments of financial
capacity and not to assessments of the cost of services and operational

capacity.

Replacement Cost

7.37

7.38

7.39

Replacement cost® is:

The most economic cost required for the entity to replace the service potential
of an asset (including the amount that the entity will receive from its disposal
at the end of its useful life) at the reporting date.

Replacement cost differs from market value because:

e In a public sector context it is explicitly an entry value that reflects the
cost of replacing the service potential of an asset;

e It includes all the costs that would necessarily be incurred in the
replacement of the service potential of an asset; and

e [t is entity specific and therefore reflects the economic position of the
entity, rather than the position prevailing in a hypothetical market. For
example, the replacement cost of a vehicle is less for an entity that
usually acquires a large number of vehicles in a single transaction and
is regularly able to negotiate discounts than for an entity that purchases
vehicles individually.

Because entities usually acquire their assets by the most economic means
available, replacement cost reflects the procurement or construction process

13

The full term is “optimized depreciated replacement cost” to denote that it refers to the replacement
of the service potential embodied in an asset and not the asset itself. (see paragraph 7.41) The term
“replacement cost” is used for economy of expression in the Framework.
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that an entity generally follows. Replacement cost reflects the replacement
of service potential in the normal course of operations, and not the costs that
mightbe incurred if an urgent necessity arose as a result of some unforeseeable
event, such as a fire.

7.40 Replacement cost is the cost of replacing an asset’s service potential.
Replacement cost adopts an optimized approach and differs from reproduction
cost, which is the cost of acquiring an identical asset." Although in many
cases the most economic replacement of the service potential will be by
purchasing an asset that is similar to that which is controlled, replacement
cost is based on an alternative asset if that alternative would provide the
same service potential more cheaply. For financial reporting purposes, it is
therefore necessary to reflect the difference in service potential between the
existing and replacement asset.

7.41 The appropriate service potential is that which the entity is capable of
using or expects to use, having regard to the need to hold sufficient service
capacity to deal with contingencies. Therefore, the replacement cost of an
asset reflects reductions in required service capacity. For example, if an entity
owns a school that accommodates 500 pupils but, because of demographic
changes since its construction, a school for 100 pupils would be adequate for
current and reasonably foreseeable requirements, the replacement cost of the
asset is that of a school for 100 pupils.

7.42 In some cases the value that will be derived from an asset will be greater
than its replacement cost. However, it would not be appropriate to measure
the asset at that value, as it includes benefits from future activities, rather
than service potential at the reporting date. Replacement cost represents the
highest potential value of an asset, as, by definition, the entity is able to secure
equivalent service potential by incurring replacement cost.

Costs of Services

7.43 Replacement cost provides a relevant measure of the cost of the provision
of services. The cost of consuming an asset is equivalent to the amount of
the sacrifice of service potential incurred by that use. That amount is its
replacement cost—the entity is able to restore its position to that prevailing
immediately before the consumption of the asset by an outlay equal to
replacement cost.

7.44 The costs of services are reported in current terms when based on replacement
cost. Thus the amount of assets consumed is stated at the value of the assets
at the time they are consumed—and not, as with historical cost, at the time
they were acquired. This provides a valid basis for a comparison between the

4 There may be cases where replacement cost equates to reproduction cost. This is where the most

economic way of replacing service potential is to reproduce the asset.
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cost of services and the amount of taxes and other revenue received in the
period—which are generally transactions of the current period and measured
in current prices—and for assessing whether resources have been used
economically and efficiently. It also provides a useful basis for comparison
with other entities that report on the same basis, as asset values will not be
affected by different acquisition dates, and for assessing the cost of providing
services in the future and future resource needs, as future costs are more
likely to resemble current costs than those incurred in the past, when prices
were different (see also paragraph 7.48).

Operational Capacity

7.45 In principle, replacement cost provides a useful measure of the resources
available to provide services in future periods, as it is focused on the current
value of assets and their service potential to the entity.

Financial Capacity

7.46 Replacement cost does not provide information on the amounts that would
be received on the sale of assets. It therefore does not facilitate an assessment
of financial capacity.

Application of the Qualitative Characteristics

7.47 As noted above, replacement cost is relevant to assessments of the cost
of services and operational capacity. It is not relevant to assessments of
financial capacity. In some circumstances calculation of replacement cost is
complex, and subjective judgments are required. These factors may reduce
the representational faithfulness of replacement cost. In these circumstances
the timeliness, comparability and verifiability of information prepared on a
replacement cost basis may be affected, and replacement cost may be more
costly than some alternatives. Replacement cost information may also not be
straightforward to understand, particularly when that information reflects a
reduction in required service capacity (see paragraph 7.41).

7.48 Replacement cost information is comparable within an entity as assets that
provide equivalent service potential are stated at similar amounts, regardless
of when those assets were acquired. In principle different entities may report
similar assets at different amounts, because replacement cost is an entity-
specific measure that reflects the opportunities for replacement that are
available to the entity. The opportunities for replacement may be the same
or similar for different public sector entities. Where they are different, the
economic advantage of an entity that is able to acquire assets more cheaply is
reported in financial statements through lower asset values and a lower cost
of services in order to be representationally faithful.
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Net Selling Price

7.49

7.50

7.51

7.52

Net selling price is:

The amount that the entity can obtain from sale of the asset, after deducting
the costs of sale.

Net selling price differs from market value in that it does not require an open,
active and orderly market or the estimation of a price in such a market and
that it includes the entity’s costs of sale. Net selling price therefore reflects
constraints on sale. It is entity-specific.

The potential usefulness of measuring assets at net selling price is that an
asset cannot be worth less to the entity than the amount it could obtain on
sale of the asset. However, it is not appropriate as a measurement basis if the
entity is able to use its resources more efficiently by employing the asset in
another way, for example by using it in the delivery of services.

Net selling price is therefore useful where the most resource-efficient course
available to the entity is to sell the asset. This is the case where the asset
cannot provide service potential or the ability to generate economic benefits
at least as valuable as net selling price. Net selling price may provide useful
information where an entity is contractually obligated to sell an asset at
below market value. There may be cases where net selling price can indicate
a development opportunity.

Costs of Services

7.53 It is not appropriate to quantify the cost of the provision of services at net
selling prices. Such an approach would involve the use of an exit value as the
basis of the expense reported.

Operational Capacity

7.54 Stating assets held for use in the provision of services at net selling price

does not provide information useful to an assessment of operating capacity.
Net selling price shows the amount that could be derived from an asset’s sale,
rather than the value of the service potential that could be derived from that
asset.

Financial Capacity

7.55

As noted above, an assessment of financial capacity requires information
on the amount that would be received on sale of an asset. Such information
is provided by the use of net selling price. However, such a measure is
not relevant for assets that may yield more valuable service potential by
continuing to use them to deliver services.
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Application of the Qualitative Characteristics

7.56

7.57

As indicated in paragraph 7.52 net selling price provides relevant information
only where the most resource-efficient course available to the entity is to
sell the asset. Assessments of net selling price may be made by reference to
active markets where they exist. For major assets it may be possible and cost-
effective to obtain professional appraisals. Net selling price will generally
provide understandable information.

In most cases where net selling price is relevant, it will achieve the qualitative
characteristics of faithful representation, verifiability, and timeliness.

Value in Use

7.58

Value in use is:

The present value to the entity of the asset’s remaining service potential or
ability to generate economic benefits if it continues to be used, and of the net
amount that the entity will receive from its disposal at the end of its useful life.

Suitability of Value in Use

7.59

7.60

7.61

7.62

Value in use is an entity-specific value that reflects the amount that can be
derived from an asset through its operation and its disposal at the end of its
useful life. As noted in paragraph 7.42 above, the value that will be derived
from an asset is often greater than its replacement cost—it is also usually
greater than its historical cost. Where this is the case, reporting an asset at
its value in use is of limited usefulness, as by definition, the entity is able to
secure equivalent service potential at replacement cost.

Value in use is also not an appropriate measurement basis when net selling
price is greater than value in use, as in this case the most resource-efficient
use of the asset is to sell it, rather than continue to use it.

Therefore, value in use is appropriate where it is less than replacement cost
and greater than net selling price. This occurs where an asset is not worth
replacing, but the value of its service potential or ability to generate economic
benefits is greater than its net selling price. In such circumstances value in use
represents the value of the asset to the entity.

Value in use is an appropriate measurement basis for the assessment of
certain impairments, because it is used in the determination of the recoverable
amount for an asset or group of assets.

Costs of Services, Operational Capacity, Financial Capacity

7.63 Because of its potential complexity's, its limited applicability and the fact
that its operationalization in a public sector context for non-cash-generating
15 See below paragraph 7.66.
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assets involves the use of replacement cost as a surrogate, value in use is
generally inappropriate for determining the cost of services. Its usefulness
to assessments of operational capacity is limited, and is only likely to be
significant in the atypical circumstances where entities have a large number
of assets that are not worth replacing, but their value in use is greater than
their net selling price. This may be the case if, for example, an entity will
discontinue provision of a service in the future, but the proceeds of immediate
sale are less than the service potential embodied in the assets. Value in use
does involve an estimate of the net amount that an entity will receive from
disposal of the asset. However, its limited applicability reduces its relevance
for assessments of financial capacity.

Application of the Qualitative Characteristics

7.64

7.65

7.66

7.67

7.68

While value in use may be used in assessments of certain impairments its
relevance for financial reporting purposes is limited to the circumstances
outlined in paragraph 7.61.

The extent to which value in use meets the other qualitative characteristics
depends on how it is determined. In some cases, an asset’s value in use can
be quantified by calculating the value that the entity will derive from the asset
assuming its continued use. This may be based on the future cash inflows
related to the asset, or on cost savings that will accrue to the entity through
its control of the asset. The calculation of value in use takes into account the
time value of money and, in principle, the risk of variations in the amount and
timing of cash flows.

The calculation of value in use can be complex. Assets that are employed in
cash-generating activities often provide cash flows jointly with other assets.
In such cases value in use can be estimated only by calculating the present
value of the cash flows of a group of assets and then making an allocation to
individual assets.

In the public sector, most assets are held with the primary objective of
contributing to the provision of services, rather than to the generation of
a commercial return: such assets are referred to as “non-cash-generating
assets.” Because value in use is usually derived from expected cash flows, its
operationalization in such a context can be difficult. It may be inappropriate
to calculate value in use on the basis of expected cash flows, because such a
measure would not be faithfully representative of the value in use of such an
asset to the entity. Therefore, it would be necessary to use replacement cost
as a surrogate for financial reporting purposes.

The method of determining value in use reduces its representational
faithfulness in many cases. It also affects the timeliness, comparability,
understandability and verifiability of information prepared on a value in use
basis.
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Measurement Bases for Liabilities

7.69

This section discusses the measurement bases for liabilities. This section
does not repeat all the discussion in the section on assets. It considers the
following measurement bases:

e  Historical Cost;

e  Cost of Fulfillment;
e  Market Value;

e  Cost of Release; and

e  Assumption Price.

Historical Cost

7.70

7.71

7.72

7.73

Historical cost for a liability is:

The consideration received to assume an obligation, which is the cash or
cash equivalents, or the value of the other consideration received at the time
the liability is incurred.

Under the historical cost model initial measures may be adjusted to reflect
factors such as the accrual of interest, the accretion of discount or amortization
of a premium.

Where the time value of a liability is material—for example, where the
length of time before settlement falls due is significant—the amount of the
future payment is discounted so that, at the time a liability is first recognized,
it represents the value of the amount received. The difference between
the amount of the future payment and the present value of the liability is
amortized over the life of the liability, so that the liability is stated at the
amount of the required payment when it falls due.

The advantages and drawbacks of using the historical cost basis for liabilities are
similar to those that apply in relation to assets. Historical cost is appropriate where
liabilities are likely to be settled at stated terms. However, historical cost cannot
be applied for liabilities that do not arise from a transaction, such as a liability
to pay damages for a tort or civil damages. It is also unlikely to provide relevant
information where the liability has been incurred in a non-exchange transaction,
because it does not provide a faithful representation of the claims against the
resources of the entity. It is also difficult to apply historical cost to liabilities that
may vary in amount, such as those related to defined benefit pension liabilities.

Cost of Fulfillment

7.74

Cost of fulfillment is:

The costs that the entity will incur in fulfilling the obligations represented by
the liability, assuming that it does so in the least costly manner.
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Where the cost of fulfillment depends on uncertain future events, all possible
outcomes are taken into account in the estimated cost of fulfillment, which
aims to reflect all those possible outcomes in an unbiased manner.

Where fulfillment requires work to be done—for example, where the liability
is to rectify environmental damage—the relevant costs are those that the entity
will incur. This may be the cost to the entity of doing the remedial work itself,
or of contracting with an external party to carry out the work. However, the
costs of contracting with an external party are only relevant where employing
a contractor is the least costly means of fulfilling the obligation.

Where fulfillment will be made by the entity itself, the fulfillment cost does
not include any surplus, because any such surplus does not represent a use
of the entity’s resources. Where fulfillment amount is based on the cost of
employing a contractor, the amount will implicitly include the profit required
by the contractor, as the total amount charged by the contractor will be a claim
on the entity’s resources—this is consistent with the approach for assets,
where replacement cost would include the profit required by a supplier, but
no profit would be included in the replacement cost for assets that the entity
would replace through self-construction.

Where fulfillment will not take place for an extended period, the cash flows
need to be discounted to reflect the value of the liability at the reporting date.

Cost of fulfillment is generally relevant for measuring liabilities except in the
following circumstances:

e  Where the entity can obtain release from an obligation at a lower amount
than cost of fulfillment, then cost of release is a more relevant measure
of the current burden of a liability, just as, for an asset, net selling price
is more relevant when it is higher than value in use; and

e In the case of liabilities assumed for a consideration, assumption price
(see paragraphs 7.87-7.91) is more relevant when assumption price is
higher than both cost of fulfillment and cost of release.

Market Value

7.80

7.81

Market value for liabilities is:

The amount for which a liability could be settled between knowledgeable,
willing parties in an arm's length transaction.

The advantages and disadvantages of market value for liabilities are the
same as those for assets. Such a measurement basis may be appropriate, for
example, where the liability is attributable to changes in a specified rate,
price or index quoted in an open, active and orderly market. However,
in cases where the ability to transfer a liability is restricted and the terms
on which such a transfer might be made are unclear the case for market
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values, even if they exist, is significantly weaker. This is particularly the
case for liabilities arising from obligations in non-exchange transactions,
because it is unlikely that there will be an open, active and orderly market
for such liabilities.

Cost of Release

7.82

7.83

7.84

7.85

7.86

“Cost of release” is the term used in the context of liabilities to refer to the
same concept as “net selling price” in the context of assets. Cost of release
refers to the amount of an immediate exit from the obligation. Cost of release
is the amount that either the creditor will accept in settlement of its claim,
or a third party would charge to accept the transfer of the liability from the
obligor. Where there is more than one way of securing release from the
liability, the cost of release is that of the lowest amount—this is consistent
with the approach for assets, where net selling price would not reflect the
amount that would be received on sale to a scrap dealer, if a higher price
could be obtained from sale to a purchaser who would use the asset.

For some liabilities, particularly in the public sector, transfer of a liability is
not practically possible and cost of release will therefore be the amount that
the creditor will accept in settlement of its claim. This amount will be known
if it is specified in the agreement with the creditor—for example, where a
contract includes a specific cancellation clause.

In some cases there may be evidence of the price at which a liability may be
transferred—for example, in the case of some pension liabilities. Transferring
a liability may be distinguished from entering into an agreement with another
party that will fulfill the entity’s obligation or bear all the costs stemming
from a liability. For a liability to be transferred it is necessary that all of the
creditor’s rights against the entity are extinguished. If this is not the effect of
an arrangement, the liability remains a liability of the entity.

In assessing whether cost of release is appropriate for measuring liabilities it
is necessary to consider whether release in the envisaged manner is an option
that is open to the entity in practice, having regard to any consequences of
obtaining release, such as damage to the entity’s reputation.

Just as net selling price is relevant only when the most resource-efficient
course available to the entity is to sell the asset, so cost of release is relevant
only when the most resource-efficient course is to seek immediate release
from an obligation. In particular, where cost of fulfillment is lower than
cost of release, cost of fulfillment provides more relevant information
than cost of release, even if it is feasible to negotiate a release from the
obligation in accordance with the methods for transferring a liability in
paragraph 7.84.
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Assumption Price

7.87

7.88

7.89

7.90

7.91

“Assumption price” is the term used in the context of liabilities to refer to
the same concept as replacement cost for assets. Just as replacement cost
represents the amount that an entity would rationally pay to acquire an asset,
so assumption price is the amount which the entity would rationally be
willing to accept in exchange for assuming an existing liability. Exchange
transactions carried out on arms-length terms will provide evidence of
assumption price—this is not the case for non-exchange transactions.

In the context of an activity that is carried out with a view to profit, an entity
will assume a liability only if the amount it is paid to assume the liability is
greater than the cost of fulfillment or release—i.e., the settlement amount.
Once that assumption price has been received by the entity, the entity has an
obligation to its creditor.

At the time a liability is first incurred in an exchange transaction, assumption
price represents the amount that was accepted by the entity for assuming the
liability—it is therefore usually reasonable to assume that assumption price
is the price that the entity would rationally accept for assuming a similar
liability. It would charge a higher amount, if competitive pressures allowed it
to do so, but it might be unwilling to accept a lower price. Just as replacement
cost is a current value so, conceptually, is assumption price. There are,
however, practical problems in reflecting changes in prices in obligations that
are stated at assumption price.

A consequence of stating performance obligations at the assumption price is
that no surplus is reported at the time the obligation is taken on. A surplus or
deficit is reported in the financial statements in the period when fulfillment
(or release) takes place, as it is the difference between the revenue arising
from satisfaction of the liability and the cost of settlement.

An entity may have a potential obligation that is larger than assumption price.
If the entity has to seek release from a contract, the other party to the contract
may be able to claim recompense for losses that it will sustain, as well as the
return of any amounts paid. However, provided that the entity can settle the
obligation by fulfillment, it can avoid such additional obligations and it is
representationally faithful to report the obligation at no more than assumption
price—this is analogous to the position where an asset will yield greater
benefits than replacement cost. Under such circumstances, as explained in
paragraph 7.42, replacement cost rather than value in use is the most relevant
measurement basis.
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Basis for Conclusions

This Basis for Conclusions accompanies, but is not part of, the Conceptual
Framework.

The Role of Measurement in the Conceptual Framework

BC7.1

The IPSASB decided that the initial focus of the Conceptual Framework
should be on measurement of the elements for the financial statements in
order to put future standard setting activities for the financial statements on a
sound and transparent footing. While a few respondents to the Consultation
Paper, Measurement of Assets and Liabilities in Financial Statements (the
Consultation Paper), questioned this approach, the IPSASB considered that
the original rationale for restricting the scope of this phase was sound and
reaffirmed it.

The Objective of Measurement

BC7.2

BC7.3

BC7.4

The IPSASB considered whether a specific measurement objective should be
developed. The IPSASB initially took the view that a separate measurement
objective was unnecessary, because a measurement objective might compete
with, rather than complement, the objectives of financial reporting and the
qualitative characteristics. Accordingly, Exposure Draft, Measurement of
Assets and Liabilities in Financial Statements (the Exposure Draft), proposed
factors relevant to the selection of a measurement basis consistent with the
objectives of financial reporting and the qualitative characteristics, but did
not include a measurement objective.

Consistent with this approach the Exposure Draft proposed that the
Conceptual Framework would not seek to identify a single measurement basis
(or combination of bases) for all circumstances. The IPSASB acknowledged
that proposing a single measurement basis to be used in all circumstances
would clarify the relationship between different amounts reported in the
financial statements—in particular, it would allow the amounts of different
assets and liabilities to be aggregated to provide meaningful totals. However,
the IPSASB is of the view that there is no single measurement basis that
will maximize the extent to which financial statements meet the objectives of
financial reporting and achieve the qualitative characteristics.

The Exposure Draft included an Alternative View which proposed a
measurement objective on the grounds that a Conceptual Framework that
does not connect the objective of measurement with the objectives of
financial reporting is incomplete and would limit the ability of the IPSASB
to make consistent decisions about measurement across financial reporting
standards and over time. Further, in the absence of a measurement objective,
the Alternative View considered that there is a risk that different and/or
inappropriate measurement bases could be used to measure similar classes
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of assets and liabilities. The Alternative View proposed the following
measurement objective:

To select those measurement attributes that most fairly reflect the financial
capacity, operational capacity and cost of services of the entity in a manner
that is useful in holding the entity to account, and for decision-making
purposes.

Many respondents, while generally in favor of the approach in the Exposure
Draft, supported the Alternative View. The IPSASB also acknowledges the
view that the Conceptual Framework’s approach to measurement should be
aspirational and that the Conceptual Framework should identify a single
measurement basis underpinned by an ideal concept of capital'®. The
IPSASB accepts that the operating capability concept is relevant and could
be developed for public sector entities with a primary objective of delivering
services. However, adoption of such a measurement objective involves a
virtually explicit acknowledgement that current cost measures are superior to
historical cost measures in representing operational capacity when financial
position is reported. For the reasons discussed in paragraphs BC7.15-
BC7.19, the IPSASB considers that historical cost measures often meet the
measurement objective and therefore should be given appropriate emphasis
in the Conceptual Framework.

Subsequently the IPSASB was persuaded by the views of those who argue
that a measurement objective is necessary in order to guide standard-level
decisions on the selection of measurement bases. However, the IPSASB
notes that assets and liabilities contribute to the financial performance and
financial position of entities in different ways and that such an assessment
should be based on the extent to which they contribute to financial capacity
and operational capacity. The IPSASB concluded that linking a measurement
basis to an ideal concept of capital might unduly restrict the choice of
measurement bases. The IPSASB therefore rejected the view that adoption
of measurement objective should be based on an ideal concept of capital and
reaffirmed its view that a mixed measurement approach is appropriate for
standard-setting in the public sector.

The IPSASB considered whether the measurement objective proposed
in the Alternative View was appropriate. Some argued that the proposed
measurement objective was too aligned to current value measures. However
the IPSASB formed a view that the reference to “cost of services” provides a
sufficient link to historical cost, because the cost of services can be determined
using both historical cost and current value measures. The IPSASB therefore
adopted the following measurement objective with only a minor modification
from that proposed in the Alternative View:

16

Such concepts of capital include invested money capital, current cash equivalents and operating

capability.
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To select those measurement bases that most fairly reflect the cost of services,
operational capacity and financial capacity of the entity in a manner that is
useful in holding the entity to account, and for decision-making purposes.

The IPSASB also notes that the disadvantages of using different measurement
bases may be minimized by:

e  Selecting different measurement bases only where this is justified by
economic circumstances, thereby ensuring that assets and liabilities are
reported on the same basis where circumstances are similar; and

e  Requiring transparent presentation and disclosure to ensure that the
measurement bases used and the amounts reported on each basis are clear.

Initial and Subsequent Measurement

BC7.9

BC7.10

BC7.11

A measurement basis needs to be selected both when an asset or liability is
recognized for the first time—initial measurement—and when it is reported
in the financial statements of a later period—subsequent measurement. Some
accounting policies are expressed in a way that may suggest that different
principles apply to initial and subsequent measurement. For example, an
asset may initially be recognized at transaction price and subsequently at
a current value. The IPSASB therefore considered whether the Conceptual
Framework should discuss initial and subsequent measurement separately.

One reason why different measurement bases may be specified for initial
and subsequent measurement is that the basis to be used for subsequent
measurement is not available at the time of initial measurement. This
is particularly common in the public sector where assets are sometimes
contributed, or provided on subsidized terms, or in exchange for other non-
cash assets. In such a case the value of the transaction may be unknown,
and if the asset is to be subsequently accounted for at an entry value such as
historical cost or replacement cost, another basis has to be specified for initial
measurement as a surrogate for the amount at which the asset would be stated
if purchased on arm’s-length terms. Surrogates may also be required for the
initial measurement of assets acquired before the introduction of accrual
accounting where the transaction price is not known. The use of surrogates
that meet the measurement objective and the qualitative characteristics is an
application of a measurement basis rather than a departure from it.

Another reason for an apparent difference in initial and subsequent
measurement arises where an asset is to be accounted for at a current value, and
the transaction price is deemed to reflect the particular current measurement
basis that will be used. In such a case, specifying that the asset is to be
initially recognised at transaction price makes it clear that that application of
the policy will not result in the recognition of revenue and expense on initial
recognition—"day one” gains or losses. In principle, the same measurement
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basis is used for both initial and subsequent recognition—the requirements
for each are specified differently in order to assist understanding.

The IPSASB concluded that, in principle, the same considerations apply
to initial and subsequent measurement. Accordingly the discussion in this
Chapter is applicable to both situations.

Entry and Exit Values: Value in Use

BC7.13

BC7.14

Measurement bases can be classified according to whether they provide an
entry or exit perspective. As discussed in paragraph 7.8 entry values reflect
the cost of purchase and exit values reflect either:

e  The economic benefits from immediate sale; or

e The amount that will be derived from the asset from its use and
subsequent sale.

The IPSASB is of the view that awareness of whether a measurement basis is
an entry or exit value is useful in determining which measurement basis best
meets the measurement objective.

The IPSASB considered whether value in use should be classified as an entry
value or an exit value. For a cash-generating asset value in use involves a
discounted cash flow model using expected cash flows from the sale of good
and services. For non-cash-generating assets value in use uses replacement
cost as a surrogate—replacement cost is an entry value. This led some to
express a view that for a non-cash-generating asset value in use has an entry
perspective while an asset is being used and an exit perspective when sold—
in this view a failure to indicate that value in use contains both entry and
exit perspectives does not reflect public sector circumstances. The IPSASB
acknowledges this view, but does not think that the use of replacement cost as
a surrogate to calculate value in use means that value in use becomes an entry
value. The IPSASB therefore concluded that value in use is an exit value for
both cash-generating and non-cash-generating assets.

Measurement Bases for Assets

Historical Cost

BC7.15

Historical cost is a widely applied measurement basis in many jurisdictions.
Many respondents to the Consultation Paper and the Exposure Draft advocated
the continued widespread use of historical cost as a measurement basis,
mostly in combination with other measurement bases. They supported this
view by reference to the accountability objective and the understandability
and verifiability of historical cost. They also noted that, because historical
cost is widely adopted in combination with other measurement bases, its
continued use avoids the costs that would arise if a future revision of a current
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standard that requires or permits historical cost were to require the use of a
different measurement basis.

Some respondents considered that historical cost information provides a
highly relevant basis for the reporting of the cost of services because the link
between historical cost and the transactions actually undertaken by the entity
is particularly important for an assessment of accountability. In particular,
historical cost provides information that resource providers can use to assess
the fairness of the taxes they have been assessed, or how the resources that
they have otherwise contributed in a reporting period have been used.

The IPSASB agrees that, in many contexts, it is relevant to provide information
on the transactions actually carried out by the entity, and accepts that users
are interested in the cost of services based on actual transactions. Historical
cost provides information on what services actually cost in the reporting
period, rather than what they will cost in the future; pricing decisions based
on historical cost information may promote fairness to consumers of services.

The IPSASB also acknowledged the views of those who consider that the use
of historical cost facilitates a comparison of actual financial results and the
approved budget. The IPSASB accepts that budgets may often be prepared on
a historical cost basis and that where this is the case historical cost enhances
comparison against budget.

The IPSASB also acknowledged a contrary view: that assessing and reporting
the cost of providing services in terms of the value that has been sacrificed in
order to provide those services provides useful information for both decision
making and accountability purposes. Because historical cost does not
reflect the value of assets at the time they are consumed, it does not provide
information on that value in circumstances where the effect of price changes
is significant. The IPSASB concluded that it is important that the Conceptual
Framework responds to both these contrasting perspectives.

Market Value and Fair Value

BC7.20

The Exposure Draft did not propose fair value as a measurement basis.
Rather it proposed market value, which was defined in the same way as fair
value in the IPSASB’s literature at the time the Conceptual Framework was
developed. A number of respondents challenged the omission of fair value
as a measurement basis. They pointed out that fair value is a measurement
basis that is defined and used in specifying measurement requirements by
many global and national standard setters and that a, definition of fair value
had been used extensively in IPSASB’s literature. Many supporters of fair
value considered that the definition should be an exit value as defined in
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS).!”

17 1FRS 13, Fair Value Measurement, provides the definition of fair value.

127 CONCEPTUAL FRAMEWORK



BC7.21

BC7.22

BC7.23

BC7.24

BC7.25

THE CONCEPTUAL FRAMEWORK FOR GENERAL PURPOSE
FINANCIAL REPORTING BY PUBLIC SECTOR ENTITIES

The IPSASB’s rationale for the approach proposed in the Exposure Draft was
that fair value is similar to market value and the inclusion of both measurement
bases could be confusing to users of financial statements. The IPSASB also
noted that fair value in IFRS is explicitly an exit value—unlike the definition
of fair value in the IPSASB’s literature at the time the Conceptual Framework
was developed. Therefore, the relevance of fair value in the public sector is
likely to be primarily limited to providing information on financial capacity,
rather than on providing information on operating capacity and the cost of
services. In addition, in this chapter replacement cost is a measurement basis
in its own right, rather than a valuation technique to determine fair value.

In the public sector many assets are specialized and differences in entry
and exit prices are therefore significant. Where an asset will provide future
services or economic benefits with a greater value than the asset’s exit price, a
measure reflecting exit values is not the most relevant basis. Where the most
resource efficient course is to sell the asset—because the value of the services
that it will provide or the expected cash flows from use is not as great as the
value receivable from sale, the most relevant measurement basis is likely to
be net selling price, which reflects the costs of sale and, although likely to be
based on market evidence, does not assume the existence of an open, active
and orderly market.

In considering the merits of fair value as a measurement basis, the IPSASB
accepted that fair value provides a relevant basis for assessing a financial
return. Where assets are stated at fair value, financial performance can be
assessed in the context of the return implicit in market values. However,
public sector activities are not generally carried out with a view to obtaining
a financial return, so the relevance of assessing any such return is limited.

In finalizing the measurement chapter the IPSASB considered three main
options in dealing with this issue:

e  Adopt an exit value-based definition of fair value;

e  Retain the definition of fair value in IPSAS prior to the development of
the Conceptual Framework; or

e Include market value, rather than fair value, as a measurement basis as
proposed in the Exposure Draft.

Adopting an exit value-based definition of fair value would have meant
using a definition that is not well aligned with the objectives of most public
sector entities—the delivery of services rather than the generation of cash
flows. It is questionable whether exit value-based measures would provide
relevant information for many assets held for their operational capacity and
for liabilities where it is not feasible to transfer the liability.
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Including the IPSASB’s current definition of fair value or a slightly modified
version of that definition in the Conceptual Framework would have meant
that two global standard setters would have different conceptual definitions
of the same term.

The IPSASB acknowledged that not including fair value as a measurement
basis would have implications for the IPSASB’s extant literature at the time
the Conceptual Framework was finalized, because a number of IPSAS’s
contained fair value in measurement requirements or options.

On balance, the IPSASB concluded that, rather than include an exit value-
based definition of fair value, or a public sector specific definition of
fair value, the Conceptual Framework should include market value as a
measurement basis rather than fair value. The IPSASB sees fair value as a
model to represent a specific measurement outcome. The IPSASB may carry
out further work at standards level to explain how the measurement bases in
this chapter align with fair value, as implemented in IFRS.

Replacement Cost, Net Selling Price and Value in Use

BC7.29

BC7.30

BC7.31

Because, the objective of public sector entities is to deliver services, often
in-non-exchange transactions, rather than to make profits many non-financial
assets are held for operational purposes. Furthermore, many of these assets
are specialized and unlikely to be purchased or sold in open, active and
orderly markets. Market value facilitates an assessment of financial capacity
and operational capacity where operational assets are not specialized and are
traded in open, active and orderly markets. However, current measurement
bases other than market value are necessary in order to provide useful
information on the cost of services and operational capacity where assets are
specialized and where market-based information is limited.

In evaluating measurement bases that provide the most useful information
for specialized operational assets the IPSASB sought a basis that reflects
the continuing provision of goods and services by public sector entities. The
most appropriate basis for such assets is one that provides information on the
cost of service potential that is attributable to an asset.

The IPSASB considered reproduction cost as a potential measurement basis.
Reproduction cost is easily understandable. However, it reflects the cost
of obtaining an identical asset, rather than the cost of replacing the service
potential provided by an asset. Therefore, reproduction cost may reflect
features of assets that no longer serve any economic purpose and its use may
exaggerate the value of an asset. Replacement cost avoids this risk because it is
based on the most economic cost required for the entity to replace the service
potential of an asset. While accepting that the calculation of replacement cost
may in some cases be complex and involve subjective judgments, the IPSASB
concluded that replacement cost is the current value measurement basis that
often best meets the measurement objective and achieves the qualitative
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characteristics. The IPSASB acknowledged that guidance will be necessary
at standards level on the approach to implementation of replacement cost.

The IPSASB acknowledged that replacement cost will not always be an
appropriate measurement basis for specialized operational assets. There may
be circumstances where an entity no longer intends to continue to operate an
asset. Insuch circumstancesreplacement costis notauseful measurementbasis,
because it would not be rational for the entity to replace the service potential
provided by an asset. The IPSASB therefore considered the appropriate
measurement basis for such circumstances. Under these circumstances an
entity-specific measurement basis that reflects the constraints on sale for an
entity and provides an exit value is more appropriate. The IPSASB concluded
that net selling price best meets the measurement objective. Net selling price
is therefore included as a measurement basis in this chapter. Net selling price
also provides information that meets the measurement objective, where an
entity is contractually required, or in a binding arrangement, to sell an asset
at below market value, perhaps in order to meet a social or political objective.

In order to provide a complete analysis of the circumstances under which
public sector entities operate, the IPSASB also considered the situation where
it would not be rational for an entity to seek to replace the service potential
embodied in an asset, but it is still more rational for the entity to continue
to operate the asset than to sell it immediately. Value in use includes the
cash flows or service potential from continued operation of the asset and the
proceeds of sale. The IPSASB therefore concluded that value in use should be
included as a potential measurement basis. The IPSASB acknowledged that
this measurement basis is not straightforward to operationalize in a non-cash-
generating context, and that, in determining value in use, it might therefore be
necessary to use replacement cost as a surrogate.

Fair Value Model

BC7.34 As indicated in paragraph BC7.20 the Exposure Draft did not propose fair

BC7.35

value as a measurement basis in its own right. However, it proposed the fair
value measurement model as a method of estimating a measurement where it
had been determined that market value is the appropriate measurement basis,
but the market is inactive or otherwise not open or orderly.

A minority of respondents to the Exposure Draft supported the fair value
measurement model. Some of these respondents thought that the IPSASB
should provide further details of its application. Others were supportive
of the model, but suggested that a detailed measurement model would be
inappropriate for the Conceptual Framework—some of these respondents
considered that it should be addressed as a standards-level estimation
technique. Many respondents put forward a view that fair value should be
proposed as a measurement basis in its own right using the IFRS definition,
while others wanted more detail on approaches to estimating fair value
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to complement its adoption as a measurement basis. Conversely, other
respondents expressed a view that fair value is inappropriate for the public
sector

The IPSASB found the views of those who considered the fair value model
too low level for the Conceptual Framework persuasive. The IPSASB also
accepted the view of those respondents who felt that not defining fair value
as a measurement basis, but reintroducing fair value through the model was
confusing. The IPSASB therefore decided not to include the fair value model
in the final chapter.

Deprival Value Model

BC7.37

BC7.38

BC7.39

The Consultation Paper discussed the deprival value model as a rationale for
selecting a current value basis. Some respondents expressed reservations—
in particular that the model would be costly and impose a disproportionate
burden on preparers to have to consider three possible measurement bases for
each asset that is reported. A number of respondents also considered that it
is overly complex. A view was also expressed that the deprival value model
unduly exaggerates the qualitative characteristic of relevance and neglects
the other qualitative characteristics.

Although the IPSASB recognized that the deprival value model has been
adopted successfully in some jurisdictions, the IPSASB acknowledged such
reservations in whole or part. The IPSASB therefore included the deprival
value model in the Exposure Draft as an optional method of choosing
between replacement cost, net selling price, and value in use where it had
been decided to use a current measurement basis, but the appropriate basis
could not be identified by reference to the objectives of financial reporting
and the qualitative characteristics.

Although a minority of respondents to the Exposure Draft were highly
supportive of the deprival value model, many respondents continued to express
reservations about the model’s complexity. The IPSASB also acknowledged a
technical ambiguity in the deprival value model—if net selling price is higher
than replacement cost a development opportunity might be indicated and that
users should be provided with this information, which the deprival value
model would not do. Due to these factors the IPSASB decided not to include
the deprival value model in the Conceptual Framework. However, some of
the insights provided by the model in its analysis of the relationship between
replacement cost, net selling price and value in use have been retained—for
example, that it is inappropriate to measure an asset at replacement cost if
the higher of net selling price or value in use is lower than replacement cost.

Symbolic Values

BC7.40

In some jurisdictions certain assets are recognized on the statement of
financial position at symbolic values, typically one unit of the presentation
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currency. This treatment is adopted in order to recognize assets on the face
of the statement of financial position when it is difficult to obtain a valuation.
Supporters of symbolic values consider that they provide useful information
to users of financial statements and facilitate a linkage between asset
management and accounting processes.

The IPSASB acknowledges that such an approach is intended to provide
useful information. However, the majority of IPSASB members took the
view that symbolic values do not meet the measurement objective, because
they do not provide relevant information on financial capacity, operational
capacity or the cost of services. The majority of the IPSASB concluded
that the decision whether to recognize an item as an asset should be made
following an assessment of whether the item meets the definition of an asset
and recognition criteria in Chapter 5, Elements in Financial Statements, and
Chapter 6, Recognition in Financial Statements. The IPSASB also accepted
that, in cases where, it is impossible or very costly to obtain a valuation, it is
important that the information to be provided through disclosures is carefully
considered at standards level.

Measurement Bases for Liabilities

Assumption Price and Cost of Release

BC7.42

BC7.43

The IPSASB acknowledged the views of those who noted that, as many
services are provided by public sector entities in non-exchange transactions
there will often not be an assumption price. The [IPSASB accepted that the
circumstances under which assumption price will meet the measurement
objective are limited. However, insurance and similar obligations, such as
financial guarantees, are liabilities where assumption price might provide
relevant and faithfully representative information. In such cases liabilities
might be revalued at assumption price to reflect changes in risk premiums
following initial recognition.

Some respondents to the Exposure Draft also questioned whether cost of
release should be included. The IPSASB acknowledged that in many cases in
the public sector, particularly for non-exchange transactions, there is unlikely
to be a cost of release, because there will not be an external party willing
to accept the transfer of a liability from the obligor for a specified amount.
Even where a cost of release can be determined the external party is unlikely
to accept a sum lower than cost of fulfillment in settlement. Therefore,
liabilities arising from non-exchange transactions are likely to be measured
at the cost of fulfillment, and this will often be the only practical and relevant
measurement basis. Nevertheless the IPSASB decided to retain assumption
price and cost of release as measurement bases in the Conceptual Framework
as there may be limited circumstances where these measurement bases meet
the measurement objective.
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Other Issues

BC7.44 The Consultation Paper sought the views of respondents on the following two
issues related to measurement:

e The treatment of an entity’s own credit risk and changes in value
attributable to changes in an entity’s own credit risk; and

e  Whether the measurement of an asset should reflect only the service
potential relating to its existing use, or whether the measurement of
an asset should include the incremental value relating to its possible
alternative use.

BC7.45 The majority of respondents who commented on these issues considered
that they were more appropriately dealt with at standards level rather than
in the Conceptual Framework. The IPSASB concurred with this view, and
these issues are accordingly not addressed in the Conceptual Framework. The
IPSASB noted that where a market value is used to measure a liability it is
necessary to consider the treatment of the entity’s own credit risk.
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Introduction

8.1

8.2

This Chapter sets out the concepts applicable to the presentation of
information in GPFRs, including financial statements of governments and
other public sector entities (entities).

Presentation is linked to Chapters 1 to 4—the objectives of financial reporting,
users’ needs, the qualitative characteristics, constraints on information
included in GPFRs and the reporting entity all influence presentation
decisions. For information reported in the financial statements, presentation
is also linked to the definitions of the elements, recognition criteria and
measurement bases identified in Chapters 5 to 7—for example:

e  The definition of the elements affect the items that can be presented in
the financial statements;

e  Application of the recognition criteria affects the location of information;
and

e  The selection of measurement bases impacts the information presented
on measurement methodologies.

Language in which Financial Statement and Other GPFRs are Issued

8.3

The language (or languages) in which financial statements and other GPFRs
are issued supports achievement of the objectives of financial reporting and
the qualitative characteristics. All translated versions need to be faithful to
the original language version. The translated version is made available to
meet the needs of users with reference to:

e  [egal requirements in the entity’s jurisdiction; and

e  Translation costs and benefits.

Presentation

8.4

8.5

8.6

Presentation is the selection, location and organization of information that is
reported in the GPFRs.

Presentation aims to provide information that contributes towards the
objectives of financial reporting and achieves the qualitative characteristics
while taking into account the constraints on information included in GPFRs.
Decisions on selection, location and organization of information are made
in response to the needs of users for information about economic or other
phenomena.

Chapter 1 explains that GPFRs are likely to comprise multiple reports, each
responding more directly to certain aspects of the objectives of financial
reporting and matters included within the scope of financial reporting. In
addition to the financial statements, GPFRs provide information relevant
to, for example, assessments of an entity’s service performance and the
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sustainability of its finances. The objectives of financial reporting, applied to
the area covered by a particular report, guide presentation decisions for that
report.

Presentation decisions may:

e  Resultin the development of a new GPFR, the movement of information
between reports, or the amalgamation of existing reports; or

e  Bedetailed decisions on information selection, location and organization
within a GPFR.

Presentation Decisions are Interlinked

8.8

Decisions on information selection, location and organization are interlinked
and, in practice, are likely to be considered together. The amount or type of
information selected could have implications on whether it is included in a
separate report or organized into tables or separate schedules. The following
three sections separately focus on each presentation decision.

Information Selection

8.9

8.10

Decisions on information selection address what information is reported:
e In the financial statements; and
e In GPFRs outside the financial statements (other GPFRs).

As Chapter 2, Objectives and Users of General Purpose Financial Reporting,
explains, the objectives of financial reporting are to provide information about
the entity that is useful to users of GPFRs for accountability and decision-
making purposes. Chapter 2 describes the types of information that users
need to meet the objectives of financial reporting. That description guides
decisions on whether particular types of reports are needed. This Chapter
focuses on the selection of information to be presented in GPFRs, including
financial statements and other reports.

Information Selection—Nature of Information

Nature of Information in Financial Statements

8.11

Users’ information needs identified in Chapter 2 underpin information
selection for the financial statements. Those needs include information about
the financial position, financial performance and cash flows of an entity in
order to:

e  Enable users to identify the resources of the entity and claims on those
resources at the reporting date;
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e Inform assessments of matters such as whether the entity has acquired
resources economically, and used them efficiently and effectively to
achieve its service delivery objectives; and

e Inform assessments of financial performance and the entity’s liquidity
and solvency.

The financial statements may also provide information that assists users in
assessing the extent to which:

e  An entity has met its financial objectives;

e  Revenues, expenses, cash flows and financial results of the entity
comply with approved budgets; and

e  Anentity has adhered to relevant legislation or other authority governing
the raising and use of public monies.

The financial statements do not report comprehensively on an entity’s service
performance. However information in the financial statements may provide
information relevant to the financial aspects of service performance such as
information about:

e  Revenue, expenses and cash flows related to services; and

e  The assets and liabilities that inform users’ evaluations of, for example,
an entity’s operational capacity or financial risks that could impact on
service provision.

Other reports in GPFRs present information additional to the financial
statements. Such information could, for example, include:

e Information on the sustainability of an entity’s public finances;
e  Financial statement discussion and analysis; or

e  Service performance information.

Information Selected for Display or Disclosure

8.15

8.16

Information is selected for display or disclosure in GPFRs. Information
selected for display communicates key messages ina GPFR, while information
selected for disclosure makes displayed information more useful by providing
detail that will help users to understand the displayed information. Disclosure
is not a substitute for display.

Repetition of information in a GPFR needs to generally be avoided. However,
the same information may be both displayed and disclosed. For example, a
total displayed on the face of the financial statements may be repeated in
the notes, where the notes provide a disaggregation of the displayed total.
Similarly the same information may be presented in different GPFRs in order
to address their different aims.
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Information Selected for Display

8.17

8.18

8.19

8.20

Every GPFR contains key messages that are communicated, so every
GPFR contains displayed information. Displayed information is kept to a
concise, understandable level, so that users can focus on the key messages
presented and not be distracted by detail that could otherwise obscure those
messages. Displayed information is presented prominently, using appropriate
presentation techniques such as clear labeling, borders, tables and graphs.

The items displayed on the face of the financial statements provide
information about such matters as the reporting entity’s financial position,
financial performance and cash flows.

Assessment of whether an item satisfies the recognition criteria is one of the
key mechanisms in determining whether information is displayed on the face
of the statement of financial position or statement of financial performance
and/or disclosed either in the notes or elsewhere in the GPFRs. In other
cases, for example a statement of cash flows, displayed information will also
support achievement of the objectives of financial reporting.

Developing requirements for the display of line items and totals involves
balancing the standardization of displayed information, which facilitates
understandability, with information that is tailored for entity-specific factors.
The aim of both standardized display requirements and entity-specific
information is to ensure that information necessary to meet the objectives of
financial reporting is available for all entities, while allowing information to
be displayed in a manner that reflects the nature and operations of specific
entities.

Information Selected for Disclosure

8.21

8.22

Disclosed information is likely to include:

e  The basis for the displayed information, such as applicable policies or
methodologies;

e  Disaggregations of displayed information; and

e  [temsthatshare some butnotall of the aspects of displayed information—
for example disclosures on items that meet some, but not all, of the
characteristics of the definition of an element'® or disclosures on items
that meet the definition of an element, but not the recognition criterion.

The level of detail provided by disclosed information contributes to
achievement of the objectives of financial reporting, without being

18

Chapter 5, Elements in Financial Statements, explains that other resources and other obligations that
do not meet the definition of elements may be recognized in order to contribute to the objectives of
financial reporting.
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excessive. Disclosed information, like displayed information, is necessary
for achievement of the objectives of financial reporting.

8.23 Information disclosed in the notes to the financial statements:
e [snecessary to a user’s understanding of the financial statements;
e  Provides information that presents the financial statements in the context
of the entity and its operating environment; and
e  Generally will have a clear and demonstrable relationship to information

displayed on the face of the financial statement(s) to which it pertains.

8.24 Information disclosed in the notes may also include:

Entity-related factors that could influence judgments about reported
information (for example, information about related parties and
controlled entities or interests in other entities);

The basis for what is displayed (for example, information on accounting
policies and measurement, including measurement methods and
measurement uncertainties where applicable);

Disaggregations of amounts displayed on the face of the statements (for
example, a break-down of property, plant and equipment into different
classes);

Items that do not meet the definition of an element or the recognition
criteria, but are important to an understanding of the entity’s finances
and ability to deliver services—for example, information about events
and conditions, that might affect future cash flows or service potential,
including their natures, possible effects on cash flows or service
potential, probabilities of occurrence, and sensitivities to changes in
conditions; and

Information that may explain underlying trends affecting displayed
totals.

Principles Applicable to Information Selection

8.25 Decisions about what information needs to be displayed and disclosed
involve consideration of:

The objectives of financial reporting;

The qualitative characteristics and constraints on information included
in GPFRs; and

The relevant economic or other phenomena about which information
may be necessary.
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Information selection results in information that contributes to meeting the
objectives of financial reporting, as applied to the area covered by a particular
report, and provides the appropriate level of detail. Decisions on information
selection involve information prioritization and summarization. Information
selection avoids information overload that reduces understandability. Too
much information may make it difficult for users to understand the key
messages, and, consequently undermines achievement of the objectives of
financial reporting.

Preparers, applying pronouncements and their professional judgment,
are responsible for ensuring that information that meets the objectives of
financial reporting and achieves the qualitative characteristics is provided in
the GPFRs that they prepare.

Decisions on information selection require continuing and critical review.
Information identified for possible selection is reviewed as it is developed
and considered for presentation, with particular reference to its relevance,
materiality and cost-benefit, although all the qualitative characteristics and
constraints are applied to decisions on information selection. Past decisions
may require reconsideration because new information may make existing
information requirements redundant with the result that those items no longer
achieve the qualitative characteristics and/or the constraints.

All material transactions, events, and other items reported are presented in
a manner that conveys their substance rather than their legal or other form
so that the qualitative characteristics of relevance and representational
faithfulness are achieved.

The benefits to users of receiving information need to justify the costs
to entities of collecting and presenting that information. In making this
assessment it is important to consider how individual items impact on the
overall view presented and the nature of the information presented. Items that
may appear to have little benefit when viewed in isolation could have much
greater benefit in contributing to the complete set of information presented.

Information needs to be presented on a sufficiently timely basis to enable
users to hold management accountable and to inform users’ decisions.

GPFRs may include additional information derived from sources other than
the financial information system. The qualitative characteristics apply to such
information. The date of delivery of any such additional information needs
to be as close as possible to the financial statements’ reporting date, so that
reported information will be timely.

Principles for Selection of Information for Display and Disclosure

8.33

Decisions about display or disclosure apply to both the financial statements
and other GPFRs. The objectives of financial reporting are applied to the
area covered by a particular report to guide the identification of information
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for display or disclosure. The identification of information for display and
disclosure in a particular GPFR may involve the development of:
e  (lassification principles;

e  Alist of broad types of information that are displayed and a similar list
of broad types of information that are disclosed; and/or

e  Lists of specific information that preparers must display or disclose.

8.34 Decisions about selection of information to be displayed and disclosed are
made:

e  With reference to each other rather than in isolation; and
e  To effectively communicate an integrated set of information.

8.35 Selection decisions with respect to information in other GPFRs are made
after carefully considering the relationship of the other GPFRs to the financial
statements.

Information Location

8.36 Decisions on information location are made about which:

e  Report information is located within; and
e  Component of a report information is located.

8.37 The location of information has an impact on information’s contribution
to achievement of the objectives of financial reporting and the qualitative
characteristics. Location may affect the way that users interpret information
and the comparability of information. Location may be used to:

e  Convey the relative importance of information and its connections with
other items of information;

e  Convey the nature of information;

e  Link different items of information that combine to meet a particular
user need; and

e  Distinguish between information selected for display and information
selected for disclosure.

Principles for Allocation of Information between Different Reports

8.38 Factors relevant to decisions about allocating information between the
financial statements and another GPFR include:

e  Nature: Whether the nature of the information, for example historical
versus prospective, supports including the information either in the
same or a different GPFR, because of considerations related to, for
example, comparability and/or understandability;
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e Jurisdiction-Specific: Whether jurisdiction-specific factors, such as
legal provisions, specify requirements on information location; and

e  Linkage: Whether or not the additional information envisaged needs to
link very closely to information already included in an existing report.
The linkages between all information need to be assessed, not only
linkages between new and existing information.

The factors above, which are expressed from the perspective of adding
information to an existing set of information, also apply to considerations of
whether the grouping of existing information could be improved, which is
discussed in the section on information organization.

A separate GPFR may be necessary when:

e  Additional user information needs, not satisfied by an existing report,
are identified; and

e A separate GPFR to meet those needs is more likely to achieve the
objectives of financial reporting and the qualitative characteristics than
including information in an existing report.

Principles for Location of Information within a Report

8.41

8.42

8.43

8.44

Paragraph 8.17 of this Chapter states that displayed information is presented
prominently, using appropriate presentation techniques—Ilocation is one way
to achieve this. Information location within a report ensures that displayed
information is given appropriate prominence and is not obscured by more
detailed and extensive disclosed information.

The location of information in the financial statements contributes to
communicating a comprehensive financial picture of an entity.

For the financial statements, displayed information is shown on the face of
the appropriate statement, while disclosures are in the notes. Distinguishing
displayed information and disclosed information through location ensures that
those items that directly relate to communicating matters, such as an entity’s
financial position, financial performance and cash flows, can be highlighted,
with further more detailed information provided through disclosure in the
notes.

For other GPFRs, displayed information may either be located separately
from disclosed information or located in the same area, but distinguished
from disclosed information and given prominence through the use of another
presentation technique.

CONCEPTUAL FRAMEWORK 142



THE CONCEPTUAL FRAMEWORK FOR GENERAL PURPOSE
FINANCIAL REPORTING BY PUBLIC SECTOR ENTITIES

Information Organization

8.45

8.46

Information organization addresses the arrangement, grouping and ordering
of information, which includes decisions on:

e  How information is arranged within a GPFR; and
e  The overall structure of a GPFR.

Information organization involves a range of decisions including decisions
on the use of cross-referencing, tables, graphs, headings, numbering, and the
arrangement of items within a particular component of a report, including
decisions on item order. How information is organized can affect its
interpretation by users.

Nature of Information Relevant to Organization

8.47

Decisions about the organization of information take into account:
e Important relationships between information; and

e  Whether information is for display or disclosure.

Types of Relationships

8.48

8.49

8.50

Important relationships include, but are not restricted to:
e  Enhancement;

e  Similarity; and

e  Shared purpose.

Enhancement: Information in one place in a GPFR may be enhanced
through information provided elsewhere. For example, budget, prospective
and service performance information enhances information in the financial
statements. Tables and graphs may be used to enhance the understanding of
narrative information. Links to information reported outside the GPFRs may
enhance the understandability of information reported in GPFRs.

Similarity: A relationship of similarity exists where information reported
in one place is based on information reported elsewhere in the GPFRs, and
the information either has not been adjusted or has had relatively minor
adjustments. For example, if service performance information includes the
cost of services, or the value of assets used in different services, then it may
be helpful to show how those totals relate to expense and assets reported in
the financial statements. Another example is the relationship between the total
expense reported against budget and total expense reported in the statement
of financial performance. A reconciliation between the two different amounts
can enhance users’ understanding of an entity’s finances.
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8.51 Shared purpose: A relationship of shared purpose exists where information
reported in different places contributes to the same purpose. An example is
where different statements and disclosures provide information needed for
assessments of accountability for services delivered. Information about (a)
the actual and budgeted cost of different services, (b) financial and non-
financial resources used in the provision of different services, and (c) future
provision of different services may be included in different places. To make
the relationship between the information in different places clear, it may be
appropriate to organize the information by using techniques such as common
headings and referencing.

8.52 Relationships may exist between information in different:
e GPFRs;
e  Components within a GPFR; and
e  Parts of a single component.

Grouping of Information

8.53 The three factors noted in the section on information selection as being
applicable to decisions on information location—linkage, nature of
information and jurisdiction-specific considerations—also apply to
considerations of whether the grouping of existing information could be
improved. Decisions on effective grouping of information consider linkages
between information sets, the nature of the different information sets, and, to
the extent appropriate, jurisdiction-specific factors.

Principles Applicable to Information Organization
8.54 Information organization:
e  Supports achievement of the objectives of financial reporting; and
e  Helps reported information meet the qualitative characteristics.
8.55 Information organization:
e  Helps to ensure that key messages are understandable;
e  C(learly identifies important relationships;

e Gives appropriate prominence to information that conveys key
messages; and

e  Facilitates comparisons.

8.56 Related information is linked through the use of consistent headings,
presentation order, and/or other methods appropriate to the relationship and
type of information. Where links are to information reported outside the
GPFRs it is important that:
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e Links to information from other sources do not undermine a GPFR’s
achievement of the qualitative characteristics; and

e  The issuance date of any such linked information is as close as possible
to the financial statements’ reporting date so that reported information
will be timely.

Comparability

8.57 Information organization takes into account the benefits of consistent
presentation over time. Consistent presentation supports users’ ability to
understand information and facilitates their access to information. It helps to
achieve the qualitative characteristic of comparability.

Principles for Information Organization within the Financial Statements

8.58 Information displayed on the face of the financial statements is usually
organized into numeric totals and sub-totals. Its organization provides
a structured overview of such matters as the reporting entity’s financial
position, financial performance and cash flows.

8.59 For the financial statements, relationships may exist between:

e  Subsets of displayed amounts or changes in displayed amounts and their
impact on an entity’s financial position, financial performance and/or
cash flows;

e  Different displayed amounts in different financial statements, which all
reflect the impact of a common external event, or contribute together
towards an understanding of an aspect of the entity’s financial position
or financial performance; and

e  Displayed amounts and related note disclosures that provide information
that explains or could otherwise support users’ understanding of
displayed items.

8.60 The organization of information in financial statements includes decisions
on:

e  The type and number of statements;

e  Disaggregation of totals into meaningful subcategories;

e  Ordering and grouping of items displayed within each statement;
e  Identification of aggregates (additive and subtractive); and

e Identification of other information for inclusion on the face of the
statement.

8.61 Information disclosed in the notes to the financial statements is organized so
that relationships to items reported on the face of the financial statements are
clear. The notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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Principles for Organization of Information within Other GPFRs

8.62

8.63

8.64

As is the case for the financial statements, information organization in other
GPFRs helps to ensure that key messages conveyed by displayed information
are understandable. Presentation that clearly identifies important relationships
is likely to enhance the extent to which a report:

e  Meets the objectives of financial reporting; and
e  Achieves the qualitative characteristics.

Linking related information helps users to find important information. Some
information is more understandable when organized into graphs, charts, tables,
ratios or key performance indicators. Other information may be presented
more effectively in narrative form. Information organization supports users’
understanding of linkages between information within the same GPFR.

Information organization facilitates comparisons such as making clear when
items are similar or dissimilar. Inter-period comparability is facilitated
by avoiding changes to the way that information is organized for the
same entity from year to year unless such changes enhance relevance and
understandability. Inter-entity comparisons are facilitated when different
reporting entities organize the information they present in similar ways.
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Basis for Conclusions

This Basis for Conclusions accompanies, but is not part of, the Conceptual
Framework.

Concepts Applicable to Presentation in GPFRs

BC&.1

BC8.2

This Chapter describes concepts applicable to presentation in GPFRs,
including both financial statements and additional information that enhances,
complements, and supplements the financial statements. During development
of this Chapter some respondents to the Consultation Paper, Presentation
in General Purpose Financial Reports (the Consultation Paper), and the
Exposure Draft, Presentation in General Purpose Financial Reports (the
Exposure Draft), argued that the IPSASB should focus exclusively on the
financial statements. Some respondents who supported the proposed more
comprehensive approach considered that the resulting concepts should also
be sufficiently detailed to address issues particular to financial statements.

The IPSASB considers that effective presentation of information in both
financial statements and other GPFRs is very important in meeting the
objectives of financial reporting. Presentation of information in other GPFRs
raises particular challenges for the IPSASB and preparers, which makes
the development of applicable concepts essential to guide the development
of presentation requirements in both IPSASs and RPGs. Nevertheless, the
IPSASB acknowledged the need to provide concepts that are sufficiently
detailed for application to the financial statements. Therefore this Chapter
describes presentation concepts for all GPFRs, and sets out the concepts
applicable to financial statements in more depth.

Presentation in the Financial Statements

BC8.3

BC8.4

The further detail provided on financial statements responds, as noted
above, to the need to ensure that the concepts proposed are applicable to the
financial statements. However, this Chapter does not propose the number or
type of financial statements that should be specified in IPSASs and RPGs.
This approach acknowledges that, internationally, some preparers treat the
“primary” financial statements as a minimum requirement, with flexibility for
the preparer to add further statements—for example, additional statements that
list commitments or public sector debt—to the financial statements required
by IPSASs. It is also consistent with the need to avoid over-specification at
the Conceptual Framework level.

This Chapter also does not attempt to identify a list of information that should
be included in the financial statements, including the notes. This means that
the presentation concepts applicable to the financial statements will remain
relevant as changes occur in areas such as:
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e  The type of information required to adequately meet the objectives of
financial reporting;

e  The information technology available to present information in GPFRs;
and

e  The type of economic or other phenomena on which financial statements
present information.

Language in which Financial Statements and Other GPFRs are issued

BC8.5

Some respondents to the Exposure Draft expressed a view that the language
(or languages) in which the financial statements and other GPFRs are issued
has implications for whether they will support achievement of the objectives
of financial reporting and achieve the qualitative characteristics. Responding
to this concern the IPSASB decided that this Chapter should address the
language(s) in which GPFRs are issued. The quality of any translation will
impact on the usefulness of a GPFR to users who depend on that translation.
The quality of translation should be sufficient to ensure that the translated
version(s) are faithful to the original language version. A faithful translation
enables users to obtain the same understanding as that of an original language
speaker reading the original language version.

Presentation, Display and Disclosure

BC8.6

BC8.7

During development of this Chapter descriptions of “presentation,” “display,”
“disclosure,” “core information,” and “supporting information” were
proposed. Respondents had different views on whether the descriptions were
appropriate. There was significant support for the description of presentation,
which covered the selection, location and organization of information.
Some respondents opposed the introduction of such descriptions, because
they considered that the terms “presentation” and “disclosure” have been
widely used by standard setters and have generally accepted meanings. Some
respondents to the Exposure Draft advocated the alignment of the IPSASB’s
terminology with the presentation terminology for the financial statements
under development by the International Accounting Standards Board in its
project to update its Conceptual Framework.

The IPSASB considers that having terminology that applies to all information
included in GPFRs, rather than just the financial statements, may prevent full
alignment with terminology that relates only to the financial statements. If
the term “presentation” applies to information that conveys key messages in
the financial statements, then extending the same term to other information
included in GPFRs changes the meaning of the term. The term “display”
signals that information that conveys key messages can be selected for either
the financial statements or other information included in GPFRs.
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The IPSASB is of the view that the distinction between presentation and
disclosure used in some jurisdictions, where presentation applies to the
process of reporting information on the face of a statement and disclosure
applies to the process of reporting information in the notes, is inadequate
for presentation concepts for GPFRs. Distinctions focused on the financial
statements have limited usefulness and may be confusing for other GPFRs
outside the financial statements. In the context of the financial statements,
display and disclosure support a clear distinction between the process of
reporting information on the face of a financial statement—display—and that
of reporting information in the notes to the statements—disclosure. For these
reasons the IPSASB retained the descriptions of presentation, display and
disclosure proposed in the Exposure Draft with revised explanations.

The description of presentation proposed in the Consultation Paper included
both what presentation is—information selection, location and organization—
and what presentation should do—it should meet the objectives of financial
reporting, the needs of users, and achieve the qualitative characteristics.
After further consideration the IPSASB decided that separation of these two
areas would better facilitate consideration of presentation issues. Therefore
presentation is described as information selection, location and organization.
There is also a description of what presentation aims to achieve, which is to
provide information that contributes to the objectives of financial reporting,
and achieves the qualitative characteristics while taking into account the
constraints on information included in GPFRs.

Some respondents considered the distinction between core and supporting
information proposed in the Consultation Paper implied that information in
the notes to the financial statements is less important than information on
the face of a statement and that it created a hierarchy. Although the IPSASB
did not intend to imply that supporting information is less important than
core information the IPSASB acknowledged such concerns. The IPSASB
therefore reconsidered the need for a distinction between core and supporting
information and concluded that incorporating the ideas related to these two
types of information into the descriptions of display and disclosure within
each GPFR would be more appropriate. Consequently the terms core
information and supporting information were not retained in the Exposure
Draft and the descriptions of display and disclosure were revised to explain
what types of information would be displayed and what disclosed, without
the implication that one type of information is more important than the other.
This approach is reflected in this Chapter.

The IPSASB also considered whether all GPFRs contain both information
for display and information for disclosure, and whether it is possible to have
a GPFR that only contains information for disclosure. Because key messages
exist for each type of GPFR, and information to convey those key messages
needs to be displayed, the IPSASB concluded that all GPFRs contain both
information for display and information for disclosure.
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Overall Approach to Presentation

BC8.12

BC8.13

BC8.14

BC8.15

The Consultation Paper proposed an approach to presentation of:
e  Focusing on user needs to identify presentation objectives;
e  Applying the qualitative characteristics to presentation decisions; and

e  Identifying separate presentation concepts—the proposed concepts were
Concept 1: Select information that meets user needs, satisfies the cost-
benefit test, and is sufficiently timely; Concept 2: Locate information
to meet user needs; and Concept 3: Organize information to make
important relationships clear and support comparability.

The Consultation Paper also proposed that presentation objectives should
be established at the standards level, for application to particular reports or
reporting topics.

Respondents generally agreed that the needs of users and achievement of the
qualitative characteristics were important for presentation decisions. They
supported the development of presentation objectives, but advocated that such
objectives should be included in the Conceptual Framework, rather than just
at standards level. Although they generally agreed that separate presentation
concepts should be developed, a significant number of respondents disagreed
with the three presentation concepts proposed. Some respondents disagreed
with the way that the three presentation concepts emphasized particular
qualitative characteristics or constraints on information included in GPFRs.
They argued that other qualitative characteristics or constraints should be
addressed. Others argued that the concepts added little, if anything, to the
discussion of the qualitative characteristics and constraints on information
included in GPFRs in Chapter 3, Qualitative Characteristics.

On balance the IPSASB concluded that a simpler, more focused approach,
which directly applied the concepts in Chapters 1—4 to presentation decisions
was appropriate. The IPSASB is of the view that decisions on information
selection, location and organization are made in response to the needs of
users for information about economic or other phenomena. Presentation
decisions are made to seek to achieve the objectives of financial reporting,
and they involve application of the qualitative characteristics and constraints
on information included in GPFRs.

Presentation decisions may be either (a) decisions that may result in
development of a new report, movement of information between reports, or
the amalgamation of existing reports; or, (b) detailed decisions on information
selection, location and organization related to information within a report. It
is useful to distinguish between these two types of presentation decisions in
the context of the more comprehensive scope of financial reporting discussed
in Chapter 2. Both types of decisions are important and there is no intention
to convey a hierarchy. The difference is one of breadth or sequencing of
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decisions—for example, a decision to create a new report conveys that a
broad set of information will be presented. The subsequent, more specific
decisions will address what is presented within that report and are equally
important.

BC8.16 The need to distinguish between the display and disclosure of information is
a further important aspect of the IPSASB’s overall approach to presentation.
An example of a detailed decision within a report is a decision about whether
information should be displayed on the face of a financial statement or
disclosed in the notes.

Presentation Objectives

BC8.17 As stated above, in the Consultation Paper the IPSASB proposed the
development of “presentation objectives” to guide presentation decisions.
Although many respondents supported identifying presentation objectives
the IPSASB decided against the inclusion of presentation objectives in
this Chapter, because they would create an unnecessary additional layer
of objectives beneath the objectives of financial reporting in Chapter 2.
Development of a second layer of presentation objectives could be confusing
and detract from the objectives of financial reporting. This approach was
proposed in the Exposure Draft and was generally supported by respondents.

Application of the Qualitative Characteristics and Constraints

BC8.18 During development of this Chapter many respondents supported application
of the qualitative characteristics to presentation decisions. However, some
respondents expressed reservations that the constraints on information
included in GPFRs had not been properly integrated into the overall approach
to presentation. The IPSASB agrees that the constraints apply to presentation
decisions. They are therefore included in the overall approach to presentation
and in subsequent discussion of the application of the three presentation
decisions.

Presentation Concepts

BC8.19 After considering respondents’ concerns about the three presentation concepts
proposed in the Consultation Paper and possible further changes to address
those concerns, the IPSASB concluded that the ideas in the three concepts were
adequately addressed through application of the qualitative characteristics
and constraints on information included in GPFRs to presentation decisions.
Therefore, in the Exposure Draft the IPSASB replaced the three presentation
concepts proposed in the Consultation Paper with a revised description of the
application of the qualitative characteristics and constraints on information
included in GPFRs to presentation decisions. Respondents to the Exposure
Draft generally supported the direct application of the concepts established
in Chapters 1-4, rather than development of an intermediary set of either
presentation concepts or presentation objectives.
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Information Organization: Links to External Information

BC8.20 Chapter 2 of the Conceptual Framework explains that users of GPFRs may
also need to consider information from other sources, including reports on
current and anticipated economic conditions, budgets and forecasts, and
information about government policy initiatives not reported in GPFRs. The
IPSASB considered whether GPFRs should include links to such information.
Although the IPSASB acknowledged the risk that such information may not
achieve the qualitative characteristics, the IPSASB concluded that such links
can support understandability. Therefore, provided information from external
sources does not undermine achievement of the qualitative characteristics
the IPSASB concluded that GPFRs might include links to such information.
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Appendix
Conceptual Framework Due Process Publications
Consultation
Title Date Issued Period Ended

Consultation Paper, The Objectives
of Financial Reporting, The Scope of
Financial Reporting; The Qualitative
Characteristics of Information
Included in General Purpose
Financial Reports, The Reporting
Entity

September 30, 2008

March 30, 2009

Consultation Paper, Elements and
Recognition in Financial Statements

December 15,2010

June 14, 2011

Consultation Paper, Measurement of
Assets and Liabilities in Financial
Statements

December 15, 2010

June 14, 2011

Exposure Draft 1, Role, Authority
and Scope; Objectives and Users;
Qualitative Characteristics;, and
Reporting Entity

December 15,2010

June 14, 2011

Exposure Draft, Key Characteristics
of the Public Sector with Potential
Implications for Financial Reporting

April 29, 2011

August 31, 2011

Consultation Paper, Presentation in
General Purpose Financial Reports

January 29, 2012

May 31, 2012

Exposure Draft 2, Elements and
Recognition in Financial Statements

November 7, 2012

April 30,2013

Exposure Draft 3, Measurement of
Assets and Liabilities in Financial
Statements

November 7, 2012

April 30,2013

Exposure Draft 4, Presentation in
General Purpose Financial Reports

April 17,2013

August 15, 2013
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History of IPSAS

This version includes amendments resulting from IPSASs issued up to
January 31, 2019.
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International Public Sector Accounting Standard 1, Presentation of Financial
Statements, is set out in paragraphs 1—155. All the paragraphs have equal authority.
IPSAS 1 should be read in the context of its objective, the Basis for Conclusions, the
Preface to International Public Sector Accounting Standards and the Conceptual
Framework for General Purpose Financial Reporting by Public Sector Entities.
IPSAS 3, Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors,
provides a basis for selecting and applying accounting policies in the absence of
explicit guidance.
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Objective

1.

Scope

5.
6.

The objective of this Standard is to prescribe the manner in which general
purpose financial statements should be presented to ensure comparability
both with the entity’s financial statements of previous periods and with the
financial statements of other entities. To achieve this objective, this Standard
sets out overall considerations for the presentation of financial statements,
guidance for their structure, and minimum requirements for the content of
financial statements prepared under the accrual basis of accounting. The
recognition, measurement, and disclosure of specific transactions and other
events are dealt with in other IPSASs.

This Standard shall be applied to all general purpose financial statements
prepared and presented under the accrual basis of accounting in
accordance with IPSASs.

General purpose financial statements are those intended to meet the needs
of users who are not in a position to demand reports tailored to meet their
particular information needs. Users of general purpose financial statements
include taxpayers and ratepayers, members of the legislature, creditors,
suppliers, the media, and employees. General purpose financial statements
include those that are presented separately or within another public document,
such as an annual report. This Standard does not apply to condensed interim
financial information.

This Standard applies equally to all entities including those that present
consolidated financial statements in accordance with IPSAS 35, Consolidated
Financial Statements and those that present separate financial statements, in
accordance with IPSAS 34, Separate Financial Statements.

[Deleted]
[Deleted]

Definitions

7.

The following terms are used in this Standard with the meanings
specified:

Accrual basis means a basis of accounting under which transactions and
other events are recognized when they occur (and not only when cash or
its equivalent is received or paid). Therefore, the transactions and events
are recorded in the accounting records and recognized in the financial
statements of the periods to which they relate. The elements recognized
under accrual accounting are assets, liabilities, net assets/equity, revenue,
and expenses.
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Assets are resources controlled by an entity as a result of past events and
from which future economic benefits or service potential are expected to
flow to the entity.

Contributions from owners means future economic benefits or service
potential that has been contributed to the entity by parties external to
the entity, other than those that result in liabilities of the entity, that
establish a financial interest in the net assets/equity of the entity, which:

(a) Conveys entitlement both to (i) distributions of future economic
benefits or service potential by the entity during its life, such
distributions being at the discretion of the owners or their
representatives, and to (ii) distributions of any excess of assets over
liabilities in the event of the entity being wound up; and/or

(b) Can be sold, exchanged, transferred, or redeemed.

Distributions to owners means future economic benefits or service
potential distributed by the entity to all or some of its owners, either as a
return on investment or as a return of investment.

An economic entity is a controlling entity and its controlled entities.

Expenses are decreases in economic benefits or service potential during
the reporting period in the form of outflows or consumption of assets
or incurrences of liabilities that result in decreases in net assets/equity,
other than those relating to distributions to owners.

Impracticable Applying a requirement is impracticable when the entity
cannot apply it after making every reasonable effort to do so.

Liabilities are present obligations of the entity arising from past events,
the settlement of which is expected to result in an outflow from the entity
of resources embodying economic benefits or service potential.

Material Omissions or misstatements of items are material if they
could, individually or collectively, influence the decisions or assessments
of users made on the basis of the financial statements. Materiality
depends on the nature and size of the omission or misstatement judged
in the surrounding circumstances. The nature or size of the item, or a
combination of both, could be the determining factor.

Net assets/equity is the residual interest in the assets of the entity after
deducting all its liabilities.

The components of net assets/equity are contributed capital, accumulated
surpluses or deficits, reserves, and non-controlling interests. Types of
reserves include:

(a) Changes in revaluation surplus (see IPSAS 17, Property, Plant, and
Equipment and IPSAS 31, Intangible Assets);
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(b) Remeasurements of defined benefit plans (see IPSAS 39, Employee
Benefits);

(¢) Gains and losses arising from translating the financial statements
of a foreign operation (see IPSAS 4, The Effects of Changes in
Foreign Exchange Rates);

(d) Gains and losses from investments in equity instruments
designated at fair value through net assets/equity in accordance
with paragraph 106 of IPSAS 41, Financial Instruments;

(e) Gains and losses on financial assets measured at fair value through
net assets/equity in accordance with paragraph 41 of IPSAS 41;

(f)  The effective portion of gains and losses on hedging instruments in
a cash flow hedge and the gains and losses on hedging instruments
that hedge investments in equity instruments measured at fair
value through net assets/equity in accordance with paragraph 106
of IPSAS 41 (see paragraphs 113—155 of IPSAS 41);

(g) For particular liabilities designated as at fair value through surplus
or deficit, the amount of the change in fair value that is attributable
to changes in the liability’s credit risk (see paragraph 108 of
IPSAS 41);

(h) Changes in the value of the time value of options when separating
the intrinsic value and time value of an option contract and
designating as the hedging instrument only the changes in the
intrinsic value (see paragraphs 113—155 of IPSAS 41); and

(i) Changes in the value of the forward elements of forward contracts
when separating the forward element and spot element of a
forward contract and designating as the hedging instrument only
the changes in the spot element, and changes in the value of the
foreign currency basis spread of a financial instrument when
excluding it from the designation of that financial instrument as
the hedging instrument (see paragraphs 113—155 of IPSAS 41).

Notes contain information in addition to that presented in the statement
of financial position, statement of financial performance, statement of
changes in net assets/equity and cash flow statement. Notes provide
narrative descriptions or disaggregations of items disclosed in those
statements and information about items that do not qualify for
recognition in those statements.

Revenue is the gross inflow of economic benefits or service potential
during the reporting period when those inflows result in an increase in
net assets/equity, other than increases relating to contributions from
owners.
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Terms defined in other IPSASs are used in this Standard with the same
meaning as in those Standards, and are reproduced in the Glossary of
Defined Terms published separately.

The following terms are described in IPSAS 28, Financial Instruments:
Presentation and are used in this Standard with the meaning specified in
IPSAS 28:

(a) Puttable financial instrument classified as an equity instrument
(described in paragraphs 15 and 16 of IPSAS 28);

(b)  An instrument that imposes on the entity an obligation to deliver to
another party a pro rata share of the net assets of the entity only on
liquidation and is classified as an equity instrument (described in
paragraphs 17 and 18 of IPSAS 28).

Economic Entity

8.

10.

The term economic entity is used in this Standard to define, for financial
reporting purposes, a group of entities comprising the controlling entity and
any controlled entities.

Other terms sometimes used to refer to an economic entity include
administrative entity, financial entity, consolidated entity, and group.

An economic entity may include entities with both social policy and
commercial objectives. For example, a government housing department may
be an economic entity that includes entities that provide housing for a nominal
charge, as well as entities that provide accommodation on a commercial basis.

Future Economic Benefits or Service Potential

11.

Assets provide a means for entities to achieve their objectives. Assets that are
used to deliver goods and services in accordance with an entity’s objectives,
but which do not directly generate net cash inflows, are often described as
embodying service potential. Assets that are used to generate net cash inflows
are often described as embodying future economic benefits. To encompass all
the purposes to which assets may be put, this Standard uses the term “future
economic benefits or service potential” to describe the essential characteristic
of assets.

Government Business Enterprises

12.

[Deleted]

Materiality

13.

IPSAS 1

Assessing whether an omission or misstatement could influence decisions
of users, and so be material, requires consideration of the characteristics
of those users. Users are assumed to have a reasonable knowledge of the
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public sector and economic activities and accounting, and a willingness to
study the information with reasonable diligence. Therefore, the assessment
needs to take into account how users with such attributes could reasonably be
expected to be influenced in making and evaluating decisions.

Net Assets/Equity

14.

Net assets/equity is the term used in this Standard to refer to the residual
measure in the statement of financial position (assets less liabilities). Net
assets/equity may be positive or negative. Other terms may be used in place
of net assets/equity, provided that their meaning is clear.

Purpose of Financial Statements

15.

16.

Financial statements are a structured representation of the financial position
and financial performance of an entity. The objectives of general purpose
financial statements are to provide information about the financial position,
financial performance, and cash flows of an entity that is useful to a wide
range of users in making and evaluating decisions about the allocation of
resources. Specifically, the objectives of general purpose financial reporting
in the public sector should be to provide information useful for decision
making, and to demonstrate the accountability of the entity for the resources
entrusted to it, by:

(a) Providing information about the sources, allocation, and uses of
financial resources;

(b)  Providing information about how the entity financed its activities and
met its cash requirements;

(¢) Providing information that is useful in evaluating the entity’s ability to
finance its activities and to meet its liabilities and commitments;

(d) Providing information about the financial condition of the entity and
changes in it; and

(e) Providing aggregate information useful in evaluating the entity’s
performance in terms of service costs, efficiency, and accomplishments.

General purpose financial statements can also have a predictive or prospective
role, providing information useful in predicting the level of resources required
for continued operations, the resources that may be generated by continued
operations, and the associated risks and uncertainties. Financial reporting
may also provide users with information:

(a) Indicating whether resources were obtained and used in accordance
with the legally adopted budget; and

(b) Indicating whether resources were obtained and used in accordance
with legal and contractual requirements, including financial limits
established by appropriate legislative authorities.
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To meet these objectives, the financial statements provide information about
an entity’s:

(a) Assets;

(b) Liabilities;

(¢)  Net assets/equity;

(d) Revenue;

(e) Expenses;

(f)  Other changes in net assets/equity; and
(g) Cash flows.

Although the information contained in financial statements can be relevant
for the purpose of meeting the objectives in paragraph 15, it is unlikely to
enable all these objectives to be met. This is likely to be particularly so in
respect of entities whose primary objective may not be to make a profit, as
managers are likely to be accountable for the achievement of service delivery
as well as financial objectives. Supplementary information, including non-
financial statements, may be reported alongside the financial statements
in order to provide a more comprehensive picture of the entity’s activities
during the period.

Responsibility for Financial Statements

19.

20.

The responsibility for the preparation and presentation of financial statements
varies within and across jurisdictions. In addition, a jurisdiction may draw a
distinction between who is responsible for preparing the financial statements
and who is responsible for approving or presenting the financial statements.
Examples of people or positions who may be responsible for the preparation
of the financial statements of individual entities (such as government
departments or their equivalent) include the individual who heads the entity
(the permanent head or chief executive) and the head of the central finance
agency (or the senior finance official, such as the controller or accountant-
general).

The responsibility for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements
of the government as a whole usually rests jointly with the head of the central
finance agency (or the senior finance official, such as the controller or
accountant-general) and the finance minister (or equivalent).

Components of Financial Statements

21.

IPSAS 1

A complete set of financial statements comprises:
(a) A statement of financial position;

(b) A statement of financial performance;
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(c) A statement of changes in net assets/equity;
(d) A cash flow statement;

(e) When the entity makes publicly available its approved budget,
a comparison of budget and actual amounts either as a separate
additional financial statement or as a budget column in the
financial statements;

(f) Notes, comprising a summary of significant accounting policies
and other explanatory notes; and

(g) Comparative information in respect of the preceeding period as
specified in paragraphs 53 and 53A of IPSAS 1.

The components listed in paragraph 21 are referred to by a variety of names
both within and across jurisdictions. The statement of financial position may
also be referred to as a balance sheet or statement of assets and liabilities.
The statement of financial performance may also be referred to as a statement
of revenues and expenses, an income statement, an operating statement,
or a profit and loss statement. The notes may include items referred to as
schedules in some jurisdictions.

The financial statements provide users with information about an entity’s
resources and obligations at the reporting date and the flow of resources
between reporting dates. This information is useful for users making
assessments of an entity’s ability to continue to provide goods and services
at a given level, and the level of resources that may need to be provided to
the entity in the future so that it can continue to meet its service delivery
obligations.

Public sector entities are typically subject to budgetary limits in the form of
appropriations or budget authorizations (or equivalent), which may be given
effect through authorizing legislation. General purpose financial reporting by
public sector entities may provide information on whether resources were
obtained and used in accordance with the legally adopted budget. Entities
that make publicly available their approved budget(s) are required to comply
with the requirements of IPSAS 24, Presentation of Budget Information in
Financial Statements. For other entities, where the financial statements and
the budget are on the same basis of accounting, this Standard encourages
the inclusion in the financial statements of a comparison with the budgeted
amounts for the reporting period. Reporting against budget(s) for these
entities may be presented in various different ways, including:

e  The use of a columnar format for the financial statements, with separate
columns for budgeted amounts and actual amounts. A column showing
any variances from the budget or appropriation may also be presented
for completeness; and

169 IPSAS 1



25.

26.

PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e  Disclosure that the budgeted amounts have not been exceeded. If any
budgeted amounts or appropriations have been exceeded, or expenses
incurred without appropriation or other form of authority, then details
may be disclosed by way of footnote to the relevant item in the financial
statements.

Entities are encouraged to present additional information to assist users in
assessing the performance of the entity, and its stewardship of assets, as well
as making and evaluating decisions about the allocation of resources. This
additional information may include details about the entity’s outputs and
outcomes in the form of (a) performance indicators, (b) statements of service
performance, (c) program reviews, and (d) other reports by management
about the entity’s achievements over the reporting period.

Entities are also encouraged to disclose information about compliance
with legislative, regulatory, or other externally-imposed regulations. When
information about compliance is not included in the financial statements, it
may be useful for a note to refer to any documents that include that information.
Knowledge of non-compliance is likely to be relevant for accountability
purposes, and may affect a user’s assessment of the entity’s performance and
direction of future operations. It may also influence decisions about resources
to be allocated to the entity in the future.

Overall Considerations

Fair Presentation and Compliance with IPSASs

27.

28.

29.

IPSAS 1

Financial statements shall present fairly the financial position, financial
performance, and cash flows of an entity. Fair presentation requires the
faithful representation of the effects of transactions, other events, and
conditions in accordance with the definitions and recognition criteria for
assets, liabilities, revenue, and expenses set out in IPSASs. The application
of IPSASs, with additional disclosures when necessary, is presumed to
result in financial statements that achieve a fair presentation.

An entity whose financial statements comply with IPSASs shall make
an explicit and unreserved statement of such compliance in the notes.
Financial statements shall not be described as complying with IPSASs
unless they comply with all the requirements of IPSASs.

In virtually all circumstances, a fair presentation is achieved by compliance
with applicable IPSASs. A fair presentation also requires an entity:

(a)  To select and apply accounting policies in accordance with IPSAS 3,
Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors.
IPSAS 3 sets out a hierarchy of authoritative guidance that management
considers, in the absence of a Standard that specifically applies to an
item.
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(b)  To present information, including accounting policies, in a manner that
provides relevant, faithfully representative, understandable, timely,
comparable, and verifiable information.

(¢)  To provide additional disclosures when compliance with the specific
requirements in IPSASs is insufficient to enable users to understand
the impact of particular transactions, other events, and conditions on
the entity’s financial position and financial performance.

Inappropriate accounting policies are not rectified either by disclosure of
the accounting policies used, or by notes or explanatory material.

In the extremely rare circumstances in which management concludes
that compliance with a requirement in a Standard would be so misleading
that it would conflict with the objective of financial statements set out
in this Standard, the entity shall depart from that requirement in the
manner set out in paragraph 32 if the relevant regulatory framework
requires, or otherwise does not prohibit, such a departure.

When an entity departs from a requirement of a Standard in accordance
with paragraph 31, it shall disclose:

(a) That management has concluded that the financial statements
present fairly the entity’s financial position, financial performance,
and cash flows;

(b) That it has complied with applicable IPSASs, except that it
has departed from a particular requirement to achieve a fair
presentation;

(c) The title of the Standard from which the entity has departed,
the nature of the departure, including the treatment that the
Standard would require, the reason why that treatment would be
so misleading in the circumstances that it would conflict with the
objective of financial statements set out in this Standard, and the
treatment adopted; and

(d) For each period presented, the financial impact of the departure
on each item in the financial statements that would have been
reported in complying with the requirement.

When an entity has departed from a requirement of a Standard in a
prior period, and that departure affects the amounts recognized in the
financial statements for the current period, it shall make the disclosures
set out in paragraph 32(c) and (d).

Paragraph 33 applies, for example, when an entity departed in a prior period
from a requirement in a Standard for the measurement of assets or liabilities,
and that departure affects the measurement of changes in assets and liabilities
recognized in the current period’s financial statements.
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In the extremely rare circumstances in which management concludes that
compliance with a requirement in a Standard would be so misleading that
it would conflict with the objective of financial statements set out in this
Standard, but the relevant regulatory framework prohibits departure
from the requirement, the entity shall, to the maximum extent possible,
reduce the perceived misleading aspects of compliance by disclosing:

(a)  The title of the Standard in question, the nature of the requirement,
and the reason why management has concluded that complying
with that requirement is so misleading in the circumstances that
it conflicts with the objective of financial statements set out in this
Standard; and

(b) For each period presented, the adjustments to each item in the
financial statements that management has concluded would be
necessary to achieve a fair presentation.

For the purpose of paragraphs 31-35, an item of information would conflict
with the objective of financial statements when it does not represent faithfully
the transactions, other events, and conditions that it either purports to
represent or could reasonably be expected to represent and, consequently, it
would be likely to influence decisions made by users of financial statements.
When assessing whether complying with a specific requirement in a Standard
would be so misleading that it would conflict with the objective of financial
statements set out in this Standard, management considers:

(a) Why the objective of financial statements is not achieved in the
particular circumstances; and

(b)  How the entity’s circumstances differ from those of other entities that
comply with the requirement. If other entities in similar circumstances
comply with the requirement, there is a rebuttable presumption that the
entity’s compliance with the requirement would not be so misleading
that it would conflict with the objective of the financial statements set
out in this Standard.

Departures from the requirements of an IPSAS in order to comply with
statutory/legislative financial reporting requirements in a particular
jurisdiction do not constitute departures that conflict with the objective of
financial statements set out in this Standard as outlined in paragraph 31. If
such departures are material, an entity cannot claim to be complying with
IPSAS:s.

Going Concern

38.

IPSAS 1

When preparing financial statements, an assessment of an entity’s ability
to continue as a going concern shall be made. This assessment shall be
made by those responsible for the preparation of financial statements.
Financial statements shall be prepared on a going concern basis unless
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there is an intention to liquidate the entity or to cease operating, or if
there is no realistic alternative but to do so. When those responsible for
the preparation of the financial statements are aware, in making their
assessment, of material uncertainties related to events or conditions
that may cast significant doubt upon the entity’s ability to continue as
a going concern, those uncertainties shall be disclosed. When financial
statements are not prepared on a going concern basis, that fact shall
be disclosed, together with the basis on which the financial statements
are prepared and the reason why the entity is not regarded as a going
concern.

Financial statements are normally prepared on the assumption that the entity
is a going concern and will continue in operation and meet its statutory
obligations for the foreseeable future. In assessing whether the going concern
assumption is appropriate, those responsible for the preparation of financial
statements take into account all available information about the future, which
is at least, but is not limited to, twelve months from the approval of the
financial statements.

The degree of consideration depends on the facts in each case, and assessments
of the going concern assumption are not predicated on the solvency test
usually applied to business enterprises. There may be circumstances where
the usual going concern tests of liquidity and solvency appear unfavorable,
but other factors suggest that the entity is nonetheless a going concern. For
example:

(a) In assessing whether a government is a going concern, the power to
levy rates or taxes may enable some entities to be considered as a
going concern, even though they may operate for extended periods
with negative net assets/equity; and

(b)  For an individual entity, an assessment of its statement of financial
position at the reporting date may suggest that the going concern
assumption is not appropriate. However, there may be multi-year
funding agreements or other arrangements in place that will ensure the
continued operation of the entity.

The determination of whether the going concern assumption is appropriate
is primarily relevant for individual entities rather than for a government as a
whole. For individual entities, in assessing whether the going concern basis
is appropriate, those responsible for the preparation of financial statements
may need to consider a wide range of factors relating to (a) current and
expected performance, (b) potential and announced restructurings of
organizational units, (c) estimates of revenue or the likelihood of continued
government funding, and (d) potential sources of replacement financing
before it is appropriate to conclude that the going concern assumption is
appropriate.
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Consistency of Presentation

42.

43.

44,

The presentation and classification of items in the financial statements
shall be retained from one period to the next unless:

(a) Itis apparent, following a significant change in the nature of the
entity’s operations or a review of its financial statements, that
another presentation or classification would be more appropriate
having regard to the criteria for the selection and application of
accounting policies in IPSAS 3; or

(b)  An IPSAS requires a change in presentation.

A significant acquisition or disposal, or a review of the presentation of the
financial statements, might suggest that the financial statements need to
be presented differently. For example, an entity may dispose of a savings
bank that represents one of its most significant controlled entities and the
remaining economic entity conducts mainly administrative and policy advice
services. In this case, the presentation of the financial statements based on the
principal activities of the economic entity as a financial institution is unlikely
to be relevant for the new economic entity.

An entity changes the presentation of its financial statements only if the
changed presentation provides information that is faithfully representative
and is more relevant to users of the financial statements, and the revised
structure is likely to continue, so that comparability is not impaired. When
making such changes in presentation, an entity reclassifies its comparative
information in accordance with paragraphs 55 and 56.

Materiality and Aggregation

45.

46.

47.

IPSAS 1

Each material class of similar items shall be presented separately in the
financial statements. Items of a dissimilar nature or function shall be
presented separately, unless they are immaterial.

Financial statements result from processing large numbers of transactions or other
events that are aggregated into classes according to their nature or function. The
final stage in the process of aggregation and classification is the presentation of
condensed and classified data, which form line items on the face of the statement
of financial position, statement of financial performance, statement of changes
in net assets/equity, and cash flow statement, or in the notes. If a line item is
not individually material, it is aggregated with other items either on the face
of those statements or in the notes. An item that is not sufficiently material to
warrant separate presentation on the face of those statements may nevertheless
be sufficiently material for it to be presented separately in the notes.

Applying the concept of materiality means that a specific disclosure
requirement in an IPSAS need not be satisfied if the information is not
material.
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Offsetting

48.

49.

50.

51.

52.

Assets and liabilities, and revenue and expenses, shall not be offset unless
required or permitted by an IPSAS.

It is important that assets and liabilities, and revenue and expenses, are
reported separately. Offsetting in the statement of financial performance
or the statement of financial position, except when offsetting reflects the
substance of the transaction or other event, detracts from the ability of users
both (a) to understand the transactions, other events and conditions that have
occurred, and (b) to assess the entity’s future cash flows. Measuring assets
net of valuation allowances — for example, obsolescence allowances on
inventories and doubtful debts allowances on receivables — is not offsetting.

IPSAS 9, Revenue from Exchange Transactions, defines revenue and requires
it to be measured at the fair value of consideration received or receivable,
taking into account the amount of any trade discounts and volume rebates
allowed by the entity. An entity undertakes, in the course of its ordinary
activities, other transactions that do not generate revenue but are incidental
to the main revenue-generating activities. The results of such transactions are
presented, when this presentation reflects the substance of the transaction or
other event, by netting any revenue with related expenses arising on the same
transaction. For example:

(a) Gains and losses on the disposal of non-current assets, including
investments and operating assets, are reported by deducting from
the proceeds on disposal the carrying amount of the asset and related
selling expenses; and

(b)  Expenses related to a provision that is recognized in accordance with
IPSAS 19, Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets,
and reimbursed under a contractual arrangement with a third party (for
example, a supplier’s warranty agreement) may be netted against the
related reimbursement.

In addition, gains and losses arising from a group of similar transactions are
reported on a net basis, for example, foreign exchange gains and losses and
gains and losses arising on financial instruments held for trading. Such gains
and losses are, however, reported separately if they are material.

The offsetting of cash flows is dealt with in IPSAS 2, Cash Flow Statements.

Comparative Information

Minimum Comparative Information

53.

Except when an IPSAS permits or requires otherwise, an entity shall
present comparative information in respect of the preceding period
for all amounts reported in the financial statements. An entity shall
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include comparative information for narrative and descriptive
information if it is relevant to understanding the current period’s
financial statements.

An entity shall present, as a minimum, one statement of financial position
with comparative information for the preceding period, one statement of
financial performance with comparative information for the preceding
period, one cash flow statement with comparative information for the
preceding period and one statement of changes in net assets/equity with
comparative information for the preceding period, and related notes.

In some cases, narrative information provided in the financial statements for
the preceding period(s) continues to be relevant in the current period. For
example, an entity discloses in the current period details of a legal dispute,
the outcome of which was uncertain at the end of the preceding period and is
yet to be resolved. Users may benefit from the disclosure of information that
the uncertainty existed at the end of the preceding period and from disclosure
of information about the steps that have been taken during the period to
resolve the uncertainty.

When the presentation or classification of items in the financial
statements is amended, comparative amounts shall be reclassified unless
the reclassification is impracticable. When comparative amounts are
reclassified, an entity shall disclose:

(a) The nature of the reclassification;
(b) The amount of each item or class of items that is reclassified; and
(c) The reason for the reclassification.

When it is impracticable to reclassify comparative amounts, an entity
shall disclose:

(@) The reason for not reclassifying the amounts; and

(b)  The nature of the adjustments that would have been made if the
amounts had been reclassified.

Enhancing the inter-period comparability of information assists users in
making and evaluating decisions, especially by allowing the assessment of
trends in financial information for predictive purposes. In some circumstances,
it is impracticable to reclassify comparative information for a particular
prior period to achieve comparability with the current period. For example,
data may not have been collected in the prior period(s) in a way that allows
reclassification, and it may not be practicable to recreate the information.

IPSAS 3 deals with the adjustments to comparative information required
when an entity changes an accounting policy or corrects an error.
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Structure and Content

Introduction

59.

60.

This Standard requires particular disclosures on the face of the statement
of financial position, statement of financial performance, and statement of
changes in net assets/equity, and requires disclosure of other line items either
on the face of those statements or in the notes. IPSAS 2 sets out requirements
for the presentation of a cash flow statement.

This Standard sometimes uses the term disclosure in a broad sense,
encompassing items presented on the face of the (a) statement of financial
position, (b) statement of financial performance, (c) statement of changes
in net assets/equity, and (d) cash flow statement, as well as in the notes.
Disclosures are also required by other IPSASs. Unless specified to the
contrary elsewhere in this Standard, or in another Standard, such disclosures
are made either on the face of the statement of financial position, statement of
financial performance, statement of changes in net assets/equity or cash flow
statement (whichever is relevant), or in the notes.

Identification of the Financial Statements

61.

62.

63.

The financial statements shall be identified clearly, and distinguished
from other information in the same published document.

IPSASs apply only to financial statements, and not to other information presented
in an annual report or other document. Therefore, it is important that users can
distinguish information that is prepared using IPSASs from other information
that may be useful to users but is not the subject of those requirements.

Each component of the financial statements shall be identified clearly.
In addition, the following information shall be displayed prominently,
and repeated when it is necessary for a proper understanding of the
information presented:

(a) The name of the reporting entity or other means of identification,
and any change in that information from the preceding reporting
date;

(b)  Whether the financial statements cover the individual entity or the
economic entity;

(c) The reporting date or the period covered by the financial
statements, whichever is appropriate to that component of the
financial statements;

(d) The presentation currency, as defined in IPSAS 4, The Effects of
Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates; and

(e) The level of rounding used in presenting amounts in the financial
statements.
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The requirements in paragraph 63 are normally met by presenting page
headings and abbreviated column headings on each page of the financial
statements. Judgment is required in determining the best way of presenting
such information. For example, when the financial statements are presented
electronically, separate pages are not always used; the above items are
then presented frequently enough to ensure a proper understanding of the
information included in the financial statements.

Financial statements are often made more understandable by presenting
information in thousands or millions of units of the presentation currency.
This is acceptable as long as the level of rounding in presentation is disclosed
and material information is not omitted.

Reporting Period

66.

67.

68.

Financial statements shall be presented at least annually. When an
entity’s reporting date changes and the annual financial statements are
presented for a period longer or shorter than one year, an entity shall
disclose, in addition to the period covered by the financial statements:

(@) The reason for using a longer or shorter period; and

(b)  The fact that comparative amounts for certain statements such as
the statement of financial performance, statement of changes in
net assets/equity, cash flow statement, and related notes are not
entirely comparable.

In exceptional circumstances, an entity may be required to, or decide to,
change its reporting date, for example in order to align the reporting cycle
more closely with the budgeting cycle. When this is the case, it is important
that (a) users be aware that the amounts shown for the current period and
comparative amounts are not comparable, and (b) the reason for the change
in reporting date is disclosed. A further example is where, in making the
transition from cash to accrual accounting, an entity changes the reporting
date for entities within the economic entity to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements.

Normally, financial statements are consistently prepared covering a one-year
period. However, for practical reasons, some entities prefer to report, for
example, for a 52-week period. This Standard does not preclude this practice,
because the resulting financial statements are unlikely to be materially
different from those that would be presented for one year.

Timeliness

69.

IPSAS 1

The usefulness of financial statements is impaired if they are not made
available to users within a reasonable period after the reporting date. An
entity should be in a position to issue its financial statements within six
months of the reporting date. Ongoing factors such as the complexity of an
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entity’s operations are not sufficient reason for failing to report on a timely
basis. More specific deadlines are dealt with by legislation and regulations in
many jurisdictions.

Statement of Financial Position

Current/Non-current Distinction

70.

71.

72.

73.

74.

75.

An entity shall present current and non-current assets, and current and
non-current liabilities, as separate classifications on the face of its statement
of financial position in accordance with paragraphs 76-87, except when
a presentation based on liquidity provides information that is faithfully
representative and is more relevant. When that exception applies, all assets
and liabilities shall be presented broadly in order of liquidity.

Whichever method of presentation is adopted, for each asset and liability
line item that combines amounts expected to be recovered or settled (a)
no more than twelve months after the reporting date, and (b) more than
twelve months after the reporting date, an entity shall disclose the amount
expected to be recovered or settled after more than twelve months.

When an entity supplies goods or services within a clearly identifiable
operating cycle, separate classification of current and non-current assets and
liabilities on the face of the statement of financial position provides useful
information by distinguishing the net assets that are continuously circulating
as working capital from those used in the entity’s long-term operations. It also
highlights assets that are expected to be realized within the current operating
cycle, and liabilities that are due for settlement within the same period.

For some entities, such as financial institutions, a presentation of assets and
liabilities in increasing or decreasing order of liquidity provides information
that is faithfully representative and is more relevant than a current/non-
current presentation, because the entity does not supply goods or services
within a clearly identifiable operating cycle.

In applying paragraph 70, an entity is permitted to present some of its assets
and liabilities using a current/non-current classification, and others in order
of liquidity, when this provides information that is faithfully representative
and is more relevant. The need for a mixed basis of presentation might arise
when an entity has diverse operations.

Information about expected dates of realization of assets and liabilities
is useful in assessing the liquidity and solvency of an entity. IPSAS 30,
Financial Instruments: Disclosures, requires disclosure of the maturity dates
of financial assets and financial liabilities. Financial assets include trade and
other receivables, and financial liabilities include trade and other payables.
Information on the expected date of recovery and settlement of non-monetary
assets and liabilities such as inventories and provisions is also useful, whether
or not assets and liabilities are classified as current or non-current.
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77.

78.
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An asset shall be classified as current when it satisfies any of the following

criteria:

(a) Itis expected to be realized in, or is held for sale or consumption
in, the entity’s normal operating cycle;

(b) Itis held primarily for the purpose of being traded;

(c) It is expected to be realized within twelve months after the
reporting date; or

(d) Itis cash or a cash equivalent (as defined in IPSAS 2), unless it is

restricted from being exchanged or used to settle a liability for at
least twelve months after the reporting date.

All other assets shall be classified as non-current.

This Standard uses the term non-current assets to include tangible, intangible,
and financial assets of a long-term nature. It does not prohibit the use of
alternative descriptions as long as the meaning is clear.

The operating cycle of an entity is the time taken to convert inputs or
resources into outputs. For instance, governments transfer resources to
public sector entities so that they can convert those resources into goods and
services, or outputs, to meet the government’s desired social, political, and
economic outcomes. When the entity’s normal operating cycle is not clearly
identifiable, its duration is assumed to be twelve months.

Current assets include assets (such as taxes receivable, user charges
receivable, fines and regulatory fees receivable, inventories and accrued
investment revenue) that are either realized, consumed or sold, as part of the
normal operating cycle even when they are not expected to be realized within
twelve months after the reporting date. Current assets also include assets
held primarily for the purpose of trading (examples include some financial
assets that meet the definition of held for trading in IPSAS 41) and the current
portion of non-current financial assets.

Current Liabilities

80.

IPSAS 1

A liability shall be classified as current when it satisfies any of the
following criteria:

(a)
(b)
(©)

(d)

It is expected to be settled in the entity’s normal operating cycle;
It is held primarily for the purpose of being traded;

It is due to be settled within twelve months after the reporting
date; or

The entity does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement
of the liability for at least twelve months after the reporting date

180



81.

82.

83.

84.

85.

PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(see paragraph 84). Terms of a liability that could, at the option
of the counterparty, result in its settlement by the issue of equity
instruments do not affect its classification.

All other liabilities shall be classified as non-current.

Some current liabilities, such as government transfers payable and some
accruals for employee and other operating costs, are part of the working
capital used in the entity’s normal operating cycle. Such operating items
are classified as current liabilities even if they are due to be settled more
than twelve months after the reporting date. The same normal operating
cycle applies to the classification of an entity’s assets and liabilities. When
the entity’s normal operating cycle is not clearly identifiable, its duration is
assumed to be twelve months.

Other current liabilities are not settled as part of the normal operating
cycle, but are due for settlement within twelve months after the reporting
date or held primarily for the purpose of being traded. Examples are some
financial liabilities that meet the definition of held for trading in IPSAS 41,
bank overdrafts, and the current portion of non-current financial liabilities,
dividends or similar distributions payable, income taxes and other non-trade
payables. Financial liabilities that provide financing on a long-term basis
(i.e., are not part of the working capital used in the entity’s normal operating
cycle) and are not due for settlement within twelve months after the reporting
date are non-current liabilities, subject to paragraphs 85 and 86.

An entity classifies its financial liabilities as current when they are due to be
settled within twelve months after the reporting date, even if:

(a)  The original term was for a period longer than twelve months; and

(b)  An agreement to refinance, or to reschedule payments, on a long-term
basis is completed after the reporting date and before the financial
statements are authorized for issue.

Ifan entity expects, and has the discretion, to refinance orroll over an obligation
for at least twelve months after the reporting date under an existing loan
facility, it classifies the obligation as non-current, even if it would otherwise
be due within a shorter period. However, when refinancing or rolling over
the obligation is not at the discretion of the entity (for example, there is no
agreement to refinance), the potential to refinance is not considered and the
obligation is classified as current.

When an entity breaches an undertaking under a long-term loan agreement
on or before the reporting date, with the effect that the liability becomes
payable on demand, the liability is classified as current, even if the lender has
agreed, after the reporting date and before the authorization of the financial
statements for issue, not to demand payment as a consequence of the breach.
The liability is classified as current because, at the reporting date, the entity

181 IPSAS 1



86.

87.

PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

does not have an unconditional right to defer its settlement for at least twelve
months after that date.

However, the liability is classified as non-current if the lender agreed by the
reporting date to provide a period of grace ending at least twelve months after
the reporting date, within which the entity can rectify the breach and during
which the lender cannot demand immediate repayment.

In respect of loans classified as current liabilities, if the following events
occur between the reporting date and the date the financial statements are
authorized for issue, those events qualify for disclosure as non-adjusting
events in accordance with IPSAS 14, Events after the Reporting Date:

(a)  Refinancing on a long-term basis;
(b) Rectification of a breach of a long-term loan agreement; and

(¢)  The receipt from the lender of a period of grace to rectify a breach of
a long-term loan agreement ending at least twelve months after the
reporting date.

Information to be Presented on the Face of the Statement of Financial Position

88.

IPSAS 1

As a minimum, the face of the statement of financial position shall include
line items that present the following amounts:

(a) Property, plant, and equipment;
(b) Investment property;
(c) Intangible assets;

(d) Financial assets (excluding amounts shown under (e), (g), (h) and
);
(e) Investments accounted for using the equity method;

(f) Inventories;

(g) Recoverables from non-exchange transactions (taxes and
transfers);

(h)  Receivables from exchange transactions;
(i) Cash and cash equivalents;

(j)  Taxes and transfers payable;

(ja)  Social benefits liabilities;

(k)  Payables under exchange transactions;
(1)  Provisions;

(m) Financial liabilities (excluding amounts shown under (j), (k) and (1));
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(n)  Non-controlling interest, presented within net assets/equity; and
(o) Net assets/equity attributable to owners of the controlling entity.

Additional line items, headings, and sub-totals shall be presented on
the face of the statement of financial position when such presentation is
relevant to an understanding of the entity’s financial position.

This Standard does not prescribe the order or format in which items are to be
presented. Paragraph 88 simply provides a list of items that are sufficiently
different in nature or function to warrant separate presentation on the face
of the statement of financial position. Illustrative formats are set out in
Implementation Guidance to this Standard. In addition:

(a) Line items are included when the size, nature, or function of an item
or aggregation of similar items is such that separate presentation is
relevant to an understanding of the entity’s financial position; and

(b)  The descriptions used and the ordering of items or aggregation of
similar items may be amended according to the nature of the entity
and its transactions, to provide information that is relevant to an
understanding of the entity’s financial position.

The judgment on whether additional items are presented separately is based
on an assessment of?

(a)  The nature and liquidity of assets;
(b)  The function of assets within the entity; and
(¢)  The amounts, nature and timing of liabilities.

The use of different measurement bases for different classes of assets
suggests that their nature or function differs and, therefore, that they should
be presented as separate line items. For example, different classes of property,
plant, and equipment can be carried at cost or revalued amounts in accordance
with IPSAS 17, Property, Plant, and Equipment.

Information to be Presented either on the Face of the Statement of Financial Position
or in the Notes

93.

94.

An entity shall disclose, either on the face of the statement of financial
position or in the notes, further subclassifications of the line items
presented, classified in a manner appropriate to the entity’s operations.

The detail provided in subclassifications depends on the requirements
of IPSASs and on the size, nature and function of the amounts involved.
The factors set out in paragraph 91 also are used to decide the basis of
subclassification. The disclosures vary for each item, for example:

(a) Items of property, plant and equipment are disaggregated into classes
in accordance with IPSAS 17;
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(b) Receivables are disaggregated into amounts receivable from user
charges, taxes and other non-exchange revenues, receivables from
related parties, prepayments, and other amounts;

(¢) Inventories are subclassified in accordance with IPSAS 12, Inventories,
into classifications such as merchandise, production supplies, materials,
work in progress, and finished goods;

(d) Taxes and transfers payable are disaggregated into tax refunds
payable, transfers payable, and amounts payable to other members of
the economic entity;

(da) Social benefits liabilities are disaggregated into separate social benefit
schemes where these are material;

(e)  Provisions are disaggregated into provisions for employee benefits and
other items; and

(f)  Components of net assets/equity are disaggregated into contributed
capital, accumulated surpluses and deficits, and any reserves.

When an entity has no share capital, it shall disclose net assets/equity,
either on the face of the statement of financial position or in the notes,
showing separately:

(a) Contributed capital, being the cumulative total at the reporting
date of contributions from owners, less distributions to owners;

(b) Accumulated surpluses or deficits;

(¢) Reserves, including a description of the nature and purpose of
each reserve within net assets/equity; and

(d) Non-controlling interests.
If an entity has reclassified:
(a) A puttable financial instrument classified as an equity instrument; or

(b) An instrument that imposes on the entity an obligation to deliver
to another party a pro rata share of the net assets of the entity only
on liquidation and is classified as an equity instrument;

between financial liabilities and net assets/equity, it shall disclose the
amount reclassified into and out of each category (financial liabilities or
net assets/equity), and the timing and reason for that reclassification.

Many public sector entities will not have share capital, but the entity will
be controlled exclusively by another public sector entity. The nature of
the government’s interest in the net assets/equity of the entity is likely to
be a combination of contributed capital and the aggregate of the entity’s
accumulated surpluses or deficits and reserves that reflect the net assets/
equity attributable to the entity’s operations.
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In some cases, there may be a non-controlling interest in the net assets/equity
of the entity. For example, at the whole-of-government level, the economic
entity may include a commercial public sector entity that has been partly
privatized. Accordingly, there may be private shareholders who have a
financial interest in the net assets/equity of the entity.

When an entity has share capital, in addition to the disclosures in
paragraph 95, it shall disclose the following, either on the face of the
statement of financial position or in the notes:

(a)  For each class of share capital:
(1) The number of shares authorized;

(i)  The number of shares issued and fully paid, and the number
issued but not fully paid;

(i)  Par value per share, or that the shares have no par value;

(iv)  Areconciliation of the number of shares outstanding at the
beginning and at the end of the year;

(v)  The rights, preferences and restrictions attaching to that
class, including restrictions on the distribution of dividends
and the repayment of capital;

(vi)  Shares in the entity held by the entity or by its controlled
entities or associates; and

(vil) Shares reserved for issue under options and contracts for
the sale of shares, including the terms and amounts; and

(b) A description of the nature and purpose of each reserve within net
assets/equity.

Statement of Financial Performance

Surplus or Deficit for the Period

99.

100.

101.

All items of revenue and expense recognized in a period shall be included
in surplus or deficit, unless an IPSAS requires otherwise.

Normally, all items of revenue and expense recognized in a period are included
in surplus or deficit. This includes the effects of changes in accounting
estimates. However, circumstances may exist when particular items may be
excluded from surplus or deficit for the current period. IPSAS 3 deals with
two such circumstances: the correction of errors and the effect of changes in
accounting policies.

Other IPSASs deal with items that may meet definitions of revenue or
expense set out in this Standard, but are usually excluded from surplus or
deficit. Examples include revaluation surpluses (see IPSAS 17), particular
(a) gains and losses arising on translating the financial statements of a
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foreign operation (see IPSAS 4), and (b) gains or losses on remeasuring
financial assets measured at fair value through net assets/equity (guidance on
measurement of financial assets can be found in IPSAS 41).

Information to be Presented on the Face of the Statement Financial Performance

102.

103.

104.

IPSAS 1

As a minimum, the face of the statement of financial performance shall
include line items that present the following amounts for the period:

(a)

(b)
(ba)

(©)

(ca)

(cb)

(d)

(e)

Revenue, presenting separately:

(i)  Interest revenue calculated using the effective interest
method; and

(i)  Gains and losses arising from the derecognition of financial
assets measured at amortized cost;

Finance costs;

Impairment losses (including reversals of impairment losses or
impairment gains) determined in accordance with paragraphs 73—
93 of IPSAS 41;

Share of the surplus or deficit of associates and joint ventures
accounted for using the equity method;

If a financial asset is reclassified out of the amortized cost
measurement category so that it is measured at fair value through
surplus or deficit, any gain or loss arising from a difference between
the previous amortized cost of the financial asset and its fair value
at the reclassification date (as defined in IPSAS 41);

If a financial asset is reclassified out of the fair value through
net asset/equity measurement category so that it is measured at
fair value through surplus or deficit, any cumulative gain or loss
previously recognized in net assets/equity that is reclassified to
surplus or deficit;

Pre-tax gain or loss recognized on the disposal of assets or settlement
of liabilities attributable to discontinuing operations; and

Surplus or deficit.

The following items shall be disclosed on the face of the statement of
financial performance as allocations of surplus or deficit for the period:

(a)
(b)

Surplus or deficit attributable to non-controlling interest; and

Surplus or deficit attributable to owners of the controlling entity.

Additional line items, headings, and subtotals shall be presented on the
face of the statement of financial performance when such presentation is
relevant to an understanding of the entity’s financial performance.
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105. Because the effects of an entity’s various activities, transactions, and other
events differ in terms of their impact on its ability to meet its service delivery
obligations, disclosing the components of financial performance assists
in an understanding of the financial performance achieved and in making
projections of future results. Additional line items are included on the face
of the statement of financial performance, and the descriptions used and the
ordering of items are amended when this is necessary to explain the elements
of performance. Factors to be considered include materiality and the nature
and function of the components of revenue and expenses. Revenue and
expense items are not offset unless the criteria in paragraph 48 are met.

Information to be Presented either on the Face of the Statement of Financial
Performance or in the Notes

106. When items of revenue and expense are material, their nature and
amount shall be disclosed separately.

107. Circumstances that would give rise to the separate disclosure of items of
revenue and expense include:

(a)  Write-downs of inventories to net realizable value or of property, plant,
and equipment to recoverable amount or recoverable service amount
as appropriate, as well as reversals of such write-downs;

(b) Restructurings of the activities of an entity and reversals of any
provisions for the costs of restructuring;

(¢) Disposals of items of property, plant, and equipment;
(d)  Privatizations or other disposals of investments;

(¢) Discontinuing operations;

(f)  Litigation settlements; and

(g) Other reversals of provisions.

108. An entity shall present, either on the face of the statement of financial
performance or in the notes, a subclassification of total revenue, classified
in a manner appropriate to the entity’s operations.

109. An entity shall present, either on the face of the statement of financial
performance or in the notes, an analysis of expenses using a classification
based on either the nature of expenses or their function within the entity,
whichever provides information that is faithfully representative and
more relevant.

110. Entities are encouraged to present the analysis in paragraph 109 on the face
of the statement of financial performance.
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Expenses are subclassified to highlight the costs and cost recoveries of
particular programs, activities, or other relevant segments of the reporting
entity. This analysis is provided in one of two ways.

The first form of analysis is the nature of expense method. Expenses are
aggregated in the statement of financial performance according to their nature
(for example, depreciation, purchases of materials, transport costs, employee
benefits, and advertising costs), and are not reallocated among various
functions within the entity. This method may be simple to apply because
no allocations of expenses to functional classifications are necessary. An
example of a classification using the nature of expense method is as follows:

Revenue X
Employee benefits costs
Social benefits expenses

Depreciation and amortization expense

)RR X

Other expenses
Total expenses X)
Surplus X

The second form of analysis is the function of expense method and classifies
expenses according to the program or purpose for which they were made.
This method can provide more relevant information to users than the
classification of expenses by nature, but allocating costs to functions may
require arbitrary allocations and involves considerable judgment. An example
of a classification using the function of expense method is as follows:

Revenue X
Expenses:

Social benefits expenses (X)
Health expenses (X)
Education expenses X)
Other expenses X)
Surplus X

The expenses associated with the main functions undertaken by the entity
are shown separately. In this example, the entity has functions relating to the
provision of social benefits, health and education services. The entity would
present expense line items for each of these functions.

Entities classifying expenses by function shall disclose additional
information on the nature of expenses, including depreciation and
amortization expense, social benefits expense and employee benefits
expense.
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The choice between the function of expense method and the nature of expense
method depends on historical and regulatory factors and the nature of the
entity. Both methods provide an indication of those costs that might vary,
directly or indirectly, with the outputs of the entity. Because each method
of presentation has its merits for different types of entities, this Standard
requires management to select the most relevant and faithfully representative
presentation. However, because information on the nature of expenses is
useful in predicting future cash flows, additional disclosure is required when
the function of expense classification is used. In paragraph 115, employee
benefits has the same meaning as in IPSAS 39, Employee Benefits.

When an entity provides a dividend or similar distribution to its owners
and has share capital, it shall disclose, either on the face of the statement
of financial performance or the statement of changes in net assets/
equity, or in the notes, the amount of dividends or similar distributions
recognized as distributions to owners during the period, and the related
amount per share.

Statement of Changes in Net Assets/Equity

118.

119.

An entity shall present a statement of changes in net assets/equity
showing on the face of the statement:

(a)  Surplus or deficit for the period;

(b) Each item of revenue and expense for the period that, as required
by other Standards, is recognized directly in net assets/equity, and
the total of these items;

(c) Total revenue and expense for the period (calculated as the sum
of (a) and (b)), showing separately the total amounts attributable
to owners of the controlling entity and to non-controlling interest;
and

(d) For each component of net assets/equity separately disclosed, the
effects of changes in accounting policies and corrections of errors
recognized in accordance with IPSAS 3.

An entity shall also present, either on the face of the statement of changes
in net assets/equity or in the notes:

(@) The amounts of transactions with owners acting in their capacity
as owners, showing separately distributions to owners;

(b)  The balance of accumulated surpluses or deficits at the beginning
of the period and at the reporting date, and the changes during the
period; and

(c) To the extent that components of net assets/equity are separately
disclosed, reconciliation between the carrying amount of each
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component of net assets/equity at the beginning and the end of the
period, separately disclosing each change.

Changes in an entity’s net assets/equity between two reporting dates reflect
the increase or decrease in its net assets during the period.

The overall change in net assets/equity during a period represents the total
amount of surplus or deficit for the period, other revenues and expenses
recognized directly as changes in net assets/equity, together with any
contributions by, and distributions to, owners in their capacity as owners.

Contributions by, and distributions to, owners include transfers between two
entities within an economic entity (for example, a transfer from a government,
acting in its capacity as owner, to a government department). Contributions
by owners, in their capacity as owners, to controlled entities are recognized
as a direct adjustment to net assets/equity only where they explicitly give
rise to residual interests in the entity in the form of rights to net assets/equity.

This Standard requires all items of revenue and expense recognized in a
period to be included in surplus or deficit, unless another IPSAS requires
otherwise. Other IPSASs require some items (such as revaluation increases
and decreases, particular foreign exchange differences) to be recognized
directly as changes in net assets/equity. Because it is important to consider
all items of revenue and expense in assessing changes in an entity’s financial
position between two reporting dates, this Standard requires the presentation
of a statement of changes in net assets/equity that highlights an entity’s total
revenue and expenses, including those that are recognized directly in net
assets/equity.

IPSAS 3 requires retrospective adjustments to reflect changes in accounting
policies, to the extent practicable, except when the transitional provisions in
another IPSAS require otherwise. IPSAS 3 also requires that restatements
to correct errors are made retrospectively, to the extent practicable.
Retrospective adjustments and retrospective restatements are made to the
balance of accumulated surpluses or deficits, except when an IPSAS requires
retrospective adjustment of another component of net assets/equity. Paragraph
118(d) requires disclosure in the statement of changes in net assets/equity
of the total adjustment to each component of net assets/equity separately
disclosed resulting, separately, from changes in accounting policies and from
corrections of errors. These adjustments are disclosed for each prior period
and the beginning of the period.

The requirements in paragraphs 118 and 119 may be met by using a columnar
format that reconciles the opening and closing balances of each element
within net assets/equity. An alternative is to present only the items set out
in paragraph 118 in the statement of changes in net assets/equity. Under this
approach, the items described in paragraph 119 are shown in the notes.

190



125A.

125B.

125C.

PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Other IPSASs specify whether and when amounts previously recognized in
net assets/equity are reclassified to surplus or deficit. Such reclassifications are
referred to in this Standard as reclassification adjustments. A reclassification
adjustment is included with the related component of net assets/equity in the
period that the adjustment is reclassified to surplus or deficit. These amounts
may have been recognized in net assets/equity as unrealized gains in the
current or previous periods. Those unrealized gains must be deducted from
net assets/equity in the period in which the realized gains are reclassified to
surplus or deficit to avoid including them in the statement of changes in net
assets/equity twice.

Reclassification adjustments arise, for example, on disposal of a foreign
operation (see IPSAS 4) and when some hedged forecast cash flows affect
surplus or deficit (see paragraph 140(d) of IPSAS 41 in relation to cash flow
hedges).

Reclassification adjustments do not arise on changes in revaluation surplus
recognized in accordance with IPSAS 17 or IPSAS 31 or on remeasurements
of defined benefit plans recognized in accordance with IPSAS 39. These
components are recognized in net assets/equity and are not reclassified to
surplus or deficit in subsequent periods. Changes in revaluation surplus may
be transferred to accumulated surpluses or deficits in subsequent periods as
the asset is used or when it is derecognized (see IPSAS 17 or IPSAS 31).
In accordance with IPSAS 41, reclassification adjustments do not arise if
a cash flow hedge or the accounting for the time value of an option (or the
forward element of a forward contract or the foreign currency basis spread of
a financial instrument) result in amounts that are removed from the cash flow
hedge reserve or a separate component of net assets/equity, respectively, and
included directly in the initial cost or other carrying amount of an asset or a
liability. These amounts are directly transferred to assets or liabilities.

Cash Flow Statement

126. Cash flow information provides users of financial statements with a basis
to assess (a) the ability of the entity to generate cash and cash equivalents,
and (b) the needs of the entity to utilize those cash flows. IPSAS 2 sets out
requirements for the presentation of the cash flow statement and related
disclosures.

Notes

Structure

127. The notes shall:

(a)  Present information about the basis of preparation of the financial
statements and the specific accounting policies used, in accordance
with paragraphs 132-139;

191 IPSAS 1



128.

129.

130.

131.

IPSAS 1

PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(b) Disclose the information required by IPSASs that is not presented
on the face of the statement of financial position, statement of
financial performance, statement of changes in net assets/equity,
or cash flow statement; and

(c) Provide additional information that is not presented on the face
of the statement of financial position, statement of financial
performance, statement of changes in net assets/equity, or cash
flow statement, but that is relevant to an understanding of any of
them.

Notes shall, as far as practicable, be presented in a systematic manner.
Each item on the face of the statement of financial position, statement
of financial performance, statement of changes in net assets/equity, and
cash flow statement shall be cross-referenced to any related information
in the notes.

Notes are normally presented in the following order, which assists users in
understanding the financial statements and comparing them with financial
statements of other entities:

(a) A statement of compliance with IPSASs (see paragraph 28);

(b) A summary of significant accounting policies applied (see paragraph
132);

(¢)  Supporting information for items presented on the face of the statement
of financial position, statement of financial performance, statement of
changes in net assets/equity, or cash flow statement, in the order in
which each statement and each line item is presented; and

(d)  Other disclosures, including:

(i)  Contingent liabilities (see IPSAS 19), and unrecognized
contractual commitments; and

(i1)  Non-financial disclosures, e.g., the entity’s financial risk
management objectives and policies (see IPSAS 30).

In some circumstances, it may be necessary or desirable to vary the ordering
of specific items within the notes. For example, information on changes in
fair value recognized in surplus or deficit may be combined with information
on maturities of financial instruments, although the former disclosures relate
to the statement of financial performance and the latter relate to the statement
of financial position. Nevertheless, a systematic structure for the notes is
retained as far as practicable.

Notes providing information about the basis of preparation of the financial
statements and specific accounting policies may be presented as a separate
component of the financial statements.
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Disclosure of Accounting Policies

132.

133.

134.

135.

136.

An entity shall disclose in the summary of significant accounting policies:

(a) The measurement basis (or bases) used in preparing the financial
statements;

(b) The extent to which the entity has applied any transitional
provisions in any IPSAS; and

(c) The other accounting policies used that are relevant to an
understanding of the financial statements.

It is important for users to be informed of the measurement basis or bases
used in the financial statements (for example, historical cost, current cost,
net realizable value, fair value, recoverable amount, or recoverable service
amount), because the basis on which the financial statements are prepared
significantly affects their analysis. When more than one measurement basis is
used in the financial statements, for example when particular classes of assets
are revalued, it is sufficient to provide an indication of the categories of assets
and liabilities to which each measurement basis is applied.

In deciding whether a particular accounting policy should be disclosed,
management considers whether disclosure would assist users in understanding
how transactions, other events, and conditions are reflected in the reported
financial performance and financial position. Disclosure of particular
accounting policies is especially useful to users when those policies are
selected from alternatives allowed in IPSASs. An example is disclosure
of whether an entity applies the fair value or cost model to its investment
property (see IPSAS 16, Investment Property.) Some IPSASs specifically
require disclosure of particular accounting policies, including choices made
by management between different policies allowed in those Standards. For
example, IPSAS 17 requires disclosure of the measurement bases used
for classes of property, plant, and equipment. IPSAS 5, Borrowing Costs,
requires disclosure of whether borrowing costs are recognized immediately
as an expense, or capitalized as part of the cost of qualifying assets.

Each entity considers the nature of its operations and the policies that the
users of its financial statements would expect to be disclosed for that type
of entity. For example, public sector entities would be expected to disclose
an accounting policy for recognition of taxes, donations, and other forms of
non-exchange revenue. When an entity has significant foreign operations or
transactions in foreign currencies, disclosure of accounting policies for the
recognition of foreign exchange gains and losses would be expected. When
public sector combinations have occurred, the policies used for measuring
goodwill and non-controlling interest are disclosed.

An accounting policy may be significant because of the nature of the entity’s
operation, even if amounts for current and prior periods are not material. It
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is also appropriate to disclose each significant accounting policy that is not
specifically required by IPSASs, but is selected and applied in accordance
with IPSAS 3.

An entity shall disclose, in the summary of significant accounting policies
or other notes, the judgments, apart from those involving estimations
(see paragraph 140), management has made in the process of applying
the entity’s accounting policies that have the most significant effect on
the amounts recognized in the financial statements.

In the process of applying the entity’s accounting policies, management
makes various judgments, apart from those involving estimations, that can
significantly affect the amounts recognized in the financial statements. For
example, management makes judgments in determining:

e  Whether assets are investment properties;

e  Whether agreements for the provision of goods and/or services that
involve the use of dedicated assets are leases;

e  Whether, in substance, particular sales of goods are financing
arrangements and therefore do not give rise to revenue;

e  Whether the substance of the relationship between the reporting entity
and other entities indicates that these other entities are controlled by the
reporting entity; and,

e  Whether the contractual terms of a financial asset give rise on specified
dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on
the principal amount outstanding.

Some of the disclosures made in accordance with paragraph 137 are required
by other IPSASs. For example, IPSAS 38, Disclosure of Interests in Other
Entities, requires an entity to disclose the judgments it has made in determining
whether it controls another entity. IPSAS 16, Investment Property, requires
disclosure of the criteria developed by the entity to distinguish investment
property from owner-occupied property, and from property held for sale in
the ordinary course of business, when classification of the property is difficult.

Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty

140.

IPSAS 1

An entity shall disclose in the notes information about (a) the key
assumptions concerning the future, and (b) other key sources of
estimation uncertainty at the reporting date, that have a significant risk
of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year. In respect of those assets and
liabilities, the notes shall include details of:

(a)  Their nature; and

(b)  Their carrying amount as at the reporting date.
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Determining the carrying amounts of some assets and liabilities requires
estimation of the effects of uncertain future events on those assets and
liabilities at the reporting date. For example, in the absence of recently
observed market prices used to measure the following assets and liabilities,
future-oriented estimates are necessary to measure (a) the recoverable
amount of certain classes of property, plant, and equipment, (b) the effect of
technological obsolescence on inventories, and (c) provisions subject to the
future outcome of litigation in progress. These estimates involve assumptions
about such items as the risk adjustment to cash flows or discount rates used
and future changes in prices affecting other costs.

The key assumptions and other key sources of estimation uncertainty
disclosed in accordance with paragraph 140 relate to the estimates that require
management’s most difficult, subjective, or complex judgments. As the
number of variables and assumptions affecting the possible future resolution
of the uncertainties increases, those judgments become more subjective and
complex, and the potential for a consequential material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities normally increases accordingly.

The disclosures in paragraph 140 are not required for assets and liabilities
with a significant risk that their carrying amounts might change materially
within the next financial year if, at the reporting date, they are measured at
fair value based on recently observed market prices (their fair values might
change materially within the next financial year, but these changes would
not arise from assumptions or other sources of estimation uncertainty at the
reporting date).

The disclosures in paragraph 140 are presented in a manner that helps users
of financial statements to understand the judgments management makes
about the future and about other key sources of estimation uncertainty. The
nature and extent of the information provided vary according to the nature of
the assumption and other circumstances. Examples of the types of disclosures
made are:

(a)  The nature of the assumption or other estimation uncertainty;

(b)  The sensitivity of carrying amounts to the methods, assumptions, and
estimates underlying their calculation, including the reasons for the
sensitivity;

(¢)  The expected resolution of an uncertainty and the range of reasonably

possible outcomes within the next financial year in respect of the
carrying amounts of the assets and liabilities affected; and

(d)  An explanation of changes made to past assumptions concerning those
assets and liabilities, if the uncertainty remains unresolved.

It is not necessary to disclose budget information or forecasts in making the
disclosures in paragraph 140.
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When it is impracticable to disclose the extent of the possible effects of a key
assumption or another key source of estimation uncertainty at the reporting
date, the entity discloses that it is reasonably possible, based on existing
knowledge, that outcomes within the next financial year that are different
from assumptions could require a material adjustment to the carrying amount
of the asset or liability affected. In all cases, the entity discloses the nature
and carrying amount of the specific asset or liability (or class of assets or
liabilities) affected by the assumption.

The disclosures in paragraph 137 of particular judgments management made
in the process of applying the entity’s accounting policies do not relate to the
disclosures of key sources of estimation uncertainty in paragraph 140.

The disclosure of some of the key assumptions that would otherwise be
required in accordance with paragraph 140 is required by other IPSASs.
For example, IPSAS 19 requires disclosure, in specified circumstances, of
major assumptions concerning future events affecting classes of provisions.
IPSAS 30 requires disclosure of significant assumptions applied in estimating
fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities that are carried at fair
value. IPSAS 17 requires disclosure of significant assumptions applied in
estimating fair values of revalued items of property, plant and equipment.

An entity shall disclose information that enables users of its financial
statements to evaluate the entity’s objectives, policies, and processes for
managing capital.

To comply with paragraph 148A the entity discloses the following:

(a) Qualitative information about its objectives, policies, and processes
for managing capital, including (but not limited to):

(i) A description of what it manages as capital;

(i)  When an entity is subject to externally imposed capital
requirements, the nature of those requirements and how those
requirements are incorporated into the management of capital;
and

(iii) How it is meeting its objectives for managing capital.

(b) Summary quantitative data about what it manages as capital.
Some entities regard some financial liabilities (e.g., some forms of
subordinated debt) as part of capital. Other entities regard capital as
excluding some components of equity (e.g., components arising from
cash flow hedges).

(¢)  Any changes in (a) and (b) from the previous period.
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(d)  Whether during the period it complied with any externally imposed
capital requirements to which it is subject.

(e)  When the entity has not complied with such externally imposed capital
requirements, the consequences of such non-compliance.

These disclosures shall be based on the information provided internally to the
entity’s key management personnel.

148C.  Anentity may manage capital in a number of ways and be subject to a number
of different capital requirements. For example, a conglomerate may include
entities that undertake insurance activities and banking activities, and those
entities may also operate in several jurisdictions. When an aggregate disclosure
of capital requirements and how capital is managed would not provide useful
information or distorts a financial statement user’s understanding of an
entity’s capital resources, the entity shall disclose separate information for
each capital requirement to which the entity is subject.

Puttable Financial Instruments Classified as Net Assets/Equity

148D. For puttable financial instruments classified as equity instruments, an
entity shall disclose (to the extent not disclosed elsewhere):

(a) Summary quantitative data about the amount classified as net
assets/equity;

(b) Its objectives, policies and processes for managing its obligation to
repurchase or redeem the instruments when required to do so by
the instrument holders, including any changes from the previous
period;

(c) The expected cash outflow on redemption or repurchase of that
class of financial instruments; and

(d) Information about how the expected cash outflow on redemption
or repurchase was determined.

Other Disclosures
149. An entity shall disclose in the notes:

(a) The amount of dividends, or similar distributions, proposed or
declared before the financial statements were authorized for issue,
but not recognized as a distribution to owners during the period,
and the related amount per share; and

(b) The amount of any cumulative preference dividends, or similar
distributions, not recognized.

150. An entity shall disclose the following, if not disclosed elsewhere in
information published with the financial statements:
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(@) The domicile and legal form of the entity, and the jurisdiction
within which it operates;

(b) A description of the nature of the entity’s operations and principal
activities;

(c) A reference to the relevant legislation governing the entity’s
operations;

(d) The name of the controlling entity and the ultimate controlling
entity of the economic entity (where applicable); and

(e) Ifitis a limited life entity, information regarding the length of its
life.

Transitional Provisions

151.
152.

[Deleted]
[Deleted]

Effective Date

153.

153A.

153B.

153C.

153D.

IPSAS 1

An entity shall apply this Standard for annual financial statements
covering periods beginning on or after January 1, 2008. Earlier
application is encouraged. If an entity applies this Standard for a period
beginning before January 1, 2008, it shall disclose that fact.

Paragraphs 79 and 82 were amended by Improvements to IPSASs
issued in January 2010. An entity shall apply those amendments for
annual financial statements covering periods beginning on or after
January 1, 2011. Earlier application is encouraged. If an entity applies
the amendments for a period beginning before January 1, 2011, it
shall disclose that fact.

IPSAS 28 amended paragraph 150 and inserted paragraphs 7A, 95A,
and 148D. An entity shall apply the amendments for annual financial
statements covering periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013. If an
entity applies IPSAS 28 for a period beginning before January 1, 2013,
the amendments shall also be applied for that earlier period.

IPSAS 30 amended paragraphs 75, 129, and 148 and inserted
paragraphs 148A—148C. An entity shall apply the amendments for
annual financial statements covering periods beginning on or after
January 1, 2013. If an entity applies IPSAS 30 for a period beginning
before January 1, 2013, the amendments shall also be applied for that
earlier period.

Paragraph 80 was amended by Improvements to IPSASs issued in
November 2010. An entity shall apply that amendment for annual
financial statements covering periods beginning on or after January 1,
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2012. Earlier application is encouraged. If an entity applies the
amendment for a period beginning before January 1, 2012, it shall
disclose that fact.

Paragraphs 21, 53 and 54 were amended and paragraph 53A added
by Improvements to IPSASs 2014, issued in January 201S. An entity
shall apply those amendments for annual financial statements covering
periods beginning on or after January 1, 2015. Earlier application is
encouraged. If an entity applies the amendments for a period beginning
before January 1, 2015, it shall disclose that fact.

Paragraphs 151, 152 and 154 were amended by IPSAS 33, First-time
Adoption of Accrual Basis International Public Sector Accounting
Standards (IPSASs) issued in January 2015. An entity shall apply those
amendments for annual financial statements covering periods beginning
on or after January 1, 2017. Earlier application is permitted. If an entity
applies IPSAS 33 for a period beginning before January 1, 2017, the
amendments shall also be applied for that earlier period.

IPSAS 35, Consolidated Financial Statements and IPSAS 38, Disclosure of
Interests in Other Entities, issued in January 2015, amended paragraphs 4,
7,12, 88(n), 95(d), 97, 103, 118(c), 134, 135 and 139. An entity shall apply
those amendments when it applies IPSAS 35, and IPSAS 38.

Paragraphs 29, 44, 70, 73, 74, 109 and 116 were amended, and Appendix
A, Qualitative Characteristics of Financial Reporting, was deleted by
Improvements to IPSASs 2015 issued in April 2016. An entity shall apply
those amendments for annual financial statements covering periods
beginning on or after January 1, 2017. Earlier application is encouraged.
If an entity applies the amendment for a period beginning before January
1, 2017 it shall disclose that fact.

Paragraphs 5, 6 and 12 were deleted and paragraphs 7 and 97 were
amended by The Applicability of IPSASs, issued in April 2016. An entity
shall apply those amendments for annual financial statements covering
periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018. Earlier application is
encouraged. If an entity applies the amendments for a period beginning
before January 1, 2018, it shall disclose that fact.

Paragraph 116 was amended by IPSAS 39, Employee Benefits, issued in
July 2016. An entity shall apply that amendment for annual financial
statements covering periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018.
Earlier application is encouraged. If an entity applies the amendment
for a period beginning before January 1, 2018 it shall disclose that fact
and apply IPSAS 39 at the same time.

Paragraph 135 was amended by IPSAS 40, Public Sector Combinations,
issued in January 2017. An entity shall apply this amendment for
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annual financial statements covering periods beginning on or after
January 1, 2019. Earlier application is encouraged. If an entity applies
the amendment for a period beginning before January 1, 2019 it shall
disclose that fact and apply IPSAS 40 at the same time.

Paragraphs 7, 79, 82, 101, 102 and 138 were amended and
paragraphs 125A, 125B and 125C were added by IPSAS 41, issued in
August 2018. An entity shall apply these amendments for annual financial
statements covering periods beginning on or after January 1, 2022.
Earlier application is encouraged. If an entity applies the amendments
for a period beginning before January 1, 2022 it shall disclose that fact
and apply IPSAS 41 at the same time.

Paragraphs 88, 94 and 112-115 were amended by IPSAS 42, Social
Benefits, issued in January 2019. An entity shall apply these amendments
at the same time as it applies IPSAS 42.

When an entity adopts the accrual basis IPSASs of accounting as defined in
IPSAS 33, First-time Adoption of Accrual Basis International Public Sector
Accounting Standards (IPSASs) for financial reporting purposes subsequent
to this effective date, this Standard applies to the entity’s annual financial
statements covering periods beginning on or after the date of adoption of
IPSASs.

Withdrawal of IPSAS 1 (2000)

155.

IPSAS 1

This Standard supersedes IPSAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements,
issued in 2000.
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Appendix A

Qualitative Characteristics of Financial Reporting

This Appendix is an integral part of IPSAS 1.
[Deleted]
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Appendix B

Amendments to Other IPSASs
[Deleted]
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Basis for Conclusions

This Basis for Conclusions accompanies, but is not part of, IPSAS 1.

Revision of IPSAS 1 as a result of the IASB’s General Improvements Project 2003

Background

BCl.

BC2.

BC3.

BCA4.

BCs.

The IPSASB’s IFRS convergence program is an important element in the
IPSASB’s work program. The IPSASB policy is to converge the accrual basis
IPSASs with IFRSs issued by the IASB where appropriate for public sector
entities.

Accrual basis IPSASs that are converged with IFRSs maintain the
requirements, structure, and text of the IFRSs, unless there is a public sector-
specific reason for a departure. Departure from the equivalent IFRS occurs
when requirements or terminology in the IFRS are not appropriate for the
public sector, or when inclusion of additional commentary or examples is
necessary to illustrate certain requirements in the public sector context.
Differences between IPSASs and their equivalent IFRSs are identified in the
Comparison with IFRS included in each IPSAS.

In May 2002, the IASB issued an exposure draft of proposed amendments
to 13 IASs' as part of its General Improvements Project. The objectives
of the IASB’s General Improvements Project were to “reduce or eliminate
alternatives, redundancies and conflicts within the Standards, to deal with
some convergence issues and to make other improvements.” The final IASs
were issued in December 2003.

IPSAS 1, issued in January 2000, was based on IAS 1 (revised 1997), which
was reissued in December 2003. In late 2003, the IPSASB’s predecessor, the
Public Sector Committee (PSC),? actioned an IPSAS improvements project
to converge, where appropriate, IPSASs with the improved [ASs issued in
December 2003.

The IPSASB reviewed the improved IAS 1 and generally concurred with
the IASB’s reasons for revising the IAS and with the amendments made.
(The TASB’s Basis for Conclusions is not reproduced here. Subscribers to
the IASB’s Comprehensive Subscription Service can view the Basis for
Conclusions on the IASB’s website at www.iasb.org). In those cases where
the IPSAS departs from its related IAS, the Basis for Conclusions explains
the public sector-specific reasons for the departure.

IASs were issued by the IASB’s predecessor, the IASC. The Standards issued by the IASB are entitled

International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs). The IASB has defined IFRSs to consist of
IFRSs, IASs, and Interpretations of the Standards. In some cases, the IASB has amended, rather than
replaced, the IASs, in which case the old IAS number remains.

The PSC became the IPSASB when the IFAC Board changed the PSC’s mandate to become an

independent standard-setting board in November 2004.
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IAS 1 has been further amended as a consequence of IFRSs issued after
December 2003. IPSAS 1 does not include the consequential amendments
arising from IFRSs issued after December 2003. This is because the
IPSASB has not yet reviewed and formed a view on the applicability of the
requirements in those IFRSs to public sector entities.

IAS 1 uses the term income, which is not used in IPSAS 1. IPSAS 1 uses
revenue, which corresponds to income in the IASs/IFRSs. The term income is
broader than revenue, encompassing gains in addition to revenue. The IPSASs
do not include a definition of income, and introducing such a definition was
not part of the improvements project and was not included in ED 26.

Extraordinary Items

BC8.

BC9.

BC10.

IAS 1 prohibits an entity from presenting any item of income or expense
as extraordinary items, either on the face of the income statement or in the
notes. The IASB concluded that items treated as extraordinary result from
the normal business risks faced by an entity, and do not warrant presentation
in a separate component of the income statement. The nature or function of
a transaction or other event, rather than its frequency, should determine its
presentation within the income statement.

The definition of extraordinary items in IPSAS 1 (2000) differed from the
definition included in the previous (1993) version of IAS 8, Net Profit or Loss
for the Period, Fundamental Errors and Changes in Accounting Policies.?
This difference reflected the public sector view of what constituted an
extraordinary item for public sector entities.

This Standard does not explicitly preclude the presentation of items of
revenue and expense as extraordinary items, either on the face of the
statement of financial performance or in the notes. IAS 1 prohibits any items
of income and expense to be presented as extraordinary items, either on the
face of the income statement or in the notes. The IPSASB is of the view that
IPSASs should not prohibit entities from disclosing extraordinary items in
the notes to, or on the face of, the statement of financial performance. This is
because they believe that the disclosure of information about extraordinary
items may be consistent with the objectives and qualitative characteristics
of financial reporting. However, other members are of the view that there is
not a public sector-specific reason to depart from the requirements of IAS 1
in respect of this matter. They also noted that IPSAS 1 does not preclude the

IPSAS 1 (2000) defined extraordinary items as “revenue or expenses that arise from events or

transactions that are clearly distinct from the ordinary activities of the entity, are not expected to
recur frequently or regularly and are outside the control or influence of the entity.” IAS 8 defined
“extraordinary items” as “income or expenses that arise from events or transactions that are clearly
distinct from the ordinary activities of the enterprise and therefore are not expected to recur frequently
or regularly.”
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separate presentation of items that are distinct from the ordinary activities of
a government, either on the face of the financial statements or in the notes, as
long as these items are material. They are not convinced that there is a public
sector-specific reason to depart from the IASB’s prohibition on presenting
“extraordinary items” in the financial statements.

Revision of IPSAS 1 as a result of the IASB’s Improvements to IFRSs issued

in 2008
BCl11.

The IPSASB reviewed the revisions to IAS 1 included in the Improvements
to IFRSs issued by the IASB in May 2008 and generally concurred with the
IASB’s reasons for revising the standard. The IPSASB concluded that there
was no public sector specific reason for not adopting the amendments.

Revision of IPSAS 1 as a result of the IASB’s Improvements to IFRSs issued

in 2009
BCl12.

The IPSASB reviewed the revisions to IAS 1 included in the Improvements
to IFRSs issued by the IASB in April 2009 and generally concurred with the
IASB’s reasons for revising the standard. The IPSASB concluded that there
was no public sector specific reason for not adopting the amendment.

Revision of IPSAS 1 as a result of IASB’s Improvements to IFRS’s issued
May 2012

BC13.

The IPSASB reviewed the revisions to IAS 1 included in the Improvements
to IFRSs issued by the IASB in May 2012 and generally concurred that there
was no public sector specific reason for not adopting certain amendments.
The IPSASB noted some of the amendments impact IFRS 1, First-time
Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards and 1AS 34, Interim
Financial Reporting for which equivalent standards do not exist in IPSASs,
and therefore such amendments have been excluded. Further, a portion of the
amendments propose changes related to presenting a statement of financial
position at the beginning of a preceding period for retrospective changes
resulting from accounting policy changes, restatements and reclassifications.
Presentation of an opening statement of financial position is currently not
a requirement of IPSAS 1 and introducing changes related to these IASB
amendments, is not considered minor and therefore these have been
excluded. A further portion of the amendment related to presenting additional
comparative information was not considered a minor change and has also
been excluded.
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Revision of IPSAS 1 as a result of the first four chapters of the IPASB’s
Conceptual Framework for General Purpose Financial Reporting by Public Sector
Entities (Improvements to IPSASs 2015)

BCl14.

BC15.

BC16.

Following completion of the Conceptual Framework for General Purpose
Financial Reporting by Public Sector Entities (the Conceptual Framework)
the IPSASB initiated a limited scope project to make changes to IPSASs to
reflect the first four chapters of the Conceptual Framework. These chapters
address role and authority; objectives and users; qualitative characteristics
(QCs) and constraints on information in general purpose financial reports;
and the reporting entity. The Conceptual Framework adopted the QC of
“faithful representation” rather than “reliability”.

Both the version of IPSAS 1 issued in May 2000 and the revised version of
IPSAS 1 issued in December 2006 included an appendix that summarized
the QCs and constraints that IPSASB had indirectly adopted. These QCs and
constraints were drawn from the former International Accounting Standards
Committee’s 1989 Conceptual Framework. The IPSASB considered whether
this Appendix should be deleted completely or amended to reflect the QCs
and constraints in the IPSASB’s own Conceptual Framework. The IPSASB
decided that it is important that the concepts in the Conceptual Framework
are considered directly rather than being mediated through secondary
sources. The IPSASB therefore decided to delete Appendix A completely.
Consistent with this decision the IPSASB also decided to delete a replication
of Appendix A in IPSAS 18, Segment Reporting.

The IPSASB noted that recognition criteria in IPSASs include the words
“reliably” or “reliable”. Many other IPSASs do not include explicit
recognition criteria, but include references to “reliably” and “reliable” in
more general guidance on recognition, estimation, allocation and other issues
related to measurement. The IPSASB did not consider it appropriate to make
piecemeal changes to recognition criteria in advance of a fuller review of
recognition criteria and related guidance. The IPSASB therefore decided
to include a footnote explaining the meaning of “reliability” in each IPSAS
with recognition criteria or related guidance on aspects of measurement. This
footnote states that “information that is reliable is free from material error
and bias, and can be depended on by users to faithfully represent that which
it purports to represent or could reasonably be expected to represent.”

Revision of IPSAS 1 as a result of the IPSASB’s The Applicability of IPSASs,
issued in April 2016

Background

BC17.

IPSAS 1 included the following definition of a Government Business
Enterprise (GBE):
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Government Business Enterprise means an entity that has all the following
characteristics:

(a)  Is an entity with the power to contract in its own name;

(b)  Has been assigned the financial and operational authority to carry on
a business;

(c)  Sells goods and services, in the normal course of its business, to other
entities at a profit or full cost recovery,

(d)  Is not reliant on continuing government funding to be a going concern
(other than purchases of outputs at arm’s length); and

(e)  Is controlled by a public sector entity.

The purpose of the definition was to exclude commercial public sector
entities that met the above definition of a GBE from the scope of IPSAS:s.
However, feedback received by the IPSASB indicated that there is a wide
range of entities being described as GBEs, some of which clearly do not
meet the [IPSASB definition of a GBE. There also appeared to be different
interpretations of components of the definition.

To address this problem, in August 2014 the IPSASB issued a Consultation
Paper (CP), The Applicability of IPSASs to Government Business Enterprises
and Other Public Sector Entities. The CP proposed two main approaches to
communicate its policy on the public sector entities for which it is developing
accounting standards and on GBEs.

Approach 1 proposed (i) deleting the definition of a GBE; and (ii) providing a
high-level description of the characteristics of public sector entities for which
IPSASs are intended. This approach had two options: using the IPSASB’s
current and developing literature (Option 1a) or using Government Finance
Statistics (GFS) reporting guidelines and explanatory guidance (Option 1b).

Under Option 1a, the IPSASB would describe the characteristics of the public
sector entities in the following way:

IPSASSs are designed to apply to entities that:

(a)  Are responsible for the delivery of services* to the public with assets
held primarily for their service potential and/or to make transfer
payments to redistribute income and wealth;

(b) Finance their activities, directly or indirectly, by means of taxes and/or
transfers from other levels of government, social contributions, debt or
fees and do not have capital providers that are seeking a return on their
investment or a return of the investment.

4

Services encompasses goods and services.
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Approach 2 proposed retaining and modifying the definition of a GBE in
IPSAS 1 in order to resolve problems in its application, and proposed two
options for the definition’s modification. Option 2a proposed clarifying the
current definition of a GBE and Option 2b proposed narrowing the existing
definition of a GBE.

The IPSASB expressed a unanimous Preliminary View in the CP that
Approach 1 was most appropriate because it focuses on the characteristics of
public sector entities for which IPSASs are intended. A majority of IPSASB
members supported Option la because it is a high level, principles-based
approach that draws on The Conceptual Framework for General Purpose
Financial Reporting by Public Sector Entities (the Conceptual Framework),
and acknowledges the role of regulators and other relevant authorities in
determining which entities should apply IPSASs.

There was strong support from respondents for Option la. In general,
respondents supported Option la for the reasons stated in the previous
paragraph. Some respondents also gave additional reasons for supporting
Option la. These reasons included reliance on the literature of a third-party
over which the IPSASB has no control, and the possibility of inconsistency
with the IPSASB’s own literature, which were identified as risks with
Option 1b.

Respondents’ reasons for not supporting Option 1a included:

(a) A lack of resource capacity of regulators in less developed countries,
making it difficult to develop detailed criteria for reporting
requirements;

(b) Different national regulators using different criteria, which would
reduce consistency between jurisdictions; and

(¢) The complexities of public sector entities compared with private
sector entities that demand a different approach to the determination of
reporting requirements.

In coming to its decision, the IPSASB considered:

(a)  The role of regulators in determining the accounting framework for
public sector entities in their jurisdiction may vary;

(b) The alignment between IPSASs and GFS reporting guidelines;

(¢)  The meaning of the term “public sector” with reference to the Preface
to the Conceptual Framework;

(d) How holding assets for service potential instead of for cash generation
is a distinctive characteristic of public sector entities for which IPSASs
are intended; and
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(e) Replacing the term government business enterprise with the terms
“commercial entities” and “commercial public sector entities”, where
appropriate.

The role of regulators and other relevant authorities

BC27. The IPSASB acknowledged that regulators and other relevant authorities
might form different views from the IPSASB on the applicability of
IPSASs in each jurisdiction. Many jurisdictions develop their own criteria
to decide which entities should apply IPSASs. These criteria may vary for
legal, economic or fiscal reasons. Therefore, the IPSASB is of the view that
a principles — based approach is appropriate, because that approach allows
flexibility in each jurisdiction.

Alignment between IPSASs and GFS reporting guidelines

BC28. The IPSASB has a policy of reducing unnecessary differences between
IPSASs and GFS reporting guidelines, where appropriate. The IPSASB
decided that, on the issue of the applicability of IPSASs, the objectives of
financial reporting are better served by developing characteristics that are
based on the IPSASB’s current and developing literature over which it has
control rather than relying on third-party guidelines.

The meaning of the term “public sector”

BC29. According to paragraph 1.8 of the Conceptual Framework, the term “public
sector” includes national, regional, state/provincial and local governments.
It also includes international governmental organizations. The IPSASB
acknowledges that the public sector also includes other entities that seek
a return on equity to investors. IPSASs are not intended to apply to the
general purpose financial reports of this type of entity. However, when they
are included in consolidated financial statements by a controlling entity that
applies IPSASs, appropriate adjustments are made to ensure conformity with
the economic entity’s accounting policies. Therefore, the IPSASB is of the
view that the term public sector is related to single and group entities as
described in the Conceptual Framework.

Assets held for service potential

BC30. The IPSASB is of the view that the description “are responsible for the
delivery of services to the public” provided in the Preface to International
Public Sector Accounting Standards indicates that IPSASs are intended for
public sector entities that hold assets primarily for service potential rather
than the generation of cash flows.

Commercial entities and commercial public sector entities

BC31. The IPSASB was of the view that only removing the term “GBE” would leave
a vacuum in the IPSASB’s literature because the public sector comprises not
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only entities for which IPSASs are designed, but also commercial entities.
Therefore, the IPSASB proposed to replace the term “GBE” with the term
“commercial public sector entities” and “commercial entities”, where
appropriate.

Modification of Preface to International Public Sector Accounting Standards

BC32.

In August 2015, the IPSASB issued Exposure Draft (ED) 56, The Applicability
of IPSASs. The ED reflected the IPSASB’s decision to delete the definition
of a GBE from IPSAS 1 and from other IPSASs and RPGs. The IPSASB
considered that this approach best serves the public interest because it
removes a definition that has been ambiguous and difficult to implement, and
describes the characteristics of public sector entities for which IPSASs are
designed. The IPSASB proposed to provide this description in the Preface to
International Public Sector Accounting Standards and to base that proposed
description on the IPSASB’s literature. Although not subject to the IPSASB’s
due process, the IPSASB made the revised characteristics available in the
Executive Summary of ED 56.

Responses to the ED

BC33.

Overall respondents supported the proposed approach and most of the
comments related to:

(a) The characteristics of public sector entities in paragraph 10 of the
Preface to IPSASs;

(b) The use of wording “commercial entities” and “commercial public
sector entities”; and

(c)  Other amendments to IPSASB’s literature.

Characteristics of public sector entities in paragraph 10 of the Preface to IPSASs

BC34.

BC35.

The characteristics of public sector entities in paragraph 10 of the Preface
to IPSASs have been amended to reflect the IPSASB’s agreement with
respondents’ suggestions to increase consistency with the Conceptual
Framework, while retaining a principles-based approach to the description
of those characteristics.

Some respondents questioned whether the reference to “capital providers”
in paragraph 10(b) should be amended to “equity providers” to be consistent
with terminology in the Conceptual Framework. Other respondents indicated
that the reference to “capital providers” is not necessary, as it is clear that
entities should not have a profit objective. The IPSASB agreed with this
suggestion and decided to delete the reference to “capital providers”.
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Commercial public sector entities

BC36.

In the ED, the IPSASB proposed replacing the term “GBE” with the terms
“commercial public sector entities” and “commercial entities”. The term
“commercial entities” was used for economy of expression in those contexts
where the IPSASB considered it clear that the discussion was about the public
sector. However, some respondents were of the view that having different
terms for the same type of entity might create confusion. The IPSASB
decided therefore to replace the term “GBE” with one term - “commercial
public sector entities” - and acknowledge that regulators can interpret the
term taking account of jurisdictional factors.

Other amendments to IPSASB s literature

BC37.

BC38.

Some respondents suggested focusing IPSASs on the public sector entities
for which they are designed by removing the wording “other than GBEs”
from the IPSASB literature. The ED had proposed the wording “other than
commercial entities”. The IPSASB agreed with respondents’ suggestion and
has removed the wording because it is in accordance with the ED’s approach
of communicating the public sector entities for which IPSASs are designed
in a positive way, rather than focusing attention on entities for which IPSASs
are not intended, which include commercial public sector entities.

Other respondents proposed changes to IPSASB’s literature that had
previously been discussed, including:

e  Provide explanation for borderline cases—Some constituents suggested
more explanation about the distinction between “pure” public sector
entities and “pure” profit seeking entities. For example, a public sector
entity might not be profit seeking but may have profits. The IPSASB is
of view that regulators may decide which entities apply IPSASs.

e Change of objectives may imply change of the applicability of
IPSASs—The IPSASB is of the view that regulators have a role to
develop the transitional requirements when public sector entities change
their accounting framework.
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Implementation Guidance
This guidance accompanies, but is not part of, IPSAS 1.
Hlustrative Financial Statement Structure

IGS. This Standard sets out the components of financial statements and minimum
requirements for disclosure on the face of the statement of financial position
and the statement of financial performance, as well as for the presentation
of changes in net assets/equity. It also describes further items that may be
presented either on the face of the relevant financial statement or in the
notes. This guidance provides simple examples of the ways in which the
requirements of the Standard for the presentation of the statement of financial
position, statement of financial performance, and statement of changes in net
assets/equity might be met. The order of presentation and the descriptions
used for line items should be changed when necessary in order to achieve a
fair presentation in each entity’s particular circumstances. For example, line
items of a public sector entity such as a defense department are likely to be
significantly different from those for a central bank.

1Gé. The illustrative statement of financial position shows one way in which a
statement of financial position distinguishing between current and non-
current items may be presented. Other formats may be equally appropriate,
provided the distinction is clear.

1G7. The financial statements have been prepared for a national government and
the statement of financial performance (by function) illustrates the functions
of government classifications used in the Government Finance Statistics.
These functional classifications are unlikely to apply to all public sector
entities. Refer to this Standard for an example of more generic functional
classifications for other public sector entities.

IGS. The examples are not intended to illustrate all aspects of IPSASs. Nor do they
comprise a complete set of financial statements, which would also include a
cash flow statement, a summary of significant accounting policies, and other
explanatory notes.

Public Sector Entity—Statement of Accounting Policies (Extract)
Reporting Entity

These financial statements are for a public sector entity (national government of
Country A). The financial statements encompass the reporting entity as specified in
the relevant legislation (Public Finance Act 20XX). This comprises:

° Central government ministries; and

° Commercial public sector entities.
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Basis of Preparation

The financial statements comply with International Public Sector Accounting Standards

for the accrual basis of accounting. The measurement base applied is historical cost
adjusted for revaluations of assets.

The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, and the
accounting policies have been applied consistently throughout the period.
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Public Sector Entity—Statement of Financial Position

As at December 31, 20X2
(in thousands of currency units)

ASSETS

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents
Receivables

Inventories

Prepayments

Other current assets

Non-current assets

Receivables

Investments in associates

Other financial assets
Infrastructure, plant and equipment
Land and buildings

Intangible assets

Other non-financial assets

Total assets

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Payables

Short-term borrowings

Current portion of long-term borrowings

Short-term provisions
Social benefits
Employee benefits
Superannuation

Non-current liabilities
Payables
Long-term borrowings

Long-term provisions
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X X
X X
X X
X X
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X X
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X X
X X
X X
X X
X X
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20X2 20X1

Social benefits X X
Employee benefits X X
Superannuation X X

X X
Total liabilities X X
Net assets X X
NET ASSETS/EQUITY
Capital contributed by
Other government entities X X
Reserves X X
Accumulated surpluses/(deficits) X X
Non-controlling interest X X
Total net assets/equity X X

Public Sector Entity—Statement of Financial Performance for the Year Ended
December 31, 20X2

(Illustrating the Classification of Expenses by Function)
(in thousands of currency units)

20X2 20X1

Revenue

Taxes X X
Fees, fines, penalties, and licenses X X
Revenue from exchange transactions X X
Transfers from other government entities X X
Other revenue X X
Total revenue X X
Expenses

General public services X X)
Defense X) X)
Public order and safety X) X)
Education X X)
Health X) X)
Social benefits X) X)
Other social protection X) X)
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20X2 20X1

Housing and community amenities X) X)
Recreational, cultural, and religion X) X)
Economic affairs (X) (X)
Environmental protection (X) (X)
Other expenses X) X)
Finance costs X) X)
Total expenses (X) (X)
Share of surplus of associates™ X X
Surplus/(deficit) for the period X X
Attributable to:
Owners of the controlling entity X X
Non-controlling interests X X

X X

* This means the share of associates’ surplus attributable to owners of the associates, i.e., it is after tax
and non-controlling interests in the associates.
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Public Sector Entity—Statement of Financial Performance for the Year Ended
December 31, 20X2

(Illustrating the Classification of Expenses by Nature)
(in thousands of currency units)

20X2 20X1

Revenue

Taxes X X
Fees, fines, penalties, and licenses X X
Revenue from exchange transactions X X
Transfers from other government entities X X
Other revenue X X
Total Revenue X X
Expenses

Wages, salaries, and employee benefits X) X)
Social benefits X) X)
Grants and other transfer payments (X) (X)
Supplies and consumables used (X) (X)
Depreciation and amortization expense X) X)
Impairment of property, plant, and equipment” X) X)
Other expenses (X) (X)
Finance costs (X) (X)
Total Expenses X) X)
Share of surplus of associates X X
Surplus/(deficit) for the period X X
Attributable to: (X) X
Owners of the controlling entity X X
Non-controlling interest X) X

* In a statement of financial performance in which expenses are classified by nature, an impairment of
property, plant, and equipment is shown as a separate line item. By contrast, if expenses are classified
by function, the impairment is included in the function(s) to which it relates.
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PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Comparison with IAS 1

IPSAS 1 is drawn primarily from IAS 1 (2003) and includes amendments made to
IAS 1 as part of the Improvements to IFRSs issued in May 2008 and April 2009
respectively. At the time of issuing this Standard, the IPSASB has not considered
the applicability of IFRS 5, Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued
Operations, to public sector entities; therefore IPSAS 1 does not reflect amendments
made to IAS 1 consequent upon the issuing of IFRS 5. The main differences
between IPSAS 1 and IAS 1 are as follows:

Discussion on the application of the going concern concept to public sector
entities has been included in IPSAS 1 compared to that in IAS 1.

IAS 1 allows the presentation of either a statement showing all changes in
net assets/equity, or a statement showing changes in net assets/equity, other
than those arising from capital transactions with owners and distributions to
owners in their capacity as owners. IPSAS 1 requires the presentation of a
statement showing all changes in net assets/equity.

IPSAS 1 uses different terminology, in certain instances, from IAS 1. The
most significant examples are the use of the terms “statement of financial
performance,” and “net assets/equity” in IPSAS 1. The equivalent terms in
IAS 1 are “income statement,” and “equity””.

IPSAS 1 does not use the term “income,” which in IAS 1 has a broader
meaning than the term “revenue.”

IAS 1 defines “International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs)” to
include IFRSs, IASs, and SIC/IFRIC Interpretations. IPSAS 1 does not
define “International Public Sector Accounting Standards.”

IPSAS 1 contains a different set of definitions of technical terms from IAS
1 (paragraph 7).

IPSAS 1 contains commentary on the responsibility for the preparation
of financial statements. IAS 1 does not include the same commentary
(paragraphs 19-20).

IPSAS 1 uses the phrase “the objective of financial statements set out in
this Standard” to replace the equivalent phrase “the objective of financial
statement set out in the Framework™ in IAS 1. This is because an equivalent
Framework in IPSASs does not exist.

IPSAS 1 contains commentary on timeliness of financial statements, because
of the lack of an equivalent Framework in IPSASs (paragraph 69).
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PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

IPSAS 1 does not explicitly preclude the presentation of items of revenue
and expense as extraordinary items, either on the face of the statement of
financial performance or in the notes. IAS 1 prohibits any items of income
and expense to be presented as extraordinary items either on the face of the
income statement or in the notes.

IPSAS 1 contains a transitional provision allowing the non-disclosure of
items that have been excluded from the financial statements due to the
application of a transitional provision in another IPSAS (paragraph 151).
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History of IPSAS

This version includes amendments resulting from IPSASs issued up to
January 31, 2019.

IPSAS 2, Cash Flow Statements was issued in May 2000.
Since then, IPSAS 2 has been amended by the following IPSASs:
IPSAS 42, Social Benefits (issued January 2019)

Improvements to IPSAS 2018 (issued October 2018)

The Applicability of IPSASs (issued April 2016)

IPSAS 37, Joint Arrangements (issued January 2015)

IPSAS 35, Consolidated Financial Statements (issued January 2015)

IPSAS 33, First-time Adoption of Accrual Basis International Public Sector
Accounting Standards (IPSASs) (issued January 2015)

IPSAS 3, Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors

(issued December 2006)

IPSAS 4, The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates (issued

December 2006)
Improvements to IPSASs (issued January 2010)
Improvements to IPSASs (issued November 2010)

Table of Amended Paragraphs in IPSAS 2

Paragraph Affected How Affected Affected By

3 Deleted The Applicability of
IPSASs April 2016

4 Deleted The Applicability of
IPSASs April 2016

8 Amended IPSAS 35 January 2015

16 Deleted The Applicability of
IPSASs April 2016

223 IPSAS 2



Paragraph Affected How Affected Affected By
22 Amended Improvements to IPSASs
January 2010
Improvements to IPSASs
November 2010
IPSAS 42 January 2019
25 Amended Improvements to IPSASs
November 2010
27 Amended Improvements to IPSASs
November 2010
30 Amended IPSAS 35 January 2015
Improvements to IPSASs
November 2010
36 Amended IPSAS 4 December 2006
37 Amended IPSAS 4 December 2006
40! Deleted IPSAS 3 December 2006
Improvements to IPSASs
November 2010
41 Deleted IPSAS 3 December 2006
42 Amended Improvements to IPSASs
November 2010
43 Amended Improvements to IPSASs
November 2010
47 Amended IPSAS 37 January 2015
Improvements to IPSASs
November 2010
48 Amended IPSAS 37 January 2015
50A New IPSAS 35 January 2015
52A New IPSAS 35 January 2015
52B New IPSAS 35 January 2015

1

IPSAS 2

Subsequent paragraphs have been renumbered.
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Paragraph Affected How Affected Affected By
Heading above paragraph New Improvements to [IPSAS
55A October 2018
55A New Improvements to IPSAS
October 2018
55B New Improvements to [PSAS
October 2018
55C New Improvements to IPSAS
October 2018
55D New Improvements to [IPSAS
October 2018
55E New Improvements to IPSAS
October 2018
61 Amended IPSAS 37 January 2015
63A New Improvements to IPSASs
January 2010
63B New Improvements to IPSASs
November 2010
63C New IPSAS 33 January 2015
63D New IPSAS 37 January 2015
IPSAS 35 January 2015
63E New The Applicability of
IPSASs April 2016
63F New Improvements to IPSAS
October 2018
63G New IPSAS 42 January 2019
64 Amended IPSAS 33 January 2015
IE Amended IPSAS 3 December 2006
IPSAS 42 January 2019
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International Public Sector Accounting Standard 2, Cash Flow Statements, is set
out in the objective and paragraphs 1-64. All the paragraphs have equal authority.
IPSAS 2 should be read in the context of its objective, the Preface to International
Public Sector Accounting Standards, and the Conceptual Framework for General
Purpose Financial Reporting by Public Sector Entities. IPSAS 3, Accounting
Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors, provides a basis for
selecting and applying accounting policies in the absence of explicit guidance.
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Objective

The cash flow statement identifies (a) the sources of cash inflows, (b) the items on
which cash was expended during the reporting period, and (c) the cash balance as at
the reporting date. Information about the cash flows of an entity is useful in providing
users of financial statements with information for both accountability and decision-
making purposes. Cash flow information allows users to ascertain how a public sector
entity raised the cash it required to fund its activities, and the manner in which that
cash was used. In making and evaluating decisions about the allocation of resources,
such as the sustainability of the entity’s activities, users require an understanding of
the timing and certainty of cash flows. The objective of this Standard is to require the
provision of information about the historical changes in cash and cash equivalents of
an entity by means of a cash flow statement that classifies cash flows during the period
from operating, investing, and financing activities.

Scope

L. An entity that prepares and presents financial statements under the
accrual basis of accounting shall prepare a cash flow statement in
accordance with the requirements of this Standard, and shall present it
as an integral part of its financial statements for each period for which
financial statements are presented.

2. Information about cash flows may be useful to users of an entity’s financial
statements in (a) assessing the entity’s cash flows, (b) assessing the entity’s
compliance with legislation and regulations (including authorized budgets
where appropriate), and (c¢) making decisions about whether to provide
resources to, or enter into transactions with, an entity. They are generally
interested in how the entity generates and uses cash and cash equivalents. This
is the case regardless of the nature of the entity’s activities and irrespective
of whether cash can be viewed as the product of the entity, as may be the
case with a public financial institution. Entities need cash for essentially the
same reasons, however different their principal revenue producing activities
might be. They need cash to pay for the goods and services they consume,
to meet ongoing debt servicing costs, and, in some cases, to reduce levels of
debt. Accordingly, this Standard requires all entities to present a cash flow

statement.
3. [Deleted]
4. [Deleted]

Benefits of Cash Flow Information

5. Information about the cash flows of an entity is useful in assisting users to
predict (a) the future cash requirements of the entity, (b) its ability to generate
cash flows in the future, and (c) its ability to fund changes in the scope and
nature of its activities. A cash flow statement also provides a means by which
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an entity can discharge its accountability for cash inflows and cash outflows
during the reporting period.

A cash flow statement, when used in conjunction with other financial
statements, provides information that enables users to evaluate the changes
in net assets/equity of an entity, its financial structure (including its liquidity
and solvency), and its ability to affect the amounts and timing of cash flows in
order to adapt to changing circumstances and opportunities. It also enhances
the comparability of the reporting of operating performance by different
entities, because it eliminates the effects of using different accounting
treatments for the same transactions and other events.

Historical cash flow information is often used as an indicator of the amount,
timing, and certainty of future cash flows. It is also useful in checking the
accuracy of past assessments of future cash flows.

Definitions

8.

IPSAS 2

The following terms are used in this Standard with the meanings
specified:

Cash comprises cash on hand and demand deposits.

Cash equivalents are short-term, highly liquid investments that are
readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to
an insignificant risk of changes in value.

Cash flows are inflows and outflows of cash and cash equivalents.

Control: An entity controls another entity when the entity is exposed,
or has rights, to variable benefits from its involvement with the other
entity and has the ability to affect the nature or amount of those benefits
through its power over the other entity.

Financing activities are activities that result in changes in the size and
composition of the contributed capital and borrowings of the entity.

Investing activities are the acquisition and disposal of long-term assets
and other investments not included in cash equivalents.

Operating activities are the activities of the entity that are not investing
or financing activities.

Reporting date means the date of the last day of the reporting period to
which the financial statements relate.

Terms defined in other IPSASs are used in this Standard with the same
meaning as in those Standards, and are reproduced in the Glossary of
Defined Terms published separately.
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Cash and Cash Equivalents

9.

10.

11.

Cash equivalents are held for the purpose of meeting short term cash
commitments rather than for investment or other purposes. For an investment
to qualify as a cash equivalent, it must be readily convertible to a known
amount of cash and be subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.
Therefore, an investment normally qualifies as a cash equivalent only when it
has a short maturity of, say, three months or less from the date of acquisition.
Equity investments are excluded from cash equivalents unless they are, in
substance, cash equivalents.

Bank borrowings are generally considered to be financing activities.
However, in some countries, bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand
form an integral part of an entity’s cash management. In these circumstances,
bank overdrafts are included as a component of cash and cash equivalents.
A characteristic of such banking arrangements is that the bank balance often
fluctuates from being positive to overdrawn.

Cash flows exclude movements between items that constitute cash or cash
equivalents, because these components are part of the cash management of
an entity rather than part of its operating, investing, and financing activities.
Cash management includes the investment of excess cash in cash equivalents.

Economic Entity

12.

13.

14.

The term economic entity is used in this Standard to define, for financial
reporting purposes, a group of entities comprising the controlling entity and
any controlled entities.

Other terms sometimes used to refer to an economic entity include
administrative entity, financial entity, consolidated entity, and group.

An economic entity may include entities with both social policy and
commercial objectives. For example, a government housing department may
be an economic entity that includes entities that provide housing for a nominal
charge, as well as entities that provide accommodation on a commercial basis.

Future Economic Benefits or Service Potential

15.

Assets provide a means for entities to achieve their objectives. Assets that are
used to deliver goods and services in accordance with an entity’s objectives,
but which do not directly generate net cash inflows, are often described as
embodying service potential. Assets that are used to generate net cash inflows
are often described as embodying future economic benefits. To encompass all
the purposes to which assets may be put, this Standard uses the term “future
economic benefits or service potential” to describe the essential characteristic
of assets.
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Government Business Enterprises

16. [Deleted]
Net Assets/Equity
17. Net assets/equity is the term used in this Standard to refer to the residual

measure in the statement of financial position (assets less liabilities). Net
assets/equity may be positive or negative. Other terms may be used in place
of net assets/equity, provided that their meaning is clear.

Presentation of a Cash Flow Statement

18.

19.

20.

The cash flow statement shall report cash flows during the period
classified by operating, investing, and financing activities.

An entity presents its cash flows from operating, investing, and financing
activities in a manner that is most appropriate to its activities. Classification
by activity provides information that allows users to assess the impact of
those activities on the financial position of the entity, and the amount of its
cash and cash equivalents. This information may also be used to evaluate the
relationships among those activities.

A single transaction may include cash flows that are classified differently.
For example, when the cash repayment of a loan includes both interest and
capital, the interest element may be classified as an operating activity and the
capital element classified as a financing activity.

Operating Activities

21.

22.

IPSAS 2

The amount of net cash flows arising from operating activities is a key
indicator of the extent to which the operations of the entity are funded:

(a) By way of taxes (directly and indirectly); or
(b)  From the recipients of goods and services provided by the entity.

The amount of the net cash flows also assists in showing the ability of
the entity to maintain its operating capability, repay obligations, pay a
dividend or similar distribution to its owner, and make new investments,
without recourse to external sources of financing. The consolidated whole-
of-government operating cash flows provide an indication of the extent to
which a government has financed its current activities through taxation and
charges. Information about the specific components of historical operating
cash flows is useful, in conjunction with other information, in forecasting
future operating cash flows.

Cash flows from operating activities are primarily derived from the principal
cash-generating activities of the entity. Examples of cash flows from operating
activities are:
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24.
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(a)  Cash receipts from taxes, levies, and fines;

(b) Cash receipts from charges for goods and services provided by the
entity;

(¢)  Cash receipts from grants or transfers and other appropriations or other
budget authority made by central government or other public sector
entities;

(d) Cash receipts from royalties, fees, commissions, and other revenue;
(da) Cash payments to beneficiaries of social benefit schemes;

(e)  Cash payments to other public sector entities to finance their operations
(not including loans);

(f)  Cash payments to suppliers for goods and services;
(g) Cash payments to and on behalf of employees;

(h)  Cash receipts and cash payments of an insurance entity for premiums
and claims, annuities, and other policy benefits;

(i)  Cash payments of local property taxes or income taxes (where
appropriate) in relation to operating activities;

(j)  Cash receipts and payments from contracts held for dealing or trading
purposes;

(k)  Cash receipts or payments from discontinuing operations; and
(I)  Cash receipts or payments in relation to litigation settlements.

Some transactions, such as the sale of an item of plant, may give rise to a gain
or loss that is included in surplus or deficit. The cash flows relating to such
transactions are cash flows from investing activities. However, cash payments
to construct or acquire assets held for rental to others and subsequently held
for sale as described in paragraph 83A of IPSAS 17, Property, Plant, and
Equipment are cash flows from operating activities. The cash receipts from
rents and subsequent sales of such assets are also cash flows from operating
activities.

An entity may hold securities and loans for dealing or trading purposes, in
which case they are similar to inventory acquired specifically for resale.
Therefore, cash flows arising from the purchase and sale of dealing or trading
securities are classified as operating activities. Similarly, cash advances and
loans made by public financial institutions are usually classified as operating
activities, since they relate to the main cash-generating activity of that entity.

In some jurisdictions, governments or other public sector entities will
appropriate or authorize funds to entities to finance the operations of an entity,
and no clear distinction is made for the disposition of those funds between
current activities, capital works, and contributed capital. Where an entity is
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unable to separately identify appropriations or budgetary authorizations into
current activities, capital works, and contributed capital, the appropriation or
budget authorization should be classified as cash flows from operations, and
this fact should be disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.

Investing Activities

25.

IPSAS 2

The separate disclosure of cash flows arising from investing activities is
important because the cash flows represent the extent to which cash outflows
have been made for resources that are intended to contribute to the entity’s
future service delivery. Only cash outflows that result in a recognized asset in
the statement of financial position are eligible for classification as investing
activities. Examples of cash flows arising from investing activities are:

(a) Cash payments to acquire property, plant, and equipment, intangibles,
and other long-term assets. These payments include those relating to
capitalized development costs and self-constructed property, plant, and
equipment;

(b)  Cash receipts from sales of property, plant, and equipment, intangibles,
and other long-term assets;

(c) Cash payments to acquire equity or debt instruments of other
entities and interests in joint ventures (other than payments for those
instruments considered to be cash equivalents or those held for dealing
or trading purposes);

(d)  Cash receipts from sales of equity or debt instruments of other entities
and interests in joint ventures (other than receipts for those instruments
considered to be cash equivalents and those held for dealing or trading

purposes);

(¢) Cash advances and loans made to other parties (other than advances
and loans made by a public financial institution);

(f)  Cash receipts from the repayment of advances and loans made to other
parties (other than advances and loans of a public financial institution);

(g) Cash payments for futures contracts, forward contracts, option
contracts, and swap contracts, except when the contracts are held for
dealing or trading purposes, or the payments are classified as financing
activities; and

(h) Cash receipts from futures contracts, forward contracts, option
contracts, and swap contracts, except when the contracts are held for
dealing or trading purposes, or the receipts are classified as financing
activities.

When a contract is accounted for as a hedge of an identifiable position, the
cash flows of the contract are classified in the same manner as the cash flows
of the position being hedged.
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Financing Activities

26. The separate disclosure of cash flows arising from financing activities is
important, because it is useful in predicting claims on future cash flows
by providers of capital to the entity. Examples of cash flows arising from
financing activities are:

(a)  Cashproceeds from issuing debentures, loans, notes, bonds, mortgages,
and other short or long-term borrowings;

(b)  Cash repayments of amounts borrowed; and

(c)  Cash payments by a lessee for the reduction of the outstanding liability
relating to a finance lease.

Reporting Cash Flows from Operating Activities
27. An entity shall report cash flows from operating activities using either:

(a) The direct method, whereby major classes of gross cash receipts
and gross cash payments are disclosed; or

(b) The indirect method, whereby surplus or deficit is adjusted for
the effects of transactions of a noncash nature, any deferrals or
accruals of past or future operating cash receipts or payments, and
items of revenue or expense associated with investing or financing
cash flows.

28. Entities are encouraged to report cash flows from operating activities using
the direct method. The direct method provides information that (a) may be
useful in estimating future cash flows, and (b) not available under the indirect
method. Under the direct method, information about major classes of gross
cash receipts and gross cash payments may be obtained either:

(a)  From the accounting records of the entity; or

(b) By adjusting operating revenues, operating expenses (interest and
similar revenue, and interest expense and similar charges for a public
financial institution), and other items in the statement of financial
performance for:

6] Changes during the period in inventories and operating
receivables and payables;

(i)  Other noncash items; and

(i)  Other items for which the cash effects are investing or financing
cash flows.

29. Entities reporting cash flows from operating activities using the direct
method are also encouraged to provide a reconciliation of the surplus/deficit
from ordinary activities with the net cash flow from operating activities. This

235 IPSAS 2



30.

CASH FLOW STATEMENTS

reconciliation may be provided as part of the cash flow statement or in the
notes to the financial statements.

Under the indirect method, the net cash flow from operating activities is
determined by adjusting surplus or deficit from ordinary activities for the
effects of:

(a) Changes during the period in inventories and operating receivables
and payables;

(b) Non-cash items such as depreciation, provisions, deferred taxes,
unrealized foreign currency gains and losses, undistributed surpluses
of associates, and non-controlling interests; and

(c)  All other items for which the cash effects are investing or financing
cash flows.

(d) [Deleted]

Reporting Cash Flows from Investing and Financing Activities

31.

An entity shall report separately major classes of gross cash receipts
and gross cash payments arising from investing and financing activities,
except to the extent that cash flows described in paragraphs 32 and 35
are reported on a net basis.

Reporting Cash Flows on a Net Basis

32.

33.

IPSAS 2

Cash flows arising from the following operating, investing, or financing
activities may be reported on a net basis:

(a) Cashreceipts collected and payments made on behalf of customers,
taxpayers, or beneficiaries when the cash flows reflect the activities
of the other party rather than those of the entity; and

(b) Cash receipts and payments for items in which the turnover is
quick, the amounts are large, and the maturities are short.

Paragraph 32(a) refers only to transactions where the resulting cash balances
are controlled by the reporting entity. Examples of such cash receipts and
payments include:

(a)  The collection of taxes by one level of government for another level of
government, not including taxes collected by a government for its own
use as part of a tax-sharing arrangement;

(b)  The acceptance and repayment of demand deposits of a public financial
institution;

(c)  Funds held for customers by an investment or trust entity; and

(d) Rents collected on behalf of, and paid over to, the owners of properties.
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Examples of cash receipts and payments referred to in paragraph 32(b) are
advances made for, and the repayment of:

(a)  The purchase and sale of investments; and

(b)  Other short-term borrowings, for example, those that have a maturity
period of three months or less.

Cash flows arising from each of the following activities of a public
financial institution may be reported on a net basis:

(a)  Cash receipts and payments for the acceptance and repayment of
deposits with a fixed maturity date;

(b) The placement of deposits with, and withdrawal of deposits from,
other financial institutions; and

(c) Cash advances and loans made to customers and the repayment of
those advances and loans.

Foreign Currency Cash Flows

36.

37.

38.

39.

Cash flows arising from transactions in a foreign currency shall be
recorded in an entity’s functional currency by applying to the foreign
currency amount the exchange rate between the functional currency and
the foreign currency at the date of the cash flow.

The cash flows of a foreign controlled entity shall be translated at the
exchange rates between the functional currency and the foreign currency
at the dates of the cash flows.

Cash flows denominated in a foreign currency are reported in a manner
consistent with IPSAS 4, The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates.
This permits the use of an exchange rate that approximates the actual rate.
For example, a weighted average exchange rate for a period may be used for
recording foreign currency transactions or the translation of the cash flows of
a foreign controlled entity. IPSAS 4 does not permit the use of the exchange
rate at reporting date when translating the cash flows of a foreign controlled
entity.

Unrealized gains and losses arising from changes in foreign currency exchange
rates are not cash flows. However, the effect of exchange rate changes on
cash and cash equivalents held or due in a foreign currency is reported in
the cash flow statement in order to reconcile cash and cash equivalents at the
beginning and the end of the period. This amount is presented separately from
cash flows from operating, investing, and financing activities, and includes
the differences, if any, if those cash flows had been reported at end of period
exchange rates.
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Interest and Dividends or Similar Distributions

40.

41.

42.

43.

Cash flows from interest and dividends or similar distributions received
and paid shall each be disclosed separately. Each shall be classified in a
consistent manner from period to period as either operating, investing,
or financing activities.

The total amount of interest paid during a period is disclosed in the cash flow
statement, whether it has been recognized as an expense in the statement
of financial performance or capitalized in accordance with the allowed
alternative treatment in IPSAS 5, Borrowing Costs.

Interest paid and interest and dividends or similar distributions received are
usually classified as operating cash flows for a public financial institution.
However, there is no consensus on the classification of these cash flows for
other entities. Interest paid and interest and dividends or similar distributions
received may be classified as operating cash flows because they enter into the
determination of surplus or deficit. Alternatively, interest paid and interest
and dividends or similar distributions received may be classified as financing
cash flows and investing cash flows respectively, because they are costs of
obtaining financial resources or returns on investments.

Dividends or similar distributions paid may be classified as a financing cash
flow because they are a cost of obtaining financial resources. Alternatively,
dividends or similar distributions paid may be classified as a component of
cash flows from operating activities in order to assist users to determine the
ability of an entity to make these payments out of operating cash flows.

Taxes on Net Surplus

44,

45.

46.

IPSAS 2

Cash flows arising from taxes on net surplus shall be separately disclosed
and shall be classified as cash flows from operating activities, unless they
can be specifically identified with financing and investing activities.

Public sector entities are generally exempt from taxes on net surpluses.
However, some public sector entities may operate under tax-equivalent
regimes, where taxes are levied in the same way as they are on private sector
entities.

Taxes on net surplus arise from transactions that give rise to cash flows that
are classified as operating, investing, or financing activities in a cash flow
statement. While tax expense may be readily identifiable with investing
or financing activities, the related tax cash flows are often impracticable
to identify, and may arise in a different period from the cash flows of the
underlying transaction. Therefore, taxes paid are usually classified as cash
flows from operating activities. However, when it is practicable to identify
the tax cash flow with an individual transaction that gives rise to cash flows
that are classified as investing or financing activities, the tax cash flow is
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classified as an investing or financing activity, as appropriate. When tax cash
flows are allocated over more than one class of activity, the total amount of
taxes paid is disclosed.

Investments in Controlled Entities, Associates and Joint Ventures

47.

48.

When accounting for an investment in an associate, a joint venture, or a
controlled entity accounted for by use of the equity or cost method, an investor
restricts its reporting in the cash flow statement to the cash flows between
itself and the investee, for example, to dividends or similar distributions and
advances.

An entity that reports its interest in an associate or a joint venture using the
equity method includes in its cash flow statement the cash flows in respect
of its investments in an associate or joint venture, and distributions and other
payments or receipts between it and the associate or joint venture.

Acquisitions and Disposals of Controlled Entities and Other
Operating Units

49.

50.

50A.

51.

The aggregate cash flows arising from acquisitions and from disposals of
controlled entities or other operating units shall be presented separately
and classified as investing activities.

An entity shall disclose, in aggregate, in respect of both acquisitions
and disposals of controlled entities or other operating units during the
period, each of the following:

(a)  The total purchase or disposal consideration;

(b) The portion of the purchase or disposal consideration discharged
by means of cash and cash equivalents;

(c) The amount of cash and cash equivalents in the controlled entity
or operating unit acquired or disposed of; and

(d) The amount of the assets and liabilities, other than cash or cash
equivalents, recognized by the controlled entity or operating unit
acquired or disposed of, summarized by each major category.

An investment entity, as defined in IPSAS 35, Consolidated Financial
Statements, need not apply paragraphs 50(c) or 50(d) to an investment in a
controlled entity that is required to be measured at fair value through surplus or
deficit. A controlling entity that is not itself an investment entity need not apply
paragraphs 50(c) or 50(d) to an investment in a controlled investment entity to the
extent that investment is measured at fair value through surplus or deficit.

The separate presentation of the cash flow effects of acquisitions and disposals
of controlled entities and other operating units as single line items, together
with the separate disclosure of the amounts of assets and liabilities acquired
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52A.

52B.

53.
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or disposed of, helps to distinguish those cash flows from the cash flows
arising from the other operating, investing and financing activities. The cash
flow effects of disposals are not deducted from those of acquisitions.

The aggregate amount of the cash paid or received as purchase or sale
consideration is reported in the cash flow statement net of cash and cash
equivalents acquired or disposed of.

Cash flows arising from changes in ownership interests in a controlled entity
that do not result in a loss of control shall be classified as cash flows from
financing activities, unless the controlled entity is held by an investment
entity, as defined in IPSAS 35, or through a controlled investment entity, and
is required to be measured at fair value through surplus or deficit.

Changes in ownership interests in a controlled entity that do not result in a loss
of control, such as the subsequent purchase or sale by a controlling entity of a
controlled entity’s equity instruments, are accounted for as equity transactions
(see IPSAS 35), unless the controlled entity is held by an investment entity,
or through a controlled investment entity, and is required to be measured at
fair value through surplus or deficit. Accordingly, the resulting cash flows are
classified in the same way as other transactions described in paragraph 26.

Assets and liabilities other than cash or cash equivalents of a controlled entity
or operating unit acquired or disposed of are only required to be disclosed
where the controlled entity or unit had previously recognized those assets
or liabilities. For example, where a public sector entity that prepares reports
under the cash basis is acquired by another public sector entity, the acquiring
entity would not be required to disclose the assets and liabilities (other than
cash and cash equivalents) of the entity acquired, as that entity would not
have recognized noncash assets or liabilities.

Noncash Transactions

54.

55.

IPSAS 2

Investing and financing transactions that do not require the use of cash
or cash equivalents shall be excluded from a cash flow statement. Such
transactions shall be disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements in a
way that provides all the relevant information about these investing and
financing activities.

Many investing and financing activities do not have a direct impact on current
cash flows, although they do affect the capital and asset structure of an entity. The
exclusion of noncash transactions from the cash flow statement is consistent with
the objective of a cash flow statement, as these items do not involve cash flows in
the current period. Examples of noncash transactions are:

(a) Theacquisition of assets through the exchange of assets, the assumption
of directly related liabilities, or by means of a finance lease; and

(b)  The conversion of debt to equity.
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Changes in Liabilities Arising from Financing Activities

55A.

55B.

55C.

55D.

55E.

An entity shall provide disclosures that enable users of financial
statements to evaluate changes in liabilities arising from financing
activities, including both changes arising from cash flows and non-cash
changes.

To the extent necessary to satisfy the requirement in paragraph 55A, an entity
shall disclose the following changes in liabilities arising from financing
activities:

(a)  Changes from financing cash flows;

(b)  Changes arising from obtaining or losing control of controlled entities
or other operations;

(c)  The effect of changes in foreign exchange rates;
(d) Changes in fair values; and
(e)  Other changes.

Liabilities arising from financing activities are liabilities for which cash flows
were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the cash flow statement as
cash flows from financing activities. In addition, the disclosure requirement
in paragraph 55A also applies to changes in financial assets (for example,
assets that hedge liabilities arising from financing activities) if cash flows
from those financial assets were, or future cash flows will be, included in cash
flows from financing activities.

One way to fulfil the disclosure requirement in paragraph 55A is by providing
a reconciliation between the opening and closing balances in the statement
of financial position for liabilities arising from financing activities, including
the changes identified in paragraph 55B. Where an entity discloses such a
reconciliation, it shall provide sufficient information to enable users of
the financial statements to link items included in the reconciliation to the
statement of financial position and the cash flow statement.

If an entity provides the disclosure required by paragraph 55A in combination
with disclosures of changes in other assets and liabilities, it shall disclose
the changes in liabilities arising from financing activities separately from
changes in those other assets and liabilities.

Components of Cash and Cash Equivalents

56.

57.

An entity shall disclose the components of cash and cash equivalents, and
shall present a reconciliation of the amounts in its cash flow statement
with the equivalent items reported in the statement of financial position.

Inview of the variety of cash management practices and banking arrangements
around the world, and in order to comply with IPSAS 1, an entity discloses
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the policy that it adopts in determining the composition of cash and cash
equivalents.

The effect of any change in the policy for determining components of cash
and cash equivalents, for example, a change in the classification of financial
instruments previously considered to be part of an entity’s investment
portfolio, is reported in accordance with IPSAS 3, Accounting Policies,
Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors.

Other Disclosures

59.

60.

61.

62.

An entity shall disclose, together with a commentary by management in
the notes to the financial statements, the amount of significant cash and
cash equivalent balances held by the entity that are not available for use
by the economic entity.

There are various circumstances in which cash and cash equivalent balances
held by an entity are not available for use by the economic entity. Examples
include cash and cash equivalent balances held by a controlled entity that
operates in a country where exchange controls or other legal restrictions
apply, when the balances are not available for general use by the controlling
entity or other controlled entities.

Additional information may be relevant to users in understanding the financial
position and liquidity of an entity. Disclosure of this information, together
with a description in the notes to the financial statements, is encouraged, and
may include:

(a)  The amount of undrawn borrowing facilities that may be available for
future operating activities and to settle capital commitments, indicating
any restrictions on the use of these facilities; and

(b) [Deleted]
(c)  The amount and nature of restricted cash balances.

Where appropriations or budget authorizations are prepared on a cash basis,
the cash flow statement may assist users in understanding the relationship
between the entity’s activities or programs and the government’s budgetary
information. Refer to IPSAS 1 for a brief discussion of the comparison of
actual and budgeted figures.

Effective Date

63.

IPSAS 2

An entity shall apply this Standard for annual financial statements
covering periods beginning on or after July 1, 2001. Earlier application
is encouraged. If an entity applies this Standard for a period beginning
before July 1, 2001, it shall disclose that fact.
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63B.

63C.

63D.

63E.

63F.

63G.

64.
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Paragraph 22 was amended by Improvements to IPSASs issued in
January 2010. An entity shall apply that amendment for annual financial
statements covering periods beginning on or after January 1, 2011.
Earlier application is encouraged. If an entity applies the amendment
for a period beginning before January 1, 2011, it shall disclose that fact
and apply paragraph 83A of IPSAS 17.

Paragraph 25 was amended by Improvements to IPSASs issued in
November 2010. An entity shall apply that amendment for annual financial
statements covering periods beginning on or after January 1, 2012.
Earlier application is encouraged. If an entity applies the amendment for
a period beginning before January 1, 2012, it shall disclose that fact.

Paragraph 64 was amended by IPSAS 33, First-time Adoption of Accrual
Basis International Public Sector Accounting Standards (IPSASs) issued
in January 2015. An entity shall apply that amendment for annual
financial statements covering periods beginning on or after January 1,
2017. Earlier application is permitted. If an entity applies IPSAS 33 for
a period beginning before January 1, 2017, the amendments shall also be
applied for that earlier period.

IPSAS 35, Consolidated Financial Statements and IPSAS 37, Joint
Arrangements, issued in January 2015, amended paragraphs 8 and 30(b),
47, 48 and 61(b), and added paragraphs S0A, 52A and 52B. An entity
shall apply those amendments when it applies IPSAS 35 and IPSAS 37.

Paragraphs 3, 4 and 16 were deleted by The Applicability of IPSASs,
issued in April 2016. An entity shall apply those amendments for annual
financial statements covering periods beginning on or after January
1, 2018. Earlier application is encouraged. If an entity applies the
amendments for a period beginning before January 1, 2018, it shall
disclose that fact.

Paragraphs S5SA—55E were added by Improvements to IPSAS, 2018, issued
in October 2018. An entity shall apply these amendments for annual
financial statements covering periods beginning on or after January 1,
2021. Earlier application is permitted. When the entity first applies those
amendments, it is not required to provide comparative information for
preceding periods.

Paragraph 22 was amended by IPSAS 42, Social Benefits, issued in
January 2019. An entity shall apply this amendment at the same time as
it applies IPSAS 42.

When an entity adopts the accrual basis IPSASs of accounting as defined in
IPSAS 33, First-time Adoption of Accrual Basis International Public Sector
Accounting Standards (IPSASs) for financial reporting purposes subsequent to
this effective date, this Standard applies to the entity’s annual financial statements
covering periods beginning on or after the date of adoption of IPSASs.
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Basis for Conclusions

This Basis for Conclusions accompanies, but is not part of, IPSAS 2.

Revision of IPSAS 2 as a result of the IASB’s Improvements to IFRSs issued in

2009
BCl.

The IPSASB reviewed the revisions to IAS 7 included in the Improvements
to IFRSs issued by the IASB in April 2009 and generally concurred with the
IASB’s reasons for revising the standard. The IPSASB concluded that there
was no public sector specific reason for not adopting the amendment.

Revision of IPSAS 2 as a result of the IPSASB’s The Applicability of IPSASs,
issued in April 2016

BC2.

The IPSASB issued The Applicability of IPSASs in April 2016. This
pronouncement amends references in all IPSASs as follows:

(a) Removes the standard paragraphs about the applicability of IPSASs
to “public sector entities other than GBEs” from the scope section of
each Standard;

(b) Replaces the term “GBE” with the term “commercial public sector
entities”, where appropriate; and

(¢) Amends paragraph 10 of the Preface to International Public Sector
Accounting Standards by providing a positive description of public
sector entities for which IPSASs are designed.

The reasons for these changes are set out in the Basis for Conclusions to
IPSAS 1.

Revision of IPSAS 2 as a result of Improvements to IPSAS, 2018

BC3.

The IPSASB reviewed the revisions to IAS 7 included in the narrow
scope amendments titled Disclosure Initiative (Amendments to IAS 7)
issued by the IASB in January 2016, and the IASB’s rationale for making
these amendments as set out in its Basis for Conclusions, and generally
concurred that there was no public sector specific reason for not adopting
the amendments. The IPSASB acknowledged that entities would need time
to implement this amendment, and therefore set an effective date for this
amendment of January 1, 2021, two years later than the other amendments in
Improvements to IPSAS, 2018.
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Hlustrative Examples

These examples accompany, but are not part of, IPSAS 2.

Cash Flow Statement (For an Entity Other Than a Financial Institution)
Direct Method Cash Flow Statement (paragraph 27(a))

Public Sector Entity—Consolidated Cash Flow Statement for Year Ended
December 31, 20X2

(in thousands of currency units) 20X2 20X1
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Receipts
Taxation X X
Sales of goods and services X X
Grants X X
Interest received X X
Other receipts X X
Payments
Employee costs X) X)
Superannuation (X) (X)
Suppliers X) X)
Social benefits X) X)
Interest paid (X) (X)
Other payments X) X)
Net cash flows from operating activities X X

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Purchase of plant and equipment X) X)
Proceeds from sale of plant and equipment X X
Proceeds from sale of investments X X
Purchase of foreign currency securities X) X)
Net cash flows from investing activities X) (X)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from borrowings X X
Repayment of borrowings X) X)
Distribution/dividend to government X) X)
Net cash flows from financing activities X X
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents X X
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period X X
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period X X
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Notes to the Cash Flow Statement

(a)

(b)

(©

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on hand, balances with banks,
and investments in money market instruments. Cash and cash equivalents
included in the cash flow statement comprise the following statement of
financial position amounts:

(in thousands of currency units)  20X2 20X1
Cash on hand and balances with banks X X
Short-term investments X X
X X

The entity has undrawn borrowing facilities of X, of which X must be used
on infrastructure projects.

Property, Plant and Equipment

During the period, the economic entity acquired property, plant, and
equipment with an aggregate cost of X, of which X was acquired by means
of capital grants by the national government. Cash payments of X were made
to purchase property, plant and equipment.

Reconciliation of Net Cash Flows from Operating Activities to Surplus/

(Deficit)

(in thousands of currency units)  20X2 20X1
Surplus/(deficit) X X
Non-cash movements

Depreciation X X
Amortization X X
Increase in provision for doubtful debts X X
Increase in payables X X
Increase in borrowings X X
Increase in social benefits liabilities X X
Increase in provisions relating to employee costs X X
(Gains)/losses on sale of property, plant and equipment X) X)
(Gains)/losses on sale of investments (X) (X)
Increase in other current assets X) X
Increase in investments due to revaluation X) X)
Increase in receivables X) X)
Net cash flows from operating activities X X
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(d) Reconciliation of Liabilities Arising from Financing Activities
20X1 Cash flows Non-cash changes 20X2
Acquisition New leases
Long-term X X X X X
borrowings
Lease liabilities X X X X X
Long-term debt X X X X X

Indirect Method Cash Flow Statement (paragraph 27(b))

Public Sector Entity—Consolidated Cash Flow Statement for Year Ended
December 31, 20X2

(in thousands of currency units) 20X2 20X1

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Surplus/(deficit) X X
Non-cash movements

Depreciation X X
Amortization X X
Increase in provision for doubtful debts X X
Increase in payables X X
Increase in borrowings X X
Increase in social benefits liabilities X X
Increase in provisions relating to employee costs X X

(Gains)/losses on sale of property, plant and equipment (X) (X)
(Gains)/losses on sale of investments (X) (X)
Increase in other current assets (X) (X)
Increase in investments due to revaluation X) X)
Increase in receivables X) X)
Net cash flows from operating activities X X

Notes to the Cash Flow Statement
(a) Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on hand, balances with banks,
and investments in money market instruments. Cash and cash equivalents
included in the cash flow statement comprise the following statement of
financial position amounts:
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(in thousands of currency units) 20X2 20X1
Cash on hand and balances with banks X X
Short-term investments X X
X X

The entity has undrawn borrowing facilities of X, of which X must be used
on infrastructure projects.

Property, Plant and Equipment

During the period, the economic entity acquired property, plant, and
equipment with an aggregate cost of X, of which X was acquired by means
of capital grants by the national government. Cash payments of X were made
to purchase property, plant and equipment.

Reconciliation of Liabilities Arising from Financing Activities

20X1 Cash flows Non-cash changes 20X2
Acquisition  New leases

Long-term X X X X X
borrowings
Lease X X X X X
liabilities
Long-term X X X X X
debt

Reconciliation of Liabilities Arising from Financing Activities

1

This example illustrates one possible way of providing the disclosures
required by paragraphs 55A—55E.

The example shows only current period amounts. Corresponding amounts for
the preceding period are required to be presented in accordance with IPSAS
1, Presentation of Financial Statements.

20X1 Cash Non-cash changes 20X2
flows

Acquisition ~ Foreign exchange  Fair value

movement changes
Long-term borrowings X X X X X X
Short-term borrowings X X X X X X
Lease liabilities X X X X X X
Assets held to hedge long- X X X X X X
term borrowings
Total liabilities from X X X X X X

financing activities
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Comparison with IAS 7

IPSAS 2, Cash Flow Statements is drawn primarily from IAS 7, Cash Flow
Statements and includes an amendment made to IAS 7 as part of the Improvements
to IFRSs issued in April 2009. The main differences between IPSAS 2 and IAS 7
are as follows:

° IPSAS 2 uses different terminology, in certain instances, from IAS 7. The
most significant examples are the use of the terms “revenue,” “statement of
financial performance,” and “net assets/equity” in IPSAS 2. The equivalent

99 ¢C:

terms in IAS 7 are “income,” “income statement,” and “equity.”
b 2

° IPSAS 2 contains a different set of definitions of technical terms from IAS 7
(paragraph 8).

° In common with IAS 7, IPSAS 2 allows either the direct or indirect method
to be used to present cash flows from operating activities. Where the direct
method is used to present cash flows from operating activities, IPSAS 2
encourages disclosure of a reconciliation of surplus or deficit to operating
cash flows in the notes to the financial statements (paragraph 29).

° The Illustrative Examples accompanying IPSAS 2 do not include an
illustration of a Cash Flow Statement for a financial institution.
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IPSAS 3—ACCOUNTING POLICIES, CHANGES IN
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND ERRORS

Acknowledgment

This International Public Sector Accounting Standard (IPSAS) is drawn primarily
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Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors, published
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are reproduced in this publication of the International Public Sector Accounting
Standards Board (IPSASB) of the International Federation of Accountants (IFAC)
with the permission of the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS)
Foundation.

The approved text of the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) is
that published by the IASB in the English language, and copies may be obtained
directly from IFRS Foundation, Costumer Service, Columbus Building, 7 Westferry
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IPSAS 3—ACCOUNTING POLICIES,

CHANGES IN

ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND ERRORS

History of IPSAS

The Applicability of IPSASs (issued April 2016)

This version includes amendments resulting from IPSASs issued up to
January 31, 2019.

IPSAS 3, Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors was
issued in May 2000.

In December 2006 the IPSASB issued a revised IPSAS 3.
Since then, IPSAS 3 has been amended by the following IPSASs:

Improvements to IPSASs 2015 (issued April 2016)

IPSAS 33, First-time Adoption of Accrual Basis International Public Sector
Accounting Standards (IPSASs) (issued January 2015)

Improvements to IPSASs 2011 (issued October 2011)

Improvements to IPSASs (issued January 2010)
IPSAS 31, Intangible Assets (issued January 2010
Improvements to IPSASs (issued November 2010)

)

Table of Amended Paragraphs in IPSAS 3

Paragraph Affected How Affected Affected By
Introduction section Deleted Improvements to IPSASs
October 2011
Heading above IN11 Amended Improvements to IPSASs
November 2010
5 Deleted The Applicability of
IPSASs April 2016
6 Deleted The Applicability of
IPSASs April 2016
7 Amended Improvements to IPSASs
April 2016
9 Amended Improvements to IPSASs
January 2010
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Paragraph Affected How Affected Affected By
10 Amended Improvements to IPSASs
January 2010
Improvements to IPSASs
April 2016
11 Amended Improvements to IPSASs
January 2010
12 Amended Improvements to IPSASs
April 2016
13 Deleted Improvements to IPSASs
April 2016
14 Amended Improvements to IPSASs
January 2010
Improvements to IPSASs
April 2016
15 Amended Improvements to IPSASs
April 2016
17 Amended Improvements to IPSASs
April 2016
22 Amended IPSAS 31 January 2010
34 Amended Improvements to IPSASs
April 2016
59A New Improvements to IPSASs
January 2010
59B New IPSAS 33 January 2015
59C New Improvements to IPSASs
April 2016
59D New The Applicability of
IPSASs April 2016
60 Amended IPSAS 33 January 2015
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES, CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND ERRORS

International Public Sector Accounting Standard 3, Accounting Policies, Changes in
Accounting Estimates and Errors, is set out in paragraphs 1-61. All the paragraphs
have equal authority. IPSAS 3 should be read in the context of its objective, the
Basis for Conclusions, the Preface to the International Public Sector Accounting
Standards, and the Conceptual Framework for General Purpose Financial
Reporting by Public Sector Entities. IPSAS 3 provides a basis for selecting and
applying accounting policies in the absence of explicit guidance.
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Objective

1.

The objective of this Standard is to prescribe the criteria for selecting and
changing accounting policies, together with the (a) accounting treatment
and disclosure of changes in accounting policies, (b) changes in accounting
estimates, and (c) the corrections of errors. This Standard is intended to
enhance the relevance and faithful representativeness of an entity’s financial
statements, and the comparability of those financial statements over time and
with the financial statements of other entities.

2. Disclosure requirements for accounting policies, except those for changes
in accounting policies, are set out in IPSAS 1, Presentation of Financial
Statements.

Scope

3. This Standard shall be applied in selecting and applying accounting
policies, and accounting for changes in accounting policies, changes in
accounting estimates, and corrections of prior period errors.

4. The tax effects of corrections of prior period errors and of retrospective
adjustments made to apply changes in accounting policies are not considered
in this Standard, as they are not relevant for many public sector entities.
International or national accounting standards dealing with income taxes
contain guidance on the treatment of tax effects.

5. [Deleted]

6. [Deleted]

Definitions

7. The following terms are used in this Standard with the meanings

specified:

Accounting policies are the specific principles, bases, conventions, rules,
and practices applied by an entity in preparing and presenting financial
statements.

A change in accounting estimate is an adjustment of the carrying amount
of an asset or a liability, or the amount of the periodic consumption of
an asset, that results from the assessment of the present status of, and
expected future benefits and obligations associated with, assets and
liabilities. Changes in accounting estimates result from new information
or new developments and, accordingly, are not correction of errors.

Impracticable Applying a requirement is impracticable when the entity
cannot apply it after making every reasonable effort to do so. For
a particular prior period, it is impracticable to apply a change in an
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accounting policy retrospectively or to make a retrospective restatement
to correct an error if:

(@) The effects of the retrospective application or retrospective
restatement are not determinable;

(b)  The retrospective application or retrospective restatement requires
assumptions about what management’s intent would have been in
that period; or

(c) Theretrospective application or retrospective restatement requires
significant estimates of amounts and it is impossible to distinguish
objectively information about those estimates that:

(1) Provides evidence of circumstances that existed on the
date(s) as at which those amounts are to be recognized,
measured, or disclosed; and

(ii))  Would have been available when the financial statements
for that prior period were authorized for issue;

from other information.

Prior period errors are omissions from, and misstatements in, the entity’s
financial statements for one or more prior periods arising from a failure
to use, or misuse of, faithfully representative information that:

(a) Was available when financial statements for those periods were
authorized for issue; and

(b) Could reasonably be expected to have been obtained and taken
into account in the preparation and presentation of those financial
statements.

Such errors include the effects of mathematical mistakes, mistakes in
applying accounting policies, oversights or misinterpretations of facts,
and fraud.

Prospective application of a change in accounting policy and of
recognizing the effect of a change in an accounting estimate, respectively,
are:

(a) Applying the new accounting policy to transactions, other events,
and conditions occurring after the date as at which the policy is
changed; and

(b)  Recognizing the effect of the change in the accounting estimate in
the current and future periods affected by the change.

Retrospective application is applying a new accounting policy to
transactions, other events, and conditions as if that policy had always
been applied.
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Retrospective restatement is correcting the recognition, measurement,
and disclosure of amounts of elements of financial statements as if a prior
period error had never occurred.

Terms defined in other IPSASs are used in this Standard with the same
meaning as in those Standards, and are reproduced in the Glossary of
Defined Terms published separately.

Materiality

8. Assessing whether an omission or misstatement could influence decisions
of users, and so be material, requires consideration of the characteristics
of those users. Users are assumed to have a reasonable knowledge of the
public sector and economic activities and accounting and a willingness to
study the information with reasonable diligence. Therefore, the assessment
needs to take into account how users with such attributes could reasonably be
expected to be influenced in making and evaluating decisions.

Accounting Policies
Selection and Application of Accounting Policies

9. When an IPSAS specifically applies to a transaction, other event or
condition, the accounting policy or policies applied to that item shall be
determined by applying the Standard.

10. IPSASs set out accounting policies that the IPSASB has concluded result
in financial statements containing relevant and faithfully representative
information about the transactions, other events, and conditions to which they
apply. Those policies need not be applied when the effect of applying them
is immaterial. However, it is inappropriate to make, or leave uncorrected,
immaterial departures from IPSASs to achieve a particular presentation of an
entity’s financial position, financial performance, or cash flows.

11. IPSASs are accompanied by guidance to assist entities in applying their
requirements. All such guidance states whether it is an integral part of IPSASs.
Guidance that is an integral part of IPSASs is mandatory. Guidance that is
not an integral part of IPSASs does not contain requirements for financial
statements.

12. In the absence of an IPSAS that specifically applies to a transaction, other
event, or condition, management shall use its judgment in developing and
applying an accounting policy that results in information that is relevant
to the accountability and decision-making needs of users, faithfully
represents the financial position, financial performance, and cash flows
of the entity, meets the qualitative characteristics of understandability,
timeliness, comparability, and verifiability and takes account of the
constraints on information included in general purpose financial reports
and the balance between the qualitative characteristics.
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13.
14.

15.

[Deleted]

In making the judgment, described in paragraph 12, management shall
refer to, and consider the applicability of, the following sources in the
following order:

(a) The requirements in IPSASs dealing with similar and related
issues; and

(b) The definitions, recognition and measurement criteria for assets,
liabilities, revenue and expenses described in the Conceptual
Framework for General Purpose Financial Reporting by Public
Sector Entities.

In making the judgment described in paragraph 12, management may
also consider (a) the most recent pronouncements of other standard-
setting bodies, and (b) accepted public or private sector practices, but only
to the extent that these do not conflict with the sources in paragraph 14.
Examples of such pronouncements include pronouncements of the
IASB, including IFRSs, and Interpretations issued by the IASB’s
IFRS Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) or the former Standing
Interpretations Committee (SIC).

Consistency of Accounting Policies

16.

An entity shall select and apply its accounting policies consistently for
similar transactions, other events, and conditions, unless an IPSAS
specifically requires or permits categorization of items for which
different policies may be appropriate. If an IPSAS requires or permits
such categorization, an appropriate accounting policy shall be selected
and applied consistently to each category.

Changes in Accounting Policies

17.

18.

IPSAS 3

An entity shall change an accounting policy only if the change:
(a) Is required by an IPSAS; or

(b) Results in the financial statements providing faithfully
representative and more relevant information about the effects of
transactions, other events, and conditions on the entity’s financial
position, financial performance, or cash flows.

Users of financial statements need to be able to compare the financial
statements of an entity over time to identify trends in its financial position,
performance, and cash flows. Therefore, the same accounting policies are
applied within each period and from one period to the next, unless a change
in accounting policy meets one of the criteria in paragraph 17.
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19. A change from one basis of accounting to another basis of accounting is
a change in accounting policy.

20. A change in the accounting treatment, recognition, or measurement of a
transaction, event, or condition within a basis of accounting is regarded
as a change in accounting policy.

21. The following are not changes in accounting policies:

(a) The application of an accounting policy for transactions, other
events or conditions that differ in substance from those previously
occurring; and

(b)  The application of a new accounting policy for transactions, other
events, or conditions that did not occur previously or that were
immaterial.

22. The initial application of a policy to revalue assets in accordance with
IPSAS 17, Property, Plant, and Equipment, or IPSAS 31, Intangible
Assets, is a change in accounting policy to be dealt with as a revaluation
in accordance with IPSAS 17 or IPSAS 31, rather than in accordance
with this Standard.

23. Paragraphs 24—36 do not apply to the change in accounting policy described
in paragraph 22.

Applying Changes in Accounting Policies
24, Subject to paragraph 28:

(a)  An entity shall account for a change in accounting policy resulting
from the initial application of an IPSAS in accordance with the
specific transitional provisions, if any, in that Standard; and

(b) When an entity changes an accounting policy upon initial
application of an IPSAS that does not include specific transitional
provisions applying to that change, or changes an accounting
policy voluntarily, it shall apply the change retrospectively.

25. For the purpose of this Standard, early application of a Standard is not a
voluntary change in accounting policy.

26. In the absence of an IPSAS that specifically applies to a transaction, other
event, or condition, management may, in accordance with paragraph 15,
apply an accounting policy from (a) the most recent pronouncements of other
standard-setting bodies, and (b) accepted public or private sector practices,
but only to the extent that these are consistent with paragraph 15. Examples
of such pronouncements include pronouncements of the IASB, including the
Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of Financial Statements,
IFRSs, and Interpretations issued by the IFRIC or the former SIC. If,
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217.

28.

29.

30.

31.

IPSAS 3

following an amendment of such a pronouncement, the entity chooses to
change an accounting policy, that change is accounted for and disclosed as a
voluntary change in accounting policy.

Retrospective Application

Subject to paragraph 28, when a change in accounting policy is applied
retrospectively in accordance with paragraph 24(a) or (b), the entity shall
adjust the opening balance of each affected component of net assets/equity
for the earliest period presented, and the other comparative amounts
disclosed for each prior period presented as if the new accounting policy
had always been applied.

Limitations on Retrospective Application

When retrospective application is required by paragraph 24(a) or (b),
a change in accounting policy shall be applied retrospectively, except to
the extent that it is impracticable to determine either the period-specific
effects or the cumulative effect of the change.

When it is impracticable to determine the period-specific effects of
changing an accounting policy on comparative information for one or
more prior periods presented, the entity shall apply the new accounting
policy to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities as at the beginning
of the earliest period for which retrospective application is practicable,
which may be the current period, and shall make a corresponding
adjustment to the opening balance of each affected component of net
assets/equity for that period.

When it is impracticable to determine the cumulative effect, at the
beginning of the current period, of applying a new accounting policy
to all prior periods, the entity shall adjust the comparative information
to apply the new accounting policy prospectively from the earliest date
practicable.

When an entity applies a new accounting policy retrospectively, it applies
the new accounting policy to comparative information for prior periods as
far back as is practicable. Retrospective application to a prior period is not
practicable unless it is practicable to determine the cumulative effect on the
amounts in both the opening and closing statement of financial positions
for that period. The amount of the resulting adjustment relating to periods
before those presented in the financial statements is made to the opening
balance of each affected component of net assets/equity of the earliest prior
period presented. Usually the adjustment is made to accumulated surpluses or
deficits. However, the adjustment may be made to another component of net
assets/equity (for example, to comply with an IPSAS). Any other information
about prior periods, such as historical summaries of financial data, is also
adjusted as far back as is practicable.
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When it is impracticable for an entity to apply a new accounting policy
retrospectively, because it cannot determine the cumulative effect of applying
the policy to all prior periods, the entity, in accordance with paragraph 30,
applies the new policy prospectively from the start of the earliest period
practicable. It therefore disregards the portion of the cumulative adjustment
to assets, liabilities, and net assets/equity arising before that date. Changing
an accounting policy is permitted even if it is impracticable to apply the policy
prospectively for any prior period. Paragraphs 55-58 provide guidance when
it is impracticable to apply a new accounting policy to one or more prior
periods.

Disclosure

33.

34.

When initial application of an IPSAS (a) has an effect on the current
period or any prior period, (b) would have such an effect, except that it
is impracticable to determine the amount of the adjustment, or (¢c) might
have an effect on future periods, an entity shall disclose:

(a) The title of the Standard;

(b)  When applicable, that the change in accounting policy is made in
accordance with its transitional provisions;

(c) The nature of the change in accounting policy;
(d)  When applicable, a description of the transitional provisions;

(¢) When applicable, the transitional provisions that might have an
effect on future periods;

(f)  For the current period and each prior period presented, to the
extent practicable, the amount of the adjustment for each financial
statement line item affected;

(g) The amount of the adjustment relating to periods before those
presented, to the extent practicable; and

(h)  If retrospective application required by paragraph 24(a) or (b) is
impracticable for a particular prior period, or for periods before
those presented, the circumstances that led to the existence of that
condition and a description of how and from when the change in
accounting policy has been applied.

Financial statements of subsequent periods need not repeat these
disclosures.

When a voluntary change in accounting policy (a) has an effect on the
current period or any prior period, (b) would have an effect on that
period, except that it is impracticable to determine the amount of the
adjustment, or (c) might have an effect on future periods, an entity shall
disclose:
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(a)
(b)

(©)

(d)

(e)

The nature of the change in accounting policy;

The reasons why applying the new accounting policy provides
faithfully representative and more relevant information;

For the current period and each prior period presented, to the
extent practicable, the amount of the adjustment for each financial
statement line item affected;

The amount of the adjustment relating to periods before those
presented, to the extent practicable; and

If retrospective application is impracticable for a particular prior
period, or for periods before those presented, the circumstances
that led to the existence of that condition and a description of how
and from when the change in accounting policy has been applied.

Financial statements of subsequent periods need not repeat these
disclosures.

35. When an entity has not applied a new IPSAS that has been issued but is
not yet effective, the entity shall disclose:

(a)  This fact; and

(b) Known or reasonably estimable information relevant to assessing
the possible impact that application of the new Standard will
have on the entity’s financial statements in the period of initial
application.

36. In complying with paragraph 35, an entity considers disclosing:

(a)  The title of the new IPSAS;

(b)  The nature of the impending change or changes in accounting policy;

(¢)  The date by which application of the Standard is required;

(d)  The date as at which it plans to apply the Standard initially; and

(e) Either:

(i)  Adiscussion of the impact that initial application of the Standard
is expected to have on the entity’s financial statements; or

(i)  Ifthat impact is not known or reasonably estimable, a statement
to that effect.

Changes in Accounting Estimates

37. As a result of the uncertainties inherent in delivering services, conducting
trading, or other activities, many items in financial statements cannot be
measured with precision but can only be estimated. Estimation involves

IPSAS 3
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38.

39.

40.

41.

42.

43.
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judgments based on the latest available, reliable information. For example,
estimates may be required of:

(a)  Tax revenue due to government;

(b) Bad debts arising from uncollected taxes;

(¢) Inventory obsolescence;

(d)  The fair value of financial assets or financial liabilities;

(e) The useful lives of, or expected pattern of consumption of future
economic benefits or service potential embodied in, depreciable assets,
or the percentage completion of road construction; and

(f)  Warranty obligations.

The use of reasonable estimates is an essential part of the preparation of
financial statements and does not undermine their reliability'.

An estimate may need revision if changes occur in the circumstances on
which the estimate was based or as a result of new information or more
experience. By its nature, the revision of an estimate does not relate to prior
periods and is not the correction of an error.

A change in the measurement basis applied is a change in an accounting
policy, and is not a change in an accounting estimate. When it is difficult to
distinguish a change in an accounting policy from a change in an accounting
estimate, the change is treated as a change in an accounting estimate.

The effect of a change in an accounting estimate, other than a change
to which paragraph 42 applies, shall be recognized prospectively by
including it in surplus or deficit in:

(a) The period of the change, if the change affects the period only; or

(b) The period of the change and future periods, if the change affects
both.

To the extent that a change in an accounting estimate gives rise to
changes in assets and liabilities, or relates to an item of net assets/equity,
it shall be recognized by adjusting the carrying amount of the related
asset, liability, or net assets/equity item in the period of change.

Prospective recognition of the effect of a change in an accounting estimate
means that the change is applied to transactions, other events, and conditions
from the date of the change in estimate. A change in an accounting estimate
may affect only the current period’s surplus or deficit, or the surplus or deficit

Information that is reliable is free from material error and bias, and can be depended on by users
to faithfully represent that which it purports to represent or could reasonably be expected to
represent. Paragraph BC16 of IPSAS 1 discusses the transitional approach to the explanation of
reliability.
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of both the current period and future periods. For example, a change in the
estimate of the amount of bad debts affects only the current period’s surplus
or deficit, and therefore is recognized in the current period. However, a
change in the estimated useful life of, or the expected pattern of consumption
of economic benefits or service potential embodied in, a depreciable asset
affects the depreciation expense for the current period and for each future
period during the asset’s remaining useful life. In both cases, the effect of the
change relating to the current period is recognized as revenue or expense in
the current period. The effect, if any, on future periods is recognized in future

periods.
Disclosure
44, An entity shall disclose the nature and amount of a change in an

accounting estimate that has an effect in the current period or is expected
to have an effect on future periods, except for the disclosure of the effect
on future periods when it is impracticable to estimate that effect.

45. If the amount of the effect in future periods is not disclosed because
estimating it is impracticable, the entity shall disclose that fact.

Errors

46. Errors can arise in respect of the recognition, measurement, presentation, or
disclosure of elements of financial statements. Financial statements do not
comply with IPSASs if they contain either material errors, or immaterial
errors made intentionally to achieve a particular presentation of an entity’s
financial position, financial performance, or cash flows. Potential current
period errors discovered in that period are corrected before the financial
statements are authorized for issue. However, material errors are sometimes
not discovered until a subsequent period, and these prior period errors are
corrected in the comparative information presented in the financial statements
for that subsequent period (see paragraphs 47-52).

47. Subject to paragraph 48, an entity shall correct material prior period
errors retrospectively in the first set of financial statements authorized
for issue after their discovery by:

(a) Restating the comparative amounts for prior period(s) presented
in which the error occurred; or

(b) If the error occurred before the earliest prior period presented,
restating the opening balances of assets, liabilities and net assets/
equity for the earliest prior period presented.
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Limitations of Retrospective Restatement

48. A prior period error shall be corrected by retrospective restatement,
except to the extent that it is impracticable to determine either the
period-specific effects or the cumulative effect of the error.

49. When it is impracticable to determine the period-specific effects of an
error on comparative information for one or more prior periods presented,
the entity shall restate the opening balances of assets, liabilities, and net
assets/equity for the earliest period for which retrospective restatement
is practicable (which may be the current period).

50. When it is impracticable to determine the cumulative effect, at the
beginning of the current period, of an error on all prior periods, the
entity shall restate the comparative information to correct the error
prospectively from the earliest date practicable.

51. The correction of a prior period error is excluded from surplus or deficit for
the period in which the error is discovered. Any information presented about
prior periods, including historical summaries of financial data, is also restated
as far back as is practicable.

52. When it is impracticable to determine the amount of an error (e.g., a
mistake in applying an accounting policy) for all prior periods, the entity,
in accordance with paragraph 50, restates the comparative information
prospectively from the earliest date practicable. It therefore disregards the
portion of the cumulative restatement of assets, liabilities, and net assets/
equity arising before that date. Paragraphs 55-58 provide guidance on when
it is impracticable to correct an error for one or more prior periods.

53. Corrections of errors are distinguished from changes in accounting estimates.
Accounting estimates by their nature are approximations that may need
revision as additional information becomes known. For example, the gain
or loss recognized on the outcome of a contingency is not the correction of
an error.

Disclosure of Prior Period Errors
54. In applying paragraph 47, an entity shall disclose the following:
(a) The nature of the prior period error;

(b) For each prior period presented, to the extent practicable, the
amount of the correction for each financial statement line item
affected;

(c) The amount of the correction at the beginning of the earliest prior
period presented; and
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(d) If retrospective restatement is impracticable for a particular
prior period, the circumstances that led to the existence of that
condition and a description of how and from when the error has
been corrected.

Financial statements of subsequent periods need not repeat these
disclosures.

Impracticability in Respect of Retrospective Application and
Retrospective Restatement

55.

56.

57.

IPSAS 3

In some circumstances, it is impracticable to adjust comparative information
for one or more prior periods to achieve comparability with the current period.
For example, data may not have been collected in the prior period(s) in a
way that allows either retrospective application of a new accounting policy
(including, for the purpose of paragraphs 5658, its prospective application
to prior periods) or retrospective restatement to correct a prior period error,
and it may be impracticable to re-create the information.

It is frequently necessary to make estimates in applying an accounting policy
to elements of financial statements recognized or disclosed in respect of
transactions, other events, or conditions. Estimation is inherently subjective,
and estimates may be developed after the reporting date. Developing estimates
is potentially more difficult when retrospectively applying an accounting
policy or making a retrospective restatement to correct a prior period error,
because of the longer period of time that might have passed since the affected
transaction, other event, or condition occurred. However, the objective of
estimates related to prior periods remains the same as for estimates made in
the current period, namely, for the estimate to reflect the circumstances that
existed when the transaction, other event, or condition occurred.

Therefore, retrospectively applying a new accounting policy or correcting a
prior period error requires distinguishing information that:

(a) Provides evidence of circumstances that existed on the date(s) as at
which the transaction, other event, or condition occurred; and

(b)  Would have been available when the financial statements for that prior
period were authorized for issue;

from other information. For some types of estimates (e.g., an estimate of fair
value not based on an observable price or observable inputs), it is impracticable
to distinguish these types of information. When retrospective application or
retrospective restatement would require making a significant estimate for
which it is impossible to distinguish these two types of information, it is
impracticable to apply the new accounting policy or correct the prior period
error retrospectively.
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58. Hindsight should not be used when applying a new accounting policy to,
or correcting amounts for, a prior period, either in making assumptions
about what management’s intentions would have been in a prior period or
estimating the amounts recognized, measured, or disclosed in a prior period.
For example, when an entity corrects a prior period error in classifying a
government building as an investment property (the building was previously
classified as property, plant, and equipment), it does not change the basis of
classification for that period, if management decided later to use that building
as an owner-occupied office building. In addition, when an entity corrects a
prior period error in calculating its liability for provision of cleaning costs of
pollution resulting from government operations in accordance with IPSAS
19, Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets, it disregards
information about an unusually large oil leak from a naval supply ship during
the next period that became available after the financial statements for the
prior period were authorized for issue. The fact that significant estimates
are frequently required when amending comparative information presented
for prior periods does not prevent reliable adjustment or correction of the
comparative information.

Effective Date

59. An entity shall apply this Standard for annual financial statements
covering periods beginning on or after January 1, 2008. Earlier
application is encouraged. If an entity applies this Standard for a period
beginning before January 1, 2008, it shall disclose that fact.

59A.  Paragraphs 9, 11, and 14 were amended by Improvements to IPSASs
issued in January 2010. An entity shall apply those amendments for
annual financial statements covering periods beginning on or after
January 1, 2011. Earlier application is encouraged.

59B.  Paragraph 60 was amended by IPSAS 33, First-time Adoption of Accrual
Basis International Public Sector Accounting Standards (IPSASs) issued
in January 2015. An entity shall apply that amendment for annual
financial statements covering periods beginning on or after January 1,
2017. Earlier application is permitted. If an entity applies IPSAS 33 for
a period beginning before January 1, 2017, the amendments shall also be
applied for that earlier period.

59C. Paragraphs 7, 10, 12, 14, 15, 17 and 34 were amended, and paragraph
13 was deleted by Improvements to IPSASs 2015 issued in April 2016.
An entity shall apply those amendments for annual financial statements
covering periods beginning on or after January 1, 2017. Earlier
application is encouraged. If an entity applies the amendments for a
period beginning before January 1, 2017 it shall disclose that fact.
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59D.

60.

Paragraphs S and 6 were deleted by The Applicability of IPSASs, issued in
April 2016. An entity shall apply those amendments for annual financial
statements covering periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018.
Earlier application is encouraged. If an entity applies the amendments
for a period beginning before January 1, 2018, it shall disclose that fact.

When an entity adopts the accrual basis IPSASs of accounting as defined in
IPSAS 33, First-time Adoption of Accrual Basis International Public Sector
Accounting Standards (IPSASs) for financial reporting purposes subsequent
to this effective date, this Standard applies to the entity’s annual financial
statements covering periods beginning on or after the date of adoption of
IPSASs.

Withdrawal of IPSAS 3 (2000)

61.

IPSAS 3

This Standard supersedes IPSAS 3, Net Surplus or Deficit for the Period,
Fundamental Errors and Changes in Accounting Policies, issued in 2000.
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Appendix

Amendments to Other IPSASs
[Deleted]
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Basis for Conclusions

This Basis for Conclusions accompanies, but is not part of, IPSAS 3.

Revision of IPSAS 3 as a result of the IASB’s General Improvements Project
Background

BC1.  The IPSASB’s IFRS Convergence Program is an important element in the
IPSASB’s work program. The IPSASB’s policy is to converge the accrual
basis IPSASs with IFRSs issued by the IASB where appropriate for public
sector entities.

BC2.  Accrual basis IPSASs that are converged with IFRSs maintain the
requirements, structure, and text of the IFRSs, unless there is a public sector-
specific reason for a departure. Departure from the equivalent IFRS occurs
when requirements or terminology in the IFRS are not appropriate for the
public sector, or when inclusion of additional commentary or examples is
necessary to illustrate certain requirements in the public sector context.
Differences between IPSASs and their equivalent IFRSs are identified in the
Comparison with IFRS included in each IPSAS. The Comparison with IAS 8
references the December 2003 version of IAS 8 and not any other.

BC3.  In May 2002, the IASB issued an exposure draft of proposed amendments
to 13 T1ASs? as part of its General Improvements Project. The objectives
of the IASB’s General Improvements Project were “to reduce or eliminate
alternatives, redundancies and conflicts within the Standards, to deal with
some convergence issues and to make other improvements.” The final IASs
were issued in December 2003.

BC4.  IPSAS 3, issued in January 2000, was based on IAS 8 (Revised 1993), Net
Profit or Loss of the Period, Fundamental Errors and Changes in Accounting
Policies, which was reissued in December 2003 as IAS 8, Accounting
Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors. In late 2003, the
IPSASB’s predecessor, the Public Sector Committee (PSC),* actioned an
IPSAS improvements project to converge, where appropriate, IPSASs with
the improved IASs issued in December 2003.

BCS5.  The IPSASB reviewed the improved IAS 8 and generally concurred with
the IASB’s reasons for revising the IAS and with the amendments made.
(The TASB’s Bases for Conclusions are not reproduced here. Subscribers

o

The International Accounting Standards (IASs) were issued by the IASB’s predecessor—the
International Accounting Standards Committee. The Standards issued by the IASB are entitled
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs). The IASB has defined IFRSs to consist of
IFRSs, IASs, and Interpretations of the Standards. In some cases, the IASB has amended, rather than
replaced, the IASs, in which case the old IAS number remains.

3 The PSC became the IPSASB when the IFAC Board changed the PSC’s mandate to become an
independent standard-setting board in November 2004.
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to the IASB’s Comprehensive Subscription Service can view the Bases for
Conclusions on the IASB’s website at http://www.iasb.org). In those cases
where the IPSAS departs from its related IAS, the Basis for Conclusions
explains the public sector-specific reasons for the departure.

BC6.  IPSAS 3 does not include the consequential amendments arising from IFRSs
issued after December 2003. This is because the IPSASB has not yet reviewed
and formed a view on the applicability of the requirements in those IFRSs to
public sector entities.

Revision of IPSAS 3 as a result of the IASB’s Improvements to IFRSs issued in
2008

BC7. The IPSASB reviewed the revisions to IAS 8 included in the Improvements
to IFRSs issued by the IASB in May 2008 and generally concurred with the
IASB’s reasons for revising the standard. The IPSASB concluded that there
was no public sector specific reason for not adopting the amendments.

Revision of IPSAS 3 as a result of the publication of the Conceptual Framework
for General Purpose Financial Reporting by Public Sector Entities (Improvements
to IPSASs 2015)

BC8.  Following the publication of the Conceptual Framework for General Purpose
Financial Reporting by Public Sector Entities (the Conceptual Framework)
the IPSASB initiated a limited scope project to make changes to IPSASs
to reflect the first four chapters. These chapters address role and authority;
objectives and users; qualitative characteristics (QCs) and constraints on
information in general purpose financial reports; and the reporting entity.
The IPSASB proposed these amendments in ED 58, Improvements to IPSAS
2015.

BC9.  Paragraph 12 of IPSAS 3 provides the first level requirement for the
development of an accounting policy when there is not an IPSAS that
specifically applies to a transaction, other event or condition. The 2006
version of IPSAS 1 specified that management should use its judgment in
developing and applying an accounting policy that results in information
that is relevant and reliable. The IPSASB decided to replace the reference
to reliability with faithful representation in order to ensure consistency with
the Conceptual Framework. Consistent with its decision not to distinguish
fundamental and enhancing QCs the IPSASB decided to acknowledge the
other QCs and the constraints on information included in general purpose
financial reports in paragraph 12. A respondent to ED 58 considered that
references throughout the suite of IPSASs should be modified to refer to the
full set of QCs and constraints, The Conceptual Framework states that each of
the QCs is integral to, and works with the other QCs, to provide information
in general purpose financial reports that is useful for achieving the objectives
of financial reporting. However, this interaction does not preclude individual
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BC10.

BCl11.

BCl12.

BC13.

BCl14.

QCs having more or less importance, dependent upon specific circumstances,
and therefore the IPSASB concluded that there should not be a reference to
all QCs and constraints every time one or more QCs is referenced.

IPSAS 3 had also listed a number of attributes of reliability, including
economic substance, neutrality, prudence, and completeness. The IPSASB
considered whether these attributes should be explicitly stated in the revised
IPSAS 3. The IPSASB acknowledges the value of these attributes, but noted
that whereas they had been specifically referenced and explained in Appendix
A to IPSAS 1 they are not specifically identified as QCs in the Conceptual
Framework.

The Conceptual Framework explains that “faithful representation is attained
when the depiction of the phenomenon is complete, neutral, and free from
material error”, and further that “information that faithfully represents an
economic or other phenomenon depicts the substance of the underlying
transaction, other event, activity or circumstance—which is not necessarily
always the same as its legal form.” Therefore substance over form remains
a key quality that information included in GPFRs must possess. It is not
identified as a separate or additional QC because it is already embedded in
the notion of faithful representation.

The IPSASB took the view that the notion of prudence is also reflected in the
explanation of neutrality as a component of faithful representation, and the
acknowledgement of the need to exercise caution in dealing with uncertainty.
Consequently the IPSASB concluded that there is no need to explicitly
refer to economic substance, neutrality, prudence, and completeness in
paragraph 12.

Paragraph 14 provides the sources that management shall refer to, and
consider the applicability of, when developing an accounting policy when
there is not an IPSAS that specifically applies to a transaction, other event
or condition. The IPSASB considered whether management should be
directed to the definitions, recognition and measurement criteria for assets,
liabilities, revenue and expenses described in other IPSASs or the Conceptual
Framework. The IPSASB acknowledged that IPSASs have not yet been
updated to reflect definitions, recognition and measurement criteria in
the Conceptual Framework. However the Conceptual Framework reflects
the IPSASB’s most up-to-date thinking and the IPSASB concluded that
management should be directed to this source.

Paragraph 15 permits consideration of the most recent pronouncements of
other standard-setting bodies, to the extent that they do not conflict with
sources drawn from IPSASs, in making judgments on the development
and application of an accounting policy. The IPSASB considered whether
it should retain the examples of pronouncements of the International
Accounting Standards Board (IASB). Noting that the revision of the IASB’s
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Conceptual Framework had not been completed at the time, the IPSASB
took the view that there are differences between the IPSASB’s Conceptual
Framework and the IASB’s developing revision of its Conceptual Framework.
Consequently the development and application of accounting policies based
on the IASB’s Conceptual Framework might not always be appropriate in
the public sector. In response to comments by a respondent to ED 58, the
IPSASB also reaffirmed that the IPSASB’s Conceptual Framework is not
subordinate to the [ASB’s Conceptual Framework. The IPSASB did consider
that the other examples of IASB pronouncements in paragraph 15—IFRSs,
and Interpretations issued by the IASB’s IFRS Interpretations Committee
(IFRIC) or the former Standing Interpretations Committee (SIC)—are useful
and should be retained.

Revision of IPSAS 3 as a result of the IPSASB’s The Applicability of IPSASs,
issued in April 2016

BC15.

The IPSASB issued The Applicability of IPSASs in April 2016. This
pronouncement amends references in all IPSASs as follows:

(a) Removes the standard paragraphs about the applicability of IPSASs
to “public sector entities other than GBEs” from the scope section of
each Standard;

(b) Replaces the term “GBE” with the term “commercial public sector
entities”, where appropriate; and

(¢) Amends paragraph 10 of the Preface to International Public Sector
Accounting Standards by providing a positive description of public
sector entities for which IPSASs are designed.

The reasons for these changes are set out in the Basis for Conclusions to
IPSAS 1.
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Implementation Guidance

This guidance accompanies, but is not part of, IPSAS 3.

Retrospective Restatement of Errors

IG1.

1G2.

IG3.

1G4.

IGS.
1Gé.

During 20X2, the entity discovered that revenue from income taxes was
incorrect. Income taxes of CU%6,500 that should have been recognized in
20X1 were incorrectly omitted from 20X1 and recognized as revenue in
20X2.

The entity’s accounting records for 20X2 show revenue from taxation of
CU60,000 (including the CU6,500 taxation that should have been recognized
in opening balances), and expenses of CU86,500.

In 20X1, the entity reported:

CU
Revenue from taxation 34,000
User charges 3,000
Other operating revenue 30,000
Total revenue 67,000
Expenses (60,000)
Surplus 7,000

20X1 opening accumulated surplus was CU20,000, and closing accumulated
surplus was CU27,000.

The entity had no other revenue or expenses.

The entity had CUS5,000 of contributed capital throughout, and no other
components of net assets/equity except for accumulated surplus.

Public Sector Entity Statement of Financial Performance

20X2 (restated) 20X1
CuU Cu
Revenue from taxation 53,500 40,500
User charges 4,000 3,000
Other operating revenue 40,000 30,000
Total revenue 97,500 73,500
Expenses (86,500) (60,000)
Surplus 11,000 13,500

4

In these examples, monetary amounts are denominated in “currency units” (CU).
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Public Sector Entity X Statement of Changes in Equity

Contributed  Accumulated

capital Surpluses Total
Cu Cu CU

Balance at 31 December 20X0 5,000 20,000 25,000
Surplus for the year ended 13,500 13,500
December 31, 20X1 as restated

Balance at 31 December 20X 1 5,000 33,500 38,500
Surplus for the year ended 31 - 11,000 11,000
December 20X2

Balance at 31 December 20X2 5,000 44,500 49,500

Extracts from Notes to the Financial Statements

1.

Revenue from taxation of CU6,500 was incorrectly omitted from the financial
statements of 20X 1. The financial statements of 20X 1 have been restated to
correct this error. The effect of the restatement on those financial statements
is summarized below. There is no effect in 20X2.

Effect on 20X1
CuU
Increase revenue 6,500
Increase in surplus 6,500
Increase in debtors 6,500
Increase in net assets/equity 6,500

Change in Accounting Policy with Retrospective Application

1G7.

IGS.

During 20X2, the entity changed its accounting policy for the treatment of
borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition of a hydro-
electric power station that is under construction. In previous periods, the
entity had capitalized such costs. The entity has now decided to expense,
rather than capitalize them. Management judges that the new policy is
preferable, because it results in a more transparent treatment of finance costs
and is consistent with local industry practice, making the entity’s financial
statements more comparable.

The entity capitalized borrowing costs incurred of CU2,600 during 20X1 and
CUS5,200 in periods prior to 20X 1. All borrowing costs incurred in previous
years with respect to the acquisition of the power station were capitalized.
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1G9. The accounting records for 20X2 show surplus before interest of CU30,000;
and interest expense of CU3,000 (which relates only to 20X2).

IG10. The entity has not recognized any depreciation on the power station because
it is not yet in use.

IG11. In20X1, the entity reported:

CuU
Surplus before interest 18,000
Interest expense -
Surplus 18,000

IG12.  20X1 opening accumulated surpluses was CU20,000 and closing accumulated
surpluses was CU38,000.

IG13.  The entity had CU10,000 of contributed capital throughout, and no other
components of net assets/equity except for accumulated surplus.

Public Sector Entity Statement of Financial Performance

20X2 (restated) 20X1

CuU CuU

Surplus before interest 30,000 18,000
Interest expense (3,000) (2,600)
Surplus 27,000 15,400

Public Sector Entity Statement of Changes in Net Assets/Equity

(restated)
Contributed Accumulated
capital Surplus Total
CU CuU Cu
Balance at 31 December 20X0 as previously 10,000 20,000 30,000
reported
Change in accounting policy with respect to — (5,200) (5,200)
the capitalization of interest (Note 1)
Balance at 31 December 20X0 as restated 10,000 14,800 24,800
Surplus for the year ended 31 December — 15,400 15,400
20X1 (restated)
Balance at 31 December 20X 1 10,000 30,200 40,200
Surplus for the year ended 31 December 20X2 - 27,000 27,000
Closing at 31 December 20X2 10,000 57,200 67,200
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Extracts from Notes to the Financial Statements

1.

During 20X2, the entity changed its accounting policy for the treatment of
borrowing costs related to a hydro-electric power station. Previously, the
entity capitalized such costs. They are now written off as expenses as incurred.
Management judges that this policy provides faithfully representative and
more relevant information, because it results in a more transparent treatment of
finance costs and is consistent with local industry practice, making the entity’s
financial statements more comparable. This change in accounting policy has
been accounted for retrospectively, and the comparative statements for 20X1
have been restated. The effect of the change on 20X1 is tabulated below.
Opening accumulated surpluses for 20X1 have been reduced by CUS,200,
which is the amount of the adjustment relating to periods prior to 20X1.

Effect on 20X1 CU
(Increase) in interest expense (2,600)
(Decrease) in surplus (2,600)

Effect on periods prior to 20X1
(Decrease) in surplus (5,200)

(Decrease) in assets in the course of construction and in
accumulated surplus (7,800)

Prospective Application of a Change in Accounting Policy When Retrospective
Application is not Practicable

1G14.

IG15.

IG1e.

During 20X2, the entity changed its accounting policy for depreciating
property, plant, and equipment, so as to apply much more fully a components
approach, while at the same time adopting the revaluation model.

In years before 20X2, the entity’s asset records were not sufficiently detailed
to apply a components approach fully. At the end of year 20X1, management
commissioned an engineering survey, which provided information on the
components held and their fair values, useful lives, estimated residual values,
and depreciable amounts at the beginning of 20X2. However, the survey
did not provide a sufficient basis for reliably estimating the cost of those
components that had not previously been accounted for separately, and the
existing records before the survey did not permit this information to be
reconstructed.

Management considered how to account for each of the two aspects of the
accounting change. They determined that it was not practicable to account
for the change to a fuller components approach retrospectively, or to account
for that change prospectively from any earlier date than the start of 20X2.
Also, the change from a cost model to a revaluation model is required to be
accounted for prospectively. Therefore, management concluded that it should
apply the entity’s new policy prospectively from the start of 20X2.
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Additional information:

CU
Property, plant and equipment
Cost 25,000
Depreciation (14,000)
Net book value 11,000
Prospective depreciation expense for 20X2 (old basis) 1,500
Some results of the engineering survey
Valuation 17,000
Estimated residual value 3,000
Average remaining assets life (years) 7
Depreciation expense on existing property, plant and 2,000

equipment for 20X2 (new basis)

Extracts from Notes to the Financial Statements

1.

From the start of 20X2, the entity changed its accounting policy for
depreciating property, plant, and equipment, so as to apply much more fully a
components approach, while at the same time adopting the revaluation model.
Management takes the view that this policy provides faithfully representative
and more relevant information, because it deals more accurately with the
components of property, plant, and equipment and is based on up-to-date
values. The policy has been applied prospectively from the start of 20X2,
because it was not practicable to estimate the effects of applying the policy
either retrospectively or prospectively from any earlier date. Accordingly the
adopting of the new policy has no effect on prior periods. The effect on the
current year is to (a) increase the carrying amount of property, plant, and
equipment at the start of the year by CU6,000, (b) create a revaluation reserve
at the start of the year of CU6,000, and (¢) increase depreciation expense by
CU500.
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Comparison with IAS 8

IPSAS 3, Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors, is
drawn primarily from IAS 8 (2003), Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting
Estimates and Errors and includes amendments made to IAS 8 as part of the
Improvements to IFRSs issued in May 2008. The main differences between IPSAS 3
and IAS 8 are as follows:

° IPSAS 3 uses different terminology, in certain instances, from IAS 8. The
most significant examples are the use of the terms “statement of financial

performance,” “accumulated surplus or deficit,” and “net assets/equity” in
IPSAS 3. The equivalent terms in IAS 8 are “income statement,” “retained
earnings,” and “equity.”

° IPSAS 3 does not use the term “income,” which in IAS 8 has a broader
meaning than the term “revenue.”

° IPSAS 3 contains a different set of definitions of technical terms from IAS 8
(paragraph 7).

° IPSAS 3 has a similar hierarchy to IAS 8.

° IPSAS 3 does not require disclosures about adjustments to basic or diluted

earnings per share. IAS 8 requires disclosure of amount of adjustment or
correction for basic or diluted earnings per share.
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History of IPSAS

This version includes amendments resulting from IPSASs issued up to
January 31, 2019.

IPSAS 4, The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates was issued in May
2000.

In December 2006 the IPSASB issued a revised IPSAS 4.

In April 2008 the IPSASB issued a revised IPSAS 4.

Since then, IPSAS 4 has been amended by the following IPSASs:

° Improvements to IPSAS 2018 (issued October 2018)

° IPSAS 41, Financial Instruments (issued in August 14, 2018)

° The Applicability of IPSASs (issued April 2016)

° IPSAS 37, Joint Arrangements (issued January 2015)

° IPSAS 35, Consolidated Financial Statements (issued January 2015)

° IPSAS 33, First-time Adoption of Accrual Basis International Public Sector
Accounting Standards (IPSASs) (issued January 2015)

° Improvements to IPSASs 2011 (issued October 2011)

° IPSAS 29, Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement (issued
January 2010)

Table of Amended Paragraphs in IPSAS 4
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October 2011
3 Amended IPSAS 37 January 2015
IPSAS 29 January 2010
IPSAS 41 August 2018
4 Amended IPSAS 29 January 2010
IPSAS 41 August 2018
5 Amended IPSAS 29 January 2010
IPSAS 41 August 2018

281 IPSAS 4



Paragraph Affected How Affected Affected By
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10 Amended IPSAS 37 January 2015
13 Amended IPSAS 37 January 2015
21 Amended IPSAS 37 January 2015
22 Amended IPSAS 35 January 2015
31 Amended IPSAS 29 January 2010
IPSAS 41 August 2018
38 Amended IPSAS 37 January 2015
47 Amended IPSAS 35 January 2015
50 Amended IPSAS 37 January 2015
51 Amended IPSAS 37 January 2015
IPSAS 35 January 2015
53 Amended IPSAS 35 January 2015
55 Amended IPSAS 37 January 2015
IPSAS 35 January 2015
57 Amended IPSAS 37 January 2015
5TA New IPSAS 37 January 2015
57B New IPSAS 37 January 2015
57C New IPSAS 37 January 2015
57D New IPSAS 37 January 2015
58 Amended IPSAS 37 January 2015
61 Amended IPSAS 29 January 2010
IPSAS 41 August 2018
67 Deleted IPSAS 33 January 2015
68 Deleted IPSAS 33 January 2015
69 Deleted IPSAS 33 January 2015
70 Deleted IPSAS 33 January 2015
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Paragraph Affected How Affected Affected By
Heading above New Improvements to IPSAS
paragraph 70A October 2018

70A New Improvements to [IPSAS
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October 2018

71A New IPSAS 33 January 2015

71B New IPSAS 37 January 2015

IPSAS 35 January 2015

71C New The Applicability of
IPSASs April 2016

71D New IPSAS 41 August 2018

71E New Improvements to IPSAS
October 2018

72 Amended IPSAS 33 January 2015

Headings above New Improvements to IPSAS
paragraph Al October 2018

Al New Improvements to IPSAS
October 2018

A2 Ne Improvements to [IPSAS
v October 2018

A3 New Improvements to IPSAS
October 2018

Heading above New Improvements to [IPSAS
paragraph A4 October 2018

A4 New Improvements to IPSAS
October 2018

AS New Improvements to [IPSAS
October 2018

A6 New Improvements to IPSAS
October 2018

Heading above New Improvements to IPSAS
paragraph A7 October 2018

A7 New Improvements to IPSAS

October 2018
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IE1 Ne Improvements to IPSAS
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Heading above New Improvements to [IPSAS
paragraph 1E2 October 2018
1E2 Ne Improvements to IPSAS
v October 2018
1E3 N Improvements to IPSAS
o October 2018
1E4 N Improvements to IPSAS
o October 2018
Heading above New Improvements to IPSAS
paragraph IE5 October 2018
IES Ne Improvements to IPSAS
v October 2018
IE6 N Improvements to IPSAS
v October 2018
IE7 Ne Improvements to IPSAS
v October 2018
IE8 N Improvements to IPSAS
v October 2018
IE9 Ne Improvements to IPSAS
v October 2018
IE10 Ne Improvements to IPSAS
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Heading above New Improvements to IPSAS
paragraph IE11 October 2018
1IE11 Ne Improvements to [IPSAS
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1IE12 New Improvements to IPSAS
October 2018
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International Public Sector Accounting Standard 4, The Effects of Changes in
Foreign Exchange Rates, is set out in paragraphs 1-73. All the paragraphs have
equal authority. IPSAS 4 should be read in the context of its objective, the Basis for
Conclusions, the Preface to the International Public Sector Accounting Standards,
and the Conceptual Framework for General Purpose Financial Reporting by Public
Sector Entities. IPSAS 3, Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates
and Errors, provides a basis for selecting and applying accounting policies in the
absence of explicit guidance.
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Objective

1.

Scope

An entity may carry on foreign activities in two ways. It may have transactions
in foreign currencies or it may have foreign operations. In addition, an entity
may present its financial statements in a foreign currency. The objective of
this Standard is to prescribe how to include foreign currency transactions
and foreign operations in the financial statements of an entity, and how to
translate financial statements into a presentation currency.

The principal issues are (a) which exchange rate(s) to use, and (b) how to
report the effects of changes in exchange rates in the financial statements.

An entity that prepares and presents financial statements under the
accrual basis of accounting shall apply this Standard:

(a) In accounting for transactions and balances in foreign currencies,
except for those derivative transactions and balances that are
within the scope of IPSAS 41, Financial Instruments;

(b) In translating the financial performance and financial position of
foreign operations that are included in the financial statements of
the entity by consolidation, or by the equity method; and

(c) In translating an entity’s financial performance and financial
position into a presentation currency.

IPSAS 41 applies to many foreign currency derivatives and, accordingly,
these are excluded from the scope of this Standard. However, those foreign
currency derivatives that are not within the scope of IPSAS 41 (e.g., some
foreign currency derivatives that are embedded in other contracts) are within
the scope of this Standard. In addition, this Standard applies when an entity
translates amounts relating to derivatives from its functional currency to its
presentation currency.

This Standard does not apply to hedge accounting for foreign currency items,
including the hedging of a net investment in a foreign operation. [IPSAS 41
applies to hedge accounting.

[Deleted]
[Deleted]

This Standard applies to the presentation of an entity’s financial statements
in a foreign currency, and sets out requirements for the resulting financial
statements to be described as complying with IPSASs. For translations
of financial information into a foreign currency that do not meet these
requirements, this Standard specifies information to be disclosed.
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9. This Standard does not apply to the presentation in a cash flow statement of
cash flows arising from transactions in a foreign currency, or to the translation
of cash flows of a foreign operation (see IPSAS 2, Cash Flow Statements).

Definitions

10. The following terms are used in this Standard with the meanings

specified:
Closing rate is the spot exchange rate at the reporting date.

Exchange difference is the difference resulting from translating a given
number of units of one currency into another currency at different
exchange rates.

Exchange rate is the ratio of exchange for two currencies.
Foreign currency is a currency other than the functional currency of the
entity.

Foreign operation is an entity that is a controlled entity, associate, joint
arrangement, or branch of a reporting entity, the activities of which are
based or conducted in a country or currency other than those of the
reporting entity.

Functional currency is the currency of the primary economic environment
in which the entity operates.

Monetary items are units of currency held and assets and liabilities to be
received or paid in a fixed or determinable number of units of currency.

Net investment in a foreign operation is the amount of the reporting
entity’s interest in the net assets/equity of that operation.

Presentation currency is the currency in which the financial statements
are presented.

Spot exchange rate is the exchange rate for immediate delivery.

Terms defined in other IPSASs are used in this Standard with the same
meaning as in those Standards, and are reproduced in the Glossary of
Defined Terms published separately.

Functional Currency

11.

IPSAS 4

The primary economic environment in which an entity operates is normally
the one in which it primarily generates and expends cash. An entity considers
the following factors in determining its functional currency:

(a)  The currency:

(1) That revenue is raised from, such as taxes, grants, and fines;
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(i)  That mainly influences sales prices for goods and services (this
will often be the currency in which sales prices for its goods
and services are denominated and settled); and

(iii) Of the country whose competitive forces and regulations
mainly determine the sale prices of its goods and services.

(b)  The currency that mainly influences labor, material, and other costs of
providing goods and services (this will often be the currency in which
such costs are denominated and settled).

The following factors may also provide evidence of an entity’s functional
currency:

(a)  The currency in which funds from financing activities (i.e., issuing
debt and equity instruments) are generated.

(b) The currency in which receipts from operating activities are usually
retained.

The following additional factors are considered in determining the functional
currency of a foreign operation, and whether its functional currency is the
same as that of the reporting entity (the reporting entity, in this context,
being the entity that has the foreign operation as its controlled entity, branch,
associate, or joint arrangement):

(a)  Whether the activities of the foreign operation are carried out as an
extension of the reporting entity, rather than being carried out with a
significant degree of autonomy. An example of the former is when a
department of defense has a number of overseas bases that conduct
activities on behalf of a national government. The defense bases might
conduct their activities substantially in the functional currency of the
reporting entity. For example, military personnel may be paid in the
functional currency and receive only a small allowance in local currency.
Purchases of supplies and equipment might be largely obtained via
the reporting entity, with purchases in local currency being kept to a
minimum. Another example would be an overseas campus of a public
university that operates under the management and direction of the
domestic campus. In contrast, a foreign operation with a significant
degree of autonomy may accumulate cash and other monetary items,
incur expenses, generate revenue, and perhaps arrange borrowings,
all substantially in its local currency. Some examples of government-
owned foreign operations that may operate independently of other
government agencies include tourist offices, petroleum exploration
companies, trade boards, and broadcasting operations. Such entities
may be established as commercial public sector entities.

(b)  Whether transactions with the reporting entity are a high or a low
proportion of the foreign operation’s activities.
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(¢)  Whether cash flows from the activities of the foreign operation directly
affect the cash flows of the reporting entity and are readily available
for remittance to it.

(d)  Whether cash flows from the activities of the foreign operation are
sufficient to service existing and normally expected debt obligations
without funds being made available by the reporting entity.

When the above indicators are mixed and the functional currency is not
obvious, management uses its judgment to determine the functional currency
that most faithfully represents the economic effects of the underlying
transactions, events, and conditions. As part of this approach, management
gives priority to the primary indicators in paragraph 11 before considering the
indicators in paragraphs 12 and 13, which are designed to provide additional
supporting evidence to determine an entity’s functional currency.

An entity’s functional currency reflects the underlying transactions, events,
and conditions that are relevant to it. Accordingly, once determined, the
functional currency is not changed unless there is a change in those underlying
transactions, events, and conditions.

If the functional currency is the currency of a hyperinflationary economy,
the entity’s financial statements are restated in accordance with IPSAS 10,
Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies. An entity cannot avoid
restatement in accordance with IPSAS 10 by, for example, adopting as its
functional currency a currency other than the functional currency determined
in accordance with this Standard (such as the functional currency of its
controlling entity).

Monetary Items

17.

The essential feature of a monetary item is a right to receive (or an obligation
to deliver) a fixed or determinable number of units of currency. Examples
include: social policy obligations and other employee benefits to be paid in
cash; provisions that are to be settled in cash; and cash dividends or similar
distributions that are recognized as a liability. Conversely, the essential
feature of a non-monetary item is the absence of a right to receive (or an
obligation to deliver) a fixed or determinable number of units of currency.
Examples include: amounts prepaid for goods and services (e.g., prepaid
rent); goodwill; intangible assets; inventories; property, plant, and equipment;
and provisions that are to be settled by the delivery of a non-monetary asset.

Net Investment in a Foreign Operation

18.

IPSAS 4

An entity may have a monetary item that is receivable from or payable to a
foreign operation. An item for which settlement is neither planned nor likely
to occur in the foreseeable future is, in substance, a part of the entity’s net
investment in that foreign operation, and is accounted for in accordance
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with paragraphs 37 and 38. Such monetary items may include long-term
receivables or loans. They do not include trade receivables or trade payables.

The entity that has a monetary item receivable from or payable to a foreign
operation described in paragraph 18 may be any controlled entity of the
economic entity. For example, an entity has two controlled entities, A and B.
Controlled entity B is a foreign operation. Controlled entity A grants a loan
to controlled entity B. Controlled entity A’s loan receivable from controlled
entity B would be part of the controlled entity A’s net investment in controlled
entity B if settlement of the loan is neither planned nor likely to occur in the
foreseeable future. This would also be true if controlled entity A were itself
a foreign operation.

Summary of the Approach Required by This Standard

20.

21.

22.

In preparing financial statements, each entity — whether a stand-alone entity,
an entity with foreign operations (such as a controlling entity), or a foreign
operation (such as a controlled entity or branch) — determines its functional
currency in accordance with paragraphs 11—16. The entity translates foreign
currency items into its functional currency, and reports the effects of such
translation in accordance with paragraphs 23—42 and 59.

Many reporting entities comprise a number of individual entities (e.g., an
economic entity is made up of a controlling entity and one or more controlled
entities). Various types of entities, whether members of an economic entity or
otherwise, may have investments in associates or joint arrangements. They
may also have branches. It is necessary for the financial performance and
financial position of each individual entity included in the reporting entity
to be translated into the currency in which the reporting entity presents its
financial statements. This Standard permits the presentation currency of a
reporting entity to be any currency (or currencies). The financial performance
and financial position of any individual entity within the reporting entity
whose functional currency differs from the presentation currency are
translated in accordance with paragraphs 43—59.

This Standard also permits a stand-alone entity preparing financial statements
or an entity preparing separate financial statements in accordance with
IPSAS 34, Separate Financial Statements, to present its financial statements
in any currency (or currencies). If the entity’s presentation currency differs
from its functional currency, its financial performance and financial position
are also translated into the presentation currency in accordance with
paragraphs 43-59.
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Reporting Foreign Currency Transactions in the Functional
Currency

Initial Recognition

23.

24.

25.

26.

A foreign currency transaction is a transaction that is denominated or requires
settlement in a foreign currency, including transactions arising when an entity:

(a) Buys or sells goods or services whose price is denominated in a foreign
currency;

(b)  Borrows or lends funds when the amounts payable or receivable are
denominated in a foreign currency; or

(¢)  Otherwise acquires or disposes of assets, or incurs or settles liabilities,
denominated in a foreign currency.

A foreign currency transaction shall be recorded, on initial recognition
in the functional currency, by applying to the foreign currency amount
the spot exchange rate between the functional currency and the foreign
currency at the date of the transaction.

The date of a transaction is the date on which the transaction first qualifies
for recognition in accordance with IPSASs. For practical reasons, a rate
that approximates the actual rate at the date of the transaction is often used,
for example, an average rate for a week or a month might be used for all
transactions in each foreign currency occurring during that period. However,
if exchange rates fluctuate significantly, the use of the average rate for a
period is inappropriate.

Exchange rate changes may have an impact on cash or cash equivalents held
or due in a foreign currency. The presentation of such exchange differences
is dealt with in IPSAS 2. Although these changes are not cash flows, the
effect of exchange rate changes on cash or cash equivalents held or due in a
foreign currency are reported in the cash flow statement in order to reconcile
cash and cash equivalents at the beginning and the end of the period. These
amounts are presented separately from cash flows from operating, investing,
and financing activities, and include the differences, if any, if those cash
flows had been reported at end-of-period exchange rates.

Reporting at Subsequent Reporting Dates

27.

IPSAS 4

At each reporting date:

(a) Foreign currency monetary items shall be translated using the
closing rate;

(b) Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost
in a foreign currency shall be translated using the exchange rate at
the date of the transaction; and
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(c) Non-monetary items that are measured at fair value in a foreign
currency shall be translated using the exchange rates at the date
when the fair value was determined.

The carrying amount of an item is determined in conjunction with other
relevant IPSASs. For example, property, plant, and equipment may be
measured in terms of fair value or historical cost in accordance with
IPSAS 17, Property, Plant, and Equipment. Whether the carrying amount
is determined on the basis of historical cost or on the basis of fair value, if
the amount is determined in a foreign currency, it is then translated into the
functional currency in accordance with this Standard.

The carrying amount of some items is determined by comparing two or more
amounts. For example, the carrying amount of inventories held for sale is
the lower of cost and net realizable value in accordance with IPSAS 12,
Inventories. Similarly, in accordance with IPSAS 21, Impairment of Non-
Cash-Generating Assets, the carrying amount of a non-cash generating asset
for which there is an indication of impairment is the lower of its carrying
amount before considering possible impairment losses and its recoverable
service amount. When such an asset is non-monetary and is measured in a
foreign currency, the carrying amount is determined by comparing:

(a)  The cost or carrying amount, as appropriate, translated at the exchange
rate at the date when that amount was determined (i.e., the rate at the
date of the transaction for an item measured in terms of historical
cost); and

(b)  The net realizable value or recoverable service amount, as appropriate,
translated at the exchange rate at the date when that value was
determined (e.g., the closing rate at the reporting date).

The effect of this comparison may be that an impairment loss is recognized in
the functional currency, but would not be recognized in the foreign currency,
or vice versa.

When several exchange rates are available, the rate used is that at which
the future cash flows represented by the transaction or balance could have
been settled if those cash flows had occurred at the measurement date. If
exchangeability between two currencies is temporarily lacking, the rate used
is the first subsequent rate at which exchanges could be made.

Recognition of Exchange Differences

31.

32.

Asnoted in paragraph 5, this Standard does not deal with hedge accounting for
foreign currency items. Guidance in relation to hedge accounting, including
the criteria for when to use hedge accounting, can be found in IPSAS 41.

Exchange differences arising (a) on the settlement of monetary items,
or (b) on translating monetary items at rates different from those at
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37.

38.
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which they were translated on initial recognition during the period or
in previous financial statements, shall be recognized in surplus or deficit
in the period in which they arise, except as described in paragraph 37.

When monetary items arise from a foreign currency transaction and there
is a change in the exchange rate between the transaction date and the
date of settlement, an exchange difference results. When the transaction
is settled within the same accounting period as that in which it occurred,
all the exchange difference is recognized in that period. However, when
the transaction is settled in a subsequent accounting period, the exchange
difference recognized in each period up to the date of settlement is determined
by the change in exchange rates during each period.

The treatment of foreign currency exchange rate changes in a cash flow
statement is described in paragraph 26.

When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is recognized directly in
net assets/equity, any exchange component of that gain or loss shall be
recognized directly in net assets/equity. Conversely, when a gain or loss
on a non-monetary item is recognized in surplus or deficit, any exchange
component of that gain or loss shall be recognized in surplus or deficit.

Other IPSASs require some gains and losses to be recognized directly in net
assets/equity. For example, IPSAS 17 requires some gains and losses arising
on a revaluation of property, plant, and equipment to be recognized directly
in net assets/equity. When such an asset is measured in a foreign currency,
paragraph 27(c) of this Standard requires the revalued amount to be translated
using the rate at the date the value is determined, resulting in an exchange
difference that is also recognized in net assets/equity.

Exchange differences arising on a monetary item that forms part of a
reporting entity’s netinvestmentin a foreign operation (see paragraph 18)
shall be recognized in surplus or deficit in the separate financial
statements of the reporting entity or the individual financial statements
of the foreign operation, as appropriate. In the financial statements that
include the foreign operation and the reporting entity (e.g., consolidated
financial statements when the foreign operation is a controlled entity),
such exchange differences shall be recognized initially in a separate
component of net assets/equity, and recognized in surplus or deficit on
disposal of the net investment in accordance with paragraph 57.

When a monetary item forms part of a reporting entity’s net investment in
a foreign operation, and is denominated in the functional currency of the
reporting entity, an exchange difference arises in the foreign operation’s
individual financial statements in accordance with paragraph 32. If such
an item is denominated in the functional currency of the foreign operation,
an exchange difference arises in the reporting entity’s separate financial
statements in accordance with paragraph 32. If such an item is denominated
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in a currency other than the functional currency of either the reporting entity
or the foreign operation, an exchange difference arises in the reporting
entity’s separate financial statements and in the foreign operation’s individual
financial statements in accordance with paragraph 32. Such exchange
differences are reclassified to the separate component of net assets/equity in
the financial statements that include the foreign operation and the reporting
entity (i.e., financial statements in which the foreign operation is consolidated,
or accounted for using the equity method).

When an entity keeps its books and records in a currency other than its
functional currency, at the time the entity prepares its financial statements
all amounts are translated into the functional currency in accordance with
paragraphs 23—30. This produces the same amounts in the functional
currency as would have occurred had the items been recorded initially in
the functional currency. For example, monetary items are translated into the
functional currency using the closing rate, and non-monetary items that are
measured on a historical cost basis are translated using the exchange rate at
the date of the transaction that resulted in their recognition.

Change in Functional Currency

40.

41.

42.

When there is a change in an entity’s functional currency, the entity
shall apply the translation procedures applicable to the new functional
currency prospectively from the date of the change.

As noted in paragraph 15, the functional currency of an entity reflects the
underlying transactions, events, and conditions that are relevant to the entity.
Accordingly, once the functional currency is determined, it can be changed
only if there is a change to those underlying transactions, events, and
conditions. For example, a change in the currency that mainly influences the
sales prices or the provision of goods and services may lead to a change in an
entity’s functional currency.

The effect of a change in functional currency is accounted for prospectively.
In other words, an entity translates all items into the new functional currency
using the exchange rate at the date of the change. The resulting translated
amounts for non-monetary items are treated as their historical cost. Exchange
differences arising from the translation of a foreign operation previously
classified in net assets/equity in accordance with paragraphs 37 and 44(c) are
not recognized in surplus or deficit until the disposal of the operation.

Use of a Presentation Currency Other than the Functional Currency

Translation to the Presentation Currency

43.

An entity may present its financial statements in any currency (or currencies).
If the presentation currency differs from the entity’s functional currency, it
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translates its financial performance and financial position into the presentation
currency. For example, when an economic entity, such as an international
organization, contains individual entities with different functional currencies,
the financial performance and financial position of each entity are expressed
in a common currency, so that consolidated financial statements may be
presented. For national or state/provincial governments, the presentation
currency is normally determined by the ministry of finance (or similar
authority), or established in legislation.

The financial performance and financial position of an entity whose
functional currency is not the currency of a hyperinflationary economy
shall be translated into a different presentation currency using the
following procedures:

(a) Assets and liabilities for each statement of financial position
presented (i.e., including comparatives) shall be translated at the
closing rate at the date of that statement of financial position;

(b) Revenue and expenses for each statement of financial performance
(i.e., including comparatives) shall be translated at exchange rates
at the dates of the transactions; and

(¢)  Allresulting exchange differences shall be recognized as a separate
component of net assets/equity.

In translating the cash flows, that is the cash receipts and cash payments, of a
foreign operation for incorporation into its cash flow statement, the reporting
entity shall comply with the procedures in IPSAS 2. IPSAS 2 requires that
the cash flows of a controlled entity that satisfies the definition of a foreign
operation shall be translated at the exchange rates between the presentation
currency and the foreign currency at the dates of the cash flows. IPSAS 2 also
outlines the presentation of unrealized gains and losses arising from changes
in foreign currency exchange rates on cash and cash equivalents held or due
in a foreign currency.

For practical reasons, a rate that approximates the exchange rates at the dates
of the transactions, for example an average rate for the period, is often used
to translate revenue and expense items. However, if exchange rates fluctuate
significantly, the use of the average rate for a period is inappropriate.
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The exchange differences referred to in paragraph 44(c) result from:

(a)  Translating revenue and expenses at the exchange rates at the dates
of the transactions, and assets and liabilities at the closing rate.
Such exchange differences arise both on revenue and expense items
recognized in surplus or deficit, and on those recognized directly in
net assets/equity.

(b) Translating the opening net assets/equity at a closing rate that differs
from the previous closing rate.

These exchange differences are not recognized in surplus or deficit because
the changes in exchange rates have little or no direct effect on the present and
future cash flows from operations. When the exchange differences relate to a
foreign operation that is consolidated but is not wholly owned, accumulated
exchange differences arising from translation and attributable to minority
interests are allocated to, and recognized as part of, non-controlling interests
in the consolidated statement of financial position.

The financial performance and financial position of an entity whose
functional currency is the currency of a hyperinflationary economy shall
be translated into a different presentation currency using the following
procedures:

(a) All amounts (i.e., assets, liabilities, net assets/equity items, revenue,
and expenses, including comparatives) shall be translated at the
closing rate at the date of the most recent statement of financial
position, except that

(b) When amounts are translated into the currency of a non-
hyperinflationary economy, comparative amounts shall be those
that were presented as current year amounts in the relevant prior
year financial statements (i.e., not adjusted for subsequent changes
in the price level or subsequent changes in exchange rates).

‘When an entity’s functional currencyis the currency of a hyperinflationary
economy, the entity shall restate its financial statements in accordance
with IPSAS 10 before applying the translation method set out in
paragraph 48, except for comparative amounts that are translated into
a currency of a non-hyperinflationary economy (see paragraph 48(b)).
When the economy ceases to be hyperinflationary and the entity no
longer restates its financial statements in accordance with IPSAS 10,
it shall use as the historical costs for translation into the presentation
currency the amounts restated to the price level at the date the entity
ceased restating its financial statements.
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Translation of a Foreign Operation

50.

51.

52.

53.

54.

55.

56.

IPSAS 4

Paragraphs 51-56, in addition to paragraphs 43—49, apply when the financial
performance and financial position of a foreign operation are translated into
a presentation currency, so that the foreign operation can be included in the
financial statements of the reporting entity by consolidation, or the equity
method.

The incorporation of the financial performance and financial position
of a foreign operation with those of the reporting entity follows normal
consolidation procedures, such as the elimination of balances and transactions
within an economic entity (see IPSAS 35, Consolidated Financial Statements.)

However, a monetary asset (or liability) within an economic entity, whether
short-term or long-term, cannot be eliminated against the corresponding
liability (or asset) within an economic entity without showing the results
of currency fluctuations in the consolidated financial statements. This is
because the monetary item (a) represents a commitment to convert one
currency into another, and (b) exposes the reporting entity to a gain or loss
through currency fluctuations. Accordingly, in the consolidated financial
statements of the reporting entity, such an exchange difference continues
to be recognized in surplus or deficit or, if it arises from the circumstances
described in paragraph 37, it is classified as net assets/equity until the disposal
of the foreign operation.

When the financial statements of a foreign operation are as of a date different
from that of the reporting entity, the foreign operation often prepares
additional statements as of the same date as the reporting entity’s financial
statements. IPSAS 35 specifies requirements for when the reporting period of
the controlling entity is different from that of a controlled entity.

When there is a difference between the reporting date of the reporting entity
and the foreign operation, the assets and liabilities of the foreign operation are
translated at the exchange rate at the reporting date of the foreign operation.

Adjustments are made for significant changes in exchange rates up to the
reporting date of the reporting entity in accordance with IPSAS 35. The
same approach is used in applying the equity method to associates and joint
ventures in accordance with IPSAS 36, Investments in Associates and Joint
Ventures.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation and any
fair value adjustments to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
arising on the acquisition of that foreign operation shall be treated
as assets and liabilities of the foreign operation. Thus, they shall be
expressed in the functional currency of the foreign operation and shall be
translated at the closing rate in accordance with paragraphs 44 and 48.
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Disposal or Partial Disposal of a Foreign Operation

57.

57A.

57B.

57C.

57D.

58.

On the disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative amount of the
exchange differences relating to that foreign operation and accumulated
in a separate component of net assets/equity shall be reclassified from
net assets/equity to surplus or deficit when the gain or loss on disposal is
recognized (see IPSAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements).

In addition to the disposal of an entity’s entire interest in a foreign operation,
the following partial disposals are accounted for as disposals:

(a)  When the partial disposal involves the loss of control of a controlled
entity that includes a foreign operation, regardless of whether the
entity retains a non-controlling interest in its former controlled entity
after the partial disposal; and

(b)  When the retained interest after the partial disposal of an interest in a
joint arrangement or a partial disposal of an interest in an associate that
includes a foreign operation is a financial asset that includes a foreign
operation.

On disposal of a controlled entity that includes a foreign operation, the
cumulative amount of the exchange differences relating to that foreign
operation that have been attributed to the non-controlling interests shall be
transferred directly to accumulated surplus/deficit.

On the partial disposal of a controlled entity that includes a foreign
operation, the entity shall re-attribute the proportionate share of the
cumulative amount of the exchange differences accumulated in a
separate category of net assets/equity to the non-controlling interests
in that foreign operation. In any other partial disposal of a foreign
operation the entity shall transfer to accumulated surplus/deficit only
the proportionate share of the cumulative amount of the exchange
differences accumulated in net assets/equity.

A partial disposal of an entity’s interest in a foreign operation is any reduction
in an entity’s ownership interest in a foreign operation, except those reductions
in paragraph 57A that are accounted for as disposals.

An entity may dispose or partially dispose of its interest in a foreign operation
through sale, liquidation, repayment of contributed capital, or abandonment
of all or part of that entity. The payment of a dividend or similar distribution
is part of a disposal only when it constitutes a return of the investment, for
example when the dividend or similar distribution is paid out of pre-acquisition
surplus. A writedown of the carrying amount of a foreign operation, either
because of its own losses or because of an impairment recognized by the
entity holding the interest, does not constitute a partial disposal. Accordingly,
no part of the deferred foreign exchange gain or loss is recognized in surplus
or deficit at the time of a writedown.
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Tax Effects of Exchange Differences

59.

For reporting entities subject to income taxes, guidance on the treatment
of (a) tax effects associated with the gains and losses on foreign currency
transactions, and (b) exchange differences arising on translating the financial
performance and financial position of an entity (including a foreign operation)
into a different currency, can be found in the relevant international or national
accounting standards dealing with income taxes.

Disclosure

60.

61.

62.

63.

64.

65.

66.

IPSAS 4

In paragraphs 62 and 64—66, references to “functional currency” apply,
in the case of an economic entity, to the functional currency of the
controlling entity.

The entity shall disclose:

(a) Theamountof exchange differences recognized in surplus or deficit,
except for those arising on financial instruments measured at fair
value through surplus or deficit in accordance with IPSAS 41; and

(b) Net exchange differences classified in a separate component of net
assets/equity, and a reconciliation of the amount of such exchange
differences at the beginning and end of the period.

When the presentation currency is different from the functional currency,
that fact shall be stated, together with disclosure of the functional
currency and the reason for using a different presentation currency.

When there is a change in the functional currency of either the reporting
entity or a significant foreign operation, that fact and the reason for the
change in functional currency shall be disclosed.

When an entity presents its financial statements in a currency that is
different from its functional currency, it shall describe the financial
statements as complying with IPSASs only if they comply with all the
requirements of each applicable Standard, including the translation
method set out in paragraphs 44 and 48.

An entity sometimes presents its financial statements or other financial
information in a currency that is not its functional currency without meeting
the requirements of paragraph 64. For example, an entity may convert into
another currency only selected items from its financial statements. Or, an entity
whose functional currency is not the currency of a hyperinflationary economy
may convert the financial statements into another currency by translating all
items at the most recent closing rate. Such conversions are not in accordance
with IPSASs and the disclosures set out in paragraph 66 are required.

When an entity displays its financial statements or other financial
information in a currency that is different from either its functional
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currency or its presentation currency and the requirements of
paragraph 64 are not met, it shall:

(a) Clearly identify the information as supplementary information, to
distinguish it from the information that complies with IPSASs;

(b) Disclose the currency in which the supplementary information is
displayed; and

(c) Disclose the entity’s functional currency and the method of
translation used to determine the supplementary information.

Transitional Provisions

First-time Adoption of Accrual Accounting

67. [Deleted]

68. [Deleted]

69. [Deleted]

70. [Deleted]

Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration (Amendments
made by Improvements to IPSAS, 2018)

70A.  On initial application, an entity shall apply the requirements of Appendix A
either:

(a) Retrospectively applying IPSAS 3 Accounting Policies, Changes in
Accounting Estimates and Errors; or

(b)  Prospectively to all assets, expenses and revenue in the scope of
Appendix A initially recognized on or after:

(i)  The beginning of the reporting period in which the entity first
applies Appendix A; or

(ii)) The beginning of a prior reporting period presented as
comparative information in the financial statements of the
reporting period in which the entity first applies Appendix A.

70B.  An entity that applies paragraph 70A(b) shall, on initial application, apply
Appendix A to assets, expenses and revenue initially recognized on or after
the beginning of the reporting period in paragraph 70A(b)(i) or (ii) for which
the entity has recognized non-monetary assets or non-monetary liabilities
arising from advance consideration before that date.

Effective Date

71. An entity shall apply this Standard for annual financial statements
covering periods beginning on or after January 1, 2010. Earlier
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application is encouraged. If an entity applies this Standard for a period
beginning before January 1, 2010, it shall disclose that fact.

Paragraphs 67, 68, 69, 70 and 72 were amended by IPSAS 33, First-
time Adoption of Accrual Basis International Public Sector Accounting
Standards (IPSASs) issued in January 2015. An entity shall apply those
amendments for annual financial statements covering periods beginning
on or after January 1, 2017. Earlier application is permitted. If an entity
applies IPSAS 33 for a period beginning before January 1, 2017, the
amendments shall also be applied for that earlier period.

IPSAS 35, Consolidated Financial Statements and IPSAS 37, Joint
Arrangements, issued in January 2015, amended paragraphs 3(b), 10, 13,
21, 22, 38, 47, 50, 51, 53, 55, 57 and 58 and added paragraphs 57A, 57B,
57C and 57D. An entity shall apply those amendments when it applies
IPSAS 35 and IPSAS 37.

Paragraphs 6 and 7 were deleted and paragraph 13 was amended by The
Applicability of IPSASs, issued in April 2016. An entity shall apply those
amendments for annual financial statements covering periods beginning
on or after January 1, 2018. Earlier application is encouraged. If an
entity applies the amendments for a period beginning before January 1,
2018, it shall disclose that fact.

Paragraphs 3, 4, 5, 31 and 61 were amended by IPSAS 41, issued in
August 2018. An entity shall apply these amendments for annual financial
statements covering periods beginning on or after January 1, 2022.
Earlier application is encouraged. If an entity applies the amendments
for a period beginning before January 1, 2022 it shall disclose that fact
and apply IPSAS 41 at the same time.

Paragraphs 70A and 70B, and Appendix A (paragraphs A1-A9) were
added by Improvements to IPSAS, 2018, issued in October 2018. An entity
shall apply these amendments for annual financial statements covering
periods beginning on or after January 1, 2019. Earlier application is
permitted. If an entity applies these amendments for a period beginning
before January 1, 2019, it shall disclose that fact.

When an entity adopts the accrual basis IPSASs of accounting as defined in
IPSAS 33, First-time Adoption of Accrual Basis International Public Sector
Accounting Standards (IPSASs) for financial reporting purposes subsequent
to this effective date, this Standard applies to the entity’s annual financial
statements covering periods beginning on or after the date of adoption of
IPSASs.

Withdrawal of IPSAS 4 (2006)

73.

IPSAS 4

This Standard supersedes IPSAS 4, The Effects of Changes in Foreign
Exchange Rates, issued in 2006.
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Appendix A

Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration

This Appendix is an integral part of IPSAS 4

Introduction

Al.

A2.

A3.

Scope
A4.

AS.

A6.

Paragraph 24 of IPSAS 4, The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange
Rates, requires an entity to record a foreign currency transaction, on initial
recognition in its functional currency, by applying to the foreign currency
amount the spot exchange rate between the functional currency and the
foreign currency (the exchange rate) at the date of the transaction. Paragraph
25 of IPSAS 4 states that the date of the transaction is the date on which the
transaction first qualifies for recognition in accordance with IPSAS.

When an entity pays or receives consideration in advance in a foreign currency,
it generally recognizes a non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability before
the recognition of the related asset, expense or revenue. The related asset,
expense or revenue (or part of it) is the amount recognized applying relevant
IPSAS, which results in the derecognition of the non-monetary asset or non-
monetary liability arising from the advance consideration.

This Appendix clarifies the date of the transaction for the purpose of
determining the exchange rate to use on initial recognition of the related
asset, expense or revenue when an entity has received or paid advance
consideration in a foreign currency.

This Appendix applies to a foreign currency transaction (or part of it) when an
entity recognises a non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability arising from
the payment or receipt of advance consideration before the entity recognises
the related asset, expense or revenue (or part of it).

This Appendix does not apply when an entity measures the related asset,
expense or revenue on initial recognition:

(a) At fair value; or

(b) At the fair value of the consideration paid or received at a date other
than the date of initial recognition of the non-monetary asset or non-
monetary liability arising from advance consideration (for example,
the measurement of goodwill applying IPSAS 40, Public Sector
Combinations).

An entity is not required to apply this Appendix to:
(a) Income taxes; or

(b) Insurance contracts (including reinsurance contracts) that it issues or
reinsurance contracts that it holds.
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Application of IPSAS 4 to Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance

Consideration

AT.

AS.

A9.

This Appendix addresses how to determine the date of the transaction for the
purpose of determining the exchange rate to use on initial recognition of the
related asset, expense or revenue (or part of it) on the derecognition of a non-
monetary asset or non-monetary liability arising from the payment or receipt
of advance consideration in a foreign currency.

Applying paragraphs 24-25 of IPSAS 4, the date of the transaction for the
purpose of determining the exchange rate to use on initial recognition of the
related asset, expense or revenue (or part of it) is the date on which an entity
initially recognizes the non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability arising
from the payment or receipt of advance consideration.

If there are multiple payments or receipts in advance, the entity shall
determine a date of the transaction for each payment or receipt of advance
consideration.
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Hlustrative Examples

These lllustrative Examples accompany, but are not part of, IPSAS 4

Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration

In these Illustrative Examples, foreign currency amounts are ‘Foreign Currency’ (FC)
and functional currency amounts are ‘Local Currency’ (LC).

IEI.

The objective of these examples is to illustrate how an entity determines
the date of the transaction when it recognizes a non-monetary asset or non-
monetary liability arising from advance consideration in a foreign currency
before it recognizes the related asset, expense or revenue (or part of it)
applying relevant IPSAS.

Example 1—A Single Advance Payment for the Purchase of a Single Item of Property,
Plant and Equipment

IE2.

IE3.

1E4.

On March 1, 20X1, Entity A entered into a contract with a supplier to purchase
a machine for use in its operations. Under the terms of the contract, Entity
A pays the supplier a fixed purchase price of FC1,000 on April 1, 20X1. On
April 15, 20X1, Entity A takes delivery of the machine.

Entity A initially recognizes a non-monetary asset translating FC1,000 into
its functional currency at the spot exchange rate between the functional
currency and the foreign currency on April 1, 20X1. Applying paragraph
27(b) of IPSAS 4, The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates, Entity
A does not update the translated amount of that non-monetary asset.

On April 15, 20X1, Entity A takes delivery of the machine. Entity A
derecognizes the non-monetary asset and recognizes the machine as property,
plant and equipment applying IPSAS 17, Property, Plant and Equipment. On
initial recognition of the machine, Entity A recognizes the cost of the machine
using the exchange rate at the date of the transaction, which is April 1 20X1
(the date of initial recognition of the non-monetary asset).

Example 2—Multiple Receipts for Revenue Recognized at a Single Point in Time

IES.

IE6.

On June 1, 20X2, Entity B entered into a contract with a customer to deliver
goods on September 1, 20X2. The total fixed contract price is an amount
of FC100, of which FC40 is due and received on August 1, 20X2 and the
balance is receivable on September 30, 20X2.

Entity B initially recognizes a non-monetary contract liability translating
FC40 into its functional currency at the spot exchange rate between the
functional currency and the foreign currency on August 1, 20X2. Applying
paragraph 27(b) of IPSAS 4, Entity B does not update the translated amount
of that non-monetary liability.
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Applying paragraph 28 of IPSAS 9, Revenue from Exchange Transactions,
Entity B recognizes revenue on September 1, 20X2, the date on which it
transfers the goods to the customer.

Entity B determines that the date of the transaction for the revenue relating
to the advance consideration of FC40 is August 1, 20X2. Applying paragraph
25 of IPSAS 4, Entity B determines that the date of the transaction for the
remainder of the revenue is September 1, 20X2.

On September 1, 20X2, Entity B:

(a)  Derecognizes the contract liability of FC40 and recognizes revenue
using the exchange rate on August 1, 20X2; and

(b) Recognizes revenue of FC60 and a corresponding receivable using the
exchange rate on that date (September 1 20X2).

The receivable of FC60 recognized on September 1, 20X2 is a monetary item.
Entity B updates the translated amount of the receivable until the receivable
is settled.

Example 3—Multiple Payments for Purchases of Services Over a Period of Time

IE11.

IE12.

IE13.

IE14.

On May 1 20X3, Entity C entered into a contract with a supplier for services.
The supplier will provide the services to Entity C evenly over the period from
July 1, 20X3 to December 31 20X3. The contract requires Entity C to pay
the supplier FC200 on June 15, 20X3 and FC400 on December 31, 20X3.
Entity C has determined that, for this contract, the payment of FC200 on June
15 20X3 relates to the services to be received in the period July 1-August
31, 20X3, and the payment of FC400 on December 31, 20X3 relates to the
services to be received in the period September 1-December 31, 20X3.

Entity C initially recognizes a non-monetary asset translating FC200 into its
functional currency at the spot exchange rate between the functional currency
and the foreign currency on June 15, 20X3.

In the period July 1-August 31, 20X3, Entity C derecognizes the non-
monetary asset and recognizes an expense of FC200 in surplus or deficit as it
receives the services from the supplier. Entity C determines that the date of
the transaction for the expense related to the advance consideration of FC200
is June 15, 20X3 (the date of initial recognition of the non-monetary asset).

In the period September 1-December 31, 20X3, Entity C initially recognizes
the expense in surplus or deficit as it receives the services from the supplier.
In principle, the dates of the transaction are each day in the period September
1-December 31, 20X3. However, if exchange rates do not fluctuate
significantly, Entity C may use a rate that approximates the actual rates as
permitted by paragraph 25 of IPSAS 4. If that is the case, Entity C may,
for example, translate each month’s expense of FC100 (FC400 + 4) into its
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functional currency using the average exchange rate for each month for the
period September 1-December 31, 20X3.

As Entity C recognizes the expense in the period September 1-December
31, 20X3, it recognizes a corresponding liability in respect of its obligation
to pay the supplier. The liability is a monetary item. Entity C updates the
translated amount of the liability until the liability is settled.

Example 4—Multiple Receipts for Revenue Recognized at Multiple Points in Time

IET6.

IE17.

IE18.

IE19.

On January 1, 20X4, Entity D enters into a contract to sell two products to a
customer. Entity D transfers one product on March 1, 20X4 and the second on
June 1 20X4. As required by the contract, the customer pays a fixed purchase
price of FC1,000, of which FC200 is due and received in advance on January
31, 20X4 and the balance is due and received on June 1, 20X4.

The following facts are relevant:

(a)  The price of the first product is FC450 and the price of the second
product is FC550.

(b) Entity D has determined that, for this contract, the consideration
of FC200 received on January 31, 20X4 relates to the first product
transferred on March 1, 20X4. On transfer of that product to the
customer, Entity D has an unconditional right to FC250 of the
remaining consideration.

The spot exchange rates are:

Date Spot exchange rate FC:LC
January 31, 20X4 1:1.5
March 1, 20X4 1:1.7
June 1, 20X4 1:1.9

The following journal entries illustrate how Entity D accounts for the
foreign currency aspects of the contract:

(a)  Entity D receives the advance payment of FC200 on January 31, 20X4,
which it translates into its functional currency using the exchange rate
at January 31, 20X4.

Dr Cash (FC200) LC300
Cr Contract liability (FC200) LC300

(b)  Applying paragraph 27(b) of IPSAS 4, Entity D does not update the
translated amount of the non-monetary contract liability.

309 IPSAS 4 ILLUSTRATIVE EXAMPLES



THE EFFECTS OF CHANGES IN FOREIGN EXCHANGE RATES

(¢)  Entity D transfers the first product with a price of FC450 on March
1, 20X4. Entity D derecognizes the contract liability and recognizes
revenue of LC300. Entity D recognizes the remaining revenue of
FC250 relating to the first product and a corresponding receivable, both
of which it translates at the exchange rate at the date that it initially
recognizes the remaining revenue of FC250, i.e., March 1, 20X4.

Dr Contract liability (FC200) LC300
Dr Receivable (FC250) LC425
Cr Revenue (FC450) LC725

(d)  The receivable of FC250 is a monetary item. Entity D updates the
translated amount of the receivable until the receivable is settled (June
1, 20X4). At June 1, 20X4, the receivable of FC250 is equivalent to
LC475. As required by paragraph 32 of IPSAS 4, Entity D recognizes
an exchange gain of LC50 in surplus or deficit.

Dr Receivable LC50
Cr Foreign exchange gain LC50

(e)  Entity D transfers the second product with a price of FC550 on June
1, 20X4. Entity D recognizes revenue of FC550 using the exchange
rate at the date of the transaction, which is the date that Entity D first
recognizes this part of the transaction in its financial statements, i.e.,
June 1, 20X4.

(f)  Entity D also receives the remaining consideration of FC800 on June
1, 20X4. FC250 of the consideration received settles the receivable of
FC250 arising on the transfer of the first product. Entity D translates
the cash at the exchange rate at June 1, 20X4.

Dr Cash (FC800) LC1,520
Cr Receivable (FC250) LC475
Cr Revenue (FC550) LC1,045
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is for Conclusions

Basis for Conclusions accompanies, but is not part of, IPSAS 4.

Background

BCl.

BC2.

BC3.

BCA4.

The IPSASB’s IFRS Convergence Program is an important element in the
IPSASB’s work program. The IPSASB’s policy is to converge the accrual
basis IPSASs with IFRSs issued by the IASB where appropriate for public
sector entities.

Accrual basis IPSASs that are converged with IFRSs maintain the
requirements, structure, and text of the IFRSs, unless there is a public sector-
specific reason for a departure. Departure from the equivalent IFRS occurs
when requirements or terminology in the IFRS are not appropriate for the
public sector, or when inclusion of additional commentary or examples is
necessary to illustrate certain requirements in the public sector context.
Differences between IPSASs and their equivalent IFRSs are identified in
the Comparison with IFRS included in each IPSAS. The Comparison with
IAS 21 references only the version of IAS 21 that was revised in 2003 and
amended in 2005."

In May 2000, the IPSASB’s predecessor, the Public Sector Committee
(PSC),? issued the first version of IPSAS 4, The Effects of Changes in Foreign
Exchange Rates, which was based on IAS 21, The Effects of Changes in
Foreign Exchange Rates (1993). In December 2006, the IPSASB revised
IPSAS 4, which was based on IAS 21 (Revised 2003), as part of its General
Improvements Project. In December 2005, the IASB issued an amendment to
IAS 21 (published as Net Investment in a Foreign Operation.)

In early 2007, the IPSASB initiated a continuous improvements project to
update existing IPSASs to be converged with the latest related IFRSs to the
extent appropriate for the public sector. As part of the project, the IPSASB
reviewed the IASB’s amendment to IAS 21 issued in December 2005 and
generally concurred with the IASB’s reasons for amending the IAS and with
the amendment made. (The IASB’s Basis for Conclusions as a result of the
amendment is not reproduced here. Subscribers to the IASB’s Comprehensive
Subscription Service can view the Basis for Conclusions on the IASB’s
website at http://www.iasb.org).

The International Accounting Standards (IASs) were issued by the IASB’s predecessor, the
International Accounting Standards Committee. The Standards issued by the IASB are entitled
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs). The IASB has defined IFRSs to consist of
IFRSs, IASs, and Interpretations of the Standards. In some cases, the IASB has amended, rather than
replaced, the IASs, in which case the old IAS number remains.

The PSC became the IPSASB when the IFAC Board changed the PSC’s mandate to become an
independent standard-setting board in November 2004.
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BCS5.  TAS 21 has been further amended as a consequence of IFRSs and revised IASs
issued after December 2005. IPSAS 4 does not include the consequential
amendments arising from IFRSs or revised IASs issued after December
2005. This is because the IPSASB has not yet reviewed and formed a view
on the applicability of the requirements in those IFRSs and the revisions to
those IASs to public sector entities.

Revision of IPSAS 4 as a result of the IPSASB’s The Applicability of IPSASs,
issued in April 2016

BC6. The IPSASB issued The Applicability of IPSASs in April 2016. This
pronouncement amends references in all IPSASs as follows:

(a) Removes the standard paragraphs about the applicability of IPSASs
to “public sector entities other than GBEs” from the scope section of
each Standard;

(b) Replaces the term “GBE” with the term “commercial public sector
entities”, where appropriate; and

(¢) Amends paragraph 10 of the Preface to International Public Sector
Accounting Standards by providing a positive description of public
sector entities for which IPSASs are designed.

The reasons for these changes are set out in the Basis for Conclusions to
IPSAS 1.

Revision of IPSAS 4 as a result of Improvements to IPSAS, 2018

BC7.  The IPSASB reviewed the requirements of IFRIC 22, Foreign Currency
Transactions and Advance Consideration, issued by the IASB in December
2016, and the considerations of the IFRS Interpretations Committee in
reaching its consensus as set out in its Basis for Conclusions. The IPSASB
generally concurred that there was no public sector specific reason for not

incorporating these requirements into IPSAS 4.
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Comparison with IAS 21

IPSAS 4, The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates is drawn primarily
from IAS 21, The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates (revised in 2003,
as amended in 2005). The main differences between IPSAS 4 and IAS 21 are as
follows:

IPSAS 4 uses different terminology, in certain instances, from IAS 21. The
most significant examples are the use of the terms “revenue,” “economic
entity,” “statement of financial performance,” and “net assets/equity” in

IPSAS 4. The equivalent terms in IAS 21 are “income,” “group,” “statement
of comprehensive income,” and “equity.”
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IPSAS 5—BORROWING COSTS

History of IPSAS

This version includes amendments resulting from IPSASs issued up to

IPSAS 5, Borrowing Costs was issued in May 2000.

Since then, IPSAS 5 has been amended by the following IPSASs:
° Improvements to IPSAS 2018 (issued October 2018)

The Applicability of IPSASs (issued April 2016)

° Improvements to IPSASs 2015 (issued April 2016)

° IPSAS 33, First-time Adoption of Accrual Basis International Public Sector
Accounting Standards (IPSASs) (issued January 2015)

° IPSAS 32, Service Concession Arrangements: Grantor (issued October

Table of Amended Paragraphs in IPSAS §

Paragraph Affected How Affected Affected By
2 Deleted The Applicability of
IPSASs April 2016
3 Deleted The Applicability of
IPSASs April 2016
6 Amended IPSAS 32 October 2011
11 Deleted The Applicability of
IPSASs April 2016
19 Amended Improvements to IPSASs
April 2016
25 Amended Improvements to IPSAS
October 2018
41 Deleted IPSAS 33 January 2015
41A New Improvements to IPSAS
October 2018
42A New IPSAS 32 October 2011
42B New IPSAS 33 January 2015
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42C New The Applicability of
IPSASs April 2016
42D New Improvements to [IPSAS
October 2018
43 Amended IPSAS 33 January 2015
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International Public Sector Accounting Standard 5, Borrowing Costs, is set out in
the objective and paragraphs 1-43. All the paragraphs have equal authority. IPSAS 5
should be read in the context of its objective, the Preface to International Public
Sector Accounting Standards, and the Conceptual Framework for General Purpose
Financial Reporting by Public Sector Entities. IPSAS 3, Accounting Policies,
Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors, provides a basis for selecting and
applying accounting policies in the absence of explicit guidance.
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Objective

This Standard prescribes the accounting treatment for borrowing costs. This Standard
generally requires the immediate expensing of borrowing costs. However, the Standard
permits, as an allowed alternative treatment, the capitalization of borrowing costs that
are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction, or production of a qualifying

asset.

Scope

L. This Standard shall be applied in accounting for borrowing costs.

2 [Deleted]

3. [Deleted]

4 This Standard does not deal with the actual or imputed cost of net assets/
equity. Where jurisdictions apply a capital charge to individual entities,
judgment will need to be exercised to determine whether the charge meets
the definition of borrowing costs, or whether it should be treated as an actual
or imputed cost of net assets/equity.

Definitions

5. The following terms are used in this Standard with the meanings

specified:

Borrowing costs are interest and other expenses incurred by an entity in
connection with the borrowing of funds.

Qualifying asset is an asset that necessarily takes a substantial period of
time to get ready for its intended use or sale.

Terms defined in other IPSASs are used in this Standard with the same
meaning as in those Standards, and are reproduced in the Glossary of
Defined Terms published separately.

Borrowing Costs

6.

Borrowing costs may include:
(a) Interest on bank overdrafts and short-term and long-term borrowings;
(b)  Amortization of discounts or premiums relating to borrowings;

(¢) Amortization of ancillary costs incurred in connection with the
arrangement of borrowings;

(d) Finance charges in respect of finance leases and service concession
arrangements; and

(e)  Exchange differences arising from foreign currency borrowings, to the
extent that they are regarded as an adjustment to interest costs.
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Economic Entity

7.

The term economic entity is used in this Standard to define, for financial
reporting purposes, a group of entities comprising the controlling entity and
any controlled entities.

Other terms sometimes used to refer to an economic entity include
administrative entity, financial entity, consolidated entity, and group.

An economic entity may include entities with both social policy and
commercial objectives. For example, a government housing department may
be an economic entity that includes entities that provide housing for a nominal
charge, as well as entities that provide accommodation on a commercial basis.

Future Economic Benefits or Service Potential

10.

Assets provide a means for entities to achieve their objectives. Assets that are
used to deliver goods and services in accordance with an entity’s objectives,
but which do not directly generate net cash inflows, are often described as
embodying service potential. Assets that are used to generate net cash inflows
are often described as embodying “future economic benefits.” To encompass
all the purposes to which assets may be put, this Standard uses the term
“future economic benefits or service potential” to describe the essential
characteristic of assets.

Government Business Enterprises

11. [Deleted]

Net Assets/Equity

12. Net assets/equity is the term used in this Standard to refer to the residual
measure in the statement of financial position (assets less liabilities). Net
assets/equity may be positive or negative. Other terms may be used in place
of net assets/equity, provided that their meaning is clear.

Qualifying Assets

13. Examples of qualifying assets are office buildings, hospitals, infrastructure
assets such as roads, bridges and power generation facilities, and inventories
that require a substantial period of time to bring them to a condition ready for
use or sale. Other investments, and those assets that are routinely produced
over a short period of time, are not qualifying assets. Assets that are ready for
their intended use or sale when acquired also are not qualifying assets.
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Borrowing Costs—Benchmark Treatment

Recognition

14.

Borrowing costs shall be recognized as an expense in the period in which
they are incurred.

15. Under the benchmark treatment, borrowing costs are recognized as an expense
in the period in which they are incurred, regardless of how the borrowings
are applied.

Disclosure

16. The financial statements shall disclose the accounting policy adopted for

borrowing costs.

Borrowing Costs—Allowed Alternative Treatment

Recognition

17.

18.

19.

20.

Borrowing costs shall be recognized as an expense in the period in
which they are incurred, except to the extent that they are capitalized in
accordance with paragraph 18.

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction, or production of a qualifying asset shall be capitalized as
part of the cost of that asset. The amount of borrowing costs eligible for
capitalization shall be determined in accordance with this Standard.

Under the allowed alternative treatment, borrowing costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition, construction, or production of an asset are
included in the cost of that asset. Such borrowing costs are capitalized as part
of the cost of the asset when (a) it is probable that they will result in future
economic benefits or service potential to the entity, and (b) the costs can be
measured reliably.! Other borrowing costs are recognized as an expense in
the period in which they are incurred.

Where an entity adopts the allowed alternative treatment, that
treatment shall be applied consistently to all borrowing costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition, construction, or production of all
qualifying assets of the entity.

Borrowing Costs Eligible for Capitalization

21.

The borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction, or production of a qualifying asset are those borrowing costs
that would have been avoided if the outlays on the qualifying asset had not

Information that is reliable is free from material error and bias, and can be depended on by users to
faithfully represent that which it purports to represent or could reasonably be expected to represent.
Paragraph BC16 of IPSAS 1 discusses the transitional approach to the explanation of reliability.
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23.

24.

25.
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been made. When an entity borrows funds specifically for the purpose of
obtaining a particular qualifying asset, the borrowing costs that directly relate
to that qualifying asset can be readily identified.

It may be difficult to identify a direct relationship between particular
borrowings and a qualifying asset, and to determine the borrowings that could
otherwise have been avoided. Such a difficulty occurs, for example, when the
financing activity of an entity is coordinated centrally. Difficulties also arise
when an economic entity uses a range of debt instruments to borrow funds at
varying rates of interest, and transfers those funds on various bases to other
entities in the economic entity. Funds that have been borrowed centrally may
be transferred to other entities within the economic entity as a loan, a grant,
or a capital injection. Such transfers may be interest-free, or require that only
a portion of the actual interest cost be recovered. Other complications arise
(a) through the use of loans denominated in or linked to foreign currencies,
(b) when the economic entity operates in highly inflationary economies, and
(c) from fluctuations in exchange rates. As a result, the determination of the
amount of borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition of a
qualifying asset is difficult, and the exercise of judgment is required.

To the extent that funds are borrowed specifically for the purpose of
obtaining a qualifying asset, the amount of borrowing costs eligible for
capitalization on that asset shall be determined as the actual borrowing
costs incurred on that borrowing during the period, less any investment
income on the temporary investment of those borrowings.

The financing arrangements for a qualifying asset may result in an entity
obtaining borrowed funds and incurring associated borrowing costs before
some or all of the funds are used for outlays on the qualifying asset. In such
circumstances, the funds are often temporarily invested pending their outlay
on the qualifying asset. In determining the amount of borrowing costs eligible
for capitalization during a period, any investment income earned on such
funds is deducted from the borrowing costs incurred.

To the extent that funds are borrowed generally and used for the purpose
of obtaining a qualifying asset, the amount of borrowing costs eligible
for capitalization shall be determined by applying a capitalization rate
to the outlays on that asset. The capitalization rate shall be the weighted
average of the borrowing costs applicable to all borrowings of the
entity that are outstanding during the period. However, an entity shall
exclude from this calculation borrowing costs applicable to borrowings
made specifically for the purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset until
substantially all the activities necessary to prepare that asset for its
intended use or sale are complete. The amount of borrowing costs
capitalized during a period shall not exceed the amount of borrowing
costs incurred during that period.
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27.

28.

29.
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Only those borrowing costs applicable to the borrowings of the entity may
be capitalized. When a controlling entity borrows funds that are passed on
to a controlled entity with no, or only partial, allocation of borrowing costs,
the controlled entity may capitalize only those borrowing costs which it
itself has incurred. Where a controlled entity receives an interest-free capital
contribution or capital grant, it will not incur any borrowing costs, and
consequently will not capitalize any such costs.

When a controlling entity transfers funds at partial cost to a controlled entity,
the controlled entity may capitalize that portion of borrowing costs which it
itself has incurred. In the financial statements of the economic entity, the full
amount of borrowing costs can be capitalized to the qualifying asset, provided
that appropriate consolidation adjustments have been made to eliminate those
costs capitalized by the controlled entity.

When a controlling entity has transferred funds at no cost to a controlled entity,
neither the controlling entity nor the controlled entity would meet the criteria
for capitalization of borrowing costs. However, if the economic entity met the
criteria for capitalization of borrowing costs, it would be able to capitalize the
borrowing costs to the qualifying asset in its financial statements.

In some circumstances, it is appropriate to include all borrowings of the
controlling entity and its controlled entities when computing a weighted
average of the borrowing costs; in other circumstances, it is appropriate
for each controlled entity to use a weighted average of the borrowing costs
applicable to its own borrowings.

Excess of the Carrying Amount of the Qualifying Asset over Recoverable

Amount

30.

When the carrying amount or the expected ultimate cost of the qualifying asset
exceeds its recoverable amount or net realizable value, the carrying amount is
written down or written off in accordance with the requirements of IPSAS 21,
Impairment of Non-Cash-Generating Assets or IPSAS 26, Impairment of
Cash-Generating Assets, as appropriate. In certain circumstances, the amount
of the write-down or write off is written back in accordance with those other
standards.

Commencement of Capitalization

31.

The capitalization of borrowing costs as part of the cost of a qualifying
asset shall commence when:

(a)  Outlays for the asset are being incurred;
(b) Borrowing costs are being incurred; and

(c) Activities that are necessary to prepare the asset for its intended
use or sale are in progress.
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Outlays on a qualifying asset include only those outlays that have resulted
in payments of cash, transfers of other assets, or the assumption of
interest-bearing liabilities. The average carrying amount of the asset during
a period, including borrowing costs previously capitalized, is normally a
reasonable approximation of the outlays to which the capitalization rate is
applied in that period.

The activities necessary to prepare the asset for its intended use or sale
encompass more than the physical construction of the asset. They include
technical and administrative work prior to the commencement of physical
construction, such as the activities associated with obtaining permits.
However, such activities exclude the holding of an asset when no production
or development that changes the asset’s condition is taking place. For
example, borrowing costs incurred while land is under development are
capitalized during the period in which activities related to the development
are being undertaken. However, borrowing costs incurred while land acquired
for building purposes is held without any associated development activity do
not qualify for capitalization.

Suspension of Capitalization

34.

35.

Capitalization of borrowing costs shall be suspended during extended
periods in which active development is interrupted, and expensed.

Borrowing costs may be incurred during an extended period in which
the activities necessary to prepare an asset for its intended use or sale are
interrupted. Such costs are costs of holding partially completed assets, and
do not qualify for capitalization. However, capitalization of borrowing costs
is not normally suspended during a period when substantial technical and
administrative work is being carried out. Capitalization of borrowing costs is
also not suspended when a temporary delay is a necessary part of the process of
getting an asset ready for its intended use or sale. For example, capitalization
continues during an extended period needed for inventories to mature or
an extended period during which high water levels delay construction of a
bridge, if such high water levels are common during the construction period
in the geographic region involved.

Cessation of Capitalization

36.

37.

IPSAS 5

Capitalization of borrowing costs shall cease when substantially all the
activities necessary to prepare the qualifying asset for its intended use or
sale are complete.

An asset is normally ready for its intended use or sale when the physical
construction of the asset is complete, even though routine administrative
work might still continue. If minor modifications, such as the decoration of a
property to the purchaser’s or user’s specification, are all that is outstanding,
this indicates that substantially all the activities are complete.
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38.

39.
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When the construction of a qualifying asset is completed in parts, and
each part is capable of being used while construction continues on other
parts, capitalization of borrowing costs shall cease when substantially all
the activities necessary to prepare that part for its intended use or sale
are completed.

An office development comprising several buildings, each of which can be
used individually, is an example of a qualifying asset for which each part is
capable of being used while construction continues on other parts. Examples
of qualifying assets that need to be complete before any part can be used
include (a) an operating theatre in a hospital when all construction must be
complete before the theatre may be used, (b) a sewage treatment plant where
several processes are carried out in sequence at different parts of the plant,
and (c) a bridge forming part of a highway.

Disclosure

40.

The financial statements shall disclose:
(a) The accounting policy adopted for borrowing costs;
(b) The amount of borrowing costs capitalized during the period; and

(¢)  The capitalization rate used to determine the amount of borrowing
costs eligible for capitalization (when it was necessary to apply a
capitalization rate to funds borrowed generally).

Transitional Provisions

41. [Deleted]

41A.  Improvements to IPSAS, 2018, issued in October 2018, amended paragraph
25. An entity shall apply this amendment to borrowing costs incurred on or
after the beginning of the annual reporting period in which the entity first
applies those amendments.

Effective Date

42. An entity shall apply this Standard for annual financial statements
covering periods beginning on or after July 1, 2001. Earlier application
is encouraged. If an entity applies this Standard for a period beginning
before July 1, 2001, it shall disclose that fact.

42A.  Paragraph 6 was amended by IPSAS 32, Service Concession Arrange-

ments: Grantor issued in October 2011. An entity shall apply that
amendment for annual financial statements covering periods beginning
on or after January 1, 2014. Earlier application is encouraged. If an
entity applies the amendment for a period beginning before January 1,
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42B.

42C.

42D.

43.
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2014, it shall disclose that fact and at the same time apply IPSAS 32, the
amendments to paragraphs 25-27 and 85B of IPSAS 13, the amendments
toparagraphs5,7and 107C of IPSAS 17, the amendments to paragraphs 2
and 125A of IPSAS 29 and the amendments to paragraphs 6 and 132A of
IPSAS 31.

Paragraphs 41 and 43 were amended by IPSAS 33, First-time Adoption of
Accrual Basis International Public Sector Accounting Standards (IPSASs)
issued in January 2015. An entity shall apply those amendments for
annual financial statements covering periods beginning on or after
January 1, 2017. Earlier application is permitted. If an entity applies
IPSAS 33 for a period beginning before January 1,2017, the amendments
shall also be applied for that earlier period.

Paragraphs 2, 3 and 11 were deleted by The Applicability of IPSASs,
issued in April 2016. An entity shall apply those amendments for annual
financial statements covering periods beginning on or after January
1, 2018. Earlier application is encouraged. If an entity applies the
amendments for a period beginning before January 1, 2018, it shall
disclose that fact.

Paragraph 25 was amended and paragraph 41A added by Improvements
to IPSAS, 2018, issued in October 2018. An entity shall apply these
amendments for annual financial statements covering periods beginning
on or after January 1, 2019. Earlier application is permitted. If an entity
applies these amendments for a period beginning before January 1, 2019,
it shall disclose that fact.

When an entity adopts the accrual basis IPSASs of accounting as defined in
IPSAS 33, First-time Adoption of Accrual Basis International Public Sector
Accounting Standards (IPSASs) for financial reporting purposes subsequent
to this effective date, this Standard applies to the entity’s annual financial
statements covering periods beginning on or after the date of adoption of
IPSASs.
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Basis for Conclusions

This Basis for Conclusions accompanies, but is not part of, IPSAS 5.

Revision of IPSAS 5 as a result of the IPSASB’s The Applicability of IPSASs,
issued in April 2016

BCl.

The IPSASB issued The Applicability of IPSASs in April 2016. This
pronouncement amends references in all IPSASs as follows:

(a) Removes the standard paragraphs about the applicability of IPSASs
to “public sector entities other than GBEs” from the scope section of
each Standard;

(b) Replaces the term “GBE” with the term “commercial public sector
entities”, where appropriate; and

(¢)  Amends paragraph 10 of the Preface to International Public Sector
Accounting Standards by providing a positive description of public
sector entities for which IPSASs are designed.

The reasons for these changes are set out in the Basis for Conclusions to IPSAS 1.

Revision of IPSAS 5 as a result of Improvements to IPSAS, 2018

BC2.

The IPSASB reviewed the revisions to IAS 23, Borrowing Costs, included
in Annual Improvements to IFRS® Standards 2015-2017 Cycle issued by
the IASB in December 2017, and the IASB’s rationale for making these
amendments as set out in its Basis for Conclusions. The IPSASB noted that,
although IPSAS 5 and IAS 23 have diverged, the accounting for the allowed
alternative treatment in IPSAS 5 is consistent with the accounting in IAS
23. The IPSASB agreed, therefore, that there was no public sector specific
reason for not adopting the amendments. The IPSASB concurred with the
IASB’s view that the costs of applying the amendments retrospectively might
exceed the potential benefits of doing so. Consequently, an entity applies the
amendments only to borrowing costs incurred on or after the date it first
applies the amendments.
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Comparison with IAS 23

IPSAS 5, Borrowing Costs is drawn primarily from IAS 23, Borrowing Costs
(1993). The main differences between IPSAS 5 and IAS 23 are as follows:

° IPSAS 5 uses different terminology, in certain instances, from IAS 23. The
most significant examples are the use of the terms “revenue,” “statement of
financial performance,” and “net assets/equity” in IPSAS 5. The equivalent

99 ¢C:

terms in IAS 23 are “income,” “income statement,” and “equity.”
o 2

° IPSAS 5 contains a different set of definitions of technical terms from
IAS 23 (paragraph 5).
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International Public Sector Accounting Standard (IPSAS) 6, Consolidated and
Separate Financial Statements has been superseded by IPSAS 34, Separate
Financial Statements and IPSAS 35, Consolidated Financial Statements. These
Standards apply for annual financial statements covering periods beginning on
or after January 1,2017. As a result IPSAS 6 is no longer applicable and has been
removed.
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International Public Sector Accounting Standard (IPSAS) 7, Investments in
Associates has been superseded by IPSAS 36, Investments in Associates and Joint
Ventures. This Standards apply for annual financial statements covering periods
beginning on or after January 1, 2017. As a result IPSAS 7 is no longer applicable
and has been removed.
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International Public Sector Accounting Standard (IPSAS) 8, Interests in Joint
Ventures has been superseded by IPSAS 37, Joint Arrangements. This Standards
apply for annual financial statements covering periods beginning on or after
January 1,2017. As a result IPSAS 8 is no longer applicable and has been removed.
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History of IPSAS

This version includes amendments resulting from IPSASs issued up to
January 31, 2019.

IPSAS 9, Revenue from Exchange Transactions was issued in July 2001.
Since then, IPSAS 9 has been amended by the following IPSASs:

° IPSAS 41, Financial Instruments (issued August 2018)

The Applicability of IPSASs (issued April 2016)

° Improvements to IPSASs 2015 (issued April 2016)

° IPSAS 37, Joint Arrangements (issued January 2015)

° IPSAS 33, First-time Adoption of Accrual Basis International Public Sector
Accounting Standards (IPSASs) (issued January 2015)

° IPSAS 27, Agriculture (issued December 2009)

° IPSAS 29, Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement (issued
January 2010)

° Improvements to IPSASs (issued November 2010)

Table of Amended Paragraphs in IPSAS 9

Paragraph Affected How Affected Affected By

1 Amended Improvements to IPSASs
November 2010

2 Deleted The Applicability of
IPSASs April 2016

3 Deleted The Applicability of
IPSASs April 2016

9 Amended IPSAS 37 January 2015

Improvements to IPSASs
November 2010

10 Amended IPSAS 27 December 2009
IPSAS 29 January 2010

Improvements to IPSASs
November 2010

IPSAS 41 August 2018
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Paragraph Affected How Affected Affected By
12 Amended Improvements to IPSASs
November 2010
19 Amended Improvements to IPSASs
April 2016
33 Amended Improvements to IPSASs
November 2010
34 Amended Improvements to IPSASs
November 2010
36 Amended Improvements to IPSASs
November 2010
39 Amended Improvements to IPSASs
November 2010
41A New IPSAS 33 January 2015
41B New IPSAS 37 January 2015
41C New The Applicability of
IPSASs April 2016
41D New IPSAS 41 August 2018
42 Amended IPSAS 33 January 2015
IG1 Amended Improvements to IPSASs
November 2010
1G12 Amended IPSAS 29 January 2010
IPSAS 41 August 2018
Heading above 1G29 Amended Improvements to IPSASs
November 2010
1G32 New Improvements to IPSASs
November 2010
1G33 New Improvements to IPSASs
November 2010
1G34 New Improvements to [IPSASs

November 2010
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REVENUE FROM EXCHANGE TRANSACTIONS

International Public Sector Accounting Standard 9, Revenue from Exchange
Transactions, is set out in the objective and paragraphs 1-42. All the paragraphs
have equal authority. IPSAS 9 should be read in the context of its objective, the
Preface to International Public Sector Accounting Standards, and the Conceptual
Framework for General Purpose Financial Reporting by Public Sector Entities.
IPSAS 3, Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors,
provides a basis for selecting and applying accounting policies in the absence of
explicit guidance.
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Objective

The IASB’s Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of Financial Statements
defines income as “increases in economic benefits during the accounting period in
the form of inflows or enhancements of assets or decreases of liabilities that result in
increases in equity, other than those relating to contributions from equity participants.”
The IASB definition of income encompasses both revenue and gains. This Standard
uses the term “revenue,” which encompasses both revenues and gains, in place of
the term “income.” Certain specific items to be recognized as revenues are addressed
in other standards, and are excluded from the scope of this Standard. For example,
gains arising on the sale of property, plant, and equipment are specifically addressed
in standards on property, plant, and equipment and are not covered in this Standard.

The objective of this Standard is to prescribe the accounting treatment of revenue
arising from exchange transactions and events.

The primary issue in accounting for revenue is determining when to recognize revenue.
Revenue is recognized when it is probable that (a) future economic benefits or service
potential will flow to the entity, and (b) these benefits can be measured reliably'. This
Standard identifies the circumstances in which these criteria will be met and, therefore,
revenue will be recognized. It also provides practical guidance on the application of
these criteria.

Scope

L. An entity that prepares and presents financial statements under the
accrual basis of accounting shall apply this Standard in accounting for
revenue arising from the following exchange transactions and events:
(a) The rendering of services;
(b)  The sale of goods; and
(c) The use by others of entity assets yielding interest, royalties, and

dividends or similar distributions.

2. [Deleted]

3. [Deleted]

4. This Standard does not deal with revenue arising from non-exchange
transactions.

5. Public sector entities may derive revenues from exchange or non-exchange

transactions. An exchange transaction is one in which the entity receives assets
or services, or has liabilities extinguished, and directly gives approximately
equal value (primarily in the form of goods, services, or use of assets) to the
other party in exchange. Examples of exchange transactions include:

! Information that is reliable is free from material error and bias, and can be depended on by users to
faithfully represent that which it purports to represent or could reasonably be expected to represent.
Paragraph BC16 of IPSAS 1 discusses the transitional approach to the explanation of reliability.
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(a)  The purchase or sale of goods or services; or
(b)  The lease of property, plant, and equipment at market rates.

In distinguishing between exchange and non-exchange revenues, substance
rather than the form of the transaction should be considered. Examples of non-
exchange transactions include revenue from the use of sovereign powers (for
example, direct and indirect taxes, duties, and fines), grants, and donations.

The rendering of services typically involves the performance by the entity
of an agreed task over an agreed period of time. The services may be
rendered within a single period, or over more than one period. Examples
of services rendered by public sector entities for which revenue is typically
received in exchange may include the provision of housing, management
of water facilities, management of toll roads, and management of transfer
payments. Some agreements for the rendering of services are directly related
to construction contracts, for example, those for the services of project
managers and architects. Revenue arising from these agreements is not dealt
with in this Standard, but is dealt with in accordance with the requirements
for construction contracts as specified in IPSAS 11, Construction Contracts.

Goods includes (a) goods produced by the entity for the purpose of sale, such
as publications, and (b) goods purchased for resale, such as merchandise or
land and other property held for resale.

The use by others of entity assets gives rise to revenue in the form of:

(a)  Interest — charges for the use of cash or cash equivalents, or amounts
due to the entity;

(b) Royalties — charges for the use of long-term assets of the entity, for
example, patents, trademarks, copyrights, and computer software; and

() Dividends or similar distributions — distributions of surpluses to
holders of equity investments in proportion to their holdings of a
particular class of capital.

This Standard does not deal with revenues arising from:
(a) Lease agreements (see IPSAS 13, Leases);

(b) Dividends or similar distributions arising from investments that are
accounted for under the equity method (see IPSAS 36, Investments in
Associates and Joint Ventures);

(¢)  Gains from the sale of property, plant, and equipment (which are dealt
with in IPSAS 17, Property, Plant, and Equipment);

(d) Insurance contracts within the scope of the relevant international or
national accounting standard dealing with insurance contracts;
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(e)  Changes in the fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities or
their disposal (see IPSAS 41, Financial Instruments);

(f)  Changes in the value of other current assets;

(g) Initial recognition, and from changes in the fair value of biological
assets related to agricultural activity (see IPSAS 27, Agriculture);

(h)  Initial recognition of agricultural produce (see IPSAS 27); and

(1)  The extraction of mineral ores.

Definitions

11.

The following terms are used in this Standard with the meanings
specified:

Exchange transactions are transactions in which one entity receives
assets or services, or has liabilities extinguished, and directly gives
approximately equal value (primarily in the form of cash, goods, services,
or use of assets) to another entity in exchange.

Fair value is the amount for which an asset could be exchanged, or a
liability settled, between knowledgeable, willing parties in an arm’s
length transaction.

Non-exchange transactions are transactions that are not exchange
transactions. In a non-exchange transaction, an entity either receives
value from another entity without directly giving approximately equal
value in exchange, or gives value to another entity without directly
receiving approximately equal value in exchange.

Terms defined in other IPSASs are used in this Standard with the same
meaning as in those Standards, and are reproduced in the Glossary of
Defined Terms published separately.

Revenue

12.

Revenue includes only the gross inflows of economic benefits or service
potential received and receivable by the entity on its own account. Amounts
collected as an agent of the government or another government organization
or on behalf of other third parties; for example, the collection of telephone
and electricity payments by the post office on behalf of entities providing such
services are not economic benefits or service potential that flow to the entity,
and do not result in increases in assets or decreases in liabilities. Therefore,
they are excluded from revenue. Similarly, in an agency relationship, the
gross inflows of economic benefits or service potential include amounts
collected on behalf of the principal that do not result in increases in net assets/
equity for the entity. The amounts collected on behalf of the principal are
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not revenue. Instead, revenue is the amount of any commission received, or
receivable, for the collection or handling of the gross flows.

Financing inflows, notably borrowings, do not meet the definition of revenue
because they (a) result in an equal change in both assets, and liabilities and (b)
have no impact upon net assets/equity. Financing inflows are taken directly
to the statement of financial position and added to the balances of assets and
liabilities.

Measurement of Revenue

14.

15.

16.

17.

IPSAS 9

Revenue shall be measured at the fair value of the consideration received
or receivable.

The amount of revenue arising on a transaction is usually determined by
agreement between the entity and the purchaser or user of the asset or service.
It is measured at the fair value of the consideration received, or receivable,
taking into account the amount of any trade discounts and volume rebates
allowed by the entity.

In most cases, the consideration is in the form of cash or cash equivalents, and
the amount of revenue is the amount of cash or cash equivalents received or
receivable. However, when the inflow of cash or cash equivalents is deferred,
the fair value of the consideration may be less than the nominal amount of
cash received or receivable. For example, an entity may provide interest-free
credit to the purchaser or accept a note receivable bearing a below-market
interest rate from the purchaser as consideration for the sale of goods. When
the arrangement effectively constitutes a financing transaction, the fair value
of the consideration is determined by discounting all future receipts using
an imputed rate of interest. The imputed rate of interest is the more clearly
determinable of either:

(a)  The prevailing rate for a similar instrument of an issuer with a similar
credit rating; or

(b)  Arate of interest that discounts the nominal amount of the instrument
to the current cash sales price of the goods or services.

The difference between the fair value and the nominal amount of the
consideration is recognized as interest revenue in accordance with
paragraphs 33 and 34.

When goods or services are exchanged or swapped for goods or services that
are of a similar nature and value, the exchange is not regarded as a transaction
that generates revenue. This is often the case with commodities like oil or
milk, where suppliers exchange or swap inventories in various locations to
fulfill demand on a timely basis in a particular location. When goods are sold
or services are rendered in exchange for dissimilar goods or services, the
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exchange is regarded as a transaction that generates revenue. The revenue is
measured at the fair value of the goods or services received, adjusted by the
amount of any cash or cash equivalents transferred. When the fair value of
the goods or services received cannot be measured reliably, the revenue is
measured at the fair value of the goods or services given up, adjusted by the
amount of any cash or cash equivalents transferred.

Identification of the Transaction

18.

The recognition criteria in this Standard are usually applied separately to
each transaction. However, in certain circumstances, it is necessary to apply
the recognition criteria to the separately identifiable components of a single
transaction in order to reflect the substance of the transaction. For example,
when the price of a product includes an identifiable amount for subsequent
servicing, that amount is deferred, and recognized as revenue over the period
during which the service is performed. Conversely, the recognition criteria
are applied to two or more transactions together when they are linked in such
a way that the effect cannot be understood without reference to the series of
transactions as a whole. For example, an entity may sell goods and, at the
same time, enter into a separate agreement to repurchase the goods at a later
date, thus negating the substantive effect of the transaction; in such a case, the
two transactions are dealt with together.

Rendering of Services

19.

20.

When the outcome of a transaction involving the rendering of services
can be estimated reliably, revenue associated with the transaction shall
be recognized by reference to the stage of completion of the transaction
at the reporting date. The outcome of a transaction can be estimated
reliably when all the following conditions are satisfied:

(a) The amount of revenue can be measured reliably;

(b) It is probable that the economic benefits or service potential
associated with the transaction will flow to the entity;

(c) The stage of completion of the transaction at the reporting date
can be measured reliably; and

(d) The costs incurred for the transaction and the costs to complete
the transaction can be measured reliably.

The recognition of revenue by reference to the stage of completion of a
transaction is often referred to as the percentage of completion method.
Under this method, revenue is recognized in the reporting periods in which
the services are rendered. For example, an entity providing property valuation
services would recognize revenue as the individual valuations are completed.
The recognition of revenue on this basis provides useful information on
the extent of service activity and performance during a period. IPSAS 11
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24.
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also requires the recognition of revenue on this basis. The requirements of
that Standard are generally applicable to the recognition of revenue and the
associated expenses for a transaction involving the rendering of services.

Revenue is recognized only when it is probable that the economic benefits
or service potential associated with the transaction will flow to the entity.
However, when an uncertainty arises about the collectability of an amount
already included in revenue, the uncollectable amount, or the amount in
respect of which recovery has ceased to be probable, is recognized as an
expense, rather than as an adjustment of the amount of revenue originally
recognized.

An entity is generally able to make reliable estimates after it has agreed to the
following with the other parties to the transaction:

(a)  Each party’s enforceable rights regarding the service to be provided
and received by the parties;

(b)  The consideration to be exchanged; and
(¢)  The manner and terms of settlement.

It is also usually necessary for the entity to have an effective internal financial
budgeting and reporting system. The entity reviews and, when necessary,
revises the estimates of revenue as the service is performed. The need for such
revisions does not necessarily indicate that the outcome of the transaction
cannot be estimated reliably.

The stage of completion of a transaction may be determined by a variety
of methods. An entity uses the method that measures reliably the services
performed. Depending on the nature of the transaction, the methods may
include:

(a)  Surveys of work performed,;

(b)  Services performed to date as a percentage of total services to be
performed; or

(¢)  The proportion that costs incurred to date bear to the estimated total
costs of the transaction. Only costs that reflect services performed
to date are included in costs incurred to date. Only costs that reflect
services performed or to be performed are included in the estimated
total costs of the transaction.

Progress payments and advances received from customers often do not reflect
the services performed.

For practical purposes, when services are performed by an indeterminate
number of acts over a specified time frame, revenue is recognized on a
straight line basis over the specified time frame, unless there is evidence that
some other method better represents the stage of completion. When a specific
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act is much more significant than any other acts, the recognition of revenue is
postponed until the significant act is executed.

When the outcome of the transaction involving the rendering of services
cannot be estimated reliably, revenue shall be recognized only to the
extent of the expenses recognized that are recoverable.

During the early stages of a transaction, it is often the case that the outcome of
the transaction cannot be estimated reliably. Nevertheless, it may be probable
that the entity will recover the transaction costs incurred. Therefore, revenue
is recognized only to the extent of costs incurred that are expected to be
recoverable. As the outcome of the transaction cannot be estimated reliably,
no surplus is recognized.

When (a) the outcome of a transaction cannot be estimated reliably, and
(b) it is not probable that the costs incurred will be recovered, revenue
is not recognized and the costs incurred are recognized as an expense.
When the uncertainties that prevented the outcome of the contract being
estimated reliably no longer exist, revenue is recognized in accordance with
paragraph 19 rather than in accordance with paragraph 25.

Sale of Goods

28.

29.

Revenue from the sale of goods shall be recognized when all the following
conditions have been satisfied:

(a) The entity has transferred to the purchaser the significant risks
and rewards of ownership of the goods;

(b)  The entity retains neither continuing managerial involvement to
the degree usually associated with ownership nor effective control
over the goods sold;

(c) The amount of revenue can be measured reliably;

(d) It is probable that the economic benefits or service potential
associated with the transaction will flow to the entity; and

(e) The costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the transaction
can be measured reliably.

The assessment of when an entity has transferred the significant risks and
rewards of ownership to the purchaser requires an examination of the
circumstances of the transaction. In most cases, the transfer of the risks and
rewards of ownership coincides with the transfer of the legal title or the passing
of possession to the purchaser. This is the case for most sales. However, in
certain other cases, the transfer of risks and rewards of ownership occurs at
a different time from the transfer of legal title or the passing of possession.
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If the entity retains significant risks of ownership, the transaction is not a
sale, and revenue is not recognized. An entity may retain a significant risk of
ownership in a number of ways. Examples of situations in which the entity
may retain the significant risks and rewards of ownership are:

(a)  When the entity retains an obligation for unsatisfactory performance
not covered by normal warranty provisions;

(b)  When the receipt of the revenue from a particular sale is contingent on
the derivation of revenue by the purchaser from its sale of the goods
(for example, where a government publishing operation distributes
educational material to schools on a sale or return basis);

(¢)  When the goods are shipped subject to installation and the installation
is a significant part of the contract that has not yet been completed by
the entity; and

(d)  When the purchaser has the right to rescind the purchase for a reason
specified in the sales contract, and the entity is uncertain about the
probability of return.

If an entity retains only an insignificant risk of ownership, the transaction is
a sale and revenue is recognized. For example, a seller may retain the legal
title to the goods solely to protect the collectability of the amount due. In
such a case, if the entity has transferred the significant risks and rewards
of ownership, the transaction is a sale and revenue is recognized. Another
example of an entity retaining only an insignificant risk of ownership may be
a sale when a refund is offered if the purchaser is not satisfied. Revenue in
such cases is recognized at the time of sale, provided the seller can reliably
estimate future returns and recognizes a liability for returns based on previous
experience and other relevant factors.

Revenue is recognized only when it is probable that the economic benefits
or service potential associated with the transaction will flow to the entity. In
some cases, this may not be probable until the consideration is received or
until an uncertainty is removed. For example, the revenue may be dependent
upon the ability of another entity to supply goods as part of the contract, and
if there is any doubt that this will occur, recognition may be delayed until
it has occurred. When the goods are supplied, the uncertainty is removed
and revenue is recognized. However, when an uncertainty arises about the
collectability of an amount already included in revenue, the uncollectable
amount, or the amount in respect of which recovery has ceased to be probable,
is recognized as an expense, rather than as an adjustment of the amount of
revenue originally recognized.
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Interest, Royalties, and Dividends or Similar Distributions

33.

34.

35.

36.

37.

38.

Revenue arising from the use by others of entity assets yielding interest,
royalties, and dividends or similar distributions shall be recognized using
the accounting treatments set out in paragraph 34 when:

(a) It is probable that the economic benefits or service potential
associated with the transaction will flow to the entity; and

(b) The amount of the revenue can be measured reliably.
Revenue shall be recognized using the following accounting treatments:

(a) Interest shall be recognized on a time proportion basis that takes
into account the effective yield on the asset;

(b) Royalties shall be recognized as they are earned in accordance
with the substance of the relevant agreement; and

(c) Dividends or similar distributions shall be recognized when the
shareholder’s or the entity’s right to receive payment is established.

The effective yield on an asset is the rate of interest required to discount the
stream of future cash receipts expected over the life of the asset to equate to
the initial carrying amount of the asset. Interest revenue includes the amount
of amortization of any discount, premium, or other difference between the
initial carrying amount of a debt security and its amount at maturity.

When unpaid interest has accrued before the acquisition of an interest-bearing
investment, the subsequent receipt of interest is allocated between pre-
acquisition and post-acquisition periods; only the post-acquisition portion
is recognized as revenue. When dividends or similar distributions on equity
securities are declared from pre-acquisition net surplus, those dividends
or similar distributions are deducted from the cost of the securities. If it is
difficult to make such an allocation except on an arbitrary basis; dividends or
similar distributions are recognized as revenue unless they clearly represent a
recovery of part of the cost of the equity securities.

Royalties, such as petroleum royalties, accrue in accordance with the terms
of the relevant agreement, and are usually recognized on that basis unless,
having regard to the substance of the agreement, it is more appropriate to
recognize revenue on some other systematic and rational basis.

Revenue is recognized only when it is probable that the economic benefits
or service potential associated with the transaction will flow to the entity.
However, when an uncertainty arises about the collectability of an amount
already included in revenue, the uncollectable amount, or the amount in
respect of which recovery has ceased to be probable, is recognized as an
expense, rather than as an adjustment of the amount of revenue originally
recognized.
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Disclosure

39.

40.

An entity shall disclose:

(a) The accounting policies adopted for the recognition of revenue,
including the methods adopted to determine the stage of completion
of transactions involving the rendering of services;

(b) The amount of each significant category of revenue recognized
during the period, including revenue arising from:

(1) The rendering of services;

(ii))  The sale of goods;

(ii1))  Interest;

(iv) Royalties; and

(v)  Dividends or similar distributions; and

(c) The amount of revenue arising from exchanges of goods or services
included in each significant category of revenue.

Guidance on disclosure of any contingent assets and contingent liabilities
can be found in IPSAS 19, Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent
Assets. Contingent assets and contingent liabilities may arise from items such
as warranty costs, claims, penalties, or possible losses.

Effective Date

41.

41A.

41B.

41C.

IPSAS 9

An entity shall apply this Standard for annual financial statements
covering periods beginning on or after July 1, 2002. Earlier application
is encouraged. If an entity applies this Standard for a period beginning
before July 1, 2002, it shall disclose that fact.

Paragraph 42 was amended by IPSAS 33, First-time Adoption of Accrual
Basis International Public Sector Accounting Standards (IPSASs) issued
in January 2015. An entity shall apply that amendment for annual
financial statements covering periods beginning on or after January 1,
2017. Earlier application is permitted. If an entity applies IPSAS 33 for
a period beginning before January 1, 2017, the amendment shall also be
applied for that earlier period.

IPSAS 37, Joint Arrangements, issued in January 2015, amended
paragraph 10(b). An entity shall apply that amendment when it applies
IPSAS 37.

Paragraphs 2 and 3 were deleted by The Applicability of IPSASs, issued in
April 2016. An entity shall apply those amendments for annual financial
statements covering periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018.
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Earlier application is encouraged. If an entity applies the amendments
for a period beginning before January 1, 2018, it shall disclose that fact.

Paragraph 10 was amended by IPSAS 41, issued in August 2018. An entity
shall apply this amendment for annual financial statements covering
periods beginning on or after January 1, 2022. Earlier application is
encouraged. If an entity applies the amendment for a period beginning
before January 1, 2022 it shall disclose that fact and apply IPSAS 41 at
the same time.

When an entity adopts the accrual basis IPSASs of accounting as defined in
IPSAS 33, First-time Adoption of Accrual Basis International Public Sector
Accounting Standards (IPSASs) for financial reporting purposes subsequent
to this effective date, this Standard applies to the entity’s annual financial
statements covering periods beginning on or after the date of adoption of
IPSASs.
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Basis for Conclusions
This Basis for Conclusions accompanies, but is not part of, IPSAS 9.

Revision of IPSAS 9 as a result of the IPSASB’s The Applicability of IPSASs,
issued in April 2016

BCl1. The IPSASB issued The Applicability of IPSASs in April 2016. This
pronouncement amends references in all IPSASs as follows:

(a) Removes the standard paragraphs about the applicability of IPSASs
to “public sector entities other than GBEs” from the scope section of
each Standard;

(b) Replaces the term “GBE” with the term “commercial public sector
entities”, where appropriate; and

(¢)  Amends paragraph 10 of the Preface to International Public Sector
Accounting Standards by providing a positive description of public
sector entities for which IPSASs are designed.

The reasons for these changes are set out in the Basis for Conclusions to IPSAS 1.
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Implementation Guidance
This guidance accompanies, but is not part of, IPSAS 9.

IG1. Public sector entities derive revenues from exchange or non-exchange
transactions. This Standard deals only with revenue arising from exchange
transactions. Revenue from exchange transactions is derived from:

(a)  Sale of goods or provision of services to third parties;

(b) Sale of goods or provision of services to other government agencies;
and

(c) The use by others of entity assets yielding interest, royalties, and
dividends or similar distributions.

1G2. The application of the recognition criteria to particular transactions may be
affected by:

(a)  The law in different countries, which may determine the point in time at
which the entity transfers the significant risks and rewards of ownership.
Therefore, the examples in this section of the implementation guidance
need to be read in the context of the laws in the country in which the
transaction takes place; and

(b)  The nature of the relationship (contractual or otherwise) between the
entity that pays and the entity that receives the revenue (that is, the
entities may agree on specific points in time at which the receiving
entity can recognize revenue).

Rendering of Services
Housing

1G3. Rental income from the provision of housing is recognized as the income is
earned in accordance with the terms of the tenancy agreement.

School Transport

1G4. Revenue from fares charged to passengers for the provision of school
transport is recognized as the transport is provided.

Management of Toll Roads

IG5. Revenue from the management of toll roads is recognized as it is earned,
based on the usage of the roads.

Processing of Court Cases

1Gé. Revenue from the processing of court cases can be recognized either by
reference to the stage of completion of the processing, or based on the periods
during which the courts are in session.
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Management of Facilities, Assets, or Services

1G7. Revenue from the management of facilities, assets, or services is recognized
over the term of the contract as the management services are provided.

Science and Technology Research

IGS. Revenue received from clients from contracts for undertaking science and
technology research is recognized by reference to the stage of completion on
individual projects.

Installation Fees

1G9. Installation fees are recognized as revenue by reference to the stage of
completion of the installation, unless they are incidental to the sale of a
product, in which case they are recognized when the goods are sold.

Servicing Fees Included in the Price of the Product

IG10. When the selling price of a product includes an identifiable amount
for subsequent servicing (for example, after sales support and product
enhancement on the sale of software), that amount is deferred and recognized
as revenue over the period during which the service is performed. The amount
deferred is that which will cover the expected costs of the services under the
agreement, together with a reasonable return on those services.

Insurance Agency Commissions

IG11. Insurance agency commissions received or receivable that do not require the
agent to render further service are recognized as revenue by the agent on the
effective commencement or renewal dates of the related policies. However,
when it is probable that the agent will be required to render further services
during the life of the policy, the commission, or part thereof, is deferred and
recognized as revenue over the period during which the policy is in force.

Financial Service Fees

IG12. The recognition of revenue for financial service fees depends on (a) the
purposes for which the fees are assessed, and (b) the basis of accounting
for any associated financial instrument. The description of fees for financial
services may not be indicative of the nature and substance of the services
provided. Therefore, it is necessary to distinguish between fees that are an
integral part of the effective yield of a financial instrument, fees that are
earned as services are provided, and fees that are earned on the execution of
a significant act.

(a) Fees that are an integral part of the effective interest rate of a
financial instrument

IPSAS 9 IMPLEMENTATION GUIDANCE 350



REVENUE FROM EXCHANGE TRANSACTIONS

Such fees are generally treated as an adjustment to the effective interest
rate. However, when the financial instrument is measured at fair value
with the change in fair value recognized in surplus or deficit, the fees are
recognized as revenue when the instrument is initially recognized.

@) Origination fees received by the entity relating to the creation
or acquisition of a financial asset other than one that under
IPSAS 41 is classified as a financial asset “at fair value through
surplus or deficit”

Such fees may include compensation for activities such as
evaluating the borrower’s financial condition, evaluating
and recording guarantees, collateral and other security
arrangements, negotiating the terms of the instrument, preparing
and processing documents and closing the transaction. These
fees are an integral part of generating an involvement with the
resulting financial instrument and, together with the related
transaction costs (as defined in IPSAS 41), are deferred and
recognized as an adjustment to the effective interest rate.

(i)  Commitment fees received by the entity to originate a loan
when the loan commitment is outside the scope of IPSAS 41

If it is probable that the entity will enter into a specific lending
arrangement and the loan commitment is not within the scope
of IPSAS 41, the commitment fee received is regarded as
compensation for an ongoing involvement with the acquisition
of a financial instrument and, together with the related
transaction costs (as defined in IPSAS 41), is deferred and
recognized as an adjustment to the effective interest rate. If the
commitment expires without the entity making the loan, the fee
is recognized as revenue on expiry. Loan commitments that are
within the scope of IPSAS 41 are accounted for as derivatives
and measured at fair value.

(i)  Origination fees received on issuing financial liabilities
measured at amortized cost

These fees are an integral part of generating an involvement with
a financial liability. When a financial liability is not classified
as “at fair value through surplus or deficit,” the origination fees
received are included, with the related transaction costs (as
defined in IPSAS 41) incurred, in the initial carrying amount
of the financial liability and recognized as an adjustment to the
effective interest rate. An entity distinguishes fees and costs that
are an integral part of the effective interest rate for the financial
liability from origination fees and transaction costs relating to
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the right to provide services, such as investment management
services.

(b) Fees earned as services are provided
(i)  Fees charged for servicing a loan

Fees charged by an entity for servicing a loan are recognized as
revenue as the services are provided.

(i)  Commitment fees to originate a loan when the loan commitment
is outside the scope of IPSAS 4